

LIBRARY Michigan State University

This is to certify that the dissertation entitled

DEVELOPMENT OF A VERSATILE SILICON-BASED BIOSENSOR PLATFORM FOR PATHOGEN DETECTION

presented by

FINNY P. MATHEW

has been accepted towards fulfillment of the requirements for the

Ph.D.

Biosystems Engineering

Elsloa lja

degree in

Major Professor's Signature

2006 3, May

Date

MSU is an Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Institution

PLACE IN RETURN BOX to remove this checkout from your record. TO AVOID FINES return on or before date due. MAY BE RECALLED with earlier due date if requested.

DATE DUE	DATE DUE	DATE DUE
L	L	2/05 p:/CIRC/DateDue.indd-p.1

DEVELC

DEVELOPMENT OF A VERSATILE SILICON-BASED BIOSENSOR PLATFORM FOR PATHOGEN DETECTION

By

Finny P. Mathew

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department of Biosystems and Agricultural Engineering

2006

DEVELOPN

- Biosenser
- that may requi
- of human and
- well as enviro
- detection of b
- transducers w
- in an electro
- conditions of
- functionalized
- antibodies an
- the biosensor
- CFC within
 - immunosenso
 - 10 min. Fina
 - transducer fo
 - to detect S. E
 - DNA and 1
 - process was
- .

ABSTRACT

DEVELOPMENT OF A VERSATILE SILICON-BASED BIOSENSOR PLATFORM FOR PATHOGEN DETECTION

By

Finny P. Mathew

Biosensors are portable diagnostic tools used for the rapid detection of pathogens that may require up to 2-7 days to detect otherwise. Biosensors are important in the fields of human and animal diagnostics, bioterrorism preparedness, food and water safety, as well as environmental safety. So a versatile silicon-based biosensor platform for the detection of bacteria that could be used with different biological detecting elements and transducers was fabricated and demonstrated. Silicon (0.01 ohm-cm, p-type) was etched in an electrochemical cell containing hydrofluoric acid solution using anodizing conditions of 5 mA/cm² for 1 h to fabricate nano-tubular Si (NTS). NTS chips were functionalized into biosensors using biological sensing elements such as enzymes, antibodies and nucleic acids. A chemiluminescence-based enzyme assay was adapted to the biosensor system for the detection of E. coli resulting in a lower detection limit of 10^2 CFU within 30 min. The NTS-based platform was also functionalized into an optical immunosensor to successfully detect a pure culture of Salmonella Typhimurium within 10 min. Finally, a DNA-based NTS biosensor was developed using an electrochemical transducer for the detection of Salmonella Enteritidis. The NTS DNA biosensor was able to detect S. Enteritidis DNA with a lower limit of detection of 1 pg/µl for PCR-amplified DNA and 10 pg/µl for pure culture-extracted DNA. The electrochemical detection process was completed within 60 min. The versatility of the NTS platform for pathogen

detection was

(enzyme, ant:

Development

biosecurity m.

assurance in ti

food product :

ł

detection was successfully demonstrated using three different biological sensing elements (enzyme, antibody, and DNA) and two detection methods (optical and electrochemical). Development of commercial biosensing devices using the NTS platform will strengthen biosecurity measures, enable improvement in human and animal health as well as quality assurance in food industry, while also reducing costs associated with loss of productivity, food product recalls and lawsuits.

Dedicate

Dedicated to my dear wife and my family in India, Chicago, and East Lansing

First of a this degree, a: thank everyon to my family support. The and Chicago times. Also, co not have been during the cou l would a ways than one this endeavor v l would lij in the lab, and l also should electronic form Lastly, I h. life during the calls, smile and document for fi Thank you

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First of all, I thank my Lord and Savior, Jesus Christ, for the opportunity to pursue this degree, and for the strength and wisdom given to complete it. I would also like to thank everyone who helped me through this process. I want to extend my heartfelt thanks to my family - my parents, brother and sister as well as their families for their love and support. The same measure of thanks goes to my spiritual family here in East Lansing and Chicago without whose help it would have been tough getting through those low times. Also, celebration of all the joyous moments during the tenure of my degree would not have been possible without you all. I want to thank all of you who prayed for me during the course of my PhD program, couldn't have done it without you.

I would also like to thank Dr. Evangelyn C. Alocilja for being a mentor in more ways than one. Without your personal life example, constant encouragement and advice, this endeavor would definitely not have succeeded.

I would like to thank my labmates - Lisa, Maria, Stephen, and Zarini who helped me in the lab, and also were friends I could talk to while spending the many hours in the lab. I also should thank Lori Kindschy for her help in providing journal articles in the electronic format; you helped me save a lot of time.

Lastly, I have to acknowledge the love of my life - Sojo, my wife. You came into my life during the final stage of my PhD program and enriched my days with your phone calls, smile and jokes. You have also spurred me on to complete the corrections of this document for final submission.

Thank you very much, everyone!!

List of Tables
List of Figure
Lut of Abbre
Chapter 1: IN
Chapter 2: L1 2.1 Micr 2.1.2 2.1.2 2.1.3 2.1.3 2.1.3
2.
2.2 In:n: 2.2.1 2.2.7
2.3 Cher 2.3 Cher 2.3.1 2.3.1
2.3. 2.4 Elec 2.4.1 2.4.2 2.4.2
2.4. 2.5 Nan 2.5. 2.5.
2.5. 2.5. 2. 2.
26 Coli 26 Coli 26. 26. 26. 26. 26. 2.6.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of 7	Гаbles	X
List of H	Figures	xii
List of A	Abbreviations	xx
Chapter	r 1: INTRODUCTION	1
Chapter	r 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	3
2.1	Microbiological Detection Methods	3
	2.1.1 Introduction	3
	2.1.2 Rapid Detection Methods	4
	2.1.3 Electronic Nose	6
	2.1.4 Biosensors	8
	2.1.4.1 Biological sensing elements	8
	2.1.4.2 Transducers	17
2.2	Immobilization Techniques	29
	2.2.1 Enzyme Immobilization	29
	2.2.2 Antibody Immobilization	31
	2.2.3 DNA Immobilization	34
<i>2.3</i>	Chemiluminescence and Biosensors	36
	2.3.1 Chemiluminescence	36
	2.3.2 Chemiluminescent Immunosensors	38
	2.3.3 Chemiluminescent Enzyme-Based Sensors	41
2.4	Electrochemical Biosensors	46
	2.4.1 Conductometric Biosensors	46
	2.4.2 Potentiometric Biosensors	47
	2.4.3 Amperometric Biosensors	49
	2.4.4 Cyclic Voltammetry and DNA Biosensors	52
2.5	Nano-Tubular Silicon (NTS)	58
	2.5.1 Silicon (Si)	58
	2.5.2 Silicon Etching	58
	2.5.3 Nano-Tubular Si Porosity and Thickness Measurement	62
	2.5.4 Nano-Tubular Silicon and Biosensors	62
	2.5.4.1 Enzyme-based NTS biosensors	63
	2.5.4.2 Antibody-based NTS biosensors	64
	2.5.4.3 DNA-based NTS biosensors	65
2.6	Coliforms/Escherichia coli	67
	2.6.1 Introduction	67
	2.6.2 Traditional Detection Methods	70
	2.6.3 Rapid Detection Methods	72
	2.6.3.1 Antibody-based methods	72

2.7 2.7 2.7 Salm 2.7.1 2.7.2 2.7.3 Chapter 3: R 3.1 Inn-3.2 Pote 3.3 Expe 3.4 Hyp 3.5 Spee Chapter 4: R 4.1 Ohje 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.1.4 4.1.5 4.1.6 4.1.4 4.1.7 4.1.8 4.2 Obju 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.3 Obju 4.3.1 4. 4.3.2 4. 4. 4. 4.3.3 4 4. 4

	2.6.	.3.2 Molecular methods	
	2.6.	.3.3 Enzyme-based assays	
2.7	Salmo	onella	
	2.7.1	Introduction	
	2.7.2	Traditional Detection Methods	
	2.7.3	Rapid Identification of Salmonella:	

Chapter	· 3: RESEARCH HIGHLIGHTS	87
3 .1	Innovation and Novelty	87
3.2	Potential Difficulties	88
3.3	Expected Significance	88
3.4	Hypothesis	89
3.5	Specific Research Objectives	90

Chapter	4: RES	EARCH MATERIALS AND METHODS	91
<u>-</u> 4.1	Objectiv	ye 1	91
	4.1.1	Instrumentation	91
	4.1.2	Culture Preparation	92
	4.1.3	Single Tube Chemiluminescence Assay Procedure	92
	4.1.4	Determining Best Growth Media	93
	4.1.5	Determining Assay Applications	93
	4.1.6	Determining Amount of Sample to Use in the Assay	94
	4.1.7	Assay Validation in Food Analysis	94
	4.1.8	Statistical Analysis	95
4.2	Objectiv	ve 2	95
	4.2.1	Nano-Tubular Silicon Fabrication	96
	4.2.2	Characterization of Nano-Tubular Silicon	96
4.3	Objectiv	<i>ye 3</i>	99
	4.3.1	Adaptation of CL Assay to the Biosensor Detection System - Procedu	ire
		A	99
	4.3.1.	1 Functionalization of nano-tubular silicon with Lumi-Gal [®] 530	99
	4.3.1.	2 Detection of E. coli on biosensor chip using CL detection 1	00
	4.3.2	Adaptation of CL Assay to the Biosensor Detection System - Procedu	ire
		B 1	00
	4.3.2.	1 Single-tube CL assay modification 1	00
	4.3.2.	2 Functionalization of nano-tubular Si 1	01
	4.3.2.	3 Biosensor testing 1	01
	4.3.2.	4 Determining the biosensor sensitivity 1	02
	4.3.3	Functionalization of the Nano-Tubular Silicon Platform with	
		Salmonella Antibodies into an Immunosensor 1	03
	4.3.3.	1 Silanization of nano-tubular silicon platform 1	03
	4.3.3.	2 Immobilization of primary antibody 1	04
	4.3.3.	3 Optical measurement method 1	04

	4.3.4
	4
	- 4.
	- 4
	4.
	4
	4
	4
	- 4
	- 4
	- 4.
4.4	Obj.
	4.4.1
	4.4.2
	4
	4.4.3
	4.4.4
	4 -
	4
4.5	Obje
	4.5.1
	4.5.2
	4.5.3

Chapter 5: R 5.1 Obje 5.1.1 5.1.2 5.1.3 5.1.4 5.1.5 5.2 Obje 5.2.1 5.3 Obje 5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.3 5.3.4 5.3 5.3

	4.3.4 F	unctionalization of the Nano-Tubular Silicon Platform with	
	S	almonella DNA Probes into a Nucleic Acid-Based Biosensor	105
	4.3.4.1	Bacterial strains	105
	4.3.4.2	DNA primers and probes	105
	4.3.4.3	Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)	105
	4.3.4.4	Silanization of nano-tubular Si platform	106
	4.3.4.5	DNA probe immobilization	108
	4.3.4.6	Characterization of the DNA	108
	4.3.4.7	Target DNA hybridization	108
	4.3.4.8	Electrochemical detection - cyclic voltammetry	109
	4.3.4.9	Confirmation of results	109
	4.3.4.1	0 Statistical analysis	111
4.4	Objective	4	112
	4.4.1 S	ensitivity of the Biosensor Using PCR Amplified DNA	112
	4.4.2 S	ensitivity of the Biosensor Using DNA from Pure Culture	112
	4.4.2.1	Isolation of genomic DNA from bacterial cultures	113
	4.4.3 C	onfirmation of Results	114
	4.4.4 S	tatistical Analysis	114
	4.4.4.1	Analysis of curves (Modeling)	115
	4.4.4.2	Analysis of Delta Q values	115
4.5	Objective	5	116
	4.5.1 S	pecificity Testing	116
	4.5.2 C	onfirmation of Results	116
	4.5.3 S	tatistical Analysis	117

Chapter	• 5: RES	SULTS AND DISCUSSION 1	18
5.1	Objecti	ve 11	18
	5.1.1	Development of Chemiluminescence-Based Assay 1	18
	5.1.2	Comparison Between Nutrient Broth and Lactose Broth 1	20
	5.1.3	Determining Assay Applications 1	23
	5.1.4	Determining Amount of Sample Used in the Assay 1	26
	5.1.5	Assay Validation in Food Analysis1	30
5.2	Objecti	ve 21	34
	5.2.1	Nano-Tubular Si Characterization	34
5.3	Objecti	ve 31	44
	5.3.1	Adaptation of CL Assay to the Biosensor Detection System - Procedu	re
		A1	44
	5.3.2	Adaptation of CL Assay to the Biosensor Detection System - Procedu	re
		B1	46
	5.3.3	Functionalization of the Nano-Tubular Si Platform with Salmonella	
		Antibodies into an Immuno-Biosensor 1	50
	5.3.4	Functionalization of the Nano-Tubular Si Platform with Salmonella	
		DNA Probes into a Nucleic Acid-Based Biosensor	56
	5.3.4	.1 Polymerase chain reaction	56
	5.3.4	.2 AFM characterization of nano-tubular Si DNA biosensor	57

5 biosen 5.4 Obje 5.4 Obje 5.4.1 5 Ś 5.4.2 \$ 5 5.5 Ohje 5.5 1 5.5 2 5.5 2

Chapter 6: (

Chapter 7: Fl

Appendix A: *A* 1 Fress *A* 2 S-4⁻¹ *A* 3 Gel E

Appendix B: 1 B1 Reag B2 Reage

Appendix C: F C.1 Raw C.2 SASS

REFERENCE

	5.3.4.3	Electrochemical detection of DNA using nano-tubular Si	
ť	oiosensor		158
	5.3.4.4	Statistical analysis of CV data	165
5.4	Objective	4	166
	5.4.1 Se	nsitivity of the Biosensor using PCR amplified DNA	166
	5.4.1.1	Cyclic voltammograms	166
	5.4.1.2	Data analysis	170
	5.4.2 Se	nsitivity of the Biosensor Using DNA from Pure Culture	177
	5.4.2.1	Cyclic voltammograms	178
	5.4.2.2	Analysis of Delta Q values	
	5.4.2.3	Interactive effects of variables	183
5.5	Objective	5	185
	5.5.1 Sp	ecificity Testing	185
	5.5.2 Cy	clic Voltammograms	185
	5.5.2.1	Analysis of Delta Q values	188
Chapter Chapter	6: CONC	LUSION	192 193
Annend	;• A · PDA	CEDUDES	105
	Fresh Pro	duce Testing	105
A. 7	S 170011 S	canning Electron Microscone Oneration	
A.2	Gol Floctr	onhoresis	108
А.Ј	Gei Liech		
Append	ix B: REA	GENTS/SOLUTIONS	201
B . 1	Reagents f	or Enzyme-Based and Antibody-Based Testing	201
<i>B</i> .2	Reagents f	or DNA-based testing	202
Annend	ix C: RAW	DATA AND STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	
C.1	Raw Data:	Cyclic voltammetry	204
C.2	SAS Statis	ical Data Analysis Output	226
		······································	
REFER	ENCES		255

Table 5-1. Li_s cel

Table 5-2. Thi

Table 5-3. Inte DN vol

Table 5-4. Inte DN vol

Table 5-5. Inte DN Vol

Table 5-6. Inte DN Volt

Table 5-7. Inte (ex) of c

Table 5-8. Inte (ex of e

Table 5-9. Inti (ex cyc

Table 5-10. In

le Cj

LIST OF TABLES

Table 5-1.	Light intensity for different amounts of overnight LB <i>E. coli</i> culture at various cell concentrations
Table 5-2.	Thickness and porosity of nano-tubular Si chips fabricated from p^{++} Si 141
Table 5-3.	Integral charge (ΔQ , milli coulombs) values for PCR-amplified S. Enteritidis DNA with NTS biosensor at various concentrations using cycle 1 of cyclic voltammogram
Table 5-4.	Integral charge (ΔQ , milli coulombs) values for PCR-amplified S. Enteritidis DNA with NTS biosensor at various concentrations using cycle 2 of cyclic voltammogram
Table 5-5.	Integral charge (ΔQ , milli coulombs) values for PCR-amplified S. Enteritidis DNA with planar Si biosensor at various concentrations using cycle 1 of cyclic voltammogram
Table 5-6.	Integral charge (ΔQ , milli coulombs) values for PCR-amplified S. Enteritidis DNA with planar Si biosensor at various concentrations using cycle 2 of cyclic voltammogram
Table 5-7.	Integral charge (ΔQ , milli coulombs) values for pure culture S. Enteritidis (extracted) DNA with NTS biosensor at various concentrations using cycle 1 of cyclic voltammogram
Table 5-8.	Integral charge (ΔQ , milli coulombs) values for pure culture S. Enteritidis (extracted) DNA with NTS biosensor at various concentrations using cycle 2 of cyclic voltammogram
Table 5-9.	Integral charge (ΔQ , milli coulombs) values for pure culture S. Enteritidis (extracted) DNA with planar Si biosensor at various concentrations using cycle 1 of cyclic voltammogram. 184
Table 5-10). Integral charge (ΔQ , milli coulombs) values for pure culture S. Enteritidis (extracted) DNA with planar Si biosensor at various concentrations using cycle 2 of cyclic voltammogram

Table 5-11. Ir co vi

Table 5-12. In ce vi

Table 5-13. In d.

Table 5-14. Ir. di

Table 5-11.	Integral charge (ΔQ , milli coulombs) values for <i>E. coli</i> , and <i>S.</i> Enteritidis- <i>E. coli</i> mixture (extracted) DNA with NTS biosensor using cycle 1 of cyclic voltammogram
Table 5-12.	Integral charge (ΔQ , milli coulombs) values for <i>E. coli</i> , and <i>S.</i> Enteritidis- <i>E. coli</i> mixture (extracted) DNA with NTS biosensor using cycle 2 of cyclic voltammogram
Table 5-13.	Integral charge (ΔQ , milli coulombs) values for S. Enteritidis DNA from different sources with NTS biosensor (Cycle 1)
Table 5-14.	Integral charge (ΔQ , milli coulombs) values for S. Enteritidis DNA from different sources with NTS biosensor (Cycle 2)

Figure 2 Figure 2-Figure 2-1 Figure 2-4 Figure 2-5. Figure 2-6. Figure 2-7. (Figure 2-8. R Figure 4-1. S Figure 4-2. Bi bio Figure 4-3. Sin Figure 4-4. Fu bai Figure 4-5. Fu bi Figure 4-6. Sc fu:

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2-1	Simplified reaction mechanism of luminol (Dodeigne et al., 2000)
Figure 2-2.	The two modes of decomposition of 1,2-dioxetanes: (I) the diradical mechanism and (II) the chemically initiated electron exchange chemiluminescence (CIEEL) (Dodeigne <i>et al.</i> , 2000)
Figure 2-3.	Reaction mechanism of Lumi-Gal [®] 530 in the chemiluminescent assay 45
Figure 2-4.	Excitation waveform for a cyclic voltammetry experiment (Adapted from (Robinson, 1987))
Figure 2-5.	Typical current response for a reversible couple obtained with cyclic voltammetry (Adapted from (Robinson, 1987))
Figure 2-6.	Schematic of a three-electrode potentiostat for cyclic voltammetry (Adapted from (Wang, 2000))
Figure 2-7.	Typical J-V curve of p ⁺ -Si in dilute aqueous HF solution (Adapted from (Allongue, 1997))
Figure 2-8.	Reaction model for dissolution of nano-tubular silicon in aqueous HF solutions
Figure 4-1.	Schematic of the Femtomaster FB 12 Luminometer
Figure 4-2.	Biosensor schematic showing envisioned long-term and short-term research biosensors
Figure 4-3.	Single-tank cell set up used for tubular silicon fabrication
Figure 4-4.	Functionalization of planar Si and nano-tubular Si platforms into antibody- based biosensors
Figure 4-5.	Functionalization of planar Si and nano-tubular Si platform into DNA-based biosensor
Figure 4-6.	Schematic of target DNA hybridization to immobilized DNA probe on functionalized biosensor surface

Figure 4-7. Figure 5-1. H Figure 5-2. C Figure 5-3. K (1 Figure 5-4. N W B Figure 5-5. N er er Figure 5-6. SI Figure 5-7. SE co Figure 5-8. SE Co Figure 5-9. SE cer Figure 5-10. S c Figure 5-11. S Figure 5-12. S Figure 5-13. S: c. C

•

Figure 4-7.	Three-electrode electrochemical cell used for cyclic voltammetry measurements
Figure 5-1.	Kinetics of light emitted by an overnight NB E. coli culture 119
Figure 5-2.	Comparative kinetics of light emitted by 24 h and 48 h old <i>E. coli</i> cultures in NB and LB
Figure 5-3.	Kinetics of light emitted by an overnight generic <i>E. coli</i> and <i>E. coli</i> O157:H7 (untreated and heat-killed) culture
Figure 5-4.	Normalized light emission and <i>E. coli</i> counts of food and water samples. Key: W - water, M - milk, SS - alfalfa sprout seeds. <i>Normalized</i> = (Sample - Blank) in RLU/s
Figure 5-5.	Normalized light emission of surface water samples direct assay and 12 h enrichment in LB prior to assay. Sample coliform counts are prior to enrichment. Normalized = (Sample – Blank) in RLU/s
Figure 5-6.	SEM image of bare p ⁺⁺ Si surface
Figure 5-7.	SEM image of nano-tubular Si produced from p++ type Si. Anodizing conditions used were 15% HF, 2 mA/cm2 for 1 h
Figure 5-8.	SEM image of nano-tubular Si produced from p^{++} type Si. Anodizing conditions used were 15% HF, 5 mA/cm ² for 20 min
Figure 5-9.	SEM image of nano-tubular Si produced from p ⁺⁺ type Si. Anodizing conditions used were 15% HF, 5 mA/cm ² for 1 h
Figure 5-10	SEM image of nano-tubular Si produced from p ⁺⁺ type Si. Anodizing conditions used were 15% HF, 15 mA/cm ² for 1 min
Figure 5-11	. SEM image of nano-tubular Si produced from p ⁺⁺ type Si. Anodizing conditions used were 15% HF, 30 mA/cm ² for 1 min
Figure 5-12	2. SEM image of nano-tubular Si produced from p ⁺⁺ type Si. Anodizing conditions used were 15% HF, 50 mA/cm ² for 1 min
Figure 5-13	S. SEM image of nano-tubular Si produced from p ⁺⁺ type Si . Anodizing conditions used were 15% HF, 100 mA/cm ² for 30 s

	Figure 5-14. (
	Figure 5-15. C F
	(Figure 5-16. K S
	1 Figure 5-17. (t
	Figure 5-18. C a I
	e Figure 5-19. (n. s
	(; Figure 5-20, C u
	Figure 5-21. A
H	Figure 5-22. A
l F	ir igure 5-23. A
F	h: ^{igure 5-24} . C: w

Figure 5-14	Cross-sectional SEM image of nano-tubular Si produced from p ⁺⁺ type Si. Anodizing conditions used were 15% HF, 5 mA/cm ² for 1 h. NTS chip cross-section was placed at 45° to capture the image
Figure 5-15.	Comparison of light emission of <i>E. coli</i> pure culture in nano-tubular Si and planar silicon biosensors against nano-tubular Si control. Different superscript over the bars indicates significantly different light emission $(p<0.01)$
Figure 5-16.	Kinetics of light emitted by an overnight LB <i>E. coli</i> culture using the standard (non-mixed) and modified (pre-mixed with 15 min incubation) single-tube chemiluminescence assays. Different superscripts over the bars indicate significant differences (p<0.01)
Figure 5-17.	Comparison of light emission from serially diluted <i>E. coli</i> cultures on nano- tubular Si biosensor against nano-tubular Si control (blank). Different superscript over the bars indicates significantly different light emission (p <0.05)
Figure 5-18.	Comparison of light emission for <i>Salmonella</i> pure culture with nano-tubular and planar silanized Si biosensor against nano-tubular silanized Si control. Different superscript over bars indicates significantly different light emission (p<0.05)
Figure 5-19.	Comparison of light emission for <i>Salmonella</i> pure culture with silanized and non-silanized nano-tubular Si biosensor against silanized control. Different superscript over the bars indicates significantly different light emission (p <0.05)
Figure 5-20.	Gel electrophoresis of PCR-amplified Salmonella: S1 and S2 - 5 μ l culture used for PCR. Key: M – Marker, C – negative control, S – Salmonella 157
Figure 5-21.	AFM image of NTS-based DNA biosensor chip prior to DNA probe immobilization
Figure 5-22.	AFM image of NTS-based DNA biosensor chip after DNA probe immobilization
Figure 5-23.	AFM image of NTS-based DNA biosensor chip after target DNA hybridization
Figure 5-24.	Cyclic voltammogram for a pure culture of <i>Salmonella</i> Enteritidis obtained with NTS-based DNA biosensor chip

	Figure 5	-2
	Figure 5	-26
	Figure 5-	.27
	Figure 5-	28.
	Figure 5-2	<u>?</u> 9.
	Figure 5-3	0. (
	Figure 5-3	(. (
	Figure 5-32	Р . (П
	Figure 5-33	н . (
	Figure A-1.	Ē
	' ^{rgure} C-1.	

Figure 5-25.	Cyclic voltammograms for serially diluted PCR-amplified Salmonella Enteritidis DNA obtained with NTS-based DNA biosensor (sensitivity testing)
Figure 5-26.	Cyclic voltammograms for serially diluted PCR-amplified Salmonella Enteritidis DNA obtained with planar Si-based DNA biosensor chip (sensitivity testing)
Figure 5-27.	Spline curve for PCR-amplified Salmonella Enteritidis DNA on nano- tubular Si biosensor at $1ng/\mu l$ concentration level. Key: $1 - No DNA$, $2 - After DNA Hybridization, and 3 - Before DNA Hybridization$
Figure 5-28.	Spline curve for PCR-amplified Salmonella Enteritidis DNA with nano- tubular Si biosensor at 0.1 ng/ μ l concentration level. Key: 1 – No DNA, 2 – After DNA Hybridization, and 3 – Before DNA Hybridization
Figure 5-29.	Cyclic voltammograms for serially diluted (extracted) pure culture Salmonella Enteritidis DNA obtained with NTS-based DNA biosensor chip (sensitivity testing)
Figure 5-30.	Cyclic voltammograms for serially diluted (extracted) pure culture Salmonella Enteritidis DNA obtained with planar Si-based DNA biosensor chip (sensitivity testing)
Figure 5-31.	Gel electrophoresis of PCR-amplified Salmonella and extracted E. coli DNA. S1 to S5 – 1 to 5 μ l Salmonella-E. coli (1:1) culture mix used for PCR. Key: M – Marker, C – negative control, S – Salmonella-E. coli, EC – E. coli
Figure 5-32.	Comparison of cyclic voltammograms for <i>Salmonella</i> Enteritidis (target) DNA and <i>E. coli</i> (non-target) DNA obtained with NTS-based DNA biosensor chip (specificity testing)
Figure 5-33.	Cyclic voltammogram for a mixture of <i>Salmonella</i> Enteritidis and <i>E. coli</i> DNA obtained with NTS-based DNA biosensor chip (specificity testing).
Figure A-1.	Experimental design for processing of produce samples
Figure C-1. 1	Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for I ng of PCR-amplified Salmonella Enteritidis DNA ($n = 3$)

Figure C-2. N 1	
Figure C-3. N	
Figure C-4. N	
Figure C-5. N	
Figure C-6. N	
Figure C-7. N	
Figure C-8. N	
Figure C-9. N	
Figure C-10.	
Figure C-11	
Figure C-12	
Figure C-13.	
Figure C-14.	
Figure C-15.	

- Figure C-2. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 1 ng of PCR-amplified *Salmonella Enteritidis* DNA (n = 3)......204
- Figure C-4. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 0.1 ng of PCR-amplified *Salmonella Enteritidis* DNA (n = 3)......205
- Figure C-5. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 10 pg of PCR-amplified *Salmonella Enteritidis* DNA (n = 3)......206
- Figure C-6. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 10 pg of PCR-amplified *Salmonella Enteritidis* DNA (n = 3)...... 206
- Figure C-7. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 1 pg of PCR-amplified *Salmonella Enteritidis* DNA (n = 3)......207

- Figure C-12. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 10 fg of PCR-amplified *Salmonella* Enteritidis DNA (n = 3). 209

- Figure C-15. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with Planar Si biosensor chip for 1 ng of PCR-amplified Salmonella Enteritidis DNA (n = 3)...... 211

Figure C	-16
Figure C-	-17.
Figure C·	·18.
Figure C-	19.
Figure C-	20.
Figure C-2	21.
Figure C-1	!2. ! (
Figure C-2	:3. y f
Figure C-2	4. N
Figure C-2	2 5. y
Figure C-26	1 5. 1
Figure C-27	

1.4.1.1.2

-
- Figure C-16. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with Planar Si biosensor chip for 1 ng of PCR-amplified *Salmonella* Enteritidis DNA (n = 3)...... 211
- Figure C-17. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with Planar Si biosensor chip for 0.1 ng of PCR-amplified *Salmonella* Enteritidis DNA (n = 3).... 212
- Figure C-18. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with Planar Si biosensor chip for 0.1 ng of PCR-amplified *Salmonella* Enteritidis DNA (n = 3).... 212
- Figure C-19. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with Planar Si biosensor chip for 10 pg of PCR-amplified Salmonella Enteritidis DNA (n = 3)..... 213
- Figure C-20. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with Planar Si biosensor chip for 10 pg of PCR-amplified *Salmonella* Enteritidis DNA (n = 3)..... 213
- Figure C-21. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with Planar Si biosensor chip for 1 pg of PCR-amplified *Salmonella* Enteritidis DNA (n = 3)...... 214
- Figure C-22. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with Planar Si biosensor chip for 1 pg of PCR-amplified *Salmonella* Enteritidis DNA (n = 3)...... 214

Figure C-2		
Figure C-2		
Figure C-3(
Figure C-31		
Figure C-32		
Figure C-33.		
Figure C-34.		
Figure C-35.		
Figure C-36.		
Figure C-37.		
Figure C-38.		
Figure		
^{, igute} С-39.		
Figure C-40.		

Figure C-28.	Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with NTS biosensor chip
•	for 10 pg of DNA extracted from pure culture of Salmonella Enteritidis (n =
	3)

Figure C-30.	Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with NTS biosensor chip
	for 1 pg of DNA extracted from pure culture of Salmonella Enteritidis (n =
	3)

- Figure C-33. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 1 ng of DNA extracted from pure culture of *E. coli* (n = 3)......220
- Figure C-34. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 1 ng of DNA extracted from pure culture of *E. coli* (n = 3)...... 220
- Figure C-35. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 1 pg of DNA extracted from pure culture of *E. coli* (n = 3)...... 221
- Figure C-36. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 1 pg of DNA extracted from pure culture of *E. coli* (n = 3)......221
- Figure C-37. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with Planar Si biosensor chip for 1 ng of DNA extracted from pure culture of S. Enteritidis (n = 3). 222
- Figure C-38. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with Planar Si biosensor chip for 1 ng of DNA extracted from pure culture of S. Enteritidis (n = 3). 222
- Figure C-39. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with Planar Si biosensor for 0.1 ng of DNA extracted from pure culture of S. Enteritidis (n = 3)... 223
- Figure C-40. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with Planar Si biosensor for 0.1 ng of DNA extracted from pure culture of S. Enteritidis (n = 3)... 223

Figure C-41.

Figure C-42

Figure C-43.

Figure C-44.

- Figure C-41. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with Planar Si biosensor for 10 pg of DNA extracted from pure culture of S. Enteritidis (n = 3).... 224
- Figure C-42. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with Planar Si biosensor for 10 pg of DNA extracted from pure culture of S. Enteritidis (n = 3).... 224
- Figure C-43. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with Planar Si biosensor for 1 pg of DNA extracted from pure culture of S. Enteritidis (n = 3)..... 225
- Figure C-44. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with Planar Si biosensor for 1 pg of DNA extracted from pure culture of S. Enteritidis (n = 3)..... 225

CFU

h – he

min –

NTS -

s – sec

Si – Si

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- CFU colony forming units
- h hour/hours
- min minute/minutes
- NTS nano-tubular silicon
- s second/seconds
- Si Silicon

The caus metals with neurological. Disease Con approximatel United States United States cost associate \$6.5-\$9.4 bill The diag blood. which due to costs detection of reaches the m Tradition biochemical ; these method take about enrichment). Biosenso drugs, horma incorporating

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

The causes of foodborne illness include viruses, bacteria, parasites, fungi, toxins, and metals with the symptoms ranging from mild gastroenteritis to life-threatening neurological, hepatic, and renal problems. According to a report from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), it is estimated that foodborne diseases cause approximately 76 million illnesses, 325,000 hospitalizations, and 5,000 deaths in the United States each year. Researchers at the Economic Research Service (ERS) of the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) estimate that the total annual medical cost associated with foodborne illness caused by pathogens (known and unknown) is \$6.5-\$9.4 billion.

The diagnosis of a foodborne disease is usually confirmed by cultures of stool or blood, which takes 2-3 days. Foodborne disease outbreaks lead to huge economic losses due to costs associated with lost work hours, lawsuits, and product recalls. Thus, detection of any foodborne pathogen is necessary before the contaminated product reaches the market.

Traditional methods are laborious, require technical expertise, and often several biochemical and serological tests have to be performed to identify pathogens, making these methods very time consuming (2-7 days). Rapid methods being developed usually take about 18-24 h (including the time required for sample processing and pre-enrichment).

Biosensors are portable diagnostic tools used for the rapid detection of metabolites, drugs, hormones, antibodies, and antigens. Biosensors are defined as analytical devices incorporating a biological material intimately associated with or integrated within a

1

- physicoch
- applicatio
- pathogens
 - Vario
- silicon die
- recently b
- recent dev
- with metal
- This proce
- penicillin.
- biosensor p
- This study
- demonstratio
- three differe
- fabricated us
- characteristic
- fabrication o
- detectors, ar.
- strains using

physicochemical transducer or transducing microsystem. While many of the biosensor applications are in the medical field, recent developments have been in the detection of pathogens especially for bioterrorism prepraredness.

Various platforms have been employed to fabricate biosensors, such as silicon (Si), silicon dioxide, fiber optics, filter paper, quartz, and glass. Nano-tubular Si (NTS) has recently been investigated as a potential platform for biosensor applications. Most of the recent developments in porous silicon sensors carry out a deposition step to fill the pores with metallic, dielectric or semiconducting oxide, enzyme, or molecular receptor films. This process has resulted in porous silicon sensors capable of detecting or measuring penicillin, alkali metal ions, humidity, and hydrocarbons. However, the use of NTS as a biosensor platform for detecting pathogens has not been reported.

This study was focused on developing a NTS-based biosensor platform and demonstrating its versatility by using three different biological sensing elements aimed at three different target pathogens and two transduction principles. The biosensor was fabricated using microfabrication and electrochemistry techniques and had the following characteristics: high sensitivity and specificity with an assay time of 60 min or less. The fabrication of NTS, its functionalization into biosensors using different biological detectors, and biosensor testing with *Escherichia coli* and two *Salmonella enterica* strains using optical and electrochemical transducers are described here.

2.1 <u>Mic</u>

2.1.1 <u>I</u>

Mor

caused b

et al. 19

foodborn

hospitaliz

annual co

bacteria: S

and Clostr

billion anni

Traditi

preenrichme

confirmation

before any ic

a certain lev

interpret and

clinical labor

sampling pro

Therefore, th

problematic

response M

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 MICROBIOLOGICAL DETECTION METHODS

2.1.1 Introduction

More than 200 diseases are known to be transmitted through food, and these are caused by 40 different foodborne pathogens, including fungi, viruses, and bacteria (Mead *et al.*, 1999). The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) estimates that foodborne diseases cause approximately 76 million illnesses, including 325,000 hospitalizations and 5000 deaths in the US each year (Mead *et al.*, 1999). The estimated annual cost of human illness caused by a group of seven pathogens (including six bacteria: *Salmonella, Listeria, Campylobacter, E. coli* O157:H7, *Staphylococcus aureus*, and *Clostridium perfringens*) commonly associated with foodborne outbreaks is \$5.6-9.4 billion annually (Buzby *et al.*, 1999).

Traditional methods for the detection of bacteria involve the following basic steps: preenrichment, selective isolation, and biochemical screening, as well as serological confirmation for certain pathogens. Hence, a complex series of tests is often required before any identification can be confirmed. These methods are laborious and may require a certain level of expertise to perform. The results of such tests are often difficult to interpret and not available on the time scale desired in the food quality assurance or clinical laboratory. Food sample testing also presents problems with the inadequacy of sampling protocols, and the presence of organic matter, as well as non-target bacteria. Therefore, the detection of target foodborne pathogens (for example, *Salmonella*) may be problematic due to low numbers present and may result in a false culture negative response. Moreover, four to seven days are generally required to confirm the presence of

the patho implication pathogen: 2.1.2 <u>R</u> New lengthy. H used to an The PCR requires pi et al., 19 Almeida, 2 In resp developmer food and cl using variou spectroscopy 1985; Wyatt for bacterial spectroscopy reactions, o; compounds biochemical ! Warner, 198 Sharpe, 195the pathogens (Food and Drug Administration, 2000), which has safety, cost, and quality implications for the food, medical, and biodefense sectors. Rapid detection methods for pathogens have hence become a necessity.

2.1.2 Rapid Detection Methods

New rapid detection technologies can be very sensitive, but analysis time is usually lengthy. For example, the polymerase chain reaction (PCR), a molecular method, can be used to amplify small quantities of genetic material to determine the presence of bacteria. The PCR method is extremely sensitive and can be used for various target pathogens, but requires pure samples and hours of processing and expertise in molecular biology (Meng *et al.*, 1996; Sperveslage *et al.*, 1996; Tsukamoto and Kanki, 1999; Almeida and Almeida, 2000; Narimatsu *et al.*, 2001; Hong *et al.*, 2003; Tims and Lim, 2003).

In response to this problem, considerable effort is now directed towards the development of methods that can rapidly detect low concentrations of pathogens in water, food and clinical samples. For this purpose, several instruments have been developed using various principles of detection, e.g., chromatography, infrared or fluorescence spectroscopy, bioluminescence, flow cytometry, impedimetry, and many others (Nelson, 1985; Wyatt, 1995; Hobson *et al.*, 1996; Perez *et al.*, 1998). Initial instruments developed for bacterial identification counted the cells by microscope or by flow cytometry; infrared spectroscopy; measuring physical parameters by piezocrystals, impedimetry, redox reactions, optical methods, calorimetry, ultrasound techniques and detecting cellular compounds such as ATP (by bioluminescence), DNA, protein and lipid derivatives (by biochemical methods), radioactive isotopes (by radiometry) (Nelson, 1985; Rossi and Warner, 1985; Ramsay and Turner, 1988; Rodrigues and Kroll, 1990; Ding *et al.*, 1997; Sharpe, 1994; Swaminathan and Feng, 1994; Hobson *et al.*, 1996; Wang *et al.*, 1997;

Fratami	
chemica	
naturally	
Identific	
produce	
(Swamir	
The	
used imr	
amounts	
related bi	
substrates	
process ca	
immunodi	
automated.	
studies wi	
convention	
¹⁹⁹⁷ : De N	
80% agreen	
positive rat:	
insufficient	
ELISA, rath	
Real-ti-	
diagnostic 1	

Fratamico *et al.*, 1998; Gunasekera *et al.*, 2000). Among these, the primary physicochemical methods of bacterial identification are those that involve the detection of some naturally occurring component of the bacterium. For example, the Microbial Identification System (MIS; Microbial ID, Inc., Newark, DE) uses gas chromatography to produce a fatty acid profile for detection and identification of microorganisms (Swaminathan and Feng, 1994; Crist Jr. *et al.*, 1996).

The enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) is probably the most commonly used immunological assay because of its versatility, sensitivity (ability to detect small amounts of antigen or antibody), specificity (ability to discriminate between closely related but antigenically different molecules), and ease of automation. Chemicals and substrates used in ELISA are safer than radioisotopes used in radioimmunoassay. The process can be easily automated for performance of large numbers of tests. The VITEK immunodiagnostic assay system (VIDAS[®], bioMérieux, Inc., Durham, NC) is an automated, qualitative, enzyme-linked fluorescent immunoassay method. Comparative studies with a variety of food types have found favorable correlation between conventional test methods and the VIDAS system (Blackburn et al., 1994; Curiale et al., 1997; De Medici et al., 1998; Walker et al., 2001). Wyatt et al. (1996) observed a 70-80% agreement between the ELISA and the culturing method. The ELISA had a falsepositive rate of 17% and a false-negative rate of 26%, which appeared to be due to insufficient growth of Salmonella spp. in the preenrichment broth employed in the ELISA, rather than lack of recognition by the antibodies.

Real-time PCR approaches have recently emerged as a preferred DNA-based diagnostic tool in both medical and agricultural fields (Marin *et al.*, 2004; Skof *et al.*,

5

2004: V Penders is increa 2002). quantitat material detection 2003). Th storage. v losses. Mo equipment 2.1.3 <u>Ele</u> Elect application Benedetti e Electronic electronics, statistical ar to both odcollects the elements w These data networks a; At present.

2004; Wada et al., 2004; Whiley et al., 2004; Connor et al., 2005; Farrell et al., 2005; Penders et al., 2005; Rudi et al., 2005; Uchida et al., 2005). Real-time quantitative PCR is increasingly being used for pathogen detection and quantification in foods (Norton, 2002). There are still two major challenges with the widespread use of PCR for quantitative diagnostics. The detection limit is mainly determined by the amount of material that can be amplified in a single reaction. The other major limitation is the detection of DNA from dead cells (Herman, 1997; McKillip et al., 1999; Nogva et al., 2003). This is a particular problem for processed foods or foods subjected to long-time storage, wherein 'false' positives from dead cells could lead to unnecessary economic losses. Moreover, all the above methods require expensive, multiple, specialized, or large equipment.

2.1.3 Electronic Nose

'Electronic nose' systems have advanced rapidly during recent years, with most applications being within the food and beverage industries (Schaller *et al.*, 1998; Benedetti *et al.*, 2004; Garcia-Gonzalez *et al.*, 2004; Lui *et al.*, 2005; Marti *et al.*, 2005). Electronic nose systems are comprised of sophisticated hardware, with sensors, electronics, pumps, flow controllers, and software, such as data pre-processing, and statistical analysis (Schaller *et al.*, 1998). The sensor array of an electronic nose responds to both odorous and odourless volatile compounds. In the electronic nose, a computer collects the signal pattern from a sensor array, comprised usually of individual sensing elements with limited specificity, wherein the first pre-treatment of the data is carried out. These data are then further processed by suitable software based on artificial neural networks approach for training and learning (Benedetti *et al.*, 2004; Dutta *et al.*, 2004). At present, different detection principles (heat generation, conductivity, electrochemical,

Artificia

optical. di

electronic

following

compound

short reco

1998). Art

quality (M

al., 2004).

2005). Gib

resistive ga

More recent

network wa

0157:H7 is

and the non-

(Younts et a

life of sense

storage qua:

rapid detect

^{chan}ges in g for each tar

isolates of th

optical, dielectric, and magnetic properties) are used in the basic sensing elements of the electronic nose. The ideal sensors to be integrated in an electronic nose should fulfill the following criteria: high sensitivity (down to 10⁻¹² g/ml), must respond to different compounds present in the headspace of the sample, high stability and reproducibility, short recovery time, easy calibration, and must be robust and portable (Schaller et al., 1998). Artificial electronic noses have been used to assess cheese, and alcoholic beverage quality (Marti et al., 2005; Trihaas and Nielsen, 2005), beef spoilage (Balasubramanian et al., 2004), freeze damage in oranges (Tan et al., 2005), and fruit ripeness (Brezmes et al., 2005). Gibson et al. (1997) reported on the use of an array of 16 conducting-polymer resistive gas sensors to detect 12 different bacteria from cultures grown on agar plates. More recently, an electronic nose based on gas sensors coupled with an artificial neural network was developed for E. coli O157:H7 detection and its differentiation from non-O157:H7 isolates. The differences between the 'gas signatures' of the E. coli O157:H7 and the non-O15:H7 isolates were successfully detected using neural network algorithms (Younts et al., 2002; Younts et al., 2003).

Artificial/electronic noses offer advantages such as simplicity of design, long shelf life of sensors, capability for long-term continuous monitoring (for example, in produce storage quality studies), and non-destructive testing. However, they cannot be used for rapid detection of pathogens as they take a minimum of 12-24 h to detect significant changes in gas patterns emitted from a sample. Also, identifying a unique gas signature for each target pathogen may not be possible, and variations in gas emission within isolates of the pathogen increase the probability of false positive/negative outputs.

7

2.1.4 Bios The dis electronic n biosensors) emerged as to convert biosensor c Transducers electrochem element use individual n Transducers discussed be 2.1.4.1 2.1.4 The use especially w biorecogniti environmen: detection. B operon. exp: are used for

4

response (K.

Horsburgh e

2.1.4 **Biosensors**

The disadvantages with culture techniques, molecular and ELISA assays, as well as electronic noses have led to the development of several alternative methods (including biosensors) for the rapid detection of the presence of pathogens. Biosensors have emerged as highly promising for rapid diagnosis. The general function of a biosensor is to convert biological events into a quantifiable electrical response (Cahn, 1993). A biosensor consists of a platform, a biological sensing element, and a transducer. Transducers used in biosensors to report these biological events are electrical, electrochemical, optical, piezoelectric crystal, or acoustic wave in nature. The sensing element used in the construction of biosensors can vary from entire sections of tissue to individual molecules such as cells, enzymes, antibodies, and DNA oligonucleotides. Transducers used in biosensors with different kinds of biological sensing elements are discussed below.

2.1.4.1 Biological sensing elements

2.1.4.1.1 Whole cells and tissues

The use of tissue and whole (living) cells can impart certain advantages to a sensor, especially when subjected to suboptimal conditions. Biosensors based on whole cells as biorecognition elements are used as genotoxicity and toxicity sensors, targeting environmental pollutant analysis but have much far applications for food contaminant detection. Bacteria or yeast cells, genetically engineered to bear the *lux* or *luc* gene operon, express luminescence proteins such as the green fluorescence protein (GFP), and are used for detection of environmental pollutants, monitoring water quality, and stress response (Kohler *et al.*, 2000; Gu and Choi, 2001; Weitz *et al.*, 2001; Bechor *et al.*, 2002; Horsburgh *et al.*, 2002; Kostrzynska *et al.*, 2002). Other signal reporter systems such as

bacterial been emj biosensor luminesce whole org range from suggested other envi drawback response ti 2.1. The lin of enzymes. Pesticides, e based senso agencies for to conventic ^{example,} ac carbamates : and food s Schulze et a ²⁰⁰⁴). In fi tomato past.

bacterial luciferase, insect luciferase, β -galactosidase, and alkaline phosphatase have also been employed (Baeumner, 2003). Biran *et al.* (2000) developed an electrochemical biosensor for cadmium using genetically engineered microorganisms for nonluminescence signal generation with the *lacZ* gene. Plants and tissues as well as higher whole organisms have been used in some biosensor applications in recent years. These range from algae to soybeans, and nematodes. For example, Shvetsova *et al.* (2002) suggested the use of soybeans and their electrophysiological response to acid rain and other environmental stress conditions as a potential biosensor system. The biggest drawback of cell and tissue based biosensors is the problem of selectivity and slow response times, thus restricting their applicability.

2.1.4.1.2 Enzymes

The limitations of whole cell and tissue-based biosensors can be overcome by the use of enzymes, which represent the most commonly used sensing agent for chemical targets. Pesticides, especially insecticides, have traditionally been an application area for enzyme-based sensor systems. Many of them reach detection limits set forth by governmental agencies for environmental samples, infant food, etc., making them attractive alternatives to conventional analysis systems (Karube and Nomura, 2000; Rekha *et al.*, 2000). For example, acetylcholine esterases were used for the detection of organophosphates and carbamates in single-use devices such as screen-printed electrodes in both, environmental and food samples (Albareda-Sirvent *et al.*, 2001b, 2001a; Avramescu *et al.*, 2002; Schulze *et al.*, 2002a; Schulze *et al.*, 2002b; Marques *et al.*, 2004; Timur and Telefoncu, 2004). In food analysis, the freshness-test applied to the analysis of fish, sauerkraut, tomato paste, and instant food (Frebort *et al.*, 2000; Niculescu *et al.*, 2000; Kriz *et al.*,

2002: La

(Gustavs:

Mazzei. 2

Liter

biosensor

Salmoneli

beef, and

detected

chemilumi

environme

poor speci

of such tech

2.1.

Biolog

in this secti

the analytes

to heavy my

pesticide de

described ti

paraquat en

functionalit:

^{including} P

²⁰⁰²). In fo

as aflatoxin

2002; Lange and Wittmann, 2002; Mitsubayashi *et al.*, 2004), antibiotic detection in milk (Gustavsson *et al.*, 2002), and detection of phytotoxins found in seafood (Botre and Mazzei, 2000) are some of the other enzyme-based biosensor applications reported.

Literature describing the detection of pathogenic bacteria using enzyme-based biosensors is limited. Sensors are found for the detection of *E. coli* O157:H7 and *Salmonella* Typhimurium with a bienzyme electrode chicken carcass wash water, ground beef, and fresh-cut broccoli (Yang *et al.*, 2001; Ruan *et al.*, 2002a). *Escherichia coli* was detected in environmental samples based on culture-enhanced amperometric and chemiluminescence principles with detection limits of about 10,000 cells per 100 ml of environmental sample within one working day (Nistor *et al.*, 2002). Low sensitivity and poor specificity of enzyme-based biosensors for pathogen detection limit the application of such techniques.

2.1.4.1.3 Antibodies and receptors

Biological sensing elements based on antibody and receptor molecules are grouped in this section, since their application area and functionality are very similar. Recently, the analytes targeted ranged from antibiotics in milk to general environmental monitoring to heavy metals to pathogens. The traditional application area of immunosensors is for pesticide detection in environmental samples and food matrices. Strachan *et al.* (2001) described the use of antibodies for the detection of atrazine, mecoprop, diuron, and paraquat emphasizing their superiority over other bioanalytical systems due to their functionality in aqueous and also organic solvents. Other environmental pollutants including PCBs were detected using screen-printed electrodes (Laschi and Mascini, 2002). In food contaminant analysis, sulfonamides (Bjurling *et al.*, 2000) and toxins, such as aflatoxin, fumonisin B1, cholera toxin, and staphylococcal enterotoxin B, were

targeted in and Durst. been used penicillin. Haasnoot a Finally some of th quartz crys milk sampl Salmonella resonance (different ba 0157:H7. w Su and Li. 1 limits. In a 0157:H7 ir enrichment An im_F ^{on} the surfa electrode ch ⁽²⁰⁰³) dev membrane J This approa

targeted in a variety of foods (Ho and Durst, 2000; Rasooly, 2001; Maragos, 2002; Ho and Durst, 2003; Medina, 2003; Rucker *et al.*, 2005). Antibody-based biosensors have been used for the detection of antibiotic and other drug residues in food samples, e.g., penicillin, streptomycin, and gentamicin in milk samples (Delwiche *et al.*, 2000; Haasnoot and Verheijen, 2001; Haasnoot *et al.*, 2002).

Finally, immunosensors have also been developed for pathogen analysis, but only some of these exhibit excellent detection limits with relatively short analysis times. A quartz crystal microbalance (QCM)-based biosensor was used to detect *Salmonella* sp. in milk samples with detection limits around 10^6 CFU/ml (Park *et al.*, 2000). *Listeria* and *Salmonella enterica* were detected with a similar detection limit by a surface plasmon resonance (SPR) biosensor (Koubova *et al.*, 2001b). QCM and SPR biosensors for different bacterial targets, such as *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, *Bacillus cereus*, and *E. coli* O157:H7, were later developed by researchers (Vaughan *et al.*, 2003; Kim *et al.*, 2004; Su and Li, 2005), and showed no significant improvement in detection limits. In a dipstick-type assay, Park and Durst (2000) were able to detect *E. coli* O157:H7 in food matrices at a low detection limit of about 10^3 CFU/ml without any enrichment required.

An impedance biosensor chip for detection of *E. coli* O157:H7 was developed based on the surface immobilization of affinity-purified antibodies onto indium tin oxide (ITO) electrode chips, with a detection limit of 6×10^3 cells/ml (Ruan *et al.*, 2002b). Shah *et al.* (2003) developed an amperometric immunosensor with a graphite-coated nylon membrane serving as a support for antibody immobilization and as a working electrode. This approach was used for detection of *E. coli* with a low detection limit of 40 CFU/ml.

An antiboo Alocilja als culture info Alocilja, 20 2005b). An ant cells follow generate a CFU ml for obtained at monocytog with 10 to i 2004). In ar (mFILIA) 、 tagged with generate f. successfully 2004). The ah demonstrati detection c microcantil cantilever s

An antibody-based conductimetric biosensor developed by Muhammad-Tahir and Alocilja also showed a similar detection limit of 50 CFU/ml for bacteria and 10^3 cell culture infective dose (CCID)/ml for virus within 10 min (Muhammad-Tahir and Alocilja, 2003a; Muhammad-Tahir and Alocilja, 2003b; Muhammad-Tahir *et al.*, 2005a, 2005b).

An antibody-based fiber-optic biosensor, to detect low levels of *L. monocytogenes* cells following an enrichment step, was developed using a cyanine 5-labeled antibody to generate a specific fluorescent signal. The sensitivity threshold was about 4.3×10^3 CFU/ml for a pure culture of *L. monocytogenes* grown at 37° C. Results could only be obtained after 2.5 h of sample processing. In less than 24 h, this method could detect *L. monocytogenes* in hot dog or bologna naturally contaminated or artificially inoculated with 10 to 10^3 CFU/g after enrichment in buffered Listeria enrichment broth (Geng *et al.*, 2004). In another study, a microcapillary flow injection liposome immunoanalysis system (mFILIA) was developed for the detection of heat-killed *E. coli* O157:H7. Liposomes tagged with anti-*E. coli* O157:H7 and an encapsulating fluorescent dye were used to generate fluorescence signals measured by a fluorometer. The mFILIA system successfully detected as few as 360 cells/ml with a total assay time of 45 min (Ho *et al.*, 2004).

The ability to detect small amounts of materials, especially bacterial organisms, was demonstrated using micro electromechanical systems (MEMS) for the qualitative detection of specific *Salmonella enterica* strains with a functionalized silicon nitride microcantilever. Detection was achieved due to a change in the surface stress on the cantilever surface in situ upon binding of a small number of bacteria with less than 25

adsorbed b density mi using a cha 100 Hz-10 Alocilja, 20 The pc and selectiv depending in all type binding doe fluorescent are used to event. Imr antibodies 1 : living or positive sig host to cau-2.1 A nucl and binds t^{stable} hyd: interaction hydrogen b (nucleotide

.

adsorbed bacteria required for detection (Weeks *et al.*, 2003). A MEMS fabricated highdensity microelectrode array biosensor, developed for the detection of *E. coli* O157:H7 using a change in impedance caused by the bacteria measured over a frequency range of 100 Hz-10 MHz, was able to detect and discriminate 10^4 - 10^7 CFU/ml (Radke and Alocilja, 2005).

The potential use of immunosensors is due to their general applicability, specificity and selectivity of the antigen-antibody reaction, and the high sensitivity of the method, depending on the detection method used. The antigen-antibody complex may be utilized in all types of sensors. The physichochemical change induced by antigen-antibody binding does not generate an electrochemically detectable signal. Therefore, enzymes, fluorescent compounds, electrochemically active substrates, or avidin-biotin complexes are used to label either the antigen or the antibody to detect the biological recognition event. Immunosensors cannot be employed to specifically detect viable cells. The antibodies used are selective to the epitope on the antigen. If the epitope is present on a living or dead microorganism, the antibody will capture the antigen and register a positive signal. In the case of bacterial foodborne pathogens that must be ingested by the host to cause disease, a positive result from non-viable cells may raise false alarm.

2.1.4.1.4 <u>DNA and RNA</u>

A nucleic acid (gene) probe is a segment of nucleic acid that specifically recognizes, and binds to, a nucleic acid target. The recognition is dependent upon the formation of stable hydrogen bonds between the two nucleic acid strands. This contrasts with interactions of antibody-antigen complex formation where hydrophobic, ionic, and hydrogen bonds play a role. The bonding between nucleic acids takes place at regular (nucleotide) intervals along the length of the nucleic acid duplex, whereas antibody-

protein
reflected
an antib
detection
Skuridin
different
nucleic a
ligands a:
then rege
Most nuc
compleme
The d
on their n
Biosensors
micromola
quartz crys
levels usin
Tombelli el
bacterial to
h,drophila
specimens.
containing
QCM biosc

protein bonds occur only at a few specific sites (epitopes). The frequency of bonding is reflected in the higher association constant for a nucleic acid duplex in comparison with an antibody-protein complex, and thus indicates that highly specific and sensitive detection systems can be developed using nucleic acid probes (McGown *et al.*, 1995; Skuridin *et al.*, 1996). The specificity of nucleic acid probes relies on the ability of different nucleotides to form bonds only with an appropriate counterpart. Since the nucleic acid recognition layers are very stable, an important advantage of nucleic acid ligands as immobilized sensors is that they can easily be denatured to reverse binding and then regenerated simply by controlling buffer-ion concentrations (Graham *et al.*, 1992). Most nucleic acid biosensors are based on this highly specific hybridization of complementary strands of DNA and also RNA molecules.

The detection of bacteria and other pathogens in food, drinking water, and air, based on their nucleic acid sequences, has been explored using various detection systems. Biosensors have been developed to detect DNA hybridization at sub-picomolar to micromolar levels using gravimetric detection systems (Sung Hoon *et al.*, 2001). A quartz crystal nanobalance system could detect DNA hybridization at 0.3 nanogram levels using frequency shift nanogravimetric measurement (Nicolini *et al.*, 1997). Tombelli *et al.* (2000) developed a DNA piezoelectric biosensor for the detection of bacterial toxicity based on the detection of PCR amplified *aer* gene of *Aeromonas hydrophila*. The biosensor was applied to vegetables, environmental water, and human specimens. The biosensor was able to successfully distinguish between samples containing the pathogen and those not contaminated. Zhao *et al.* (2001) developed a QCM biosensor using 50 nm gold nanoparticles as the amplification probe for DNA

detection reported larger pa DNA for water in of genom When use could det 0.02-0.14 developed have been PCR ampl DNA hybr Optica compared fluorescenc detect 16-n hybridizatio ^{(Abel} et u molecular : target DN: ^{complemer} performed

detection in the order of 10 fM of target, which was higher than what has been ever reported using the same method. The high sensitivity was explained by the weight of the larger particles, and the larger area occupied by the larger particles that needed less target DNA for their binding. Another QCM biosensor applied to the detection of *E. coli* in water in combination with PCR amplification (of the *lac* gene) was able to detect a 10 fg of genomic *E. coli* DNA (few viable *E. coli* cells in 100 ml of water) (Mo *et al.*, 2002). When used for detection of *Hepatitis B virus*, Zhou *et al.* (2002) observed that the QCM could detect frequency shifts of DNA hybridization as a linear relationship in the range 0.02-0.14 µg/ml with a detection limit of 0.1 µg/ml, similar to the QCM biosensor developed by He and Liu (2004) for *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. While QCM biosensors have been demonstrated to successfully detect bacterial and viral targets, they rely on PCR amplification of the target due to poor sensitivity, in addition to requiring 3-12 h for DNA hybridization and detection.

Optical biosensor systems developed for DNA detection exhibit higher sensitivity compared to the QCM biosensors. An automated optical biosensor system based on fluorescence excitation and detection in the evanescent field of a quartz fiber was used to detect 16-mer oligonucleotides in DNA hybridization assays. The detection limit for the hybridization with a complementary fluorescein-labeled oligonucleotide was 2×10^{-13} M (Abel *et al.*, 1996). Another optical fiber evanescent wave DNA biosensor used a molecular beacon (MB) DNA probe that became fluorescent upon hybridization with target DNA. The detection limit of the evanescent wave biosensor with synthesized complementary DNA was 1.1 nM. Testing with environmental samples was not performed (Liu and Tan, 1999). Liu *et al.* later developed MB-DNA biosensors with

microme
was high
detect 0.
submicro
Opti
traditiona
(2003) de
type bios
emphasizi
were obta
important
assessmen
was devel
membrane
study com
as a nuclei
spore in t
olignuclos
sensitiva
The biose
entrannin
Probe the
detection
COULC:

micrometer to submicrometer sizes for DNA/RNA analysis. The MB-DNA biosensor was highly selective with single base-pair mismatch identification capability, and could detect 0.3 nM and 10 nM of rat gamma-actin mRNA with a 105- μ m biosensor and a submicrometer (0.1 μ m) biosensor, respectively (Liu *et al.*, 2000).

Optical biosensors targeting RNA as the analyte offer an added advantage over traditional DNA-based detection methods, i.e., viable cell detection. Baeumner et al. (2003) detected as few as 40 E. coli cells/ml in samples using a simple optical dipsticktype biosensor coupled to Nucleic Acid Sequence Based Amplification (NASBA), emphasizing the fact that only viable cells were detected, and no false positive signals were obtained from dead cells present in a sample. The detection of viable cells is important in respect to safety, and also food and environmental sample sterilization assessments. Similarly, a biosensor for the protozoan parasite Cryptosporidium parvum was developed (Esch et al., 2001). Hartley and Baeumner (2003) developed a simple membrane strip-based biosensor for the detection of viable *Bacillus anthracis* spores. The study combined the optical detection process with a spore germination procedure as well as a nucleic acid amplification reaction to identify as little as one viable B. anthracis spore in 12 h. A quantitative universal biosensor was developed on the basis of olignucleotide sandwich hybridization for the rapid (30 min total assay time) and highly sensitive (1 nM) detection of specific nucleic acid sequences (Baeumner et al., 2004). The biosensor consisted of a universal (polyethersulfone) membrane, a universal dyeentrapping liposomal nanovesicle, and two oligonucleotides – a reporter and a capture probe that could hybridize specifically with the target nucleic acid sequence. Limits of detection of 1 nM per assay and dynamic ranges between 1-750 nM were obtained. While

the RNA-b inherent di high susce and need fo Other amperomet 2001), car microcanti amperome: 2000: Lee Several elu further (Ya 2004: Lee J 2.1.4.2 2.1 This _F photons as presence biolumines. phages that ^{non-biolur} wide range P_{IOSS}er et Bolton et a

the RNA-based biosensor can be an excellent tool for detection of viable bacterial cells, inherent disadvantages to the technique include the short life span of the mRNA target, high susceptibility to contaminants and inhibitors from environmental and food samples, and need for complex detection systems.

Other biosensors targeting DNA that have been developed include MEMS-based amperometric (Gau *et al.*, 2001) and high throughput PCR biosensors (Nagai *et al.*, 2001), carbon nanotube-based field effect transistor biosensor (Maehashi *et al.*, 2004), microcantilever-based cyclic voltammetry biosensor (Zhang and Li, 2005), pulsed amperometry- (Ramanaviciene and Ramanavicius, 2004), capacitance- (Berney *et al.*, 2000; Lee *et al.*, 2002), and absorbance-based biosensors (Mir and Katakis, 2005). Several electrochemical DNA biosensors have been developed that will be discussed further (Yan *et al.*, 2001; Cai *et al.*, 2002; Meric *et al.*, 2002; Ye *et al.*, 2003; Kara *et al.*, 2004; Lee *et al.*, 2004; Del Pozo *et al.*, 2005; Wong and Gooding, 2005).

2.1.4.2 Transducers

2.1.4.2.1 Bioluminescence sensors

This phenomenon of bioluminescence is the ability of certain enzymes to emit photons as a byproduct of their reactions. Bioluminescence may be used to detect the presence and physiological condition of cells. The potential applications of bioluminescence for bacterial detection involve the development of luciferase reporter phages that infect host bacteria, conferring a bioluminescent phenotype to previously non-bioluminescent bacteria. Bioluminescence systems have been used for detection of a wide range of microorganisms and environmental toxicity markers (Prosser, 1994; Prosser *et al.*, 1996; Ramanathan *et al.*, 1998; Weitz *et al.*, 2001; Bechor *et al.*, 2002; Bolton *et al.*, 2002; Shao *et al.*, 2002; Farre and Barcelo, 2003). Folley-Thomas *et al.*

(1995) us paratuber detectable approach. Griffiths, 1 of Salmon Increased cell marke orders of biolumines and the in! disadvanta of bacteria 2.1 Optica bacteria. 7 thickness ti Several or including: Taitt et al. et al., 2000 ²⁰⁰⁴). elli_i 1994: Wat-(Schneider

(1995) used the TM4 bacteriophage to detect *Mycobacterium avium* and *M.* paratuberculosis. However, a concentration of 10^4 cells was required to produce a detectable luciferase signal, and the response declined after 2 h. Using the same approach, *Salmonella* spp. and *Listeria* were also detected (Turpin *et al.*, 1993; Chen and Griffiths, 1996). A sensitive and specific method was developed for the specific detection of *Salmonella* Newport and *E. coli* (Blasco *et al.*, 1998) using ATP bioluminescence. Increased sensitivity was obtained by focusing on the bacteria's adenylate kinase as the cell marker instead of ATP. Light emission was proportional to cell numbers over three orders of magnitude, and 10^3 cells were readily detectable in a 0.1 ml sample. The bioluminescence approach is an attractive approach due to its extremely high specificity and the inherent ability to distinguish viable from non-viable cells. However, the main disadvantages are the relatively long assay time and lack of sensitivity when low numbers of bacteria are to be detected.

2.1.4.2.2 Optical biosensors

Optical transducers are attractive for application to direct, label-free, detection of bacteria. These sensors are able to detect minute changes in the refractive index or thickness that occur when cells bind to receptors immobilized on the transducer surface. Several optical techniques have been reported for detection of bacterial pathogens including: waveguides (Lukosz *et al.*, 1991; Zhou *et al.*, 1991; Amato *et al.*, 2000; Rowe-Taitt *et al.*, 2000; Demarco and Lim, 2002; Lim, 2003), surface plasmon resonance (Kai *et al.*, 2000; Haes and Van Duyne, 2002; Chen *et al.*, 2003; Medina, 2003; Leonard *et al.*, 2004), ellipsometry (Swenson, 1993; Bae *et al.*, 2005), the resonant mirror (Watts *et al.*, 1994; Watts *et al.*, 1995; Hirmo *et al.*, 1998; Lathrop *et al.*, 2003), and the interferometer (Schneider *et al.*, 1997; Liu *et al.*, 2002).

Swen free instru optical un Metaboliz affected a fluorescer. The re bacteria ((refractive material. index layer an elemen reflection. occurs. it immunoser 1994). The DNA hybr target oligo Schne ^{single} plan the waveg sensing reg used to co Swenson (1993) utilized an ellipsometric technique for the development of a labelfree instrument for detection of bacteria. The main component of the biosensor was an optical unit that consisted of an excitation source and a photodiode detection system. Metabolizing bacteria would result in an increased CO_2 concentration, which in turn affected an emulsion of aqueous colorimetric pH indicator, thus modulating the fluorescence detected at the photodiode.

The resonant mirror is another technique that can be used for direct detection of bacteria (Cush *et al.*, 1993). It is based on the use of a thin layer (~100 nm) of a high refractive index dielectric material and a thicker layer (~1 mm) of low refractive index material. At certain angles of incidence, light may be coupled into the high refractive index layer where it undergoes multiple internal reflections at the top interface, allowing an element of light, the evanescent wave, to penetrate to the sample overlayer. On reflection, the light undergoes a phase change, and by monitoring the angle at which this occurs, it is possible to detect changes within the evanescent field. A resonant mirror immunosensor was used for detecting *S. aureus* at 10^7 cells/ml within 5 min (Watts *et al.*, 1994). The use of the resonant mirror biosensor for direct and rapid detection of DNA-DNA hybridization was also demonstrated, with the lowest detectable concentration of target oligonucleotide (40-mer) being 9.2 nM (Watts *et al.*, 1995).

Schneider *et al.* (1997) described an evanescent wave interferometer that used a single planar wave of polarized light. Light from a diode laser source was coupled into the waveguiding film as a single broad beam. The light then passed through multiple sensing regions on the surface of the chip. An array of integrated optical elements was used to combine light passing through adjacent regions that were functionalized with

specific Salmone The mai compror 2 Piez detection Liu, 200and cost surface of bacteria, a the antibo resonance PZ in Salmonella A techniq developed cells/ml (I withstand biosensor / six to seve by washir. developed | antibody of

specific or non-specific receptors. Using this technique it was possible to directly detect *Salmonella* Typhmurium in the range of 5×10^8 CFU/ml with a detection time of 5 min. The main advantage of the above techniques is their short detection time, however this is compromised by their severe lack of sensitivity.

2.1.4.2.3 <u>Piezoelectric biosensors</u>

Piezoelectric (PZ) biosensor systems, in principle, may be used for direct label-free detection of bacteria (Babacan *et al.*, 2002; Zhou *et al.*, 2002; Lin and Tsai, 2003; He and Liu, 2004; Kim *et al.*, 2004). This technology offers a real-time output, simplicity of use, and cost effectiveness. The theoretical basis of piezoelectricity is based on coating the surface of the PZ sensor with a selectively binding substance, for example, antibodies to bacteria, and then placing it in a solution containing bacteria. The binding of bacteria to the antibodies will increase the mass of the crystal while proportionally decreasing the resonance frequency of oscillation.

PZ immunosensors were developed for Vibrio cholerae (Carter et al., 1995), Salmonella Typhimurium (Babacan et al., 2002), L. monocytogenes (Jacobs et al., 1995). A technique using a QCM sensor coated with a thin culture medium film was also developed and applied to determine Staphylococcus epidermidis in the range of 10^2-10^7 cells/ml (Bao et al., 1996). However, the PZ membrane was not strong enough to withstand several autoclavings. Prusak-Sochaczewski et al. (1990) developed a QCM biosensor for the detection of S. Typhimurium wherein the coated crystal was stable for six to seven assays. For repeated use, the bound bacteria were removed from the crystal by washing with 8 M urea. A flow-injection system, based on a PZ biosensor was also developed for detection of S. Typhimurium by immobilizing anti-Salmonella spp. antibody onto a gold-coated quartz crystal surface (Ye et al., 1997). The biosensor had

responses
CFU/ml.
Possi
interferen
sensors a:
drying st.
crystals n
disposable
2
Micro
capacitanc
conductan
and are all
between i:
and a
1000
¹⁹⁸⁸): Z ²
reference 1
The refered
in amount
This meth
quality an.
and for set
1996). Thi
- · · · ·

responses of 23–47 Hz in 25 min with a dynamic detection range of 5.3×10^5 to 1.2×10^9 CFU/ml.

Possible limitations of PZ technology include the lack of specificity, sensitivity, and interferences from the liquid media where the analysis takes place. Disadvantages of PZ sensors are the relatively long incubation time of the bacteria, the numerous washing and drying steps, and the problem of regeneration of the crystal surface. Regeneration of crystals may not be an issue if small crystals can be manufactured at low cost so that disposable transducers are economically feasible.

2.1.4.2.4 <u>Electrical impedance biosensors</u>

Microbial metabolism usually results in an increase in both conductance and capacitance, causing a decrease in impedance. Therefore, the concepts of impedance, conductance, capacitance, and resistance are different ways of monitoring the test system, and are all inter-related (Silley and Forsythe, 1996; Milner *et al.*, 1998). The relationship between impedance (Z), resistance (R), capacitance (C), and frequency (f) for a resistor and a capacitor in series is expressed as follows (Bataillard *et al.*, 1988): $Z^2 = R^2 + \frac{1}{(2\pi/C)^2}$. Impedance is usually measured by a bridge circuit, with a

reference module that measures and excludes non-specific changes in the test module. The reference module serves as a control for temperature changes, evaporation, changes in amounts of dissolved gases, and degradation of culture medium during incubation. This method is well suited for detection of bacteria in clinical specimens, to monitor quality and detect specific food pathogens, also for industrial microbial process control, and for sanitation microbiology (Swaminathan and Feng, 1994; Silley and Forsythe, 1996). This technique has been used for detecting microbial metabolism (Dezenclos *et*

al., 1994 state of instrume in the c cells ml o A bi state of c based on structures changed a membrane the electro provided i similar de density n disadvanta 2.7 Micro polysacch. techniques molecules and then microscop albumin ar

al., 1994; Palmqvist *et al.*, 1994), and for detecting the concentration and physiological state of bacteria (Desilva *et al.*, 1995; Dupont *et al.*, 1996; Ehret *et al.*, 1997). Current instruments usually detect active metabolizing bacteria when 10^6-10^7 cell/ml are present in the culture media. Applied to bacterial detection in urine, concentrations of 10^5 cells/ml can be detected using the impedance technique with a detection time of 2.5 h.

A biosensor for real-time monitoring of concentration, growth, and physiological state of cells in culture media was proposed by Ehret *et al.* (1997). This biosensor was based on impedance measurement of adherently growing cells on interdigitated electrode structures. Cell density, growth, and long-term behavior of cells on the electrodes changed the impedance of the biosensor due to the insulating property of the cell membrane. The presence of intact cell membranes on the electrodes and their distance to the electrodes determined the current flow, and thus the sensor signal. The biosensor provided information about spreading, attachment, and morphology of cultured cells. A similar detection principle was used by Radke and Alocilja (2005) to develop a high-density microelectrode array biosensor for detection of *E. coli* O157:H7. One disadvantage of using the impedence method is most analyses takes 20-25 h to complete.

2.1.4.2.5 Fluorescence labeled biosensors

Microorganisms are immunogenic due to the presence of proteins and polysaccharides in their outer coats. This permits the development of immunoassay techniques for bacterial detection. In fluorescent immunoassays (FIA), fluorochrome molecules are used to label antibodies. The fluorochrome absorbs short-wavelength light and then emits light at a higher wavelength that can be detected using fluorescent microscopy. Fluorescein isothiocyanate and rhodamine isothiocyanate-bovin serum albumin are the most common fluorochromes used to tag antibodies. Direct and indirect

detection Donnelly samples t bacterial i by food p fluorescer inherent ir An in bacteria ir IMAS co electroche continuou high sign: methods. by a volta 1996). Th anthracis : cells ml in Decreased interferenc 2.7 Most immunoas in biomed

detection methods are used to test bacteria-containing samples (Colwell *et al.*, 1985; Donnelly and Baigent, 1986; Brayton *et al.*, 1987; Kaspar and Tartera, 1990). Food samples tested by FIA are typically from enrichment cultures because of insufficient bacterial numbers in the original sample to be directly detected, and interference caused by food particulates that produces background fluorescence. Identification of bacteria by fluorescent immunoassays (FIA) takes advantage of the high degree of specificity inherent in the immunological reaction.

An immunomagnetic assay system (IMAS) was developed for detection of virulent bacteria in biological samples (Yu and Bruno, 1996; Vernozy-Rozand *et al.*, 1997). The IMAS consisted of a magnetic separator for capturing the antigen, and an electrochemiluminescent detector. The IMAS was coupled to a flow cytometer and a continuous fluorimeter. This approach, like other chemiluminescence techniques, offered high signal-to-background ratios, and was comparable in sensitivity to radioisotopic methods. It had an advantage over other chemiluminescence techniques of being initiated by a voltage potential, and thus providing better-controlled luminescence (Yu and Bruno, 1996). The total assay time was one hour. The sensitivity of the IMAS for *Bacillus anthracis* spores, *E. coli* O157:H7, and *S.* Typhimurium detection was approximately 100 cells/ml in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and 1000 cells/ml in biological samples. Decreased sensitivity of the IMAS detection in biological samples was due to sample interference.

2.1.4.2.6 Flow immunosensors

Most microbial assays are currently based on solidphase enzyme-linked immunoassays (ELISA) using microtitration plates. This is a powerful analysis tool used in biomedical research due to its high reproducibility and possibility to simultaneously

23

conduct heterogen microtitra Also, the and other bacteria a pathogeni Administr desirable growing a analytical concentrat (Duverlie called the ELISA for diffusiona filtering a extremely ^{volume} ra solid-phas linked imr detection and the E

conduct a large number of assays (Hock, 1996). However, disadvantages of heterogeneous ELISA methods include the small sample volume (200 µl) that the microtitration plate holds and the long incubation time required for each ELISA step. Also, the sensitivity of ELISA methods is insufficient for direct measurement of bacteria and other microorganisms in the original samples. Because low numbers of pathogenic bacteria are often present in a biological sample, an analytical standard often used for pathogenic bacteria is to detect cells in 25 g of food (Wyatt, 1995; Food and Drug Administration, 2000). Therefore, in order to increase assay sensitivity, it would be desirable to concentrate the bacteria into a smaller volume prior to the assay or by growing a single cell into a colony. Several possible formats for concentrating cells in analytical systems were described by Wyatt (1995). The most attractive technique for the concentration of bacteria is membrane filtration in conjunction with flow systems (Duverlie et al., 1992; Paffard et al., 1996; Abdel-Hamid et al., 1999a). This procedure, called the flow immunofiltration assay, can be an excellent alternative to traditional ELISA for detection of bacterial pathogens, because it not only overrides the effects of diffusional limitations, but also allows the concentration of bacteria on the membrane by filtering a large volume of the sample. Heterogeneous flow immunofiltration assays offer extremely accelerated binding kinetics (Morais et al., 1997) due to high surface area to volume ratio, and the flowing stream actively bringing the sample in contact with the solid-phase antibody. Paffard et al. (1996) developed an apparatus for use in an enzyme linked immunofiltration assay (ELIFA) for the detection of E. coli. Quantitative bacterial detection was based on precipitated chromogen determined by scanning densitometry, and the ELIFA method was capable of detecting 10^3 bacterial cells within 40 min.

Another	
artificia.)	
noncomi	
a fluores	
could be	
the cell	
order of	
procedu	
An	
system	
the ana	
of imm	
0157 ;	
1996:	
This a	
includ	
and sin	
Th	
variety	
causing	
(Scheu e	
J _{acksor} ,	

Another flow injection immunosensor, developed for the determination of *E. coli* in artificially contaminated food samples (Bouvrette and Luong, 1995), was based on direct noncompetitive heterogeneous immunoassay of *E. coli* cells with an antibody column and a fluorescence detector. The advantage of this method was that bacterial concentrations could be determined without using any labeled compounds through the direct detection of the cell's β -D-glucuronidase activity. However, the detection limit for *E. coli* was on the order of 5×10^7 CFU/ml, which is less than the detection limit of the standard ELISA procedure for microbial cells (typically 10^6 CFU/ml).

Another promising format of immunoassay is based on the use of flow injection systems and antibody coated magnetic particles. This technique can be easily automated, the analyses performed quickly and continuously, and the renewal of the sensing surface of immunosensor was easily accomplished. The system has been applied to detect *E. coli* O157 and *S.* Typhimurium (Brewster *et al.*, 1996; Gehring *et al.*, 1996; Yu and Bruno, 1996; Vernozy-Rozand *et al.*, 1997; Brewster and Mazenko, 1998; Perez *et al.*, 1998). This approach, though expensive, offers a number of advantages over the ELISA, including greater antibody binding capacity, higher sensitivity, reduction of assay time, and simpler operation.

2.1.4.2.7 Genomic sensors

The detection of specific DNA sequences provides the basis for detecting a wide variety of bacterial pathogens. Gene probes have been used in the detection of diseasecausing microorganisms in water supplies, food, and in plant, animal or human tissues (Scheu *et al.*, 1998; Simpkins *et al.*, 2000; Eun *et al.*, 2002; Wang and Yeh, 2002; Jackson *et al.*, 2004; Kotlowski *et al.*, 2004). The original DNA hybridization test for bacteria of radio. and disp probes i Hybridiz positive hybridiza required sensitivit involving detected real sam steps. th and Fun radioacti McKilli Tw improve special the natu can be transduc bacteria in foods used a radioactively labeled probe (Feng, 1992). The main disadvatages of radiolabelled probes are the short-shelf life of P³²-labelled probes, high cost, hazards, and disposal problems associated with radioactive waste. The limitation of nucleic acid probes is also a problem associated with cultivating bacteria to a detectable level. Hybridization requires the presence of at least 10^{5} - 10^{6} bacteria in the sample to obtain a positive signal. Therefore, without pre-enrichment of the target organism, direct DNA hybridization approach does not provide the required sensitivity to detect bacteria at required levels (Tietjen and Fung, 1995). However, PCR extremely enhances the sensitivity of DNA probes, at least three orders of magnitude. To date, only methods involving PCR have been employed to detect foodborne pathogens. Bacteria can be detected directly, without cultivation, by extraction and isolation of nucleic acids from real samples, followed by hybridization with specific probes. Without any enrichment steps, the PCR method could detect less than 40 CFU/g of a given food sample (Tietien and Fung, 1995). Alternative ways to detect nucleic acid hybridization by using nonradioactive labeled probes have been developed (Bruno and Kiel, 1999; Liu et al., 2000; McKillip and Drake, 2000; Seo et al., 2004).

Two aims of DNA-based biosensor development should be emphasized: a) an improvement over conventional nucleic acid assay performance, and b) the design of special gene probe techniques for special applications under special conditions. Based on the nature of the physical detection principle used in the transducer, genosensing systems can be classified as optical, gravimetric, and electrochemical. The principles of these transducer systems have been described above.

Eva et al., 14 assays. demons: wave de Internatio based on interactic The syst reflectio with a d introdu and po 2002). S, Kerm Electr respo Poter of a hybi dete (K_{i})

Evanescent wave methods of total internal reflection fluorescence (TIRF) (Graham et al., 1992) and LAPS (Lee et al., 2000) were described as labeling methods for DNA assays. Direct (label-less) gravimetric monitoring of hybridization reactions has been demonstrated with SPR (Kai et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2004b) and piezoelectric acoustic wave devices (Zhou et al., 2002; He and Liu, 2004). The Biacore system (Biacore International SA, Neuchâtel, Switzerland) is a commercially available optical sensor based on evanescent wave technology that has been used for the detection of DNA–DNA interactions (Kai et al., 2000; Jongerius-Gortemaker et al., 2002; Wang et al., 2004b). The system uses SPR that arises in thin metal films under conditions of total internal reflection. In the sensing element of this instrument, a gold transducer surface is modified with a dextran matrix on which the biological probe is immobilized. Oligonucleotides are introduced within a fluid flow system. Hybridization is carried out at room temperature, and positive signals are obtained within several minutes (Jongerius-Gortemaker et al., 2002).

Several electrochemical DNA biosensors have been developed (Cai *et al.*, 2002; Kerman *et al.*, 2002; Cai *et al.*, 2003a; Li and Hu, 2004; Wong and Gooding, 2005). Electrochemical detection of DNA hybridization usually involves monitoring of a current response resulting from the Watson–Crick base-pair recognition event, under controlled potential conditions. The probe-coated electrode is commonly immersed into a solution of a target DNA whose nucleotide sequence is to be tested. When the target DNA hybridizes, a duplex DNA is formed at the electrode surface. DNA hybridization is then detected via the increased current signal of an electroactive indicator (DNA intercalator) (Kerman *et al.*, 2002), the use of enzyme labels or redox labels (Napier *et al.*, 1997; Ju *et* al., 200 (for exa Tw hybridiz as pore hybridi2 solid-ph the need is exper personne when tes Eacl The focu different potentia biologic with bu probabij countern immobi *al.*, 2003), or from other hybridization-induced changes in electrochemical parameters (for example, capacitance or conductivity) (Cai *et al.*, 2003b; Wei *et al.*, 2003).

Two types of hybridization are currently used: (i) pseudo-homogeneous hybridization, which can be achieved in systems with high surface-to-volume ratio, such as porous membranes and highly dispersed immobilization carriers; (ii) solid-phase hybridization, which is preceded by transfer to a membrane. The main disadvantage of solid-phase relative to pseudo-homogeneous hybridization is the longer time required and the need for several manipulations (Aubert *et al.*, 1997). The DNA hybridization method is expensive, complicated (multistep assay), time-consuming, and requires trained personnel to perform. There is also a problem of false amplifications from dead cells when testing samples subjected to sterilization/sanitization treatments.

Each biological sensing element and transducer has its advantages and limitations. The focus of the current research will be to develop a versatile biosensor platform using different biological sensing elements and transducer systems. This will demonstrate the potential for future development of a biosensor system which can employ multiple biological sensing elements and transducer systems to provide a self-validating device with built-in output redundancy. This would be helpful in applications where a low probability of false positives and negatives is a must, for example, for bioterrorism countermeasures. One of the key stages of the biosensor development will involve the immobilization of the biological sensing element.

2.2 <u>IN</u>
The
antibody
material
be succe
proximi:
reuse. T
cases, in
material
cross-lir
et al., 1
depend
physico
2.2.1
Er
physic
metho
platfo
the er
by w
attrac
is sin
main

2.2 IMMOBILIZATION TECHNIQUES

The immobilization of the desired biological sensing element such as enzyme, antibody, and DNA probe is a key step in biosensor development. When the biological material produces the physicochemical changes in close proximity to a transducer, it can be successfully detected. Immobilization not only helps in achieving the required close proximity of the biomaterial with the transducer but also in stabilizing it for possible reuse. The biological material can be immobilized directly on the transducer or, in some cases, in membranes, which is subsequently mounted on the transducer. Biological materials can be immobilized either through adsorption, entrapment, covalent binding, cross-linking, or a combination of all these techniques (Hock, 1996; Cosnier, 1998; Thust *et al.*, 1999; Berney *et al.*, 2000; Cai *et al.*, 2004). Selection of a technique and platform depends on the nature of biological material, nature of substrate that produces the physicochemical change, and configuration of the transducer used.

2.2.1 Enzyme Immobilization

Enzymes have normally been immobilized either by covalent binding, through physical adsorption, or by cross-linking. Physical immobilization, a simple and easy method, is the adsorption of enzymes onto solid supports (for example, biosensor platform). The enzyme is dissolved in solution, and the solid material is in contact with the enzyme solution for a fixed period of time. The unadsorbed enzyme is then removed by washing with a buffer. The adsorption mechanisms are governed by electrostatic attraction, hydrophobic interaction, and van derWaal's forces (Choi, 2004). This method is simple, mild, and causes little or no enzyme inactivation; hence, the enzyme activity is rnaintained, and the sensitivity of the biosensor will be higher.

Var polyme enzyme or synth is small pass thr ļ. binding bound alteratio be used enzymes via thei preventin enzyme. organella techniqu matrices After the network been de v ²⁰⁰⁴a: X ²⁰⁰⁴). G Svitel et

Various enzymes have been entrapped within cross-linked organic or inorganic polymers. The preparation is done by cross-linking of the polymer in the presence of the enzyme; thus, the enzyme can be physically entrapped in the micro-pores of the natural or synthetic polymer (Koronczi et al., 2001; Ivekovic et al., 2004). The size of the pores is small, and this can prevent larger enzyme from leaching but allows small analytes to pass through to react with the entrapped enzyme (Kuswandi et al., 2001). When covalent binding or cross-linking is used for enzyme immobilization, the enzyme needs to be bound without significantly affecting its conformational flexibility, since minor alterations in conformational changes on binding a ligand to a protein molecule can often be used as a criteria in analytical determinations (Bonnington et al., 1995). Glycoprotein enzymes such as glucose oxidase, peroxides, and invertase have been covalently bound via their carbohydrate moiety (Melo and Dsouza, 1992; Husain and Jafri, 1995) preventing the chemical modification of functional groups in the protein moiety of the enzyme. Entrapment and adsorption techniques are also useful when cells or cellular organelles are used (Doktycz et al., 2003; Li et al., 2004). Novel sol-gel synthetic techniques have been developed to immobilize enzymes in stable, optically transparent matrices (Lobnik and Cajlakovic, 2001). The enzyme is added to the sol-gel solution. After the sol-gel has been gelled, the enzyme will be entrapped within the polymeric network of the porous gel (Wolfbeis et al., 2000). Enzyme-based sol-gel biosensors have been developed for detection of glucose (Zaitoun, 2005), hydrogen peroxide (Wang et al., 2004a; Xu et al., 2004), cholesterol (Shi et al., 2005), and creatinine (Pandey and Mishra, 2004). Gelatin has also been used as a natural polymeric support (Deshpande *et al.*, 1986; Svitel et al., 1998). However, the method often followed with gelatin is cross-linking

using g amino g Chd enzyme biomole the surfa The exc chloride activati enzyme groups residue permar shelf li case (enzyn 2.2.2 Ą immu antibo catego (Ye e other Slavik using glutaraldehyde (GA), which is known to inactivate some of the enzymes requiring amino groups for activity.

Chemical immobilization of enzymes can be achieved by covalently bonding the enzymes to functionalized solid materials or intermolecular cross-linking of the biomolecules. The binding of the enzymes to the solid support is achieved by activating the surface of the support, followed by coupling of the enzyme to the activated surface. The excess and unreacted enzymes are removed by washing with a buffer. Cyanuryl chloride (2,4,6-trichlorotriazine) is a versatile reagent that has been used for the activation of surfaces containing hydroxy groups and subsequent immobilization of enzyme layers. Similarly, solid surfaces can be functionalized to carboxylic acid or amino groups with subsequent attachment with enzymes. The enzyme is coupled with the amino residues surface by glutaraldehyde (Choi, 2004). In general, this technique provides permanent and stable attachment of enzyme molecules to the support, leading to longer shelf life and stable biosensors; however, the enzymatic activity often is not as good as in case of immobilized enzymes prepared by physical immobilization as some of the enzymes are prone to be deactivated in the coupling reaction (Kuswandi *et al.*, 2001).

2.2.2 Antibody Immobilization

Antibody immobilization is a vital step in successful development of an immunosensor. The immobilization method must preserve the biological activity of the antibody and enable efficient binding. These methods can be grouped into three main categories: (1) adsorption; (2) immobilization via entrapment in acrylamide membranes (Ye *et al.*, 1997; Vikholm, 2005); and (3) immobilization via glutaraldehyde (GA) and other cross-linking agents (Bhatia *et al.*, 1989; Narang *et al.*, 1997; Nashat *et al.*, 1998; Slavik *et al.*, 2002; Radke and Alocilja, 2005).

Ati howeve off the Also, th weakly The study of piezoele immobil reproduc immobil (Babaca select th Tw flow ir polyeth immobi Protein Protein region (binding of antibo Attachment of antibodies on quartz or glass can be achieved by simple adsorption; however, the immobilized proteins suffer partial denaturation, and tend to leach or wash off the surface (Bhatia *et al.*, 1989; Huang *et al.*, 2004; Zhou and Muthuswamy, 2004). Also, this approach does not provide permanent attachment because the complex is weakly bound to the solid support by adsorption.

The selection of an effective method for a particular biosensor requires a detailed study of different immobilization methods. For example, when selecting a method for piezoelectric biosensors, the approach should address: (1) the best biological material for immobilization; (2) the optimum immobilization parameters for the highest yield and reproducibility of the attached layer on the crystal; and (3) the effect of the immobilization layers on the frequency and surface characteristics of the quartz crystal (Babacan *et al.*, 2000). The results of these individual studies can then be combined to select the best method for the particular application.

Two methods have been reported to have the best potential for use in piezoelectric flow injection analysis (FIA) system, immobilization on a precoated crystal with polyethylenimine (PEI) (Ye *et al.*, 1997; Lin and Tsai, 2003; Tsai and Lin, 2005), and immobilization through Protein A coupling (Boltovets *et al.*, 2002; Su and Li, 2005). Protein A is a cell wall protein, produced by most strains of *Staphylcoccus aureus*. Protein A is a directed immobilization method due to its natural affinity towards the Fc region of IgG molecules. This does not block the active sites of the antibodies for analyte binding (Babacan *et al.*, 2000). In the PEI–glutaraldehyde (GA) method, immobilization of antibodies is achieved via surface aldehyde groups of GA on a quartz crystal precoated

32

with P antibod Th provide with ar reprodu Cer the stro surface have m directly 1998). (the real reported aminobu mercapto linkers succinin iodoacet; 1989; St surface (sites for Schiff ba
with PEI. Glutaraldehyde is a homobifunctional cross-linker. In this method, the antibodies are randomly oriented and bound to the active surface (Babacan *et al.*, 2000).

The self-assembled monolayer (SAM) technique offers one of the simplest ways to provide a reproducible, ultra thin, and well-ordered layer suitable for further modification with antibodies, which has potentials in improving detection sensitivity, speed, and reproducibility (Chen *et al.*, 2003; Su and Li, 2004; Vikholm, 2005).

Covalent binding is the preferred method of attaching an antibody to a surface due to the strong, stable linkage that is formed. Hydroxyl groups on the biosensor platform surface provide sites for covalent attachment of organic molecules. Several investigators have modified surface hydroxyl groups to provide a functionality that would react directly with antibodies (Bhatia et al., 1989; Shriver-Lake et al., 1997; Nashat et al., 1998). Coating the biosensor surface with a silane film provides a method for modifying the reactive hydroxyl groups on the surface to attach cross-linking agents. Silanes include 4-aminobutyldimethylmethoxysilane, 4reportedly used aminobutyltriethoxysilane, 3-mercaptopropyltrimethoxysilane, mercaptomethyldimethylethoxysilane, and 3-aminopropyltriethoxysilane with crosslinkers such as glutaraldehyde, N-y-maleimidobutyryloxy succinimide ester, Nsuccinimidyl-3-(2-pyridyldithio) propionate. N-succinimidyl-(4iodoacetyl)aminobenzoate, and succinimidyl 4-(p-aleimidophenyl) butyrate (Bhatia et al., 1989; Shriver-Lake et al., 1997). Silanes utilized for the modification of the biosensor surface (gold, silicon, glass) introduce amino groups on it, which in turn provide reaction sites for covalently bonding to glutaraldehyde. Antibodies are then immobilized through Schiff base to the cross-linker, glutaraldehyde. Glutaraldehyde has been known to form

33

,	
	large p
	comple
	lowerin
	Sportsr
	silane t
	fewer t
	biosens
	2.2.3
	An
	based o:
	with an
	white. I:
	in every
	and pan
	more bi
	SPR-bas
	antibodic
	from cu!
	mole of ;
	covalent]
	a self-ass
	1997; Si.
	Ruan et c
	stability :

large polymers. These reactive polymers may bind many residues and form multi-protein complexes (Bhatia *et al.*, 1989). These effects are likely to interfere with protein function, lowering the antibody activity on the biosensor surface. To obviate the problem, Sportsman and Wilson (1980) coated glass with glycidoxypropylsilane and oxidized the silane to produce aldehyde groups reacting directly with antibody. This method needs fewer functionalization steps and less processing time, while providing a functionalized biosensor with a high activity of immobilized antibodies.

2.2.3 DNA Immobilization

Another immobilization technique used with DNA probes (as well as antibodies) is based on the avidin-biotin chemistry (Wang et al., 2004b). Avidin is a basic glycoprotein with an isoelectric point (pI) of approximately 10, originally isolated from chicken egg white. It is also found in the tissues of birds. Biotin is a naturally occurring vitamin found in every living cell. The tissues with the highest amounts of biotin are the liver, kidney, and pancreas. Yeast and milk are also high in biotin content. Cancerous tumors have more biotin than normal tissue (Savage et al., 1994). The most commonly used method in SPR-based optical sensing is the immobilization of biotinylated DNA probes or antibodies onto a layer of streptavidin. Streptavidin is a biotin-binding protein isolated from culture broth of Streptomyces avidinii. Streptavidin binds four moles of biotin per mole of protein, and has a pI of approximately 5-6 (Savage et al., 1994). Streptavidin is covalently linked to carboxylated dextran fixed onto the gold surface of the SPR chip on a self-assembled monolayer of 11-mercaptoundecanol (Bianchi et al., 1997; Jordan et al., 1997; Silin and Plant, 1997; Tombelli et al., 2000; Feriotto et al., 2002; Gao et al., 2004; Ruan et al., 2004). This method is very efficient in terms of sensitivity, selectivity, and stability of the realized sensor chip for DNA hybridization detection (Silin and Plant,

1997:	
procec	1
M	![
electro	N.
gold s	st:
surfac	e
al., 19)ú
Wang	
" alg	, ,
assemb	۲
perform	2
compa	
instrun	C.(
X™ d,	e
higher	
[0 7 0.	Ì
sc11201.	Ċ
when c	:(-
Tł	le
immot	ni.
platfor	π,
immot)i
to the	
hi.	5 <u>1</u>
ulosens	C.
the targe	e

1997; Kukanskis et al., 1999; Mariotti et al., 2002), but remains a time consuming procedure (5 days) if one starts from the gold surfaces.

Many transduction principles use gold surfaces, for example, SPR, piezoelectric, and electrochemical sensing. Self-assembly of terminally thiol-labeled oligonucleotides onto gold surfaces offers a direct method for chemisorption of DNA probes onto transducer surfaces based on the formation of gold-thiolate bonds (Herne and Tarlov, 1997; Yang *et al.*, 1998; Steel *et al.*, 2000; Cho *et al.*, 2001; Hianik *et al.*, 2001; Satjapipat *et al.*, 2001). Wang *et al.* (2004b) investigated the suitability of direct coupling of probes by self-assembly of terminally thiol-labeled oligonucleotides for SPR-based sensor. The performance (sensitivity, reproducibility, and specificity) of thiol chemistry was compared to the streptavidin-biotin binding chemistry using commercially available SPR instruments, BIACORE XTM, and SPREETATM. The results obtained on the BIACORE XTM device with synthetic oligonucleotides, using the thiolated probe method, showed higher reproducibility and stability, good sensitivity, specificity, and lifetime of the sensor chip (more than 100 measurements were performed on the same modified chip), when compared to the streptavidin-biotin method.

The research reported in this study will investigate the performance of different immobilization methods with enzyme, antibody, and DNA probes on the biosensor platform to be developed. These techniques include adsorption, cross-linker mediated immobilization using glutaraldehyde, and direct coupling of antibodies and DNA probe to the silanizing agent. Once the biological sensing element has been immobilized, the biosensor functionalization step is completed. The biosensor will then be used to detect the target using appropriate transduction methods.

23 <u>C</u> 2.3.1 0; due to and th release selection system protoly hydrop intens release chemi] Cł. produc: chemic blue lig electror. often a. molecul non-bor of the chemilu:

١

2.3 <u>CHEMILUMINESCENCE AND BIOSENSORS</u>

2.3.1 Chemiluminescence

Optical immunosensors are one of the most popular sensors for bioanalysis. This is due to the advantages of applying visible radiation, the nondestructive operation mode, and the rapid signal generation and reading (Luppa *et al.*, 2001). Luminescence is the release of energy by matter in the form of light. Luminescence transducers combine high selectivity and sensitivity to monitor changes of various parameters in the analytical system, such as concentration of the analytes and products, concentration of quenchers, protolytic and complexation reactions, membrane potential, and hydrophobicity or hydrophilicity. Main approaches in luminescence sensing utilize either luminescence intensity or lifetime measurement (Lin and Ju, 2005). When energy in the form of light is released from matter because of a chemical reaction, the process is called chemiluminescence.

Chemiluminescence is the phenomenon observed when the vibronically excited product of an exoergic reaction relaxes to its ground state with emission of photons. The chemical reaction produces energy in sufficient amounts (approximately 300 kJ/mol for blue light emission and 150 kJ/mol for red light emission) to induce the transition of an electron from its ground state to an excited electronic state. This electronic transition is often accompanied by vibrational and rotational changes in the molecule. In organic molecules, transitions from a π bonding to a π^* anti-bonding orbital ($\pi \rightarrow \pi^*$) or from a non-bonding to an anti-bonding orbital ($n \rightarrow \pi^*$) are most frequently encountered. Return of the electron to the ground state with emission of a photon is thus called chemiluminescence. The excited molecule can also lose energy by undergoing chemical

reactic
proces
chemi
lr.
C
with ()
transdu
for rec
Ch
clinica
relative
dynami
differen
used in
in chen
horsera
(Thorn
chemit
chema
the -
uie presi
allomola

reactions, by collision, internal conversion or inter-system crossing. These radiationless processes are undesirable from an analytical point of view as they compete with chemiluminescence (Dodeigne *et al.*, 2000).

In general, the chemiluminescence reaction can be represented as:

$$A + B \xrightarrow{Catalyst} C^*$$
$$C^* \to C + h\upsilon$$

Chemiluminescence occurs as a result of the oxidation of certain substances, usually with O_2 or H_2O_2 , to produce light in the absence of any exciting illumination. The optical transducer is configured to pick up the emitted light and transmitted to an optical detector for recording (Lin and Ju, 2005).

Chemiluminescent methods have been applied in routine food analysis, as well as in clinical and biomedical research, due to such advantages as no radioactive wastes, the relatively simple instrumentation required, the very low detection limit, and wide dynamic range (Baeyens *et al.*, 1998; Kricka, 2003). It is versatile and flexible to many different approaches. In general, two major chemiluminescent analytical techniques are used in clinical analysis: (1) luminol, dioxetanes, or acridinium ester as label to be used in chemiluminescent immunoassay; or (2) chemiluminescent detection techniques using horseradish peroxidase (HRP) or alkaline phosphatase as label for enzyme immunoassay (Thorpe *et al.*, 1985). The first technique detects directly a light flash of the chemiluminescent reagent to determine the analytes. In the second method, the chemiluminescent substrates undergo a peroxidase- or phosphatase-catalyzed oxidation in the presence of a suitable oxidant, and the detection limit for enzyme label is typically in attomolar range by the chemiluminescent detection. Several chemiluminescent sensors

and th al., 20 imme release 2.3.2 ** chemi chemi moleca is dete antigen reaction conjun 0157:] betwee selectiv Was C(1) Fig typicall hvdroxy pattern and dep of the _C

٠

and their application have been reported (Ramanathan *et al.*, 1998; Ye *et al.*, 2002; Liu *et al.*, 2003; Jain *et al.*, 2004; Lin *et al.*, 2004a, 2004b). Most of these sensors are based on immobilized enzymes, in which chemiluminescent reagents react with hydrogen peroxide released from the enzymatic reactions to produce a chemiluminescent light signal.

2.3.2 <u>Chemiluminescent Immunosensors</u>

When immunoreagents are immobilized, the chemiluminescent sensors are called chemiluminescent immunosensors (Marquette and Blum, 2000). In this case, the chemiluminescent reagents or enzymes (catalyze) are labeled to the antibody (or antigen) molecules. After the immunological reaction, the chemiluminescent intensity of the label is detected by chemiluminescent method for the quantitative analysis of antibody or antigen. Ye *et al.* (2002) developed a biosensor, consisting of a chemiluminescence reaction cell, a fiber optics light guide, and a computer-linked luminometer, used in conjunction with immunomagnetic separation for rapid detection of *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7. HRP in the sandwich antibody-antigen complexes catalyzed the reaction between luminol and H_2O_2 in the reaction cell. The chemiluminescence biosensor was selective to *E. coli* O157:H7 with a detection limit of 1.8 x 10^2 CFU/ml, and the assay was completed within 1.5 h.

Figure 2-1 shows the simplified reaction mechanism of luminol, the substrate typically used for chemiluminescent immunoassays. The key intermediate is an α -hydroxyperoxide obtained by oxidation of the heterocyclic ring. The decomposition pattern of this intermediate, leading to the excited state and the light emission, is unique and depends only on the pH of the system. In contrast, the first step is strongly dependent of the composition of the medium (Merenyi *et al.*, 1990). In protic solvents (water, water

38

solvent mixtures or lower alcohols), various oxygen derivatives (molecular oxygen, peroxides, superoxide anion) can oxidize luminol derivatives but catalysis either by enzymes or by mineral catalysts is required. Catalysts employed for immunoassays include enzymes such as microperoxidase, myeloperoxidase, horseradish peroxidase, catalase, and xanthine oxidase (Kozlov *et al.*, 1990; Radi *et al.*, 1990; Rongen *et al.*, 1994). The bacterial peroxidase from *Arthromyces ramosus*, characterized by a very high turn-over, was claimed to provide a hundred times increase in sensitivity (Akimoto *et al.*, 1990; Kim *et al.*, 1991).



Figure 2-1. Simplified reaction mechanism of luminol: the key intermediate is an α -hydroxyperoxide obtained by oxidation of the heterocyclic ring. Its decomposition leads to the aminophthalate ion with light emission (Dodeigne *et al.*, 2000).

-		
)		
		N
		analy/
		rande:
		used i
		reager
		al., 20
		to be
ļ		ımmu:
		techni.
		and c!.
		2000:
		handli:
		hetero.
	,	antibo
		Dolym.
		of part
		or pace
		support
		membri
		Choi er
		such as
		optica]
		transfer
		1

Many chemiluminescent immunoassay test kits and automated immunoassay analyzers have been developed and commercialized (Kricka, 2003). The fully automated, random-access, walk-way chemiluminescent immunoassay analyzers have been widely used in food and clinical analysis due to efficient use of labor, minimal sample and reagent manipulation, ease of automation, and flexibility (Rymer et al., 1999; Hendriks et al., 2000; Nandakumar et al., 2000). Flow injection immunoassay (FIA) has been shown to be useful for improving cumbersome, time-consuming, and labor-intensive traditional immunoassay (Xu et al., 1989; Pollema et al., 1992; Gunaratna and Wilson, 1993). This technique has been applied to many fields such as food, pharmaceutical, environmental, and clinical assays (Bjarnason et al., 1997; Abdel-Hamid et al., 1999b; Burestedt et al., 2000; Nandakumar et al., 2000) due to the small volume required, the reduced sampling handling, good reproducibility, and easy automation for high sample throughput. In FIA heterogeneous immunoassays, a solid support is usually used to immobilize either the antibody or antigen. A wide variety of matrices, including inorganic surfaces, organic polymers, and other commercially available solid supports, have been used for the design of packing, while materials for preparation of flow injection immunosensors can be bead supports (silica, agarose, sepharose, and polystyrene particles with a magnetic nucleus) or membranes (Aberl et al., 1992; Bouvrette and Luong, 1995; Abdel-Hamid et al., 1999a; Choi et al., 2000). These immunosensors have been used for detection of different targets such as E. coli, E. coli O157:H7, and Salmonella. The main disadvantages of this type of optical transducer are finite lifetime due to reagent consumption, and steady-state mass transfer and laminar flow characteristics required to get a constant signal.

1 biose: as Sail a con perfor Contir expect 233 In sensitiv describ Poucke betwee light e multip having author Kacia F leadin chemi excited diradic excited

The current research will focus on development of a chemiluminescent immunobiosensor on a versatile silicon-based platform for detection of pathogenic bacteria such as *Salmonella*. The light output, recorded automatically using a luminometer connected to a computer, will be measured in a static (flow) environment to improve the sensor performance characteristics over existing flow injection immunoassay systems. Continuous automatic recording of the light output data will provide rapid results, expected within 5-10 min.

2.3.3 <u>Chemiluminescent Enzyme-Based Sensors</u>

In many instances, enzymatically generated chemiluminescence offers greater sensitivity and more rapid detection of viable cells than antibody-based immunoassays described above, as well as fluorometry, colorimetry, and radiolabeled probes (Van-Poucke and Nelis, 1995). The emission of light due to the chemiluminescence reaction between reagent and analyte has been employed in enzyme-based optical biosensors. The light emitted can be measured using charged couple device (CCD) cameras, photomultiplier tube detectors, avalanche photodiodes, fiber optics, laser detectors, etc. After having compared different luminescent and non-luminescent detection methods, different authors have concluded that dioxetanes are among the most sensitive ones (Nelson and Kacian, 1990; Gillespie and Hudspeth, 1991; Kricka, 1991).

Figure 2-2 shows the decomposition mechanisms for 1,2-dioxetane compounds leading to generation of chemiluminescence. The dioxetanes decompose thermally, chemically or enzymatically into two carbonylic compounds, one of which is in the excited sate (Bronstein *et al.*, 1989a). Two distinct modes are observed (Figure 2-2). The diradical mechanism mainly occurs during thermal decomposition. Very high yields of excited states are obtained, but unfortunately, the often triplet excited state, T1, is rapidly

quence Enzyn exchat conco carbos obtain

et al.,

1

0-

Figure mecha (CIEE While

F

diagn(

attenti phosp

detect

Brons

Ì

1

spir_{0ac}

quenched in aqueous solutions, and therefore, of poor utility in diagnostic applications. Enzymatic or chemical decomposition is achieved through a chemically initiated electron exchange chemiluminescence (CIEEL) mechanism: a rigorous two-bond breaking concomitant process leads to an electronic redistribution and the formation of the two carbonylic products. Large singlet excited state (S1) versus T1 ratios are generally obtained, which makes this reaction much more efficient in aqueous solutions (Dodeigne *et al.*, 2000)



Figure 2-2. The two modes of decomposition of 1,2-dioxetanes: (I) the diradical mechanism and (II) the chemically initiated electron exchange chemiluminescence (CIEEL). The diradical mechanism most often generates triplet excited states (T1) while CIEEL generally results in singlet states (S1) (Dodeigne *et al.*, 2000).

For the reasons listed above, thermally unstable dioxetanes are not suitable for diagnostic applications. Chemically triggered (thermally stable) dioxetanes have attracted attention from end-users for enzyme-based assays. β -D-galactosidase and alkaline phosphatase enzymes, used for a long time as labels in immunoassays and DNA-based detection methods, were adapted to chemiluminescent detection using dioxetanes (Bronstein *et al.*, 1989b; Thorpe *et al.*, 1989). The most widely used dioxetanes, 3-(2'-spiroadamantane)-4-methoxy-4-(3"-phosphoryloxy)phenyl-1,2-dioxetane disodium salt

(AMI galac: turner galact l: enzyr galac: in deta and (fluore: not rec AMP(fg of j vector D enzyma chemii substra detected presenc chemilu sensiti:

.

(AMPPD) and 3-(2'-spiroadamantane) - 4-methoxy - 4-(3"- β -D-galactopyranosyloxyphenyl) - 1,2-dioxetane (AMPGD), are the substrates for high turnover enzymes currently used in immunoassays, alkaline phosphatase and β -D-galactosidase, respectively (Bronstein *et al.*, 1989a).

In recent years, attention has shifted from the use of dioxetanes in immunoassays to enzyme-based assays for direct, easy, and highly sensitive detection of β -Dgalactosidase. The *lacZ* gene from *Escherichia coli* is frequently used as a reporter gene in determining promoter strength in both transiently and stably transfected cells (Alam and Cook, 1990). Chemiluminescence-based methods are preferable to colorimetric and fluorometric assays for β -galactosidase detection as they are much more sensitive, and do not require sophisticated, expensive equipment. Jain and Magrath (1991) developed an AMPGD-based chemiluminescent assay for β -galactosidase that could detect as little as 2 fg of β -galactosidase activity in a single cell, stably transfected with a *lacZ*-expressing vector.

Dioxetanes have also been used for detection of *E. coli* by using the β -galactosidase enzyme (a metabolic product) as the marker. Van Poucke and Nellis (1995) developed a chemiluminometric assay of β -galactosidase in coliform bacteria, using AMPGD as the substrate. By this method, one coliform seeded in 100 ml of sterile water could be detected after nine hours of pre-enrichment followed by a 45-min enzyme assay in the presence of polymyxin B. Compared with fluorometry and colorimetry, chemiluminometry allowed the detection of a smaller number of cells, the increase in sensitivity being 4- and 1,000-fold, respectively (Van Poucke and Nelis, 1995).

deriv micel Lumi itself (Lum galac: gener: depro: alkalir enviro result. fluores Ŀ spectr. 1992)

•

based

marker

Indirect chemiluminescence is also possible with dioxetanes. A very hydrophobic derivative of a fluorescer (5N-tetradecanoyl-aminofluoresceine) can be included in the micelles of the surfactant, hexadecyltrimethyl ammonium bromide (Lumi-Phos[™] from Lumigen Inc., Southfield, MI), and used in the dioxetane formulation, or the fluorescer itself can be conjugated to the dioxetane ring (Beck and Koster, 1990). Lumi-Gal 530 (Lumigen, commercial formulation Inc.), of 4-methoxy-4-(3- β -Dа galactosidephenyl)spiro[1,2-dioxetane-3,2'-adamantane], reacts with β -galactosidase to generate indirect chemiluminescence (Figure 2-3). The stable dioxetane is enzymatically deprotected by β -galactosidase (in step 1) to produce an unstable form of dioxetane under alkaline conditions (in step 2). This unstable form decomposes in local hydrophobic environment producing the singlet-excited ester (in step 3). Indirect chemiluminescence results when the excited ester decays (step 4), and this energy is transferred to the fluorescer in the Lumi-Gal[®] 530 cocktail (Beale et al., 1992).

Lumi-Gal 530 was shown to have a 20-fold greater sensitivity over other standard spectrophotometric assays when used with a pure β -galactosidase solution (Beale *et al.*, 1992). No further research has been reported for the development of a Lumi-Gal[®] 530-based chemiluminescent biosensor for *E. coli* detection using β -galactosidase as the marker, which will be the one of the aims of the research reported herein.



Figure 2-3. Reaction mechanism of Lumi-Gal[®] 530 in the chemiluminescent assay.

2.4 Elec: proce produ elect. biose: advan comp: electro achiev the co equip other by a condi 2.4.1 (com meta decre and r (Sille Staph₃

2.4 ELECTROCHEMICAL BIOSENSORS

Electrochemical biosensors are the most commonly used class of biosensors. Electrochemical transducers are based on a bio-interaction process, and during this process an electrochemical species, such as electrons, are consumed or generated producing an electrochemical signal, which can in turn be measured by an electrochemical detector. Electrochemical biosensors have been widely accepted in biosensing devices (Shah and Wilkins, 2003). Electrochemical sensors have some advantages over optical-based systems in that they can operate in turbid media, offer comparable instrumental sensitivity, and are more amenable to miniaturization. Modern electroanalytical techniques have very low detection limits (typically 10 nM) that can be achieved using small volumes (1–20 µl) of samples (Jenkins et al., 1988). Furthermore, the continuous response of an electrode system allows for on-line control, and the equipment required for electrochemical analysis is simple and cheap compared to most other analytical techniques. Depending upon the electrochemical property to be measured by a detector system, electrochemical biosensors may further be divided into conductometric, potentiometric, and amperometric biosensors.

2.4.1 Conductometric Biosensors

Conductometric biosensors measure the changes in the conductance of the biological component arising between a pair of metal electrodes (Gerard *et al.*, 2002). Microbial metabolism usually results in an increase in both, conductance and capacitance, causing a decrease in impedence. Therefore, the concept of conductance, capacitance, impedence, and resistance are different ways of monitoring the test system and are all inter-related (Silley and Forsythe, 1996; Milner *et al.*, 1998). DeSilva *et al.* (1995) detected *Staphylococcus* enterotoxin B (SEB) and its specific antibody using an impedance based

sense follo 10.7 decr case a ser (Serg 0.2-2 perfo bioser antige about patho bioser measu Typhi 2.4.2 P betwee conditi binding selective

sensor with an ultra-thin platinum film. The magnitude of the impedance (Z) decrease followed a simple relationship with SEB concentration in the range between 0.389 and 10.70 ng/ml SEB. The biosensor was specific to SEB as no irreversible impedance decreases occurred when the sensor was exposed to 100 ng/ml of kappa-casein, alpha-casein, or alpha-lactalbumin, in PBS.

Another conductometric biosensor was developed with a phthalocyanine thin film as a sensitive element for the detection of peroxidase labeled antibodies in aqueous medium (Sergeyeva *et al.*, 1998). With the developed sensor, concentrations of IgG in the range of 0.2-2 μ g/ml were measured in a competitive mode with satisfactory accuracy. This performance was a slight improvement over a polyaniline-based conductometric biosensor developed previously for IgG detection (Sergeyeva *et al.*, 1996). The lowest antigen concentration that could be detected in the competitive electroimmunoassay was about 0.5 μ g/ml. More recently, a conductometric biosensor for detecting foodborne pathogens was developed by Muhammad-Tahir and Alocilja (2003a; 2005a). The biosensor consisted of a lateral flow-based immunosensor and a reader for signal measurement. The lower limit of detection with *E. coli* O157:H7 and *Salmonella* Typhimurium was approximately 79 CFU/ml within 10 min.

2.4.2 Potentiometric Biosensors

Potentiometric measurements involve determination of the potential difference between an indicator and a reference electrode. They function under equilibrium conditions and monitor the accumulation of charge, at zero current, created by selective binding at the electrode surface (Koncki *et al.*, 2000). The transducer may be an ionselective electrode (ISE) which is an electrochemical sensor based on thin films or

selec fluor electi poter the a equat (8.31are the А been r sensin BLM. protein amplifi good se Th field ef of bact Ercole consists in aque harge (

selective membranes as recognition elements. For example, ISE can detect ions such as fluoride, iodide, or gas (CO_2 , NH_3) in complex biological matrices by sensing changes in electrode potential when the ions bind to an appropriate ion exchange membrane. The potential difference between these indicators and reference electrodes are proportional to the algorithm of the ion activity or gas concentration, as described by the Nernst equation:

$$\Delta E = \Delta E^0 - \frac{RT}{nF} \ln \frac{[C]^c [D]^d}{[A]^a [B]^b} , \text{ where } \Delta E = \text{ potential difference, } R = \text{ gas constant}$$

(8.314 J mol⁻¹ K⁻¹), T = Temperature (in °K), F = Faraday's constant, and A, B, C, and D are the reaction products for (aA + bB = cC + dD).

An ion-channel biosensor based on supported bilayer lipid membranes (BLM) has been reported for the rapid detection of *Campylobacter* species (Ivnitski *et al.*, 2000). The sensing element was a stainless-steel working electrode that was covered by an artificial BLM. Antibodies to bacteria embedded in the BLM were used as channel-forming proteins, and it was found that the total number of univalent ions, related to signal amplification, flowing through the channels was 10^{10} ions/s. The biosensor showed very good sensitivity and selectivity to *Campylobacter* species.

The recently developed light addressable potentiometric sensor (LAPS) based on field effect transistor (FET) technology has proved to be highly successful for detection of bacteria (Gehring *et al.*, 1998; Dill *et al.*, 1999b; Lee *et al.*, 2000; Tu *et al.*, 2000; Ercole *et al.*, 2002; Tu *et al.*, 2002; Ercole *et al.*, 2003; Hu *et al.*, 2004). An LAPS consists of n-type silicon doped with phosphorous and an insulating layer in contact with an aqueous solution where the immunoreaction takes place. The difference between the charge distribution at the surface of the insulating layer and a FET is used to detect changes in the potential at the silicon-insulator interface. A LAPS measures an alternating photocurrent generated when a light source, such as a light emitting diode (LED) flashes rapidly. The photocurrent can only be measured on these discrete zones where the sensor is illuminated. Thus, LAPS may measure local changes by multiplexing the LED, and consequently, measure different analytes simultaneously using a single sensor (Owicki *et al.*, 1994).

Ercole *et al.* (2002) developed a biosensor for *E. coli* in drinking water based on a potentiometric alternating biosensing (PAB) transducer. The transducer principle based on LAPS, which revealed the production of ammonia by an urease - *E. coli* antibody conjugate, could be used to detect 10 CFU/ml in 1.5 h. Although FET-based devices offer improvements to potentiometric monitoring of bacteria, there are problems associated with these devices, such as light sensitivity of the materials used in their construction, poor reproducibility, and selectivity.

2.4.3 <u>Amperometric Biosensors</u>

Almost all microorganisms can be sensed amperometrically by their enzymecatalyzed electro-oxidation/electro-reduction or their involvement in a bioaffinity reaction. Amperometry is based on the measurement of the current resulting from the electrochemical oxidation or reduction of an electroactive species at a constant applied potential. It is usually performed by maintaining a constant-potential at a working electrode or an array of electrodes with respect to a reference electrode. Ag/AgCl is the most common reference electrode. Suitable electrode materials for amperometry are noble metals, graphite, modified forms of carbon (carbon paste, glassy carbon, pyrolytic graphite), and conducting polymers. Amperometric biosensors have the advantage of being highly sensitive, rapid, and inexpensive (Ghindilis *et al.*, 1998).

Electrochemical measurements at electrode interfaces are easier to execute in very small volumes compared to optical measurements. Interest in miniaturized electrochemical biosensors, and the development of inexpensive and disposable sensors, has led to the application of thick- and thin-film technology in the manufacturing of biosensors. Amperometric systems have a linear concentration dependence compared to a logarithmic relationship in potentiometric systems. This makes amperometric immunosensors well suited for bacterial assay (Shah and Wilkins, 2003). Several amperometric immunosensors aimed at microbial detection using different biological sensing elements have been reported (Mirhabibollahi et al., 1990; Nakamura et al., 1991; Brooks et al., 1992; Kim et al., 1995; Rishpon and Ivnitski, 1997). Nakamura et al. (1991) developed an electrode system consisting of a basal-plane pyrolytic graphite (BPG) electrode and a porous nitrocellulose membrane filter to trap bacteria for the detection of bacteria in urine. The peak current of a cyclic voltammogram increased with increasing initial cell concentration of *E. coli* in urine from 5×10^2 to 5×10^5 cells/ml. Enzyme-linked amperometric immunosensors have also been developed for the detection of S. aureus and Salmonella (Brooks et al., 1990; Mirhabibollahi et al., 1990; Brooks et al., 1992). This immunosensor could only detect 10^4-10^5 CFU/ml of S. aureus. A modified approach, incorporating an enzyme amplification step and amperometric detection of reduced mediator (ferrocvanide), was used to detect low numbers (1-5)CFU/g or per ml) of Salmonella in food after non-selective (18 h) and selective (22 h) enrichment steps.

Recently, a technique based on the amperometric quantification of total coliforms, along with the specific detection of *E. coli*, was reported (Mittelmann *et al.*, 2002). An

I e Π Cę la

c₀ a<u>l</u>

mic dete

amperometric enzyme biosensor based on the electrochemical detection of β galactosidase activity, using p-aminophenyl- β -D-galactopyranoside as substrate, was used to determine coliform bacteria. The specific detection of *E. coli* was by an antibodycoated electrode that binds to the target bacteria. Detection of 10³ CFU/ml was carried out amperometrically (by screen-printed electrodes) in about 1 h, with a 100-fold increase in the sensitivity after 5-6 h of preenrichment.

Immunomagnetic beads have been applied in immunoelectrochemical assays for the detection of *S*. Typhimurium (Gehring *et al.*, 1996). This technique combined the selectivity of antibody-coated superparamagnetic beads with the rapidity and sensitivity of electrochemical detection of bacteria. *Salmonella* Typhimurium was sandwiched between antibody-coated magnetic beads and an enzyme-conjugated antibody. With the aid of a magnet, the beads were then localized onto the surface of disposable graphite ink electrodes in a multi-well plate format. After magnetic separation, the liquid was removed by aspiration, and 200 μ l of p-aminophenylphosphate was added to the electrochemical cell, and p-aminophenol, the product of the enzymatic reaction, was measured using square wave voltammetry. Using this technique, a minimum of 8x10³ cells/ml of *S*. Typhimurium in buffer was detected in 80 min. These immunoassays are labor intensive and time-consuming due to the many washing steps, requirement of complex instrumentation for their automation, and great lack of sensitivity (Gehring *et al.*, 1996).

An amperometric detector for *E. coli* using self-assembled monolayers (SAM) and microelectromechanical systems (MEMS) was also developed (Gau *et al.*, 2001). A detector array was fabricated by MEMS such that multiple electrodes were deposited on a

S İI el CL in te se el te de Wj g I

to **b**35

٠

silicon wafer. By the use of biotinylated thiol SAM on gold, a monolayer of streptavidin was immobilized on to a gold electrode surface to capture rRNA from *E. coli*. A high specificity was achieved using single-stranded (ss) DNA-rRNA hybridization. The sensor system could detect 10^3 *E. coli* cells without polymerase chain reaction.

2.4.4 Cyclic Voltammetry and DNA Biosensors

Electrochemical detection of DNA hybridization usually involves monitoring of a current response, resulting from the Watson-Crick base-pair recognition event, under controlled potential conditions (Okahata et al., 1992; Wang, 1999). The probe-coated electrode is commonly immersed into a solution of a target DNA whose nucleotide sequence is to be tested. When the target DNA contains a sequence that matches the immobilized oligonucleotide probe DNA, a hybrid duplex DNA is formed at the electrode surface. These hybridization events are commonly detected via the increased current signal of an electroactive indicator (that preferentially binds to the DNA duplex), in connection to the use of enzyme labels or redox labels (Wang, 1999). A detection technique that has not been widely investigated is the electrochemical detection of sequence-specific DNA hybridization based on the intrinsic DNA signals (due to the electroactivity of the nucleic acid bases), which are influenced by the DNA structure. The research described herein will employ cyclic voltammetry, a potentiometric technique, to detect these intrinsic changes in DNA signals resulting from DNA hybridization. This will be achieved indirectly by measuring the changes in cyclic voltammogram profiles of a redox chemical (potassium hexacyanoferrate (II) trihydrate, K_4 Fe(CN)₆) occurring due to DNA probe immobilization on the biosensor platform as well as target DNA hybridization.

Cyclic voltammetry, referred to as the electrochemical equivalent of spectroscopy, applies a triangular potential waveform to the system under investigation resulting in a current response (Figure 2-4). Cyclic voltammetry varies the potential to obtain information about the redox process of the system and to obtain the values of the redox potentials. A single voltage is reversed at some time after the electroactive species reacts, and the reverse sweep is able to detect any electroactive products generated by the forward sweep. The initial voltage at which the voltammogram is started is referred to as the rest potential (E_{rp}). Rest potential is the open-circuit voltage between the working and reference electrodes. Since this voltage varies linearly with time, the slope is referred to as the scan rate (V/s). A typical cyclic voltammogram for a reversible process is shown in Figure 2-5. The potential is plotted on the x-axis with the measured current values plotted on the y-axis. The values of interest on a cyclic voltammogram are the two peak currents and the corresponding potentials. The cathodic peak current, Ipc, and the anodic peak current, Ipa, occur at the reduction point and oxidation point, respectively (Robinson, 1987).


Figure 2-4. Excitation waveform for a cyclic voltammetry experiment (Adapted from (Robinson, 1987)).



Figure 2-5. Typical current response for a reversible couple obtained with cyclic voltammetry (Adapted from (Robinson, 1987)).

Ch is ele thin wh litt] und

Two elec redc cath

anio

direc

back

The current is measured in a three-electrode electrochemical cell discussed further in Chapter 4: Section 4.3.4.8. The schematic representation of a three-electrode potentiostat is shown in Figure 2-6. In a potentiostat, the current is supplied through the counter electrode and is measured through the working electrode. The response of the working electrode depends on the concentration and composition of the analyte in question. The third electrode is a reference electrode that provides a constant reference potential against which the working electrode measures the output current. The reference electrode draws little or no current from the system and is unresponsive to the composition of the species under measurement (Robinson, 1987).

Cyclic voltammetry measures the faradaic current resulting from electron transfer. Two factors can affect the faradaic current: the rate the redox species diffuses to the electrode, and the rate of electron transfer. The rate of electron transfer for the common redox couple $Fe(CN)_6^{3-/4-}$ is reasonably fast. The reaction at the working electrode or cathode is $Fe(CN)_6^{3-} + e^- \leftrightarrow Fe(CN)_6^{4-}$, where one electron is added to the ferricyanide anion to reduce iron from the +3 to the +2 oxidation state. This reaction proceeds in both directions (cyclic process) so that species can be oxidized to $Fe(CN)_6^{3-}$, then reduced back to $Fe(CN)_6^{4-}$.



Figure 2-6. Schematic of a three-electrode potentiostat for cyclic voltammetry (Adapted from (Wang, 2000)).

During the scan, the applied potential becomes sufficiently positive at point a (Figure 2-5 above) to cause oxidation of Fe^{2+} to occur at the electrode surface. This oxidation is accompanied by anodic current, which increases rapidly until the surface concentration of Fe^{2+} approaches zero, as signaled by peaking of the current at point (I_{pa} , E_{pa}) in Figure 2-5. The current then decays as the solution surrounding the electrode is depleted of Fe^{2+} due to its oxidation to Fe^{3+} . The magnitude of the current is described by the following

equation:
$$I_t = nFAD_0(\frac{\partial C_0}{\partial X})_{x=0,t}$$

where: $I_t = Current$ at time, t (Amps).

- n = Number of electrons, eq/mole.
- F = Faraday's constant; 96,485 e/eq.
- $A = Electrode area, cm^2$.
- C = Concentration of oxidized species, mol/cm³.
- D_0 = Diffusion coefficient of oxidized species, cm²/s.

E hy af the tim

t = Time(s).

X = Distance from the electrode (cm).

The product $D_0 (\partial C_0 / \partial X)$ at x = 0,t is the flux or the number of moles of oxidized species diffusing per unit time to unit area of the electrode in units of mol/cm² s (Shippy and Burns, 2002).

During the positive scan in which Fe^{2+} is oxidized to Fe^{3+} , the depletion of Fe^{2+} in the vicinity of the electrode is accompanied by an accumulation of Fe^{3+} . After the direction of the potential scan is switched to a negative scan (reverse sweep), oxidation continues, as seen in Figure 2-4 above, until the applied potential becomes sufficiently negative to cause reduction of the accumulated Fe^{3+} (point b). Reduction of Fe^{3+} is signaled by the appearance of cathodic current. Once again, the current increases as the potential becomes increasingly negative until all of the Fe^{3+} near the electrode is reduced. When the concentration of Fe^{3+} is significantly depleted, the current peaks, and then decreases. Thus, in the forward scan Fe^{3+} is electrochemically generated, as indicated by the cathodic current. In the reverse scan, the Fe^{3+} is reduced back to Fe^{2+} , as indicated by the cathodic currents, I_{Pa} and I_{Pc} , and the potentials at which peaks occur, E_{Pa} and E_{Pc} (Shippy and Burns, 2002).

The current research will investigate the use of cyclic voltammetry to detect DNA hybridization under the hypothesis that the parameter, diffusion coefficient D_0 , will be affected by the DNA probe immobilization and hybridization processes taking place on the biosensor platform surface, in turn influencing the output current, I_t , at any given time.

2.5 NANO-TUBULAR SILICON (NTS)

2.5.1 <u>Silicon (Si)</u>

Silicon (Si) was discovered by Jöns Jacob Berzelius, a Swedish chemist, in 1824 by heating chips of potassium in a silica container and then carefully washing away the residual by-products. Silicon compounds are the most significant component of the Earth's crust. Silicon is recovered from an abundant resource, sand. Most pure sand is quartz, silicon dioxide (SiO₂). Since sand is plentiful, easy to mine, and relatively easy to process, it is the primary ore source of silicon. Some Si is also retrieved from two other silicate minerals, talc and mica. The metamorphic rock, quartzite, is another source (quartzite is metamorphosed sandstone).

Two allotropes of Si exist at room temperature: amorphous and crystalline. The amorphous form appears as a brown powder, while crystalline silicon has a metallic luster and a grayish color. Single crystals of crystalline silicon can be grown with a process known as the Czochralski process. These crystals, when doped with elements such as boron, gallium, germanium, phosphorus or arsenic, are used to manufacture solid-state electronic devices, such as transistors, solar cells, rectifiers, and microchips (Gagnon, 2005). Silicon is a semi-conductor. When silicon is doped with dopants, such as boron and gallium that make it conductive by providing more holes than electrons, it is referred to as p-type Si. Conversely, silicon doped with dopants, such as phosphorus and arsenic that make it conductive by providing more electrons than holes, is termed n-type Si.

2.5.2 Silicon Etching

The etching of silicon surfaces in fluoride solutions is of both technological and fundamental significance. It is essential to semiconductor processing in integrated circuit

manufacture. It can also create materials with different properties. Based on the etching conditions, either perfectly flat H-terminated surfaces or H-terminated NTS is produced. Flat, clean Si surfaces are required for better device performance. NTS is of technological interest not only for its optical properties (Naftel et al., 2000; Nguyen et al., 2000; Setzu et al., 2000), but also as a biomaterial (Wolf et al., 1998), sensor (Lin et al., 1997; Dancil et al., 1999; Fichera et al., 2003; Martin-Palma et al., 2004), and substrate for laser desorption/ionization mass spectrometry (Shen et al., 2001). Silicon is the only material that spontaneously gives rise to well defined tubules with nm dimensions. Other materials such as silicon carbide (SiC), gallium arsenide (GaAs), gallium phosphate (GaP), and indium phosphate (InP) can be made porous but with great difficulty. NTS is typically obtained by anodization in aqueous or ethanoic hydrofluoric acid solution (HF). The versatility of fluoride etching of Si has prompted research to elucidate the mechanisms behind the chemical, electrochemical, and laser assisted chemistry at the fluoride/Si interface (Cullis et al., 1997; Chazalviel et al., 2000; Jungblut et al., 2002; Safi et al., 2002).

A typical J-V curve is shown in Figure 2-7 for a diluted aqueous HF solution. Tubule formation occurs in the initial rising part of the curve for $0 < V < V_{ep}$. V_{ep} is the potential of the small sharp peak corresponding to the current J_{ep} . This peak is called the electropolishing peak. J_{ep} depends on the solution composition but not so much on the silicon substrate itself. When $V > V_{ep}$, electropolishing occurs since the surface becomes covered by an oxide layer, whose composition and dielectric properties depend on the applied potential. This provides a flat, clean Si surface useful for integrated circuits fabrication (Allongue, 1997).



Figure 2-7. Typical J-V curve of p^+ -Si in dilute aqueous HF solution. Nano-tubular Si is obtainable for J < J_{ep}. (Adapted from (Allongue, 1997))

The dissolution of p-type silicon and formation of NTS may be described by the reaction model in Figure 2-8 (Allongue, 1997). As long as the voltage is not raised above the electropolishing range ($J < J_{ep}$, so as to keep the supply of holes within a certain limit), steps A-B remain slower than steps C-E, and the surface remains H-terminated throughout etching (Chazalviel *et al.*, 2000; Safi *et al.*, 2002).

Etching is initiated by hole capture at the surface (Gerischer and Lubke, 1987, 1988; Gerischer *et al.*, 1993). For each silicon atom, dissolved, two holes are consumed in steps A and B. One molecule of hydrogen (step E) and two protons (steps B and C) are also generated on the surface. Once etching is initiated by hole capture at the surface, the ensuing reactions proceed rapidly to dissolve the activated Si atom. After the initial substitution steps Si-H \rightarrow Si-OH \rightarrow Si-F (steps A to C), undissociated HF and H₂O molecules chemically attack the strongly polarized Si^{-δ}-Si^{+δ} back bonds, leaving the H atom attached to the Si^{- δ} atom on the surface (steps D). The final step occurs in solution where the Si complex is further hydrolyzed with production of molecular H₂ (step E). Under most conditions, the hole capture step is the rate-determining step (RDS). Rate changes in response to solution composition changes must, therefore, be caused by one of the subsequent reactive steps. As the rate of substitution Si-H \rightarrow Si-OH increases, by increasing the rate of hole supply, the density of Si-OH bonds increases and becomes such that the neighboring groups start to condense into Si-O-Si bridges. This is the early stage of oxide formation that corresponds to electropolishing (Allongue, 1997).



Figure 2-8. Reaction model for dissolution of nano-tubular silicon in aqueous HF solutions.

Theories that species, such as $(HF)_2$ and $(HF)_2^-$, apart from F^{-1} and HF have played an important role in the etch mechanism have not yet been proven. In particular, consensus is that $(HF)_2$ is not formed in aqueous solutions of HF, and consequently, any mechanism relying upon this species is incorrect. Species such as H_2O , OH^- , H^+ , and $F^$ are involved in the faster reaction steps (Figure 2-8) (Kolasinski, 2003).

2.5.3 <u>Nano-Tubular Si Porosity and Thickness Measurement</u>

The porosity and thickness of the porous silicon layers are the most important parameters used to characterize porous silicon. The porosity is defined as the void within the porous silicon layer, and can be determined by weight measurements. The virgin wafer is first weighed before anodization (m_1) , then just after anodization etching (m_2) , and finally after complete dissolution of the porous layer in a 1 M NaOH aqueous solution (m_3) . The porosity is given by the following equation:

$$P(\%) = \frac{(m_1 - m_2)}{(m_1 - m_3)}$$

From the above measurements, the thickness of the porous silicon layer can be determined as follows: $W = \frac{(m_1 - m_3)}{S \times d}$; where d is the bulk silicon density, and S is the

area of the wafer exposed to HF during anodization (Allongue, 1997).

2.5.4 <u>Nano-Tubular Silicon and Biosensors</u>

Nano-tubular Si (NTS) has recently been investigated as a potential platform for biosensor applications. NTS has advantages over planar platforms in biosensor development due to the increased surface area, which will allow for higher sensitivity while using a smaller device. NTS can be easily synthesized directly from the same single-crystal silicon wafers used in the microelectronics industry, making it ideal for a silicon-based optoelectronic technology (the combination of optical measurement and silicon microelectronics). An NTS-based device is compatible with established solid-state fabrication technologies.

Much of the developmental research has been related to the changes in the electronic and optical properties of NTS produced by quantum confinement. For example, light emitting devices (Hirschman *et al.*, 1996), photodetectors (Zheng *et al.*, 1992), **and** wave guides (Loni *et al.*, 1996) have been reported. Recently, novel sensor applications of NTS have also been developed, taking advantage of the high internal surface area (Lin *et al.*, 1997). Most of the recent developments in NTS sensors carry out a deposition step to fill the pores with metallic, dielectric or semiconducting oxide, enzyme, or molecular receptor films. This process has resulted in NTS sensors capable of detecting penicillin, alkali metal ions, humidity, and hydrocarbons (Stewart and Buriak, 2000).

2.5.4.1 Enzyme-based NTS biosensors

In the last five years, NTS has been used as a biosensor platform for enzyme-based biosensors. EIS (electrolyte-insulator-semiconductor) structures of nano-tubular n-Si/SiO₂/Si₃N₄ were fabricated to develop a capacitive pH sensor (Schöning *et al.*, 2000) using photolithography-based etching. The average pH sensitivity of the NTS pH microsensor was in the concentration range between pH 4 and pH 8, with the electrodes showing a potential stability of more than 1 week in the long term. Further research (Lüth *et al.*, 2000) showed that the enlargement of the active sensor area increased the measured capacitance values up to a factor of 30.

When used for glucose monitoring, the use of NTS as an efficient surface enlarging carrier matrix for immobilized enzymes was demonstrated. An increase in glucose turnover of approximately 220 times as compared to an enzyme activated polished surface was recorded. Glucose monitoring response was linear around 15 mM glucose with a satisfactory storage and operational stability (Bengtsson et al., 2000b). Fichera et al. (2003) also demonstrated Si-based micro-biosensors for glucose detection in water solutions using NTS as the surface to bind the glucose oxidase enzyme. Micro channels **1** • Calised below a suspended and auto-supporting NTS membrane, fabricated using surface micromachining processes, allowed the buffer solution to flow through the porous matrix. Photoluminescence, absorbance, and optical microscopy measurements were used to demonstrate biosensor functionality. In a similar study, DeLouise and Miller (2005) used NTS to gain a quantitative understanding of the effects of immobilization on enzyme activity. activity of glutathione-S-transferase immobilized The in electrochemically etched NTS films was compared with the enzyme in solution. The Specific activity of the free enzyme in solution was observed to be four times higher than the immobilized enzyme, indicating that 25% of the enzyme was bound with the catalytic site in an inactive conformation or in a hindered orientation. To date, no studies have been reported employing NTS as a biosensor platform for bacterial detection with enzyme-based transduction.

2.5.4.2 Antibody-based NTS biosensors

Tinsley-Bown *et al.* (2000) used NTS as an optical interferometric biosensor with anti-rabbit IgG and the analyte rabbit IgG conjugated to horseradish peroxidase (HRP). Later, NTS multilayer stacks were developed for use as interference filters in the visible range (Martin-Palma *et al.*, 2004). The possibility of using these structures as biosensors was explored, based on the significant changes in the reflectance spectra before and after exposing the NTS multilayer to antibodies. Significant reduction of reflectance from NTS structures was observed when the sensor was exposed to polyclonal mouse antibodies. The authors claim the possibility of developing biosensors based on the variation of the shape and/or position of the optical or photoluminescent spectrum from NTS. Further studies have not been reported to demonstrate the use of NTS as an optical interference filter-based biosensor.

Other biosensors developed with antibody-based detection have been demonstrated on planar silicon surfaces only. These include an ELISA (HRP)-based detection of thiabendazole (Flounders *et al.*, 1995), an evanescent field-based fluorescence detection of rabit IgG (Hofmann *et al.*, 2002), an ion-sensitive field effect transistor (ISFET)-based irmmunosensor to detect β -Bungarotoxin (Selvanayagam *et al.*, 2002), and a multi-analyte detection system using a protein biochip sensor array based on a complementary metal oxide silicon (CMOS) integrated circuit (Moreno-Bondi *et al.*, 2003).

2.5.4.3 DNA-based NTS biosensors

A DNA biosensor was developed based on induced wavelength shifts in the Fabry-Perot fringes in the visible-light reflection spectrum of appropriately derivatized thin films of NTS semiconductors. Binding of molecules induced changes in the refractive index of the NTS. The validity and sensitivity of the system was demonstrated for small organic molecules (biotin and digoxigenin), and 16-nucleotide DNA oligomers, at picomolar analyte concentrations (Lin *et al.*, 1997). Another DNA-based optical biosensor device was fabricated from a microcavity resonator made of various NTS layers. NTS containing silicon nanocrystals that could luminesce efficiently in the visible range was inserted between two Bragg reflectors (also made of NTS), to observe multiple and very narrow luminescence peaks. The position of these peaks was extremely Sensitive to a small change in refractive index, such as that obtained when a biological element was attached to the large internal surface of porous silicon. The authors successfully demonstrated a DNA hybridization detection sensor. Further progress was rnade with the DNA biosensor to detect viral DNA (Chan *et al.*, 2000; Chan *et al.*, 2001). Change in electrical properties (capacitance and conductance) of NTS layers upon exposure to organic solvents and water have also been investigated for application in biosensors (Archer *et al.*, 2003).

The use of NTS as a biosensor platform for detecting foodborne pathogens in **conjunction** with enzyme- and electrochemical transduction-based methods, such as **cyclic** voltammetry, has not been reported. In the development of a sensor, **selectivity/specificity** is an important issue. The sensor must be able to distinguish the **element/target** being detected from other non-target elements at the appropriate **concentration** for the target.

This research will develop a fabrication process to maximize the surface area of the biosensor platform to provide more reaction sites for the biological detection event. The NTS platform will be funtionalized into enzyme-, antibody-, and DNA-based biosensors, and used for detection of different bacterial targets. If appropriate transduction techniques are employed, such a biosensor platform will help achieve greater sensitivity while also improving the possibility of reducing the size of the sensor into a MEMS or nano-electromechanical system (NEMS) device. Specificity will be achieved by using enzymes, antibodies, and DNA probes specific to the target of interest, whenever possible. The versatility of the NTS platform will be demonstrated by using three biological sensing elements targeting three different pathogens with two immobilization techniques and two transduction mechanisms.

66

2.6 COLIFORMS/ESCHERICHIA COLI

2.6.1 Introduction

Direct testing of pathogenic bacteria and their toxins in foods is not routinely performed for quality control purposes (except for *Salmonella enterica* and *Staphylococcus aureus*). Instead, microbiological criteria for food safety often use tests for indicator organisms that suggest the possibility of a microbial hazard. Fecal coliforms are used as indicator organisms in water, foods, and beverages, the presence of which could suggest the possibility of microbial hazard (spoilage/pathogenic organisms). Coliforms are Gram-negative, rod-shaped, facultatively anaerobic bacteria that produce gas from glucose (and other sugars), and ferment lactose to acid and gas within 48 h at 35° C.

Escherichia coli, originally known as *Bacterium coli* commune, was identified in **1885** by the German pediatrician, Theodor Escherich. *Escherichia coli* is widely **d**istributed in the intestine of humans and warm-blooded animals, and is the predominant facultative anaerobe in the bowel and part of the essential intestinal flora that maintains the physiology of the healthy host (Neill *et al.*, 1994). *Escherichia coli* is a member of the family *Enterobacteriaceae* (Ewing, 1986), which includes many genera, including known pathogens such as *Salmonella*, *Shigella*, and *Yersinia*. Although most strains of *E. coli* **are not regarded as pathogens**, they can be opportunistic pathogens that cause infections **in** immunocompromised hosts. There are also pathogenic strains of *E. coli* that when **ingested**, causes gastrointestinal illness in healthy humans (Feng *et al.*, 2002).

In 1892, Shardinger proposed the use of *E. coli* as an indicator of fecal **Contamination based on the premise that** *E. coli* is abundant in human and animal feces, **and not usually found in other niches.** Furthermore, since *E. coli* could be easily detected

by its ability to ferment glucose (later changed to lactose), it was easier to isolate than known gastrointestinal pathogens. Hence, the presence of *E. coli* in food or water became accepted as indicative of recent fecal contamination and the possible presence of pathogens. Although the concept of using *E. coli* as an indirect indicator of health risk was sound, it was complicated in practice, due to the presence of other enteric bacteria like *Citrobacter*, *Klebsiella, and Enterobacter* that can also ferment lactose and are similar to *E. coli* in phenotypic characteristics, so that they are not easily distinguished. As a result, the term "coliform" was coined to describe this group of enteric bacteria. Coliform is not a taxonomic classification but rather a working definition used to describe a group of bacteria. In 1914, the U.S. Public Health Service adopted the enumeration of coliforms as a more convenient standard of sanitary significance (Feng *et al.*, 2002).

Although coliforms were easy to detect, their association with fecal contamination was questionable because some coliforms are found naturally in environmental samples (Caplenas and Kanarek, 1984). This led to the introduction of the fecal coliforms as an indicator of contamination. Fecal coliform is a subset of total coliforms that grows and ferments lactose at elevated incubation temperature, hence also referred to as thermotolerant coliforms. Fecal coliform analyses are done at 45.5° C for food testing, except for water, shellfish, and shellfish harvest water analyses, which use 44.5° C (Neufeld, 1984; Clesceri *et al.*, 1998). The fecal coliform group consists mostly of *E. coli* but some other enterics, such as *Klebsiella*, can also ferment lactose at these temperatures and therefore, be considered as fecal coliforms. The inclusion of *Klebsiella* spp. in the working definition of fecal coliforms diminished the correlation of this group with fecal contamination. As a result, *E. coli* has reemerged as an indicator, partly facilitated by the introduction of newer methods that can rapidly identify *E. coli*.

In recent years, strains of pathogenic E. coli have emerged as a serious food-borne pathogen, and have been associated with numerous outbreaks of disease (Uvttendaele et al., 1999; Scotter et al., 2000). Enterohemorrhagic E. coli (EHEC) are recognized as the primary cause of hemorrhagic colitis (HC) or bloody diarrhea, which can progress to the potentially fatal hemolytic uremic syndrome. EHEC produce verotoxin or Shiga toxins (Stx). Only those serotypes of Stx-producing E. coli that have been clinically associated with HC are designated as EHEC. Of these, E. coli O157:H7 is the most often implicated in illness worldwide (Nataro and Kaper, 1998). The infectious dose for E. coli O157:H7 is estimated to be 10 - 100 cells; but no information is available for other EHEC serotypes. EHEC have been implicated in outbreaks resulting from the consumption of water (Swerdlow et al., 1992), undercooked ground beef (Davis et al., 1993), cold sandwiches (Karmali, 1989), unpasteurized apple juice (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 1996), and sprouts and vegetables (Como-Sabetti et al., 1997; Itoh et al., 1998). Raw milk and dairy products, such as pasteurized milk and yoghurt contaminated with E. coli O157:H7, have been the main cause of several outbreaks of milk-borne disease since the 1980s (Daly et al., 2002). EHEC O157:H7 exhibit slow or no fermentation of sorbitol and do not have glucuronidase activity, making them phenotypically distinct from other E. coli (Feng and Weagant, 2002).

Enterotoxigenic *E. coli* (ETEC) is recognized as the causative agent of travelers' diarrhea and illness, characterized by watery diarrhea with little or no fever. Found commonly in under-developed countries, it has been implicated as the etiologic agent in

C d ir ar EI 2.((F(coli unsa stan to in Trad aon-

outbreaks due to consumption of soft cheeses, Mexican-style foods, raw vegetables, and water. The infective dose of ETEC for adults has been estimated to be at least 10^8 cells; but the young, the elderly, and the immunocompromised may be susceptible to lower levels (Feng and Weagant, 2002).

Enteroinvasive *E. coli* (EIEC) closely resemble *Shigella*, and cause an invasive, dysenteric form of diarrhea in humans. No known animal reservoirs, except for infected humans, exist for EIEC. Volunteer feeding studies showed that at least 10^6 EIEC organisms are required to cause illness in healthy adults. Unlike typical *E. coli*, EIEC are non-motile and do not ferment lactose. Enteropathogenic *E. coli* (EPEC) cause a profuse watery diarrheal disease. It is a leading cause of infantile diarrhea in developing countries. EPEC outbreaks have been linked to the consumption of contaminated drinking water as well as some meat products. Through volunteer feeding studies, the infectious dose of EPEC in healthy adults has been estimated to be 10^6 organisms (Feng and Weagant, 2002). Because of their high infectious dose, analysis for ETEC, EIEC, and EPEC are usually not performed unless high levels of *E. coli* have been found in a food.

2.6.2 <u>Traditional Detection Methods</u>

Almost all the methods used to detect *E. coli*, total coliforms (TC) or fecal coliforms (FC) are enumeration methods that are based on lactose fermentation. Detection of coliforms is used as an indicator of unsanitary quality of water or as a general indicator of unsanitary conditions in the food-processing environment. Fecal coliforms are the standard indicator of choice for shellfish and shellfish harvest waters; and *E. coli* is used to indicate recent fecal contamination or unsanitary processing (Downes and Ito, 2001). Traditionally, the detection of coliforms (fecal or total) and *E. coli* is accomplished using non-selective and selective enrichment of samples in broth and enumeration on solid agar

medium. The Most Probable Number (MPN) method is a statistical, multi-step assay consisting of presumptive, confirmed, and completed phases. The method consists of inoculating a series of tubes with appropriate decimal dilutions of the water sample. Production of gas, acid formation or abundant growth in the test tubes after 48 h of incubation at 35°C constitutes a positive presumptive reaction. All tubes with a positive presumptive reaction are subsequently subjected to a confirmation test. The formation of gas in a brilliant green lactose bile broth fermentation tube at any time within 48 h at 35°C constitutes a positive confirmation test. Typically, only the first 2 phases are performed in coliform and fecal coliform analysis, while an additional phase is performed for E. coli. The 3-tube MPN test is used for testing most foods (Food and Drug Administration, 2000). The 5-tube MPN is used for water, shellfish, and shellfish harvest water testing, and there is also a 10-tube MPN method that is used to test bottled water or samples that are not expected to be highly contaminated (Neufeld, 1984; Clesceri et al., 1998). The three phases of the MPN procedure take five days to complete. There is also a solid medium plating method for coliforms that uses Violet Red Bile Agar, which contains neutral red pH indicator, so that lactose fermentation results in the formation of pink colonies. This procedure takes 2-3 days for confirmation.

There are also membrane filtration (MF) tests for TC and FC that measure aldehyde formation due to fermentation of lactose (Feng *et al.*, 2002). The MF technique is fully accepted and approved as a procedure for monitoring drinking water microbial quality in many countries. This method consists of filtering a water sample on a sterile filter with a 0.45-µm pore size that retains bacteria, incubating this filter on a selective medium, and enumerating typical colonies on the filter. Media and incubation conditions for the MF

method tested for optimal recovery of coliforms include m-Endo-type media (incubation 24 h at 35°C for TC) in North America, and the Tergitol-TTC medium (incubation for 24 and 48 h at 37°C and 44°C for TC and FC, respectively) in Europe (Clesceri et al., 1998; Rompre et al., 2002). Other media, such as MacConkey agar and the Teepol medium, have also been used. A significant advantage of the MF technique over the MPN method is that with MF, the examination of larger volumes of water is feasible, which leads to greater sensitivity and reliability. MF also offers a quantitative enumeration comparatively to the semiguantitative information given by the MPN method. However, the MF method takes 48 h to complete. While some raw foods would be expected to have some coliforms because of their association with the environment, the presence of E. coli in heat-processed foods means either process failure or post processing contamination from equipment, employees, or from contact with contaminated food and food products. Contamination of *E. coli* implies a risk that other enteric pathogens may be present in the food. Thus, a more rapid detection of TC, FC, and E. coli (compared to MPN and MF) is very important to the food industry for quality control purposes.

2.6.3 **Rapid Detection Methods**

Methods for rapid detection and enumeration of microorganisms on membrane filters based on either ATP-bioluminescence (Millipore, Bedford, MA) or esterase activity (Chemunex, Maisons-Alfort, France) with complementary instrument platforms have been commercialized (Raynolds and Fricker, 1999; Upperman *et al.*, 1999). These methods, however, do not provide identification of the bacterial species.

2.6.3.1 Antibody-based methods

Rapid immunological methods are based on the specific recognition between antibodies and antigens, and the high affinity that is characteristic of this recognition reaction. Depending on the taxonomic level of the targeted antigens, immunological methods permit detection of antigens at family, genus, species, or serotype levels. Two types of antibodies can be produced: polyclonal and monoclonal antibodies, which are more specific to the target organism. The properties of the antigen-antibody complex can be used to perform an immunocapture of cells or antigens by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (IMS or ELISA), or to detect targeted cells by immunofluorescence assay (IFA) or immuno-enzyme assay (IEA). Obst et al. (1989) developed an ELISA using a monoclonal antibody against the enterobacterial common antigen (ECA), a lipopolysaccharide that is linked within the outer membrane of *Enterobacteriaceae*. This method was not sensitive enough, however, and so pre-enrichment of the sample in a selective broth for 24 h was necessary in order to reach the detection limit of the ELISA (10⁶ cells/ml). Cross-reactivity with different strains of Aeromonas, which are important competitors to coliform bacteria growing on m-Endo media, as well as Psedumonas and Bacillus, was also observed (Hübner et al., 1992). Rapid methods, using the ELISA and EIA techniques in conjunction with luminescence and amperometry, have been developed specifically for E. coli O6 and E. coli O157:H7 strains, respectively (Abdel-Hamid et al., 1999a; Schalch and Stolle, 2000; Trevanich et al., 2000b). The ELISA is a rapid, simple, and quite sensitive test, which allows the detection of less than 10^{-9} g of antigenic-protein (Stryer, 1988). However, assay limitations are often associated with the specificity of the antibody used, the concentration of both antibody and antigen, and the type of reaction solution used. In addition, the solid matrix used often leads to nonspecific binding of the antigen or of the second antibody (Kfir and Genthe, 1993). ELISA application to the detection of specific cells from a naturally contaminated sample is limited. High levels of non-targeted microflora and diverse materials associated with the sample may interfere on the level of the specificity of the ELISA method (Hanai *et al.*, 1997).

2.6.3.2 Molecular methods

Molecular and biochemical technologies have been developed to address the issues of both rapid and simultaneous detection, identification, and enumeration of microorganisms following membrane filtration. The biochemical methods utilize activities of cellular enzymes to detect individual cells (Van Poucke and Nelis, 2000a) or microcolonies following a short growth step (Sarhan and Foster, 1991; Bauters et al., 1999; Van Poucke and Nelis, 2000b). DNA-based molecular methods target various gene fragments unique to the bacteria. Primers based on the lacZ gene have been used for the polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-based detection of coliforms because conventional coliform monitoring methods are based on the expression product (\beta-galactosidase) of this gene (Bej et al., 1990; Bej et al., 1991a; Bej et al., 1991b; Fricker and Fricker, 1994). For the specific detection of E. coli, a region of the malB gene that codes for a maltose transport protein was the first target sequence proposed (Bej et al., 1990). However, due to cross reactivity with members of the Shigella and Salmonella genera, the uidA gene has been used more extensively for the PCR-based detection of E. coli (Bej et al., 1991a; Bei et al., 1991b: Tsai et al., 1993; Fricker and Fricker, 1994; Juck et al., 1996; Idbal et al., 1997; Rodríguez and Alocilia, 2005). However, many food types contain PCR inhibitors which co-purify with the target DNA (González et al., 1999), thereby requiring extensive sample preparation to remove, dilute or inactivate inhibitors prior to PCR amplification (Fratamico et al., 2000). In many cases, the low level of E. coli in food

types requires a pre-enrichment step to overcome poor sensitivity, which increases the overall assay time by up to 24 h (Seo *et al.*, 1998; Scotter *et al.*, 2000).

Direct fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) methods based on fluorescently labeled DNA probes (Muruyama and Sunamura, 2000; Tottorello and Reineke, 2000), and indirect FISH methods using biotinylated peptide nucleic acid (PNA) probes (Prescott and Fricker, 1999), have been described for real-time analysis. FISH uses oligonucleotide probes to detect complementary nucleic acid sequences. This method exploits the ability of nucleic acids to anneal to one another in a very specific complementary way to form hybrids. PNA probes are DNA mimics with improved hybridization characteristics (Egholm et al., 1993; Nielsen et al., 1994), which have been exploited in variety of different molecular techniques (Thisted et al., 1996; Just et al., 1998; Taneja et al., 2001) and used for identification of microorganisms (Stender et al., 1999; Stender et al., 2001a). The popularity of the FISH technique is due to its advantages over radioactive labeling, which include sensitivity, speed of visualization of single cells (by means of microscopy or cytometrical devices), stability of the hybridization products, safety, diminished detection time, multiple labels (multiple colors), and ease of use (Richardson et al., 1991; DeLong, 1993; Swinger and Tucker, 1996). However, the practical applicability of FISH has been limited to samples with a high level of contamination as the results are interpreted by manual epifluorescence microscopy allowing only a small part of a membrane filter to be viewed within a reasonable time (Stender et al., 2001b).

2.6.3.3 Enzyme-based assays

Luminescence-based enzymatic assays are finding increased use in the food industry (Vidon et al., 1994; Giese, 1995; Trevanich et al., 2000a; Vidon et al., 2001) due to their

simplicity and application to a wide variety of foods. Based on the enzymatic properties of coliforms, a defined substrate method has been developed to overcome some limitations of the traditional MTF and MF techniques. Unlike these techniques, which eliminate the growth of non-coliform bacteria with inhibitory chemicals, the defined substrate technology is based on the principle that only the target microbes (TC and *E. coli*) are fed and no substrates are provided for other bacteria. A defined substrate is used as a vital nutrient source for the target microbe. During the process of substrate utilization, a chromogen or a fluorochrome is released from the defined substrate, indicating the presence of the target microorganisms. Recently, Lee and Denninger (Lee and Denninger, 1999) developed a technique utilizing Adenosine Tri Phosphate (ATP) luminescence. Although this technique is sensitive and shows correlation to culture techniques, the bacteria must be viable to be detected. Bacteria that have been starved or damaged may not react in this test.

Another method based on the enzyme β -D-glucuronidase produced by 94-96% of *E. coli*, which hydrolyses 4-methylumbelliferyl- β -D-glucuronide (MUG) to form a blue fluorescent product, has been developed (Venkateswaran *et al.*, 1996; Manafi, 2000). Members of the *Salmonella*, *Shigella*, *and* some *Yersinia* spp. produce β -D-glucuronidase as well, while *Staphylococcus* spp. can hydrolyze MUG, thus making the method only useful as a preliminary test for detection of *E. coli*. Moreover, a mutation in the *uid*A gene in *E. coli leads* to false-negative identification when using β -D-glucuronidase as a method of detection, while certain strains of *E. coli*, such as O157, fail to produce this enzyme (Yokoigawa *et al.*, 1999). Thus, a more widely found enzyme for detecting *E. coli* is necessary. β -galactosidase (beta-D-galactoside galactohydrolase E.C. 3.2.1.23; lactase) is an enzyme produced by all strains of *E. coli* as a part of its regular metabolic process. The enzyme catalyzes the hydrolysis of lactose and many beta-D-galactopyranosides. The enzyme is encoded by the *LacZ* gene, which encodes a 116 kD polypeptide of 1023 amino acids in addition to the N-terminal f-met (Wallenfels and Weil, 1972). β -galactosidase catalyzes the following hydrolysis:

 β -D-galactoside + H₂O \rightarrow galactose + alcohol (Adhya, 1996).

 β -galactosidase is widespread in microorganisms, animals, and plants. However, Tryland and Fiksdal (1998b) observed that the β -D-galactosidase-positive, noncoliform isolates exhibited a mean β -D-galactosidase activity of at least 2 log units less than for *E. coli*. The noncoliform bacteria must be present in correspondingly higher concentrations than those of target bacteria to interfere in a rapid assay for detection of coliform bacteria. In foods, *E. coli* is usually present in numbers higher than noncoliform organisms that produce β -galactosidase. Thus, the enzyme can be used as a marker to develop rapid methods for *E. coli* detection.

Thermally stable dioxetanes can be enzymatically "triggered" to produce chemiluminescence using β -galactosidase (Schaap *et al.*, 1991). The use of such technique has been reported (Van Poucke and Nelis, 1995, 1997). A useful chemiluminescent substrate for β -galactosidase is a phenyl galactose-substituted dioxetane (Schaap *et al.*, 1991). Lumi-Gal 530 (Lumigen, Inc., Southfield, MI), a commercial formulation of 4-methoxy-4-(3- β -D-galactosidephenyl)spiro[1,2-dioxetane-3,2'-adamantane], reacts with β -galactosidase (a 4-step process) to generate chemiluminescence, which decays with a half-life of 10 min at 37°C (Beale *et al.*, 1992). Lumi-Gal 530 was shown to have a 20-fold greater sensitivity over other standard spectrophotometric assays when used with a pure β -galactosidase solution (Beale *et al.*, 1992). However, this dioxetane substrate was not evaluated any further to develop a rapid chemiluminescence-based detection assay for *E. coli*. In this research, Lumi-Gal 530 will be used to develop a single tube chemiluminescence-based assay for detection *E. coli*, which will then be used as the basis for development of a NTSlicon-based biosensor for *E. coli* detection.

2.7 SALMONELLA

2.7.1 Introduction

Salmonella is a rod-shaped, motile bacterium, except for S. gallinarum and S. pullorum, nonsporeforming and Gram-negative. Salmonella is ubiquitous in the natural environment, widespread in animals, especially in poultry and swine. Environmental sources of the organism include water, soil, insects, factory surfaces, kitchen surfaces, animal feces, raw meats, raw poultry, and raw seafoods (Center for Food Safety & Applied Nutrition, 1992). The genus Salmonella consists of resilient microorganisms that readily adapt to extreme environmental conditions. Some strains of Salmonella grow at temperatures as high as 54°C while also exhibiting ability to grow in refrigerated foods stored at 2 to 4°C. Salmonellae have the ability to proliferate at pH values ranging from 4.5 to 9.5, with a pH optimum for growth between 6.5 and 7.5. High salt concentration exerts a bacteriostatic effect by decreasing the water activity (a_w) leading to bacterial plasmolysis commensurate with the hypertonicity of the suspending medium. Foods with water activity of 0.93 or less do not support the growth of salmonellae. However, bacterial salt tolerance has been shown to increase at temperatures between 10 to 30°C. The growth or survival of this pathogen under extreme pH, temperature, and salt concentration conditions raises concerns of safety in foods, such as fermented products (e.g., sausages, fermented raw milk products), modified-atmosphere-packaged and vacuum-packaged foods that contain high levels of salt (D'Aoust, 1997).

Salmonella Typhimurium and S. Enteritidis are the most common Salmonella serotypes found in the United States. According to CDC, salmonellosis is the most common foodborne illness (CDC, 2002b). Over 40,000 actual cases are reported yearly in the U.S. (CDC, 2002a). Approximately 500 (Mead *et al.*, 1999) to 1,000 (CDC, 2001)

persons die annually from Salmonella infections in the U.S. The estimated annual cost of human illness caused by Salmonella is \$3 billion (Mead et al., 1999). Salmonella Enteritidis has frequently been observed as a contaminant in foods, such as fresh produce (De Roever, 1998), eggs and poultry products (Cohen et al., 1994). While various Salmonella species have been isolated from the outside of egg shells, presence of S. Enteritidis inside the egg, in the yolk, is of great concern as it suggests vertical transmission, i.e., deposition of the organism in the yolk by an infected layer hen prior to shell deposition (Center for Food Safety & Applied Nutrition, 1992).

Human Salmonella infection can lead to enteric (typhoid) fever, enterocolitis, and systemic infections by non-typhoid microorganisms. Typhoid and paratyphoid strains are well adapted for invasion and survival within host tissues, causing enteric fever, a serious human disease. Non-typhoid Salmonella causes salmonellosis, which is manifested as gastroenteritis with diarrhea, fever, and abdominal cramps. Severe infection could lead to septicemia, urinary tract infection, and even death in at-risk populations (young, elderly, and immunocompromised individuals). Raw meats, poultry, eggs, milk and dairy products, fish, shrimp, frog legs, yeast, coconut, sauces and salad dressing, cake mixes, cream-filled desserts and toppings, dried gelatin, peanut butter, cocoa, and chocolate are some of the foods associated with Salmonella infection (D'Aoust, 1997).

All known strains (about 2400) of *Salmonella* are pathogenic with a very low infectious dose observed in some of the foodborne outbreaks traced back to *Salmonella* contamination. Newborns, infants, the elderly, and immunocompromised individuals are more susceptible to *Salmonella* infections than healthy adults (D'Aoust, 1997). The developing immune system in newborns and infants, the frequently weak and/or delayed

immunological responses in the elderly and debilitated persons, and low gastric acid production in infants and seniors facilitate the intestinal proliferation and systemic infection of salmonellae in this susceptible population (Blaser and Newman, 1982). Moreover, in recent years, concerns have been raised because many strains of Salmonella have become resistant to several of the antibiotics traditionally used to treat it, in both animals and humans, making Salmonella infections an important health concern in both developed and undeveloped countries. The majority of the increased incidence of resistance can be attributed to Salmonella Typhimurium DT104. Treatment of this infectious disease is complicated by its ability to acquire resistance to multiple antibiotics (Carlson et al., 1999). Evidence suggesting that ingestion of only a few Salmonella cells can develop a variety of clinical conditions (including death) is a reminder for food producers, processors, and distributors that low levels of salmonellae in a finished food product can lead to serious public health consequences, and undermine the reputation and economic viability of the incriminated food manufacturer. Thus, early and rapid detection of Salmonella is very important to the food industry so that appropriate measures can be taken to eliminate infection through food.

2.7.2 Traditional Detection Methods

The method currently in use for *Salmonella* identification is a culture of the bacteria from the food samples, a time-consuming and laborious process. The conventional procedure of pre-enrichment broth, selective enrichment broth, and differential agar requires 3-5 days to achieve a presumptive identification of *Salmonella* bacteria. The biochemical identification of foodborne and clinical *Salmonella* species is generally coupled to serological confirmation, a complex and labor-intensive technique involving the agglutination of bacterial surface antigens with *Salmonella*-specific

antibodies. These include O lipopolysaccharides (LPS) on the external surface of the bacterial outer membrane, H antigens associated with peritrichous flagella, and the capsular (Vi) antigen. The diagnostic value of biochemical traits is generally combined with serological characterization, resistance to antibiotics, plasmid profiling, and phage-typing assays. The whole process for confirmation of *Salmonella* serovars can take as long as 7-10 days (Food and Drug Administration, 2000) and is likely to be replaced by molecular techniques.

2.7.3 Rapid Identification of Salmonella:

Several techniques for improving the detection of *Salmonella* serovars in food as well as feces, such as the use of a selective culture medium, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), and DNA-based techniques, have been developed (Araj and Chugh, 1987; Aspinall *et al.*, 1992; Chiu and Ou, 1996; Amavisit *et al.*, 2001).

Valdivieso-Garcia *et al.* (2003) used a combination of the above enrichment in selective culture medium and ELISA to develop a bioluminescent enzyme immunoassay (BEIA). The study used streptavidin-biotinylated firefly luciferase complex as a reporter. *Salmonella* cultures were grown for 24 h. After enrichment, the total test time for the BEIA was 1.5 h. The results obtained in the study indicated a sensitivity of 10^{5} - 10^{6} CFU/ml.

The VITEK immunodiagnostic assay system (VIDAS) is an automated, qualitative, enzyme-linked fluorescent immunoassay method. Comparative studies with a variety of food types have found favorable correlation between conventional test methods and the VIDAS system (Blackburn *et al.*, 1994; Curiale *et al.*, 1997; De Medici *et al.*, 1998; Walker *et al.*, 2001). For *Salmonella* detection, the specific VIDAS reagent strip relies on immunocapture with specific antibodies raised against the O and H antigens of the organism. A relative fluorescence value is determined for samples based on the measured fluorescence relative to background. This value is used for interpretation of results. Use of such a system has a number of advantages over conventional culture methods, including time to obtain a negative or presumptive positive result and technical ease of performing the test.

Problems remain with sample processing, sensitivity, and specificity that have limited the routine use of the above antibody-based procedures.

Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) technology, which allows amplification of a specific fragment of nucleic acid, has been used to identify the presence of specific pathogens directly from clinical as well as food specimens. PCR is an extremely sensitive test, able to amplify picogram quantities of DNA. Although the PCR assay is sensitive, it may be susceptible to false negative results when applied to food and clinical samples. This may be due to a variety of inhibitory substances such as chelating agents and food components (Widjojoatmodjo et al., 1992). To overcome the problem of false negative reactions, inclusion of an internal positive control (IPC) (Chadwick et al., 1998), and performing PCR after preincubation in an enrichment broth has been investigated for human (Chiu and Ou, 1996; Luk et al., 1997; Marsiglia et al., 1997; Lin and Tsen, 1999), animal (Stone et al., 1994; Stone et al., 1995; Cohen et al., 1996), fecal (Widjojoatmodjo et al., 1992), and food samples (Chen et al., 1997; Bennett et al., 1998; Rijpens et al., 1999). This has been found as a useful and a more rapid method because the enrichment step increases the number of viable Salmonella in the sample, and therefore, the sensitivity of the assay (Gouws et al., 1998). PCR methods and DNA extraction procedures for Salmonella have been described for human, animal, and food samples

(Soumet *et al.*, 1994). However, these extraction methods using lysozyme, proteinase K, and phenol-chloroform-isoamyl alcohol are expensive and time consuming, whilst methods using silica beads or glass particles to bind with DNA are more rapid but expensive (Boom *et al.*, 1990; Mahon and Lax, 1993; Tuchili *et al.*, 1996).

Recent advancements in PCR technology combined capillary thermocycling and real-time fluorescence detection, and/or quantification of the PCR product in different formats such as SYBR Green I dye binding (Rantakokko-Jalava and Jalava, 2001; Szuhai et al., 2001; De-Medici et al., 2003; Jothikumar et al., 2003), and hybridization probe (Wittwer et al., 1997; Bellin et al., 2001; Eyigor and Carli, 2003). Carli et al. (2001) detected salmonellae in chicken feces by a tetrathionate broth (TTB) enrichment, capillary PCR, and capillary gel electrophoresis, and obtained positive results with high sensitivity. However, this process required separate units for capillary PCR and gel electrophoresis runs, and it was not real time. Eyigor et al. (2002) applied the real-time PCR technology with the SYBR Green I Dye format to TTB enrichment culture of a standard Salmonella isolation method from poultry. Salmonella was detected in 25 min from up to 32 18-h primary enrichment sample cultures from subclinically infected chickens. This PCR was about 10 times faster than the previously reported conventional PCR detection methods (Aabo et al., 1995; Cohen et al., 1996) and yielded more rapid results. The Light Cycler Real time PCR system's (Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany) hybridization probe design allows sequence-specific detection of the amplicon with the use of fluorescence resonance energy transfer between the two fluorophores used in the probes. Also, this system reduces the detection time and enables the process of up to 32 samples simultaneously.

However, the need for expensive equipment (that are usually not portable) and expertise required in performing PCR makes these DNA-based detection methods cost prohibitive and limits their application in the field. Biosensors can provide a viable solution to the need for cheap, portable, sensitive, and specific rapid detection methods for pathogens.

Specific and selective detection of *Salmonella* Typhymurium based on the use of a polyclonal antibody immobilized by the Langmuir–Blodgett method on the surface of a quartz crystal acoustic wave device was demonstrated in liquid samples (Olsen *et al.*, 2003). These biosensors were selective to *S*. Typhymurium at levels above 10^4 - 10^6 CFU/ml in the presence of large concentrations of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7.

A time-resolved fluoroimmunoassay was developed for the simultaneous detection of *E. coli* O157:H7, *S.* Typhimurium and *S.* Enteritidis in foods. Immunomagnetic beads were used to capture and concentrate the target pathogens. The captured bacteria were allowed to form sandwiched complexes with europium-labeled anti-*E. coli* O157 antibodies and/or samarium-labeled anti-*Salmonella* antibodies. The specific time-resolved fluorescence associated with highly fluorescent europium or samarium micellar complexes were measured to estimate the quantity of *E. coli* and *Salmonella*, respectively, with resulting sensitivity of 10^3 - 10^4 cfu/ml for pure cultures of the target pathogens (Shu *et al.*, 2002).

A Threshold Immunoassay System, using a light-addressable potentiometric sensor, was used to detect S. Typhimurium to levels as low as 119 CFUs (10-20 μ l sample volume). This biosensor utilized solution-based binding of the biotin and fluorescein labeled antibodies to Salmonella, followed by filtration-capture of the

immunocomplex on a biotin-coated nitrocellulose membrane. Lastly, an anti-fluorescein urease conjugate was bound to the immunocomplex. Detection of the bound immunocomplex was made possible via a silicon chip-based light-addressable potentiometric sensor. In the presence of the urea, urease converted the substrate to ammonia and CO_2 , resulting in a pH change at the silicon surfacethat was monitored with time, and reported in mV/s. Total assay time was about 2 h. Sample debris was found to impede the sample flow through the membrane and hence, the signal output (Dill *et al.*, 1999a).

Salmonella Enteritidis and Listeria monocytogenes were detected in real time using a surface plasmon resonance (SPR) biosensor. The respective antibodies against the target pathogens were immobilized on the gold sensor surface as a covalently crosslinked double-layer or covalently bound on a crosslinked albumin layer. The target-binding event was detected through prism excitation of surface plasmons and spectral interrogation. Salmonella and Listeria could only be detected by the sensor at concentrations of 10^6 CFU/ml (Koubova *et al.*, 2001a).

A rapid and sensitive primary screening method with a proper sampling plan is required to detect *Salmonella* in the food industry. While several biosensors are being developed for detection of *Salmonella*, very few biosensors are commercially available. With the recent advances in the silicon-based IC industry, biosensors using a silicon-based platform will be more amenable to commercialization using existing microfabrication processes. The current research will focus on developing a silicon-based biosensor with antibody and DNA probes as the biological recognition elements for *Salmonella enterica*.
CHAPTER 3: RESEARCH HIGHLIGHTS

3.1 INNOVATION AND NOVELTY

The innovation of this research was the use of nanotechnology (nano-tubular Si) combined with immuno-chemistry and molecular biology in the fabrication of a field-deployable nano-structured biosensor for food safety and quality assurance, health care, and bio-defense purposes. The research combined the use of chemiluminescence and electrochemical transduction mechanisms in a versatile NTS platform to build biosensors for detection of foodborne pathogens that were simple, easy to use (with no need for light source and filters), sensitive, and specific to the target. Three biological sensing elements (enzymes, antibodies, and nucleic acids) were used to functionalize the biosensors. The output light from the chemiluminescence transducer, measured using a photomultiplier tube (luminometer), was correlated with the number (cells) of the target being detected, thus indicating the presence or absence of the target, and in some cases, the number of target cells in the sample. Cyclic voltammetry was used to detect target DNA hybridization on the biosensor chip using intrinsic changes in DNA signals, a property not yet investigated in the literature for foodborne pathogen detection.

In the long-term, a portable handheld nucleic acid-based biosensor could be built in collaboration with commercial companies. The biosensor will have a chip with a removable cartridge and on-board circuitry for data acquisition. The cartridge will consist of different chambers for reagent storage, performing PCR (if that is found to be necessary step before detection), and the chemiluminescence pathogen detection system. The detection system will consist of multiple detection "spots" immobilized with probes specific to different targets of interest. Each of the spots will be individually addressable

electronically to measure the chemiluminescence and electrochemical transducer principles that will be employed, thus eliminating the need for bulky and expensive equipment like scanners (which are needed in systems like DNA micro-arrays). The light output will be measured using a photodiode or an active pixel array sensor. Electrical contacts (aluminum) patterned along the edges of the patterned NTS platform will be used for electrical measurements (cyclic voltammetry). Using appropriate data acquisition, a computer interface will be provided using either a serial or USB port communication.

3.2 **POTENTIAL DIFFICULTIES**

Going into the research, some difficulties were anticipated. Consistency in fabrication of NTS with uniform size and thickness characteristics could be difficult when using the anodization etching technique. This would introduce a large variation in the measured output of the biosensor from repeated experiments.

Direct binding (immobilization) of enzymes, antibodies, and DNA probe to the NTS surfaces could provide possible challenges; therefore, two procedures were investigated. Other silanizing agents (e.g., 3-aminopropyltriethoxy silane) and cross-linking (e.g., glutaraldehyde, avidin-biotin) could be used if 3-glycidoxypropyltrimethoxy silane and diffusion/physical adsorption proved to be ineffective for binding the biological sensing elements to the silicon surface.

3.3 EXPECTED SIGNIFICANCE

The expected outputs were the construction and validation of a "proof-of-concept" prototype NTS biosensor for rapid detection of *E. coli* and *Salmonella* that combined the current techniques in nanotechnology and biotechnology. This research would ultimately provide a highly self-contained, nucleic acid-based, specific, and sensitive, handheld

nanoscale-biosensor that has multiple, target-specific, electronically addressable, spots for on-site diagnosis of various pathogens (e.g., bedside diagnosis and point-of-care by health professionals). The prototype biosensor would be an added tool to protect the public from foodborne illness caused by contaminated food and water supply, reduce the health risk of microbial contamination, strengthen biosecurity measures, and enable quality assurance in food industry. The biosensor performance criteria included: (1) high sensitivity; (2) high specificity; (3) field-ready testing capacity; (4) simplicity ; and (5) short time requirements. The biosensor may be used for epidemiology, i.e., quick and effective diagnosis of disease outbreaks caused by pathogens either intentionally (bioterrorism) or inadvertently (lack of sanitation) added to air, food, and water. The biosensor could be easily adapted to several pathogens of concern, such as *Escherichia coli* O157:H7, *Listeria*, and *B. anthracis* by changing the specificity of the nucleic acid primers and probes used.

The current research developed the NTS biosensor platform, a versatile platform that was used for detection of three different targets with a high level of sensitivity (for example, pg level for DNA-based detection) and specificity (no cross reaction with related and non-related species), as well as detection time of 60 min or less. Two different kinds of transduction mechanisms and three biological sensing elements were employed successfully to develop the biosensors.

3.4 HYPOTHESIS

The research was based on the following hypothesis:

• A versatile nano-tubular platform can be fabricated using silicon and functionalized into a biosensor to detect foodborne pathogens using different biological sensing elements, such as enzymes, antibodies, and nucleic acids.

- The NTS platform can be used with multiple transducing mechanisms to report the biological detection event.
- The biological detection event on the NTS biosensor will trigger a response that is unique from that of a 'no detection' event, and which can be processed and converted into an appropriate electronic signal output.
- The NTS platform will provide greater sensitivity or lower limit of detection as compared to any planar platform of the same dimension (length and width).

3.5 SPECIFIC RESEARCH OBJECTIVES

Objective 1: Development of a chemiluminescence-based detection assay external to the biosensor system.

Objective 2: Design, fabrication and characterization of the NTS platform.

Objective 3: Functionalization of the NTS platform into a biosensor chip.

Objective 4: Determination of sensitivity of the NTS biosensor chip in pure culture.

Objective 5: Determination of specificity of the NTS biosensor chip using non-specific and mixed bacterial cultures.

CHAPTER 4: RESEARCH MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.1 **OBJECTIVE 1**

Development of a chemiluminescence-based detection assay external to the biosensor system to detect *E. coli* using β -galactosidase as the biological sensing element.

This objective was aimed at developing and optimizing a chemiluminescence-based assay protocol, external to the biosensor system, prior to developing the biosensor in Objective 2. Development of this assay protocol would then limit confounding variables during biosensor development to those related to the biosensor fabrication and functionalization.

4.1.1 Instrumentation

The chemiluminescence assay works on the basis of photon emission resulting from a 4-step reaction between the β -galactosidase enzyme produced by *E. coli* and the dioxetane in the Lumi-Gal[®] formulation. Total light emitted from the reaction is measured in a commercial luminometer (Femtomaster FB 12 Luminometer by Zylux Corp., Maryville, TN) equipped with a single photon-counter having a special measuring geometry that enables very high sensitivity (Figure 4-1). The sample is placed in a pullout sample holder that slides over a photo-multiplier tube (PMT). The sample holder focuses the light down toward the PMT. The PMT operates in the digital pulse mode wherein it acts as a photon counter. The light signal is processed and the photon counts are integrated over a period of 10 s. The digital readout is registered on the instrument; it can also be stored in a computer by using appropriate data acquisition software/hardware provided by the luminometer supplier.



Figure 4-1. Schematic of the Femtomaster FB 12 Luminometer

4.1.2 Culture Preparation

Generic *Escherichia coli* (strain K-12) and *E. coli* O157:H7 (strain AD317) were obtained from the Department of Food Science and Human Nutrition, Michigan State University. The cultures were maintained at -70°C in trypticase soy broth (Becton Dickinson and Co., Cockeysville, MD) containing 10% (v/v) glycerol (J. T. Baker, Phillipsburg, NJ) and subjected to two consecutive overnight transfers (18-24 h/35°C) in 9 ml of nutrient broth (NB) (Difco, Becton Dickinson and Co., Sparks, MD) or lactose broth (LB) (Difco).

4.1.3 <u>Single Tube Chemiluminescence Assay Procedure</u>

Polymixin B sulfate (50mg/ml) solution (Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO) was added (as the *E. coli* cell wall permeabilizer) at a rate of 5 μ l/ml culture to 9 ml of the

above *E. coli* culture or uninoculated NB (used as control) prior to incubation at 37°C for 15 min. From this mixture, 25 μ l was then pipetted into a 10x75mm culture tube. After the addition of 500 μ l Lumi-Gal[®] 530 (Lumigen, Inc., Southfield, MI), the tube was vortexed. The emitted light intensity was measured in relative light units per second (RLU/s) using the luminometer at 10 min intervals up to 60 min, and again at 75 and 90 min. Also, the number of *E. coli* was determined by spread plating the appropriately diluted sample on MacConkey agar (Difco). Bacterial counts were enumerated after 48 h of incubation at 35°C.

4.1.4 Determining Best Growth Media

Escherichia coli cultures were grown overnight in LB as well as NB and assay procedure repeated as above in both cases. A comparison of the results between NB and LB was used to determine which broth was better for the assay in terms of higher light output. A significantly higher light output from a sample containing low number of target cells over the control sample would improve biosensor sensitivity. Also, a comparison of light emitted after 24 h and 48 h of incubation of *E. coli* cultures was made to investigate the effect of incubation period on light intensity.

4.1.5 Determining Assay Applications

The above assay was also performed with *E. coli* O157:H7 cultures to determine possible differences in light emission when compared to the generic *E. coli* strain resulting from different levels of β -galactosidase enzyme production and/or activity. Such differences could be used as a discriminatory test between *E. coli* O157:H7 and generic *E. coli*. Also, overnight cultures of *E. coli* O157:H7 were heat treated prior to testing with the chemiluminescence assay to determine if whether the assay could be employed for sterility testing with heat-processed foods, such as pasteurized milk.

4.1.6 Determining Amount of Sample to Use in the Assay

Following standardization of the assay procedure, a Randomized Complete Block Design (RBD) analysis, with 5 blocks of size 21 comprising a two-way treatment structure with 7 dilution and 3 *E. coli* culture levels, was used to assess the sensitivity of the assay. The randomized trials were performed for 5 consecutive days [determined by Power analysis of some preliminary data, performed using Statistical Analytical System (SAS© Version 8.0, SAS Institute, Inc., Cary, NC)] to nullify the effect of minor day-today variation in bacterial counts. *Escherichia coli* culture was serially diluted 5 times using 9 ml of 0.1% peptone dilution blanks, followed by the addition of 45 μ l of polymixin B sulfate. From each dilution, 25 μ l, 50 μ l, and 55 μ l were pipetted separately into 10x75mm culture tubes, and the assay procedure described above was followed thereafter. Peptone blank was used as the control in each case.

4.1.7 Assay Validation in Food Analysis

The chemiluminescence assay, developed and optimized using *E. coli* cultures in broth, was employed to detect *E. coli* in artificially contaminated food samples (pasteurized milk, sprouts, and water) so as to simulate a potential real-life usage scenario. Nine ml of water and pasteurized milk samples inoculated with different *E. coli* concentrations using overnight LB cultures were tested without any enrichment using the assay procedure. One gram of alfalfa sprouts inoculated with *E. coli* using the procedure of Beuchat *et al.* (2001) was added to 9 ml of sterile 0.1% peptone dilution blank. The mixture was hand mixed for 1 min. Five ml of liquid was removed and used for the assay

procedure as described above. All samples were tested in triplicate. Results of light emission from the samples were compared to coliform counts obtained from the MacConkey Agar plates for all samples (as described in the assay procedure).

For assay validation, blind sample testing was performed using surface water samples collected at seven sites along the Red Cedar River (East Lansing, MI). The water samples were contained in sterile 100 ml sampling bottles and transported to the lab facility. Nine ml was removed from the samples (without any enrichment) and analyzed using the assay procedure. One ml of the water sample was also transferred into each of a series of tubes containing 9 ml of LB and incubated at 35°C for a period from 1 to 6 h (hourly intervals) with an additional tube incubated for 12 h. The assay was repeated following each enrichment period for all samples.

4.1.8 <u>Statistical Analysis</u>

Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) was performed on the data using the SAS software. Arithmetic means were compared using the Duncan grouping test at 95% confidence level (α =0.05). Interactive effects in RBD were analyzed using the Autoregressive Mixed Model (Proc Mixed) with Tukey adjustment for comparison of means (α =0.05).

4.2 **OBJECTIVE 2**

Design, fabrication and characterization of a nano-tubular silicon platform.

The prototype biosensor (in this research) was designed keeping in mind the longterm goal of building a self-contained nucleic acid-based individually addressable portable biosensor. In the current research, the process of PCR for DNA amplification was performed externally. The amplified product was then introduced to the prototype biosensor shown (Figure 4-2). The biosensor was fabricated on a p^{++} -type silicon 4" wafer with final chip dimensions of 1.5 cm x 1.5 cm. The main fabrication steps are described below.

4.2.1 <u>Nano-Tubular Silicon Fabrication</u>

NTS was fabricated using the anodization process in a conventional single-tank cell (Figure 4-3). The O-ring was placed on the bottom hole of the inverted Teflon cell. The silicon wafer was then placed over the O-ring. Before the copper plate was placed over the silicon, the back surface of the silicon was scratched with a diamond-tipped scribe followed by application of graphite coating using a graphite pen to make the silicon more conductive. The copper metal contact was then made to the backside of the wafer and sealed. A platinum grid or wire placed inside the Teflon cell served as the cathode, and the copper plate served as the anode. The platinum grid (or wire) and the copper plate were connected to the negative and positive terminal of the power supply, respectively. After placing the Teflon cell upright, 15% hydrofluoric acid (in ethanol) was poured into the cell. Silicon was then electrochemically etched in the 15% hydrofluoric acid (HF) solution using different current and time conditions as follows: a) 100 mA - 30 s, b) 50 mA - 1 min, c) 30 mA - 1 min, d) 15 mA - 1 min, e) 5 mA - 20 min, f) 5 mA - 1 h, and g) 2 mA - 1 h. These current-time conditions were chosen by modifying those used for porous silicon fabrication (Halimaoui, 1997) so as to obtain the desired NTS platform.

4.2.2 Characterization of Nano-Tubular Silicon

SEM images of all NTS chips were taken using a Hitachi S-4700 II Field Emission Scanning Electron Microscope to evaluate the quality of nano-porous silicon chips obtained (detailed procedure provided in Appendix A:Section A.2). Images were





Figure 4-2. Biosensor schematic showing envisioned long-term and short-term research biosensors.



Figure 4-3. Single-tank cell set up used for tubular silicon fabrication.

used to observe the size and shape of the tubes, inter-tube space, surface texture, and thickness of the nano-tubular layer obtained under different anodization conditions described above.

The porosity and thickness of the porous silicon layers were also determined. The porosity was determined by weight measurements. The virgin wafer chip was first weighed before anodization (m_1) , then just after anodization etching (m_2) and finally after complete dissolution of the NTS layer in NaOH solution (m_3) . The final dissolution process was carried out in the Teflon cell used for anodization. The chip, after weighing (m_2) , was carefully placed under the cell (as described above in Section 4.2.1) and exposed to an aqueous solution of 2.5 M NaOH for a period ranging between 30-90 min

(Vázsonyi *et al.*, 2003) until the shiny clear surface of planar silicon was visible again. The chip was then weighed again (m_3) .

The porosity is given by the following equation:

$$P(\%) = \frac{(m_1 - m_2)}{(m_1 - m_3)} \times 100$$

From the above measurements, the thickness of the porous silicon layer was also

determined as follows: $W = \frac{(m_1 - m_3)}{S \times d}$; where,

d = Bulk silicon density, (2.33 g/cm³), and

S = Area of the wafer exposed to HF during anodization (circular area of 1.1 cm diameter = 0.95 cm²).

4.3 **OBJECTIVE 3**

Functionalization of the nano-tubular silicon platform into a biosensor chip.

4.3.1 Adaptation of CL Assay to the Biosensor Detection System - Procedure A

4.3.1.1 Functionalization of nano-tubular silicon with Lumi-Gal[®] 530

After fabrication of NTS, the platform was cleaned by rinsing with isopropyl alcohol and then dry toluene, followed by drying under a steady stream of nitrogen for 30 s. To functionalize the NTS platform, 50 μ l of Lumi-Gal[®] 530 was carefully added to the NTS surface, which was then placed overnight in the refrigerator (4°C) to allow binding of Lumi-Gal[®] 530 by diffusion and adsorption. The biosensor chip was then dried by placing it in a vacuum oven (Isotemp vacuum oven 280A, Fisher Scientific, Pittsburg, PA) at 37°C for 1-2 h (25 in Hg). The biosensor chip was then ready to be used for detection of *E. coli* using β -galactosidase enzyme as the marker. Planar Si chips were also functionalized using the above process and used to compare and evaluate the effectiveness of the NTS biosensor chip as a biosensor platform.

4.3.1.2 Detection of E. coli on biosensor chip using CL detection

Polymixin B sulfate (50 mg/ml) solution (Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO) was added (as the *E. coli* cell wall permeabilizer) at a rate of 5 μ l/ml culture to 9 ml of the overnight *E. coli* culture (Section 4.1.2 above) or uninoculated LB (used as control) prior to incubation at 37°C for 15 min. From this mixture, 5 μ l was then added carefully to the biosensor chip. The biosensor was inverted before placing in the luminometer because the photomultiplier tube detects the light from below the sample drawer. The emitted light intensity was measured in relative light units per second (RLU/s) using the luminometer at 10 min intervals up to 60 min. Light emission of the functionalized NTS biosensor chip was also compared with that of a functionalized planar Si chip to evaluate the performance of the non-planar biosensor platform being developed. The light emission data collected at the third 10-min interval, established as ideal based on prior results (Mathew and Alocilja, 2002), were used for the comparisons. The trials were performed in triplicate.

4.3.2 <u>Adaptation of CL Assay to the Biosensor Detection System - Procedure B</u> 4.3.2.1 Single-tube CL assay modification

In order to adapt the single-tube assay external to the biosensor (Section 4.1.1-4.1.6) (Mathew and Alocilja, 2004) to the NTS biosensor, the CL assay steps were modified as follows: polymyxin B sulfate was pre-mixed with dioxetane by adding 5 μ l of polymyxin B sulfate (50 mg/ml) solution per ml of the dioxetane substrate. From this polymyxin B-dioxetane mixture, 500 μ l was pipetted into a 10x75 mm culture tube followed by

addition of 55 μ l of the *E. coli* culture (Section 4.1.2); the tube was then vortexed. The emitted light intensity was measured using the luminometer at 10 min intervals up to 60 min and compared with that of the single-tube assay procedure described above. These modifications were aimed at minimizing the assay steps and the assay time required to obtain an output from the biosensor.

4.3.2.2 Functionalization of nano-tubular Si

After fabrication of the NTS chip, it was cleaned by rinsing with isopropyl alcohol and then dry toluene, followed by drying under a steady stream of nitrogen. To functionalize the NTS platform, 50 μ l of the polymyxin B-dioxetane mixture (as described above) was carefully added to the porous silicon surface and placed overnight in the refrigerator (4°C) to allow binding of the mixture on the surface through diffusion and adsorption. The biosensor chip was then partially dried by placing it in a vacuum oven (Isotemp vacuum oven 280A, Fisher Scientific, Pittsburg, PA) at 37°C for 1-2 h (25 in Hg). At this stage, the biosensor chip was ready for use.

Planar silicon chips were also functionalized using the above process and used to compare and evaluate the effectiveness of the porous silicon biosensor chip as a biosensor platform.

4.3.2.3 Biosensor testing

Five microliters of the overnight *E. coli* culture or uninoculated LB (used as control) was added carefully to the functionalized biosensor chip. The chip was placed in the luminometer, and the emitted light was measured in RLU/s at 10 min intervals up to 60 min. Light emission of the functionalized NTS biosensor chip was also compared with that of a functionalized planar silicon chip to evaluate the performance of the NTS

biosensor platform being developed. The light emission data collected at the third 10-min interval, established as ideal based on prior results (Mathew and Alocilja, 2004), were used for comparison. The trials were performed in triplicate.

4.3.2.4 Determining the biosensor sensitivity

Following standardization of the assay procedure for the biosensor, a completely randomized design (CRD) was used with 5 levels of dilution (including blank/control) to assess the sensitivity of the assay. The randomized trials were performed in triplicate to nullify the effect of minor day-to-day variation in bacterial counts. *Escherichia coli* culture was serially diluted 5 times using 9 ml of 0.1% peptone dilution blanks. From each dilution $(10^1-10^4 \text{ cells})$, 5 µl were pipetted separately on to functionalized biosensor chips, and the modified assay procedure described above was followed thereafter. Peptone blank was used as the control.

Statistical Analysis

F-test was used to test equality of variances. Two-sample t-test was used to test the mean differences between the light emission observed using the standard and modified chemiluminescence assay procedures. Single-factor Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) was performed on the light emission data for the sensitivity analysis. Arithmetic means were compared using Duncan grouping at 95% confidence level (α =0.05). The performance of the biosensor using Procedures A and B were compared to determine possible significant differences in sensitivity. All statistical analyses were carried out using SAS[®] software (SAS, Gary, NC).

4.3.3 <u>Functionalization of the Nano-Tubular Silicon Platform with Salmonella</u> <u>Antibodies into an Immunosensor</u>

4.3.3.1 Silanization of nano-tubular silicon platform

The NTS surface was functionalized by silanization and antibody immobilization based on a procedure described previously by Bhatia *et al.* (1989) (Figure 4-4). NTS was first cleaned by soaking in a 50/50 solution of methanol and hydrochloric acid. After rinsing with deionized water several times, NTS was treated with concentrated sulfuric acid for 30 min to hydrate the silicon surface. The chips were rinsed again with deionized water and then air dried. Following cleaning, NTS was silanized with a 2% solution of 3glycidoxypropyltrimethoxysilane (GOPS) (Aldrich Chemicals, Allentown, PA) in dry toluene for2 h. Silanization was done in a glove box under inert atmosphere. The NTS substrate was then rinsed in dry toluene and allowed to air dry.



Functionalized Si or NTS Platform

Figure 4-4. Functionalization of planar Si and nano-tubular Si platforms into antibody-based biosensors.

4.3.3.2 Immobilization of primary antibody

Following silanization, 0.5 ml of a 0.15-mg/ml solution of anti-*Salmonella* antibody, targeting the common structural antigen of *Salmonella* (KPL, Gaithersburg, MD), was carefully pipetted on to the active NTS area and then allowed to attach to the silanized NTS for 1 h. NTS was rinsed with phosphate buffered saline (PBS, pH 7.4) and stored at 4°C until used. In order to study the influence of silanization on the functionalization of the biosensor, half of the NTS chips were subjected to all the above steps except for the 2 h silanization.

4.3.3.3 Optical measurement method

A CL-based optical method was used to detect the presence of Salmonella on the biosensor chip surface. A half milliliter of overnight Salmonella Typhimurium DT104 (from Michigan State University collection) culture grown in lactose broth was added to the nano-tubular- and planar-silanized chips as well as the non-silanized NTS biosensor chips. A half milliliter of sterile buffer was added to the control chips. After five minutes, each biosensor chip was rinsed with 1 ml of 0.1% peptone dilution blank. Half milliliter of blocking solution (2% albumin in PBS) was then added. After 10 minutes, the blocking solution was drained. A 1:20000 solution of the secondary anti-Salmonella antibody conjugated with horseradish peroxidase (HRP) (KPL) was then added to cover the active porous silicon area (approximately 0.5 ml). After 15 minutes, the biosensor was rinsed 3-4 times with 1 ml each of PBS containing 0.1 % Tween-20 solution to remove unattached HRP-conjugate. One ml of Luminol[®] (Pierce Biotechnology, Rockford, IL) was pipetted into a 35 mm petri dish and then the biosensor was inverted into the petri dish. Chemiluminescence from the reaction between Luminol® and HRP was measured in the luminometer at 1 min intervals for 10 min. Bacterial numbers were

obtained by plating appropriately diluted samples on trypticase soy agar (Difco, Becton Dickinson and Co., Sparks, MD) containing 0.6% yeast extract (Difco). The trials were performed in triplicate.

4.3.4 <u>Functionalization of the Nano-Tubular Silicon Platform with Salmonella</u> <u>DNA Probes into a Nucleic Acid-Based Biosensor</u>

4.3.4.1 Bacterial strains

A clinical strain of *Salmonella* Enteritidis (strain S-64) was obtained from the Michigan Department of Community Health (Lansing, MI) and stored at -70° C. The pathogen was grown on trypticase soy agar containing 0.6% yeast extract (TSAYE) and/or broth (TSBYE) at 37°C, as appropriate. In broth culture, cells were grown to exponential phase, and enumerated by spiral plating appropriately diluted cultures on Bismuth Sulfite Agar and Brilliant Green Agar. The cultures were serially diluted for DNA extraction so that the number of bacterial cells ranged from 10[°] to 10⁸ CFU/ml.

4.3.4.2 DNA primers and probes

Primers used for PCR were designed for the detection of *Salmonella* Enteritidis from the insertion element (*Iel*) gene (Wang and Yeh, 2002). The single stranded forward and reverse primers were *Iel*L - 5'- CTAACAGGCGCATACGATCTGACA -3' (positions 542 to 565, 24 bases) and *Iel*R - 5'- TACGCATAGCGATCTCCTTCGTTG -3' (positions 1047 to 1024, 24 bases). Capture probe used was 5'- [Amino link] AATATGCTGCCTACTGCCTACGCTT -3' (positions 690 to 716 of target, 26 bases).

4.3.4.3 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)

Polymerase chain reaction was performed with Taq DNA polymerase in a DNA thermal cycler. The 50 μ l PCR reaction mix consisted of 0.5 μ M of the above primers set, 25 μ l of Promega Master Mix (Promega Corporation, Madison, WI), containing the

proprietary reaction buffer (pH 8.5), 200 µM deoxynucleotide triphosphates (dNTP), 3 mM MgCl₂, and 2.5 U of Taq DNA polymerase. A *Salmonella* colony , grown overnight on TSAYE, was suspended in 0.5 ml of DNA grade water (Fisher Scientific, Pittsburg, PA) containing 5 mM of NaOH, and boiled for 10 min to rupture the cells. Alternately, 0.1 ml of an overnight *Salmonella* culture grown in TSBYE was mixed with 0.4 ml of distilled DNA grade water containing 5 mM of NaOH and boiled for 10 min. As a template, 1 µl was added to the PCR reaction mixture. The cycling reaction was performed as follows: heat denature at 94°C for 5 min with 30 additional cycles of heat denature at 94°C for 30 s, primer annealing at 59°C for 30 s, and extension at 72°C for 45 s. After the final cycle, the samples were maintained at 72°C for 10 min to complete DNA strand synthesis and then cooled to 4°C, unless used immediately.

4.3.4.4 Silanization of nano-tubular Si platform

Figure 4-5 illustrates the functionalization of the NTS platform into a DNA biosensor, comprising two main steps – silanization and DNA oligonucleotide probe immobilization. For silanization, the NTS substrates were first cleaned in boiling acetone for 5 min, boiling methanol for 5 min, and then dried under nitrogen. The substrates were immersed in sulfochromic acid (strong oxidizing agent) for 15 min to hydrate and prepare the surface for silanization. Following the acid treatment, the substrates were washed twice in deionized water and dried under nitrogen. The substrates were then placed in a clean oven for 1 h at 140 °C. Immediately after heating, the substrates were transferred to a glove box under a dry nitrogen atmosphere. A 10% 3-glycidoxypropyltrimethoxysilane (GOPS) solution (in dry toluene) was placed on the substrates. The substrates were left to react under nitrogen for 4 h, then rinsed with toluene and left to dry. A background



Figure 4-5. Functionalization of planar Si and nano-tubular Si platform into DNAbased biosensor.

electrochemical cyclic voltammetry (CV) reading was then taken prior to DNA probe immobilization.

4.3.4.5 DNA probe immobilization

Immobilization of the probe layer was performed by coating each substrate with 50 µl of 150 nM aqueous DNA probe solution (in 1 mM NaOH) specific to the pathogen of interest, and leaving them to react overnight at room temperature in the glove box. The substrates were finally placed in boiling water for 2 min to remove excess unreacted DNA probe and dried under nitrogen. The unreacted aldehyde groups of GOPS were then saturated by dipping the chips in a 0.1 M glycine solution for 20 min. Chips were washed using a washing solution (1X SSC containing NaCl and Na-citrate – see Appendix B:Section B.2 for more details) and dried under nitrogen. Electrochemical cyclic voltammetry (CV) reading was taken prior to target DNA hybridization. The prototype biosensor was stored under nitrogen at 25 °C for maximum stability, until used.

4.3.4.6 Characterization of the DNA

Following PCR, the size of the PCR amplified DNA product was determined using gel electrophoresis (procedure in Appendix A:Section A.3). The DNA concentration was also determined using Bio-Rad SmartSpec 3000 spectrophotometer (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc., Hercules, CA) readings at 260 and 280 nm. PCR amplified DNA was diluted to $10^{-9} \mu g/\mu l$ in hybridization buffer (5X SSC, 0.1% SDS, 0.5% BSA) and used for initial characterization of the NTS DNA-based biosensor.

4.3.4.7 Target DNA hybridization

DNA in the hybridization buffer was denatured in a 95°C water bath, and cooled to 59°C (just below melting temperature of the capture probe). The hybridization of complementary DNA strands (obtained by extracting DNA from the sample of interest)

with the immobilized oligonucleotide probe layer was performed by dipping the DNA modified chip in a solution of the target DNA at the appropriate concentration in hybridization buffer for 45-60 min at 59°C (Figure 4-6). The non-specifically adsorbed strands were then removed by extensive washing in Wash solution A (0.1X SSC, 0.1% SDS – see Appendix for more details) followed by Wash solution B (0.1X SSC – see Appendix for more details). The chips were then dried under nitrogen and CV readings measured. Optimum operating conditions for the biosensor were determined.

4.3.4.8 Electrochemical detection - cyclic voltammetry

Before adding the target DNA, a baseline was obtained for each sensor (after DNA probe immobilization) using a blank containing an aqueous solution of 5 mM potassium ferrocyanide in 1 M potassium nitrate. A volume of 25 ml was added to a three-electrode electrochemical cell (Figure 4-7). Cyclic voltammetry was performed on the blank solution using a Versastat II Potentiostat/Galvanostat (Princeton Applied Research, Oak Ridge, TN). The working electrode was the treated biosensor platform, the reference electrode was the Ag/AgCl electrode, and the counter electrode was a graphite electrode rod. The potentiostat was run in the ramp, one vertex multi mode. The potential was cycled between -1.2 V to +1.5 V at a scan rate of 20 mV/s. The resulting current was measured and plotted against the potential. After measurement, the blank solution was discarded. The procedure was repeated with the biosensor following target DNA hybridization.

4.3.4.9 Confirmation of results

Atomic Force Microscopy images were used to determine surface level changes occurring due to immobilization of the DNA probe and the target DNA hybridization.



Figure 4-6. Schematic of target DNA hybridization to immobilized DNA probe on functionalized biosensor surface.



Figure 4-7. Three-electrode electrochemical cell used for cyclic voltammetry measurements.

4.3.4.10 Statistical analysis

For each set of experiments, the raw data consisted of plots of Current (I) vs. Potential (E) curves with data from two successive cycles (technical replicates) collected for analysis. Each cycle of the biological replicate consisted of 1020 pairs of points (E, I). Half of these points corresponded to the oxidation reaction and the other half corresponded to the reduction reaction of the cycle.

The maximum and minimum peak currents at the oxidation-reduction shifts on the cyclic voltammograms were selected for statistical analysis. Mean significant differences between the "peak current after addition of the DNA target" and "peak current before addition of the DNA target" were statistically analyzed to determine the presence or

absence of the target pathogen DNA in the sample. Such an approach uses only one single data point from the anodic and the cathodic side of the cyclic voltammogram. Alternate approaches used to analyze the data collected are described in Section 4.4.4.

4.4 OBJECTIVE 4

Determination of sensitivity of the nano-tubular silicon DNA biosensor in pure culture.

4.4.1 <u>Sensitivity of the Biosensor Using PCR Amplified DNA</u>

Overnight culture of *Salmonella* from Objective 3 (methods for part 3.4) was used to assess the sensitivity (lower limit of detection) of the biosensor. DNA was extracted and PCR performed. The PCR product was diluted serially so that the concentration ranged from $10^{-9} \mu g/\mu l$ to $10^{-15} \mu g/\mu l$, followed by testing each DNA concentration with the NTS as well as planar Si biosensor as described in Objective 3 (Section 4.3.4.8) to determine the sensitivity of the biosensor.

4.4.2 <u>Sensitivity of the Biosensor Using DNA from Pure Culture</u>

An overnight *Salmonella* Enteritidis culture from Objective 3.4 was used to assess the sensitivity (lower detection level) of the NTS biosensor. DNA was extracted as described below, followed by serial dilution of the DNA from $10^{-9} \mu g/\mu l$ to $10^{-12} \mu g/\mu l$ (and lower, if necessary) for testing with the NTS biosensor and planar Si biosensor as described in the procedure for Objective 3 (Section 4.3.4.8). The sensitivity of the biosensor was then determined. This was done to evaluate the need for PCR of the DNA target prior to detection by the biosensor.

4.4.2.1 Isolation of genomic DNA from bacterial cultures

Genomic DNA was extracted from an overnight *Salmonella* Enteritidis culture using the QiaAmp DNA Mini Kit (Qiagen Inc., Valencia, CA). The procedure used was as follows:

- One milliliter of the bacterial culture was pipetted into a 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube. The tube was centrifuged for 5 min at 5000 x g (7500 rpm).
- The volume of the pellet at the bottom of the centrifuge tube was estimated and Buffer ATL (tissue lysis buffer supplied in the QIAamp DNA Mini Kit) was added to a total volume of 180 µl.
- 3. 20 µl of Proteinase K was then added, tube content mixed by vortexing, and incubated at 56°C until the cells were completely lysed. The content was mixed by vortexing 2–3 times per h during incubation to disperse the sample. Lysis was complete in 3 h. The 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube was briefly centrifuged to remove drops from the inside of the lid.
- 4. 200 μl of Buffer AL (lysis buffer supplied in the QIAamp DNA Mini Kit) was added to the sample, mixed by pulse-vortexing for 15 s, and incubated at 70°C for 10 min followed by brief centrifugation of the 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube to remove drops from inside the lid.
- 5. 200 μl of ethanol (100%) was added to the sample, and mixed by pulse-vortexing for 15 s. The mixture in the tube from Step 4 was carefully applied (including any precipitate) to the QIAamp Spin Column (in a 2 ml collection tube, both provided in the QIAamp DNA Mini Kit) without wetting the rim, followed by centrifuging at 6000 x g (8000 rpm) for 1 min. The QIAamp Spin Column was then placed in a clean 2 ml collection tube (provided), and the tube containing the filtrate discarded.

- 6. 500 µl Buffer AW1 (washing buffer supplied in the QIAamp DNA Mini Kit) was added to the QIAamp Spin Column without wetting the rim, and centrifuged at 6000 x g (8000 rpm) for 1 min. The QIAamp Spin Column was then placed in a clean 2 ml collection tube (provided), and the tube containing the filtrate discarded.
- 7. 500 µl Buffer AW2 (washing buffer supplied in the QIAamp DNA Mini Kit) was added to the QIAamp Spin Column without wetting the rim, and centrifuged at full speed (10,000 x g; 14,000 rpm) for 3 min. The QIAamp Spin Column was then placed in a clean 2 ml collection tube (provided), and the tube containing the filtrate discarded.
- 200 μl of Buffer AE (elution buffer supplied in the QIAamp DNA Mini Kit) was added to the QIAamp Spin Column and incubated at room temperature for 5 min, and then centrifuged at 6000 x g (8000 rpm) for 1 min.
- Above step 8 was repeated once more to elute more DNA from the QIAamp Spin Column. For long-term storage, the eluted DNA was stored in Buffer AE at -20°C.

4.4.3 Confirmation of Results

Results from all of the above procedures were confirmed by following the standard plating method (Food and Drug Administration, 2000) and gel electrophoresis. DNA concentrations were determined using Bio-Rad SmartSpec 3000 spectrophotometer readings at 260 and 280 nm.

4.4.4 Statistical Analysis

All the above trials were performed in triplicate. For each set of experiments, the raw data consisted of plots of I vs. E curves with two technical replicates used for analysis. Each cycle of the biological replicate consisted of 1020 pairs of points (E, I). Half of

these points corresponded to the oxidation reaction and the other half corresponded to the reduction reaction of the cycle.

4.4.4.1 Analysis of curves (Modeling)

For each technical replicate cycle, oxidation and reduction reactions segments of the curve were analyzed separately. A generalized additive model was used to model the current as a function of voltage because this model has the flexibility of incorporating a semiparametric component (smoothing spline) to obtain a smoothed fit for two variables, especially when the functional form of the relationship is not known. PROC GAM of SAS was used to fit this model for each condition (combination of hybridization step, DNA concentration, DNA source, and DNA target). The two technical replications (cycle 1 and cycle 2) were averaged before fitting the generalized additive model. In addition to the smoothing curve, a 95 % confidence interval was calculated.

4.4.4.2 Analysis of Delta Q values

Another approach used to determine significant differences in the current signal output was to calculate the amount of charge (Q) passed during an experiment. Cummulative charge (ΔQ) values were obtained using the cyclic voltammetry *Powersuite* software (Princeton Applied Research) by selecting the whole set of 1020 points. The software calculated the ΔQ as the integral of current across the selected set of points with respect to time, and displayed it in a hoover box.

The ΔQ values (one for each cycle) were collected and analyzed using ANOVA models. Values from the two cycles were analyzed individually. In a first analysis, the three hybridization conditions were compared within each combination of concentration and DNA source (pure or PCR). A significant difference result from the ANOVA was

followed by a protected LSD (least significative difference) test. Subsequently, factorial ANOVA analyses (using PROC Mixed) were used to study the three-way interaction among hybridization, concentration and source as well as the double interaction of hybrydization with concentration. Depending on the results of these interaction tests, single or main effect contrasts among hybridization types were calculated. Finally, differences in performance between the two platforms, NTS and planar Si, were also determined.

4.5 **OBJECTIVE 5**

Determination of specificity of the nano-tubular silicon biosensor using mixed bacterial cultures.

4.5.1 Specificity Testing

In order to determine the specificity of the biosensor (the Salmonella DNA probes used), Salmonella cultures were mixed with related bacteria (Escherichia coli) at a 1:1 ratio. PCR was performed using these mixed as well as non-specific bacterial cultures (only *E. coli*) as described in Objective 3, Section 4.3.4. Genomic DNA was also extracted from an overnight *E. coli* K-12 culture. The extracted genomic *E. coli* DNA was then tested with the NTS biosensor alone (non-target) and in a mixture containing a 1:1 ratio of 1 ng/µl each of *S.* Enteritidis and *E. coli* DNA. The signal generated was compared statistically against negative and positive control samples of Salmonella Enteritidis DNA to determine the specificity of the biosensor.

4.5.2 Confirmation of Results

Results from all of the above procedures were confirmed by gel electrophoresis and spectrophotometer readings at 260 and 280 nm.

4.5.3 Statistical Analysis

All the above trials were done in triplicate. Analysis of the data was performed as described in Section 4.4 to determine significant differences in mean ΔQ values between and within species (*E. coli* or *Salmonella*). SAS program was used for statistical analysis.

CHAPTER 5: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The first step toward developing a versatile silicon-based platform for biosensor fabrication was to develop an assay and optimize its performance outside of the biosensor system so as to minimize the confounding variables. The assay was then used as a measure of comparison in terms of the biosensor performance vis-à-vis the assay performance external to the biosensor system. Upon successful fabrication of the biosensor platform and adaptation of the external assay to the biosensor, the versatility of the platform was demonstrated by employing two different transducer mechanisms with three biological sensing elements. The following sections will present the results obtained for the objectives outlined in the research methods (Chapter 4) aimed at developing the versatile silicon-based biosensor platform. A discussion of the obtained results in light of the current knowledge base is also provided.

5.1 OBJECTIVE 1

Development of a chemiluminescence-based detection assay external to the biosensor system to detect *E. coli* using β -galactosidase as the biological sensing element.

5.1.1 Development of Chemiluminescence-Based Assay

The chemiluminescence-based assay external to the biosensor system was successfully developed using β -galactosidase produced by *E. coli* as the marker. Generic *Escherichia coli* (K-12), grown overnight in nutrient broth (NB) to obtain cells in the late exponential or stationary phase, was used to develop the chemiluminescence-based assay. The kinetics of light emission from an overnight *E. coli* culture grown in NB is given in Figure 5-1. The mean *E. coli* population in the overnight culture was 8.36±0.11 Log CFU/ml (n=4). Light emitted from the uninoculated NB remained fairly steady over the





entire period of light measurement (90 min) at 3.9-4.0 Log relative light units per second (Log RLU/s). Light intensity for the *E. coli* pure culture was similar to that obtained from the uninoculated control for the first 5 min, and then increased up to 60 min before approaching a plateau at 4.7 Log RLU/s. The light intensity remained almost steady at that level even after 6 h (data not shown). The difference in light emission between the uninoculated NB blank and the NB sample with an overnight *E. coli* culture was significant after 10 min of light measurement (p<0.05).

The β -galactosidase-based chemiluminescence assay for detection of *E. coli* was thus successfully demonstrated using NB as the growth medium. The kinetics of light emitted by an overnight NB *E. coli* culture was similar to that observed by Lumigen, Inc. (supplier of Lumi-Gal[®] 530) and other investigators (Beale *et al.*, 1992). Beale *et al.* (1992) observed a linear relationship between the *E. coli* β -galactosidase concentration and emitted chemiluminescence over five orders of magnitude.

5.1.2 Comparison Between Nutrient Broth and Lactose Broth

The effect of the growth medium in which the *E. coli* was cultured as well as the incubation period was investigated (Figure 5-2). A comparison of light emitted after 24 h and 48 h of incubation did not show any significant difference (p>0.05) when grown in NB or LB. Differences in *E. coli* numbers were also not significant (8.37 \pm 0.10 Log CFU/ml and 8.23 \pm 0.09 Log CFU/ml for NB after 24 and 48 h, respectively; versus 8.29 \pm 0.08 Log CFU/ml and 8.20 \pm 0.10 Log CFU/ml for LB after 24 and 48 h, respectively). However, the intensity of light emitted by *E. coli* cultures grown in NB and





LB were significantly different (p<0.05). Immediately after mixing the sample with the Lumi-Gal[®] 530 dioxetane substrate, the light emitted by the 24h and 48 h cultures of *E. coli* grown in LB was one log higher than that of the uninoculated LB as well as the 24 h and 48 h cultures of *E. coli* grown in NB. Light intensity for *E. coli* cultures grown in LB increased with time to 6.3 Log RLU/s with no significant increase or decrease observed after 60 min (p>0.05). As a result, for all later experiments, the light intensity measurement period was limited to 60 min. At the end of the light measurement period (90 min), the light emitted by the LB culture was two orders of magnitude higher than that of the NB culture (p<0.01) (Figure 5-2).

Tryland and Fiksdal (1998a) observed that various strains of *E. coli* required 1-4 days to reach stationary phase, thus, influencing the chemiluminescence. However, in the current study, increasing incubation time from 1 to 2 days had no significant effect on chemiluminescence. *Escherichia coli* cultures grew rapidly in both NB and LB to reach the stationary phase of growth within 24 h (as evidenced by no significant differences in *E. coli* numbers between 24 h and 48 h cultures), thus explaining the results obtained in the current study.

A 100-1000 fold increase in the light emitted by the LB *E. coli* culture in comparison to the NB culture supported the hypothesis that lactose broth would be a better medium for the assay. Availability of lactose as a substrate for *E. coli* increases β -galactosidase production. The *lac* operon in *E. coli* consists of one regulatory gene (the *I* gene) and three structural genes (*Z*, *Y*, and *A*). The *lac I* gene codes for the repressor of the *lac* operon. The *lac Z* gene codes for β -galactosidase, which is primarily responsible for the hydrolysis of lactose into its monomeric units, galactose and glucose. The *lac Y* gene
codes for permease, which increases permeability of the cell to β -galactosides. The *lac A* gene encodes a transacetylase that has a known, but not essential, enzymatic activity. During normal growth on a glucose-based medium, the *lac* repressor is bound to the operator region (*lac O*) of the *lac* operon, preventing transcription. However, in the presence of an inducer (lactose) of the *lac* operon, the repressor protein binds to the inducer and is rendered incapable of interacting with the operator region of the operon. RNA polymerase is thus able to bind at the promoter region (*lac P*), and transcription of the operon ensues, resulting in increased production of the β -galactosidase enzyme (King, 2002).

5.1.3 Determining Assay Applications

When the two *E. coli* cultures were tested with the chemiluminescence assay, no significant difference in light emission was observed between the light emissions for *E. coli* K-12 and *E. coli* O157:H7 throughout the entire 60-min period of light measurement (Figure 5-3). β -galactosidase enzyme activity for the pathogenic strain of *E. coli* was higher in LB versus that in NB, as observed with the generic *E. coli* strain grown in LB. However, with the heat-killed *E. coli* O157:H7 culture, the light emission was significantly lower than that of the untreated *E. coli* and *E. coli* O157:H7 cultures (p<0.01). The light intensity for the heat-killed *E. coli* O157:H7 culture was also significantly lower than that of the uninoculated broth (used as the control) (p<0.05) (Figure 5-3).

Lack of significant differences in light emitted for an overnight *E. coli* O157:H7 compared to *E. coli* K-12 indicates that the assay cannot be used as a discriminatory test for non-pathogenic versus pathogenic strains of *E. coli*. The use of other enzymes, such





as β-glucuronidase, to discriminate between non-pathogenic strains of E. coli and E. coli O157:H7 needs to be investigated. Significant differences in light emission for heat-killed E. coli O157:H7 cultures as compared to untreated E. coli O157:H7 and the LB control indicate that the assay can be used for quality control of heat-processed foods. The assay might be used to assess possible cross-contamination with raw product or ineffective heat treatment of foods such as pasteurized milk or apple cider. Significantly lower light intensity of the heat-treated sample compared to the uninoculated control could be explained by presence of organic matter (from the dead cells) in the sample. Lumi-Gal[®] 530 (the dioxetane substrate) has been carefully formulated to optimize enzyme activity, chemiluminescence intensity and lifetime for high sensitivity, which also makes it sensitive to the sample matrix. The organic matter present in the sample quenches the light emitted, lowering the light emission output for the heat-treated sample compared to the background signal emitted for the uninoculated control devoid of any organic matter (Beale et al., 1992). This could potentially be exploited to determine presence of unusually high levels of organic matter in a food sample that also contains E. coli or other β -galactosidase producing organisms as a part of its normal microflora. For example, a mastitic milk sample from an infected cow normally has a high somatic cell count in addition to bacteria (Tsenkova et al., 2001). Testing pasteurized mastitic milk (pooled with normal milk) could yield a chemiluminescence signal significantly lower than that of normal pasteurized milk (an untested hypothesis), which in turn can be used as an indicator of potential problems with animals in a dairy farm.

5.1.4 Determining Amount of Sample Used in the Assay

Preliminary trials conducted using 25 μ l of *E. coli* culture for the assay showed a very low sensitivity of 10⁵ CFU (4x10⁶ CFU/ml for a liquid sample) after 60 min. Randomized block design (RBD) analysis comprising three levels of culture was used to optimize the assay performance in terms of sensitivity. The interactive effect of the amount of culture and the light emission was analyzed using an Autoregressive mixed model in SAS, the results of which are summarized in Table 5-1.

The intensity of chemiluminescence was directly proportional to the *E. coli* cell concentration (β -galactosidase) in the sample. With decreasing cell numbers, the light intensity decreased exponentially. For example, with 50 µl of culture, light intensity for 10^8 CFU/ml, 10^7 CFU/ml and 10^6 CFU/ml was 5.99, 5.07, and 4.38 log RLU/s, respectively, after 10 min (Table 5-1). The intensity of light emitted increased with the amount of *E. coli* culture used in the assay; for example, light emission of the 10^6 CFU/ml *E. coli* culture using 25, 50 and 55 µl was 4.3, 4.38, and 4.41 log RLU/s, respectively, after 10 min (Table 5-1).

The mean coliform count of the pure culture for the sensitivity trials was 8.19 ± 0.09 Log CFU/ml. The intensity of light emission for all samples at all serial dilution levels increased with time (10-60 min). Readings of light emission were stable after 30 min, thus 30-60 min readings were used for data analysis. The lower limit of detection based on significantly different light emission values [highlighted in Table 5-1] for 25 µl sample was 10^4 CFU at 60 min; for 50 µl culture level was 10^3 - 10^4 CFU between 30 to 60 min; and for 55 µl was 10^2 - 10^3 CFU (30-60 min). This was determined using the

Time	Culture	Control	10 ³ CFU/ml	10 ⁴ CFU/ml	10 ⁵ CFU/ml	10 ⁶ CFU/ml	10 ⁷ CFU/ml	10 ⁸ CFU/ml
(min)	Volume (µl)	(Log RLU/s)						
10	25	4.18±0.03ª	4.21±0.02ª	4.19±0.02ª	4.21±0.04ª	4.30±0.05 ^b	4.80±0.05°	5.78±0.18 ^d
	50	4.19±0.02ª	4.19±0.04ª	4.22±0.03ª	4.21±0.03 ^ª	4.38±0.06 ^b	5.07±0.05°	5.99±0.07 ^d
	55	4.20±0.02ª	4.21±0.03ª	4.20±0.02ª	4.22±0.03 ^b	4.41±0.06°	5.10±0.05 ^d	6.05±0.06°
20	25	4.18±0.03 ^ª	4.20±0.03ª	4.19±0.03ª	4.21±0.04ª	4.37±0.05 ^b	5.04±0.05°	6.10±0.19 ^d
	50	4.18±0.02ª	4.20±0.04ª	4.20±0.02ª	4.23±0.03 ^ª	4.52±0.06 ^b	5.32±0.05°	6.27±0.07 ^d
	55	4.19±0.03ª	4.20±0.02ª	4.22±0.02ª	4.24±0.03 ^b	4.56±0.07 ^c	5.37±0.05 ^d	6.33±0.06 [€]
30	25	4.18±0.03ª	4.19±0.04ª	4.19±0.04ª	4.22±0.03ª	4.43±0.05 ^b	5.17±0.06°	6.19±0.18 ^d
	50	4.18±0.03ª	4.20±0.03ª	4.19±0.04ª	4.25±0.04 ^b	4.60±0.07 [℃]	5.46±0.05 ^d	6.41±0.07 [€]
	55	4.19±0.02ª	4.19±0.02 ^ª	4.23±0.03 ^b	4.26±0.02 ^b	4.64±0.06°	5.51±0.05 ^d	6.46±0.05°

Table 5-1. Light intensity for different amounts of overnight LB E. coli culture at various cell concentrations.

Table	5-1 (cont'd).							
Time	Culture	Control	10 ³ CFU/ml	10 ⁴ CFU/ml	10 ⁵ CFU/ml	10 ⁶ CFU/ml	10 ⁷ CFU/ml	10 ⁸ CFU/ml
(min)	Volume (µl)	(Log RLU/s)	(Log RLU/s)	(Log RLU/s)	(Log RLU/s)	(Log RLU/s)	(Log RLU/s)	(Log RLU/s)
40	25	4.17±0.03ª	4.19±0.04ª	4.19±0.05 ^ª	4.22±0.04ª	4.47±0.05 ^b	5.26±0.06°	6.29±0.18 ^d
	50	4.18±0.02 ^ª	4.19±0.03 ^ª	4.20±0.04ª	4.26±0.03 ^b	4.66±0.07 ^c	5.55±0.06 ^d	6.50±0.07 [€]
	55	4.19±0.03ª	4.20±0.02ª	4.24±0.03 ^{ab}	4.28±0.02 ^{bc}	4.71±0.07 ^d	5.60±0.06℃	6.56±0.06 ^f
50	25	4.17±0.03ª	4.19±0.04ª	4.19±0.05ª	4.22±0.04ª	4.50±0.06 ^b	5.32±0.06°	6.35±0.18 ^d
	50	4.18±0.03ª	4.19±0.04ª	4.21±0.03ª	4.27±0.03 ^b	4.71±0.07 [°]	5.62±0.06 ^d	6.56±0.07 [€]
	55	4.19±0.02ª	4.19±0.02ª	4.25±0.02 ^b	4.29±0.03°	4.77±0.08 ^d	5.66±0.06℃	6.62±0.05 ^f
60	25	4.18±0.03ª	4.20±0.02ª	4.20±0.04ª	4.24±0.04ª	4.55±0.05 ^b	5.38±0.05°	6.41±0.17 ^d
	50	4.19±0.02ª	4.20±0.03ª	4.22±0.04ª	4.30±0.03 ^b	4.76±0.06°	5.68±0.05 ^d	6.62±0.07 [°]
	55	4.19±0.03ª	4.20±0.02ª	4.26±0.02 ^b	4.32±0.02°	4.80±0.08 ^d	5.72±0.05°	6.67±0.05 ^f
Mea	ins in the same	e row with differ	rent superscript	are significantl	v different (p<0.	.05). Values in l	bold indicate the	e point at which

the significant differences begin.

128

equation: Sensitivity (CFU) = [Average coliform count (in CFU/ml corresponding to bold light emission value) x volume of sample (μl)]/1000 μl .

The sensitivity of the assay was observed to be low (10^5 CFU) using 25 µl of *E. coli* culture, resulting in the investigation of different levels of the culture to maximize the sensitivity. As recommended by Lumigen (the supplier), Lumi-Gal[®] 530 was not to be diluted by more than 10% of the total volume with the culture or enzyme. The three *E. coli* culture amounts – 25, 50 and 55 µl - were chosen accordingly. Maximum sensitivity of the assay required β-galactosidase and stabilized dioxetane to be mixed and incubated for sufficient time to allow the product (detected by luminometer) to approach steady state. About 30 min after mixing Lumi-Gal[®] 530 and the permeabilized culture mix, the light emissions were stable; therefore, the readings from 30-60 min were considered in the interpretation of results. Beale *et al.* (1992) followed a similar procedure while testing Lumi-Gal[®] 530 with purified β-galactosidase. The enzyme was mixed with Lumi-Gal[®] 530, followed by sample incubation at 37°C for 30 min and then the chemiluminescence response was measured (Beale *et al.*, 1992).

Sensitivity of the assay improved with the increasing amount of *E. coli* culture used for the assay. Higher cell numbers, and thus higher amount of β -galactosidase enzyme, in 55 µl of *E. coli* culture may explain maximum sensitivity of 10³ CFU. This means that any sample analyzed (using 55 µl) had to contain a minimum of 10³ CFU in the reaction mixture for successful detection. Thus, the assay would require filtration or similar processes to concentrate the cells for samples with low numbers (10⁰-10² CFU). An enrichment process to elevate the *E. coli* or coliform numbers to detectable levels could also be used. Tryland and Fiksdal (1998b) used isopropyl- β -D-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG), a β -galactosidase inducer, and observed that the β -D-galactosidases of all nontarget environmental isolates were less inducible than the enzymes of coliforms and *E. coli* when grown in tryptic soy broth. So, the addition of β -galactosidase inducers, such as IPTG, to LB during an enrichment step could increase β -galactosidase activity of *E. coli* in samples contaminated at low levels, potentially reducing enrichment time required and improving the sensitivity of the assay. This is yet to be investigated.

5.1.5 Assay Validation in Food Analysis

Based on the results of the sensitivity trials, a sample of sprouts (SS), three samples of milk (M1, M2, M3), and three samples of water (W1, W2, W3) inoculated with *E. coli* were tested using 55 μ l sample and polymixin B sulfate mixture with 500 μ l Lumi-Gal[®] 530. *Escherichia coli* levels below 10³ CFU/ml could not be detected in the samples tested (Figure 5-4) as the difference in intensity of light emitted between the samples and the blank was not significantly different (p>0.05). At *E. coli* levels above 10³ CFU/ml, the intensity of light emitted increased exponentially with the bacterial numbers. Moreover, the sample matrix did not have any significant effect on the assay.

Figure 5-5 shows the light output measured 60 min after addition of Lumi-Gal[®] to the Red Cedar River water samples collected from seven sites. Based on analysis of the sensitivity study, a guideline was used to assess the presence or absence of coliforms in a sample with unknown number of coliforms. If the light emission from the sample was consistently greater than that of the blank/control by at least 1000 RLU/s (between 30-60 minutes), the sample was considered positive. Based on this guideline, when the water samples were analyzed directly (without pre-enrichment), a conclusive



Figure 5-4. Normalized light emission and E. coli counts of food and water samples. Key: W - water, M - milk, SS - alfalfa sprout seeds. Normalized = (Sample - Blank) in RLU/S.



Figure 5-5. Normalized light emission of surface water samples direct assay and 12 h enrichment in LB prior to assay. Sample coliform counts are prior to enrichment. Normalized = (Sample - Blank) in RLU/s. interpretation of the data (presence/absence and/or quantification) could not be made for five of the seven samples. Only sample 1 and sample 2 could be interpreted as positive. Subsequently, the coliform counts for samples 1 and 2 (from MacConkey agar plates) were found to be ~1 log higher than the rest of the samples; counts ranged from 550 CFU/ml (for sample 5) to 13,500 CFU/ml (for sample 2). Light emission from samples 3, 5, and 6 was very close to that of the blank (Figure 5-5). When the assay was repeated following enrichment in LB for 1-6 h, no significant difference in light emission was observed between enriched samples and those without enrichment (data not shown). However, after a 12-h enrichment of all samples in LB, the light emission increased by 2.5 orders of magnitude for all samples compared to the direct assay. Interpretation of results from the 12-h enrichment assay was conclusive in detecting presence/absence of coliforms in all the samples (compared with plate counts).

When surface water samples, contaminated at low levels $(10^{1}-10^{3} \text{ CFU/ml})$, were analyzed using the assay without any pre-enrichment in LB, the assay indicated a presumptive positive/negative result. This was due to the stationary (or lag) phase condition of the *E. coli* cells in the water samples. Production of β -galactosidase by *E. coli* is affected by several factors, such as cell growth phase, availability of nutrients like glucose versus lactose in the growth medium, ATP levels in the *E. coli* cells, strain of *E. coli*, all of which influence the amount of enzyme that can be detected definitively by the assay procedure.

When enriched in LB, at first the *E. coli* cells are quiescent; they do not metabolize the lactose, their other metabolic activities decline, and cell division ceases. During the quiescent interval, the cells begin to produce three enzymes (with transcription of the *lac*



operon gene as explained above) in large amounts that have not been previously produced. The culture then begins growing rapidly again with the lactose being rapidly consumed (Adhya, 1996; Kimball, 2003). This growth behavior during enrichment explains the inability to obtain significantly higher light emission with samples enriched for 1-6 h.

In conclusion, the development of a chemiluminescence-based assay and its application in food samples for detection of coliforms (*E. coli*), outside of the biosensor system has been demonstrated. The detection limit of the assay was 10^3 CFU. The assay was completed within 60 min. This assay will be adapted to the biosensor system in the third research objective.

5.2 **OBJECTIVE 2**

Design, fabrication and characterization of a nano-tubular silicon platform.

5.2.1 Nano-Tubular Si Characterization

NTS was fabricated from a p^{++} type wafer using different anodization conditions. These conditions were chosen by modifying those used for porous silicon fabrication (Shimasaki *et al.*, 1996; Thust *et al.*, 1996; Halimaoui, 1997) reported previously. Scanning electron microscope (SEM) images (Figures 5-6 to 5-13) of the chips were used to determine the best NTS biosensor fabrication conditions based on nano-tube size, shape and uniformity, nano-tubular surface texture and inter-nano-tube space. No features were observed on the bare (non-nano-tubular) Si (Figure 5-6). NTS fabricated using anodization conditions of 2 mA/cm² for 1 h (Figure 5-7) showed a uniform structure, slightly uneven surface texture with noticeably less inter-nano-tube spaces (5-20 nm), and nano-tube size ranging from 5–30 nm. Anodization conditions of 5 mA/cm² for 20 min



Figure 5-6. SEM image of bare p⁺⁺ Si surface.



Figure 5-7. SEM image of nano-tubular Si produced from p++ type Si. Anodizing conditions used were 15% HF, 2 mA/cm2 for 1 h.

(Figure 5-8) and 5 mA/cm² for 1 h (Figure 5-9) provided the best NTS chip characteristics with uniform nano-tube structure and nano-tube sizes ranging from 10-30 nm, a smooth (even) surface, and an inter-nano-tube space of 10-20 nm.

NTS fabricated using 15 mA/cm² (Figure 5-10) and 30 mA/cm² for 1 min (Figure 5-11) showed an uneven surface texture and non-uniform structures. Nano-tubes were elliptical or rod-shaped with large inter-nano-tube spaces and nano-tube sizes ranging from 5–20 nm in length. NTS fabricated using 50 mA/cm² for 1 min (Figure 5-12) showed non-uniform structures, highly uneven texture, and round, elliptical or rod-shaped nano-tubes with less inter-nano-tube spaces compared to 15 mA/cm² and 30 mA/cm². Nano-tube sizes ranged from 5–30 nm in length.

All the properties of a NTS layer are strongly dependent on anodizing conditions such as HF concentration, pH of the solution and its chemical composition, current density, wafer type and resistivity, temperature, anodization duration, and illumination (Halimaoui, 1997). NTS fabricated using 100 mA/cm² for 30 s (Figure 5-13) had a poor and uneven surface structure. Uneven shaped nano-tubes with very large inter-nano-tube size spaces were observed. Visual inspection of the NTS chip showed discoloration as well as partial etching of the top NTS surface. This result contradicted previously reported literature where porous silicon was successfully fabricated using 100 mA/cm² for 30 s to 1 min (Halimaoui, 1997; Janshoff *et al.*, 1998). This discrepancy could be due to variations in the resistivity of the wafers used and the concentration of the HF solution.



Figure 5-8. SEM image of nano-tubular Si produced from p⁺⁺ type Si. Anodizing conditions used were 15% HF, 5 mA/cm² for 20 min.



Figure 5-9. SEM image of nano-tubular Si produced from p⁺⁺ type Si. Anodizing conditions used were 15% HF, 5 mA/cm² for 1 h.



Figure 5-10. SEM image of nano-tubular Si produced from p⁺⁺ type Si. Anodizing conditions used were 15% HF, 15 mA/cm² for 1 min.



Figure 5-11. SEM image of nano-tubular Si produced from p^{++} type Si. Anodizing conditions used were 15% HF, 30 mA/cm² for 1 min.



Figure 5-12. SEM image of nano-tubular Si produced from p^{++} type Si. Anodizing conditions used were 15% HF, 50 mA/cm² for 1 min.



Figure 5-13. SEM image of nano-tubular Si produced from p^{++} type Si . Anodizing conditions used were 15% HF, 100 mA/cm² for 30 s.

Based on the characterization of the NTS using SEM images, 5 mA/cm^2 for 1 h was chosen for the fabrication of the NTS biosensor chip in further testing. Anodizing conditions of 5 mA/cm^2 for 1 h was chosen over 5 mA/cm^2 for 20 min because longer anodization with the same current density yields a thicker NTS layer (longer nano-tubes) (Halimaoui, 1997) and thus more surface area for the biological sensing element to bind and for the biochemical reaction during the detection process.

The porosity and thickness of the NTS obtained using anodization conditions of 5 mA/cm² for 1 h with 15% ethanoic solution of HF was determined gravimetrically (Table 5-2). The percent porosity of the NTS ranged from 70.00 % (Chip 10) to 87.23 % (Chip 4), and the thickness of the NTS layer varied from 13.09 μ m (Chip 3) to 21.67 μ m (Chip 1). The mean percent porosity of the NTS layer for the 14 chips was 80.21 % ± 4.29 % with a corresponding mean thickness of 17.54 μ m ± 2.82 μ m. The percent porosity of the NTS was similar to that reported previously under similar anodizing conditions (Halimaoui, 1997; Janshoff *et al.*, 1998; Amato *et al.*, 2000). The variation in porosity and thickness observed was possibly due to batch-to-batch variations in composition of the ethanoic HF used or slight fluctuations in the current density applied to the silicon chip.

A cross-sectional SEM image was taken by carefully dicing the NTS chip with a diamond saw and mounting the cross-section of the chip at a 45° angle. The scanning electron micrograph provided additional confirmation of the thickness obtained by gravimetric analysis (Figure 5-14). The micrograph shows the NTS structures to be about 15-20 μ m thick/deep and interconnected to some degree.

Chin	m . (a)	m - (a)	M. (a)	$\Lambda reg (om2)$	Thickness	Porosity (%)
<u> </u>	mi (g)	1112 (g)	IVI3 (g)	Alea (chi)	(µIII)	Polosity (70)
1	0.2747	0.2708	0.2699	0.950714	21.67	81.25
2	0.3365	0.3329	0.3322	0.950714	19.41	83.72
3	0.3697	0.3674	0.3668	0.950714	13.09	79.31
4	0.32	0.3159	0.3153	0.950714	21.22	87.23
5	0.345	0.3413	0.3406	0.950714	19.86	84.09
6	0.2981	0.2946	0.2938	0.950714	19.41	81.40
7	0.3369	0.3336	0.3327	0.950714	18.96	78.57
8	0.3306	0.328	0.3272	0.950714	15.35	76.47
9	0.3087	0.3062	0.3055	0.950714	14.45	78.12
10	0.3171	0.315	0.3141	0.950714	13.54	70.00
11	0.3281	0.3249	0.3242	0.950714	17.61	82.05
12	0.3523	0.3491	0.3484	0.950714	17.61	82.05
13	0.3084	0.3059	0.3051	0.950714	14.90	75.76
14	0.2673	0.2639	0.2632	0.950714	18.51	82.93

Table 5-2. Thickness and porosity of nano-tubular Si chips fabricated from p⁺⁺ Si.

Anodizing conditions used were 15% HF, 5 mA/cm² for 1 h.



Figure 5-14. Cross-sectional SEM image of nano-tubular Si produced from p⁺⁺ type Si. Anodizing conditions used were 15% HF, 5 mA/cm² for 1 h. NTS chip cross-section was placed at 45° to capture the image.

When using doped p-type silicon to produce a porous silicon-based bioreactor for glucose detection, Bengtsson *et al.* (2000a) produced a porous surface with a maximum thickness of 10 μ m, while DeLouise and Miller (2005) could only obtain a 6.5 μ m thick porous layer for enzyme immobilization. Other investigators have also reported similar thickness when fabricating porous silicon layers from highly doped p-type wafers (Splinter *et al.*, 2001; Martin-Palma *et al.*, 2004). Halimaoui (1997) predicted the possibility of producing a porous silicon layer 13 μ m thick using 25% HF and a fixed current density of 50 mA/cm² for 4 min. However, a porous silicon layer with more than 10 μ m thickness using highly doped p-type silicon has not been reported, especially with

lower current densities. The current research has shown a significant improvement (50-100 %) in the thickness of the porous layer over currently reported values, thus justifying the name NTS. This improvement was made possible by maintaining the potential, V, less than V_{ep} , the electropolishing peak potential. As long as the current density, $J < J_{ep}$, the supply of holes was restricted to maintain the H-terminated surface throughout etching (Chazalviel *et al.*, 2000; Safi *et al.*, 2002).

Ethanoic HF solution was used as the electrochemical etching agent, as opposed to purely aqueous HF solution, because ethanol had been shown to act as a surfactant, improving the porous silicon layer uniformity by eliminating hydrogen bubbles (formed during the process of porous silicon layer formation), improving the penetrability of the electrolyte (etching) solution in the pores (Halimaoui, 1997). Also, the use of the ethanoic HF enabled fabrication of porous silicon at higher currents for longer times than that used typically with diluted aqueous HF solutions. Longer anodization time with the same current density had been shown to provide a thicker (deeper) porous silicon layer (Halimaoui, 1997) and thus more surface area for the biochemical reactions during the detection process. When anodization times greater than 60 min were employed to fabricate NTS, the process was not repeatable; a porous layer of silicon was obtained in some trials while electropolishing occurred in others (data not shown). As the anodization time was increased, current density, J, eventually peaked beyond Jep, leading to electropolishing (complete etching of the silicon surface layers) instead of pore formation (Allongue, 1997). Hence, an anodization condition of 5 mA/cm² for 60 min was used to fabricate the NTS platform for the biosensors, yielding porous silicon layers consistently with the maximum depth of the pores possible (before electropolishing occurred).

5.3 OBJECTIVE 3

Functionalization of the nano-tubular silicon platform into a biosensor chip.

5.3.1 Adaptation of CL Assay to the Biosensor Detection System - Procedure A

Figure 5-15 shows the light emission of the control NTS biosensor chip (blank with no E. coli culture) as well as that of NTS- and planar Si biosensor chips tested with an overnight E. coli pure culture. Light emission for the control functionalized NTS biosensor chip (with no *E. coli*) was significantly lower (p<0.01) than that for both the planar Si and the NTS biosensor chips, thus indicating that both chips were able to detect E. coli present in the sample using β -galactosidase produced as a marker (biological sensing element). However, light emission for the nano-tubular biosensor chip was significantly (about three times) higher than that of the planar biosensor chip. For example, light emission of the control biosensor chip, the planar Si chip and the NTS biosensor chip after 30 min were 5480 RLU/s, 173,666 RLU/s and 561,868 RLU/s, respectively. The higher light emission of the NTS biosensor chip as compared to the planar Si biosensor chip was due to the higher surface area available for the Lumi-Gal® 530 to diffuse and bind to during the functionalization step. With greater amounts of Lumi-Gal[®] 530 available to react with β -galactosidase in the sample, the amount of light emitted from the NTS biosensor chip, when compared with that of the planar Si chip, was higher.

The external CL assay (Objective 1, Table 5-1 on page 127) had higher light emission than that of the NTS biosensor chip for an *E. coli* pure culture by about one log RLU/s. This can be explained by the lower amounts $(1/10^{\text{th}})$ of sample and Lumi-Gal[®] 530 used in the biosensor system as compared to that of the single-tube external CL of assay. However, this also reduces the cost of the assay by 90%. Also, per unit volume



Figure 5-15. Comparison of light emission of E. coli pure culture in nano-tubular Si and planar silicon biosensors against nano-tubular Si control. Different superscript over the bars indicates significantly different light emission (p<0.01).

~

dioxetane substrate, light emitted from the NTS biosensor was slightly higher (4.05 Log RLU) than that from the single-tube assay (3.97 Log RLU).

The single-tube external CL-based assay developed in Objective 1 (sections 5.1.1 to 5.1.5) was successfully adapted to the NTS biosensor chip system to detect *E. coli* using β -galactosidase as the biological sensing element. The NTS biosensor platform is practically an array of single-tube external assays in the nano scale.

5.3.2 Adaptation of CL Assay to the Biosensor Detection System - Procedure B

Figure 5-16 shows the comparative kinetics of light emission for an overnight *E. coli* culture grown in LB using the standard chemiluminescence assay, developed previously, and the modified chemiluminescence assay where the Polymyxin B sulfate and dioxetane substrate were mixed prior to addition of the *E. coli* culture. Mean light emission for *E. coli* with the modified chemiluminescence assay was equivalent to that obtained with the standard chemiluminescence assay immediately after addition of the *E. coli* culture to the dioxetane-Polymyxin B sulfate mixture. However, an incubation period of 15 min after addition of culture to the Polymyxin-dioxetane mixture significantly improved the light emission over the standard chemiluminescence assay procedure. Light emission for the modified chemiluminescence assay procedure (after incubation) was significantly greater than the standard assay throughout the 60 min period of measurement (p<0.01) (Figure 5-16).



Figure 5-16. Kinetics of light emitted by an overnight LB E. coli culture using the standard (non-mixed) and modified (premixed with 15 min incubation) single-tube chemiluminescence assays. Different superscripts over the bars indicate significant differences (p<0.01). Figure 5-17 shows the light emission from serially diluted *E. coli* cultures on NTS biosensor chips. With increasing cell numbers, the light intensity also increased. For example, light intensity of samples containing 10^1 CFU, 10^2 CFU, 10^3 CFU and 10^4 CFU of *E. coli* were 3.38, 3.52, 3.85 and 4.22 log RLU/s, respectively, at the 40 min reading (Figure 5-17). The amount of β -galactosidase in the sample extracted from the cells would be higher with increasing *E. coli* cell numbers, thus leading to a greater chemiluminescence intensity. Beale *et al.* (1992) also observed a linearly increasing relationship between β -galactosidase concentration and chemiluminescence using Lumi-Gal[®] 530.

Following addition of the sample to the functionalized biosensor chips, light emission increased with time and had lower variability after 30 min. This trend was similar to that observed previously with the single-tube chemiluminescence assay external to the biosensor (Mathew and Alocilja, 2004) and the study by Beale *et al.* (1992). Hence, light emission values obtained after 30 min of sample addition in this study were used to determine the sensitivity of the biosensor to *E. coli*.

The average bacterial count of the *E. coli* pure culture for the sensitivity trials was 5.66×10^7 CFU/ml. The lower limit of detection based on significantly different light emission values was 10^2 CFU at 30 and 50 min and 10^1 at 40 and 60 min. This was determined using the same equation as before: Sensitivity (CFU) = [Average coliform count (in CFU/ml corresponding to bold light emission value) x volume of sample (µl)]/1000 µl. The lower detection level of 10^1 - 10^2 CFU was a significant improvement over that of the single-tube chemiluminescence assay determined external to the biosensor (10^3 cells, (Mathew and Alocilja, 2004)). This improvement could be explained





by the lower background noise observed with the control sample $(10^2-10^3 \text{ RLU/s})$, Figure 5-16) for the modified chemiluminescence assay on the biosensor chip as compared to the background light emission for the single-tube chemiluminescence assay (10^4 RLU/s) . With lower background noise, the assay could detect smaller differences in light emission that resulted from samples contaminated with low numbers of *E. coli*, thus improving the sensitivity of the assay.

In conclusion, functionalization of the NTS into a biosensor was achieved using diffusion and physical adsorption of the dioxetane substrate as confirmed by a chemiluminescence-based assay with β -galactosidase produced by *E. coli* as a marker. Light emission of the NTS biosensor chip was higher than that of the planar Si biosensor chip. *Escherichia coli* could be detected using the modified assay procedure within 30 min after addition of the sample to the functionalized NTS biosensor chip. The lower detection limits (sensitivity) of the biosensor for *E. coli* were 10¹ and 10² cells at 40 and 30 min, respectively, which was an improvement over the sensitivity of 10³ cells for the single-tube chemiluminescence assay developed previously. Future research will involve adapting the biosensor to detect disease-causing agents, such as *Salmonella*, *E. coli* O157:H7 and *Listeria*.

5.3.3 <u>Functionalization of the Nano-Tubular Si Platform with Salmonella</u> Antibodies into an Immuno-Biosensor

The NTS surface was functionalized into an immuno-biosensor by physical adsorption of antibodies as well as a combination of silanization and antibody immobilization processes. The biosensor chips were then used to successfully detect *Salmonella*.

Figure 5-18 shows the light emission of a control NTS biosensor chip (with no Salmonella) as well as that of nano-tubular- and planar silanized Si biosensor chips tested with an overnight culture of Salmonella. The average bacterial count determined by standard plating was 8.68 ± 0.23 Log CFU/ml of Salmonella. The intensity of light emitted for the NTS biosensor chip with Salmonella increased for the first 2 minutes and then decreased slowly while that of the control and planar Si chip decreased slowly over the entire 10 min period of light measurement. Light emission from the NTS chip was higher than that of the planar Si chip throughout the measurement period. However, the difference in light emission was not statistically significant (p>0.05) due to high variability in light emission for the NTS chip (coefficient of variance ranging from 2.04 to 8.92% for NTS chip as compared to 0.38 to 1.48% for planar silicon chip). Standardization of biosensor functionalization steps and improving the efficiency of blocking/washing steps during chemiluminescence assay can reduce this variability. However, there may not be a significant advantage when using the NTS biosensor chip as an immuno-biosensor because the size of the bacterial target (approximately $0.5 \times 3 \mu m$ in diameter or length) exceeds the size of the nano-tubes greatly, thus reducing the chances of penetrability of the target into the nano-tubes. Overall, light emission of the nano-tubular and planar silicon chips was significantly greater than that of the control chip (p<0.05), indicating presence of *Salmonella* in the sample.

However, the NTS could easily be adapted to detect viruses of significance to human health. Viral particles are much smaller than the bacterial agent used in the current research, and are reported to have a particle size ranging from 20-250 nm or greater depending on the size of the single- or double-stranded RNA or DNA genome





(Balch *et al.*, 2000; Yamaguchi *et al.*, 2003; Brussaard *et al.*, 2004). Macroporous (up to 1 μ m diameter pores) NTS-based immuno-biosensor can be fabricated by using appropriate anodization conditions to detect the larger sized viral particles. Another possible medical application for the NTS immuno-biosensor would be detection of antibodies produced against viral and bacterial targets in blood samples (Yamaguchi *et al.*, 2003). The NTS biosensor can then be used as a nano-biosensor device for detection of nano particles to provide increased speed and sensitivity in biological sensing applications, compared to their macro or micro counterparts (Ilic *et al.*, 2004; Lee and Chang, 2005).

Light emission of the control NTS biosensor chip (with no Salmonella) was also compared against that of silanized and non-silanized (physically adsorbed antibodies) NTS biosensor chips tested with an overnight Salmonella pure culture (Figure 5-19). Light emission of the control chip and the non-silanized chip tested with Salmonella was approximately one log lower than that of the silanized NTS chip with Salmonella. For example, light emitted from the control, non-silanized and silanized chips after 5 min were 4.97, 5.09, and 6.04 Log RLU/s, respectively. Light emission for the Salmonella pure culture on the silanized NTS chip was significantly greater (p<0.05) than the control as well as the non-silanized NTS chip with Salmonella.

HRP-Luminol[®] reaction kinetics showed an exponential decrease in light emission with the light remaining intense for about 20 minutes (data not shown). Based on reaction kinetics, the half-life of the HRP-Luminol[®] reaction was reported to be 60 min (Pierce Chemical Company, 2001). When the NTS biosensor chips were tested with *Salmonella*,





light was measured for only 10 min, because significant difference in light emission could already be observed after the first minute in silanized chips with Salmonella when compared to the control. Light readings were measured to test the hypothesis that silanization of NTS was an essential step in functionalization of the biosensor chip, accomplished by comparing the kinetics of Salmonella on non-silanized chips against that of silanized chips. Light emission from a non-silanized chip comparable to that of a silanized chip would indicate successful functionalization by physical adsorption of antibodies directly onto the NTS surface or through entrapment within the nano-tubes. However, no significant difference (p>0.05) in light emission of the non-silanized chip (with Salmonella) was observed when compared to the silanized and non-silanized control (no Salmonella), indicating that physical adsorption or entrapment of antibodies was not a reliable method of antibody immobilization. The physical adsorption process used for antibody binding explains the lower light emission of the non-silanized NTS biosensor chip when compared to that of the silanized chip. No (or significantly lower) binding of the antibody resulted from physical adsorption due to lack of a stable bond/link between the NTS surface and the antibody.

Silanization of NTS enables formation of a stable covalent bond between the cross linker and the silicon surface, which in turn binds the antibody to the surface (Bhatia *et al.*, 1989). When the NTS surface is not silanized, antibodies are not covalently bound to the surface. Physically entrapped antibodies in the non-silanized biosensor chip could easily get removed during any of the blocking and washing steps used in the optical detection method, thus explaining the lower light emission of the chip. As observed in the current study, other investigators have successfully employed silanization for immobilization of biological molecules on silica (Bhatia *et al.*, 1989) and SiO₂-TiO₂ optical wave-guide (Trummer *et al.*, 2001) surfaces.

Functionalization of the NTS into an immuno-biosensor was achieved using silanization and immobilization of antibodies as confirmed by the chemiluminescencebased optical detection method. Comparison of light emission from silanized and nonsilanized biosensor chips proved silanization to be an essential step in the functionalization of the biosensor. Light emission of the NTS biosensor chip was not significantly higher than that of the planar Si chip, indicating limited advantage of NTS as an immuno-biosensor platform when used for bacterial detection. Application of the NTS biosensor to virus and antibody detection is yet to be investigated.

5.3.4 <u>Functionalization of the Nano-Tubular Si Platform with Salmonella DNA</u> <u>Probes into a Nucleic Acid-Based Biosensor</u>

5.3.4.1 Polymerase chain reaction

A clinical strain of *Salmonella* Enteritidis (strain S-64, MDCH collection) was used as the target for development of the nucleic acid-based biosensor. The chosen PCR primers and the DNA capture probe were from the insertion (*iel*) gene of *Salmonella* Enteritidis with a very high degree of specificity for *Salmonella* species (E value of 2.0 x 10^{-5} for *Salmonella* versus 5.1 for the closest non *Salmonella* target with the capture probe). PCR was successfully performed with overnight cultures of *S*. Enteritidis grown in TSBYE as confirmed by gel electrophoresis (Figure 5-20).

The PCR amplified DNA product should be 505 bp long (positions 542 to 1047 of the *iel* gene of *Salmonella* Enteritidis). Figure 5-20 shows that the PCR product (Lanes S1 and S2) corresponds to the 500 bp DNA band of the marker (Lane M), confirming the



Figure 5-20. Gel electrophoresis of PCR-amplified Salmonella: S1 and S2 - 5 µl culture used for PCR. Key: M – Marker, C – negative control, S – Salmonella

length of the PCR product. Following PCR and gel electrophoresis confirmation, the concentration and purity of DNA in the PCR amplified (pooled) sample were determined using spectrophotometer measurements. The DNA concentration in the PCR amplified (S1 and S2 pooled together) sample was 132.61 μ g/ml with an A_{260/280} ratio of 1.99, indicative of the high quality of the PCR DNA product.

5.3.4.2 AFM characterization of nano-tubular Si DNA biosensor

The NTS platform was functionalized into a DNA-based biosensor by immobilizing the DNA capture probe specific to S. Entertitidis. The above PCR amplified DNA product was diluted appropriately to obtain a 1 ng/µl solution of DNA and allowed to hybridize to the capture probe immobilized on the NTS DNA biosensor. The process of functionalization and target DNA hybridization was confirmed using atomic force microscopy (AFM) images. Figures 5-21 to 5-23 show the surface profiles of NTS DNA
biosensor chips prior to DNA probe immobilization, after DNA probe immobilization, and following target DNA hybridization at the nanometer scale. The profile of the NTS surface prior to DNA probe immobilization (immediately after silanization) confirmed the SEM image characterization of NTS with pores distributed evenly throughout the surface (Figure 5-21). After probe immobilization, a small change in the surface profile was observed, with some surface leveling and deposition of matter in the pores and interpore spaces occurring on the chip surface (Figure 5-22). Following target DNA hybridization on the NTS biosensor chip (and after washing steps and drying under nitrogen gas stream), AFM showed that the surface profile changed drastically with smoothening of the surface observed at the nanometer scale, indicating extensive deposition of matter in the pores as well as on the inter-pore spaces (Figure 5-23). This is hypothesized to be from the hybridization of DNA target to the biosensor chip surface, as care was taken to prevent non-specific binding of organic matter to the biosensor surface through use of surface blocking agents (bovine serum albumin), washing steps, and a high degree of hybridization specificity by maintaining the hybridization temperature at 59°C (melting point of capture probe was 60°C) with a standard hybridization buffer.

5.3.4.3 Electrochemical detection of DNA using nano-tubular Si biosensor

A cyclic voltammogram (CV) is a valuable and convenient tool to monitor the barrier of the modified electrode because electron transfer between the solution species and the electrode must occur by tunneling either through the barrier or through the defects in the barrier. When an electrode surface is modified by some materials, the electron-transfer kinetics of $Fe(CN)^{-4}_{6}$ is perturbed, in turn affecting the output current. Therefore, cyclic voltammetry was chosen as a method to investigate the changes











Figure 5-23. AFM image of NTS-based DNA biosensor chip after target DNA hybridization.

in electrochemical behavior of the system after each step, from silanization to DNA target hybridization.

Figure 5-24 illustrates the CV obtained with the NTS biosensor chip using 5 mM potassium ferrocyanide as the redox couple marker in 1 M potassium nitrate after different processing steps. Unlike the typical CV (Section 2.4.4 above, Figure 2-5 on page 54), the CV obtained with the NTS biosensor did not have a characteristic cathodic (I_{pc}) or anodic peak current (I_{pa}), thus showing signs of irreversibility of reactions. The current went to a steady-state maximum on the cathodic side and was not peak-shaped (Figure 5-24).

When the rate of electron transfer is sufficiently slow so that the potential no longer reflects the equilibrium activity of the redox couple ($Fe(CN)_{6}^{3-} + e^{-} \leftrightarrow Fe(CN)_{6}^{4-}$) at the working electrode surface, the reaction is considered irreversible. In such a case, the potentials corresponding to the cathodic and anodic current peaks (E_p) would change as a function of the scan rate. This steady-state current could be explained by envisioning the working electrode (NTS biosensor) placed at the bottom of the 3-electrode electrochemical cell (Chapter 4, Figure 4-7 on page 111) as a "dot", with the diffusion boundary layer being hemispherical in shape extending up into the solution. The amount of ferrocene diffusing to the working electrode surface would be defined by the volume enclosed by the hemisphere, which is much smaller than a plane projecting into the solution as in the case of a planar electrode immersed completely into the electrochemical cell (Wang, 2000). The atypical CV response could thus be explained by the limited area available for the diffusion layer at the bottom of the cell for electron transfer combined with the use of silicon as the working electrode (lower conductivity) instead of platinum





that is used to generate typical CV curves. Irreversibility of the reaction could also be observed from the CV profiles for the two consecutive cycles (Lines 2 and 3 in Figure 5-24). There was a consistent reduction (decay) in the current output on the anodic side from cycle 1 to cycle 2 for each set of hybridization conditions at various DNA concentrations (data shown in Sections 4 and 5). Running more than two CV cycles reduced the current output even further (data not shown).

Without any DNA deposited on the NTS surface, the resistance or barrier offered to the flow of electrons was the least, resulting in a CV with a high current output (Line 1 in Figure 5-24). After immobilization of the single-stranded DNA capture probe, the current drastically decreased on the anodic side (Line 4 in Figure 5-24). After hybridization of the DNA target (1 ng/ μ I), the obtained CV showed relatively higher current values on the anodic side (Lines 2 and 3 in Figure 5-24) when compared to the chip with the immobilized DNA probe only.

Immobilization of the single-stranded DNA would form an insulating diffusion barrier on the working electrode surface, hindering electron transfer through the working electrode. This insulating phenomenon was similar to that observed in previous studies that employed physical parameters (besides the conductivity of the working electrode or reporting molecules employed) for direct label-free electrochemical detection of specific DNA sequences. For example, Souteyrand *et al.* (1997) used a probe-coated field-effect silicon device for in situ impedance measurements of DNA sequences. The device displayed well-defined shifts of the impedance curves, corresponding to changes in surface charge induced by base-pair recognition. Similarly, Berggren *et al.* (1999) demonstrated a positive change in the capacitance of a thiolated (insulating) oligonucleotide modified gold electrode caused by hybridization of the complementary DNA strand (and the corresponding displacement of solvent molecules from the surface). An even greater insulating property of a single-stranded DNA monolayer on the gold electrode was observed in a previous study by the same authors (Berggren and Johansson, 1997).

The intrinsic electroactivity of DNA (Palecek, 1996) restores the anodic current upon hybridization of the target DNA. Of the four nucleobases, guanine and adenine are readily oxidized. The decreased guanine and adenine response of the immobilized oligonucleotide probe restored upon hybridization of the complementary strand has been used for detecting RNA hybridization (Wang *et al.*, 1995). Other studies have also demonstrated a similar increase in signal with hybridization of the target DNA strand with and without reporting molecules such as Hoechst 33258 or $[Ru(bpy)_3]^{3+}$ (Wang, 1999; Kobayashi *et al.*, 2004; Lee *et al.*, 2004; Li and Hu, 2004).

5.3.4.4 Statistical analysis of CV data

As a typical CV curve with anodic and cathodic peak currents could not be obtained with the NTS biosensor chip, the usual statistical method of peak analysis could not be employed to determine significant differences between mean current outputs before and after target DNA hybridization. The alternate procedures described in Chapter 4:Section 4.4.4 were employed to determine the performance of the NTS and planar Si biosensor chips in terms of sensitivity and specificity. These are described in greater detail in the results and discussion for Objectives 4 and 5.

5.4 **OBJECTIVE 4**

Determination of sensitivity of the nano-tubular silicon DNA biosensor in pure culture.

5.4.1 Sensitivity of the Biosensor using PCR amplified DNA

PCR-amplified Salmonella DNA from Objective 3 (Section 5.3.4.1 above) was serially diluted so that the final concentration ranged from $10^{-9} \mu g/\mu l$ to $10^{-15} \mu g/\mu l$. Following NTS and planar Si DNA biosensor functionalization and pre-hybridization cyclic voltammetry measurements, each of these DNA concentrations was tested with the two Si-based biosensors.

The specific DNA concentration to be tested with the biosensor was diluted to a total volume of 5 ml using the DNA hybridization buffer and then heated to 59°C. The chips to be tested were then placed in the hybridization buffer solution containing the target DNA and allowed to hybridize for 45 min. Preliminary testing with a hybridization time of 60 min versus 45 min showed no added advantage in terms of signal output. Thus, a hybridization time of 45 min was chosen for all experiments giving a total assay time of 60 min (45 min for hybridization and 15 min for the cyclic voltammetry testing procedure). After hybridization, the NTS and planar Si chips were subjected to cyclic voltammetry for the final time.

5.4.1.1 Cyclic voltammograms

Figure 5-25 shows the CV curves for the NTS biosensor chips tested for different PCR-amplified *Salmonella* DNA concentrations with the mean current values plotted against the corresponding applied potential. For the sake of clarity of the cyclic voltammograms (CVs) in Figure 5-25, the standard errors of the curves are not shown.



Figure 5-25. Cyclic voltammograms for serially diluted PCR-amplified *Salmonella* Enteritidis DNA obtained with NTS-based DNA biosensor (sensitivity testing).

Moreover, for ease of comparison, the CVs for 1 ng/ μ l biosensor chips obtained prior to DNA immobilization (Line 1 – No DNA) and after DNA probe immobilization (Line 9 – DNA probe) are the only ones included along with the CVs for each DNA concentration after the target DNA hybridization. The CVs obtained for pure culture DNA with NTS as well as those for PCR-amplified and pure culture DNA with planar Si will follow the same pattern when presented in the following sections.

The anodic current for the CV before DNA probe immobilization (Line 1) was the highest of all the samples tested with the NTS biosensor platform. The output current cycled between 10 μ A on the cathodic side to about -4 mA on the anodic side. The CV for the NTS biosensor chip after DNA probe immobilization (Line 9) was significantly lower (as determined statistically later in Section 5.4.1.2) than the CV prior to probe immobilization with the current output cycling from 1 μ A to -1 μ A. After the target DNA hybridization, anodic current increased again as observed previously (Section 5.3.4.3). The extent of change in the anodic current from that of the DNA probe chip was related to the amount of target DNA getting hybridized to the biosensor chip, with the highest change in anodic current observed for 1 ng/µl DNA concentration and the lowest change observed for 0.01 pg/µl and 1 fg/µl (Note: Purified DNA yield from an overnight *Salmonella* Enteritidis culture was 10 ng/µl).

When planar Si biosensor chips were tested with different PCR-amplified *Salmonella* DNA concentrations, the anodic current for the CV before DNA probe immobilization (Line 1 – No DNA) was two orders of magnitude lower than that obtained with NTS biosensor chip (Figure 5-26). The output current cycled between 1 μ A on the cathodic side to about -10 μ A on the anodic side. The CV for the planar Si



Figure 5-26. Cyclic voltammograms for serially diluted PCR-amplified Salmonella Enteritidis DNA obtained with planar Sibased DNA biosensor chip (sensitivity testing).

169

biosensor chip after DNA probe immobilization (Line 9) and that after the target DNA hybridization were all in the same range, with the current output cycling from about 4 μ A to -22 μ A. In contrast to the CVs obtained for the NTS biosensor chips, no specific patterns of interest could be observed for the planar Si chips. Based Figure 5-25 on and Figure 5-26, there appears to be a significant difference in the performance of the sensor chips (to be confirmed by statistical analysis). The significantly higher surface area with NTS biosensor chips compared to planar Si chips would provide greater area for the DNA hybridization and subsequent electrochemical reaction kinetics to take place, thus explaining the observed difference in performance trends.

5.4.1.2 Data analysis

5.4.1.2.1 Modeling and curve smoothening

The data analysis approach used in this research objective was to use the maximum amount of information available from the CVs (versus usual peak analysis). Non-linear modeling could use all or most of the data points generated by the cyclic voltammetry. However, the atypical CVs obtained with NTS and planar Si biosensor chips made it difficult to fit one common model to the data collected under different experimental conditions. Therefore, a generalized additive model was used to model the current as a function of voltage. This model would provide a basis for comparison of the different curves (Blank – no DNA, Before – before DNA target hybridization, and After – after DNA target hybridization) for each experimental condition. However, modeling based on curve smoothening could not be used as concrete statistical evidence of significant mean differences due to the general assumptions underlying the smoothening *SPLINE* process in SAS[®]. Splines are curves, which are usually required to be continuous and smooth,

defined as piecewise polynomials of degree n with function values and first n-1derivatives that agree at the points where they join. The abscissa values of the join points are called knots. Splines with no knots are generally smoother than splines with knots, Splines with few knots are generally smoother than splines with many knots; however, knots give the curve freedom to bend to more closely follow the data (SAS Online Doc, 2000). While splines provide a very close fit to all the data points, the model has vastly different polynomial functions for different experimental conditions, and thus a direct comparison is not feasible. Figure 5-27 and Figure 5-28 show a sample of the smoothened curves obtained from SAS using the SPLINE model for 1 ng/ μ l and 0.01 ng/µl of PCR-amplified DNA with the NTS biosensor chip. While the SPLINE model was helpful in smoothening the CV curves with a very high variability (especially planar Si chips) from replicate to replicate, it also reduced the variability of the data. Hence, the 95% confidence interval determined by the SPLINE model was calculated based on the smoothened curve data values (with very low sample variance), leading to the narrow bands for the confidence interval. These smoothened 95% bands could not be used to determine the probability of two curves being significantly different from each other, and thus were not used hereafter to compare the CV curves.

5.4.1.2.2 Analysis of Delta Q values

Of the three possible data analysis approaches that were considered, analysis of Delta Q values was the best methodology. Delta Q is the integral of current across the selected set of points with respect to time. Thus, ΔQ takes into account all the data points in the curve in order to generate one representative cumulative charge value for each CV curve. This methodology was better than the peak analysis procedure because it considered all







Figure 5-28. Spline curve for PCR-amplified Salmonella Entertitidis DNA with nano-tubular Si biosensor at 0.1 ng/µl concentration level. Key: 1 – No DNA. 2 – After DNA Hybridization, and 3 – Before DNA Hybridization.

the points in the curve as opposed to a single peak point (anodic and/or cathodic current). Moreover, when calculating the integral charge value, the time factor was also used along with the voltage, incorporating any effects of the time factor into the model automatically. Unlike the SPLINE curve smoothening procedure, calculation of the Delta Q did not affect the original curve data values, thus providing a measure that could easily be used for comparison under different experimental conditions.

Table 5-3 and Table 5-4 provide ΔQ values for PCR-amplified *S*. Enteritidis DNA from cycle 1 and cycle 2, respectively, of the CVs obtained for various DNA concentrations using the NTS biosensor chip. Delta Q values for cycles 1 and 2 were analyzed separately because of the seemingly significant differences observed in the current output for the two cycles (due to irreversibility of the redox couple reaction). Results of ANOVA performed on the ΔQ values are shown in the tables. The standard errors provided in the Tables are common to each experimental group. One of the assumptions of ANOVA was homogeneity of variances, i.e., it assumed that the three hybridization treatments (blank, before and after) have the same variance and by doing so, it increased the power of the analysis. The overall variance was obtained from the residuals of all treatments, and consequently, had more degrees of freedom than any individual variance.

In both cycles, the ΔQ values for CVs corresponding to those 'After' DNA target hybridization decreased in magnitude with a decrease in DNA concentration. For example, for cycle 1, the mean ΔQ values for CVs corresponding to 1 ng, 0.1 ng and 0.01 ng were -45.767±3.72, -14.467±2.33, and -12.633±1.79 mC, respectively. This trend was observed in Cycle 2 as well. Delta Q values corresponding to CVs 'Before' DNA hybridization remained fairly steady at -18 to -57 μ C irrespective of the concentration of

174

-	DNA Hybridization Condition		
Concentration	Blank, ΔQ (mC)	Before, ΔQ (mC)	After, ΔQ (mC)
1 ng	-173.333±3.72°	-0.231±3.72 ^a	-45.767±3.72 ^b
0.1 ng	-60.767±2.33°	-0.306±2.33ª	-14.467±2.33 ^b
0.01 ng	-29.867±1.79 [°]	-0.237±1.79 ^a	-12.633±1.79 ^b
1 pg	-77.167±19.25 ^a	-0.183±19.25 ^ª	-7.773±19.25 ^a
0.1 pg	-23.600±2.73 ^b	-0.576±2.73ª	-5.933±2.73ª
0.01 pg	-48.400±5.40 ^b	-0.571±5.40 ^a	-0.076±5.40 ^a
1 fg	-15.867±1.22 ^b	-0.461±1.22 ^a	-0.030±1.22 ^a

Table 5-3. Integral charge (ΔQ , milli coulombs) values for PCR-amplified S. Enteritidis DNA with NTS biosensor at various concentrations using cycle 1 of cyclic voltammogram.

Different superscripts for means across the row indicate significantly different charge values (p < 0.05).

Table 5-4. Integral charge (ΔQ , milli coulombs) values for PCR-amplified S. Enteritidis DNA with NTS biosensor at various concentrations using cycle 2 of cyclic voltammogram.

	DNA	A Hybridization Cond	ition
Concentration	Blank, ΔQ (mC)	Before, ΔQ (mC)	After, $\Delta Q (mC)$
1 ng	-148.000±2.70 ^c	-0.202±2.70 ^a	-39.667±2.70 ^b
0.1 ng	-56.833±1.24 ^c	-0.249±1.24ª	-13.733±1.24 ^b
0.01 ng	-25.000±2.49 ^b	-0.174±2.49 ^a	-9.797±2.49 ^a
l pg	-51.100±1.15 ^c	-0.153±1.15ª	-6.267±1.15 ^b
0.1 pg	-24.133±1.94 ^b	-0.210±1.94ª	-4.770±1.94ª
0.01 pg	-49.000±6.17 ^b	-0.349±6.17ª	-0.066±6.17ª
l fg	-14.267±1.55 ^b	-0.192±1.55 ^a	-0.040±1.55ª

Different superscripts for means across the row indicate significantly different charge values (p < 0.05).

target DNA hybridized later (Table 5-3). 'Blank' ΔQ values prior to DNA immobilization on the NTS biosensor chips varied the most from about -16 to -173 mC for various DNA concentrations. However, this variation did not affect the biosensor performance as the focus of the assay was the mean difference between ΔQ values for the 'Before' and the 'After' target DNA hybridization steps. The NTS biosensor chips could detect PCRamplified *S*. Entertitidis DNA in the dynamic detection range of 1 ng to 10 pg with cycle 1, and 1 ng to 1 pg with cycle 2. Thus, the lower limit of detection (sensitivity) for NTS biosensor chips with PCR-amplified *Salmonella* DNA was between 1 pg and 10 pg. This difference in the dynamic range of detection and sensitivity could be due to the larger variation in ΔQ values observed during cycle 1 as compared to cycle 2 under all experimental conditions investigated. The sensitivity for NTS was similar to that established in previous studies using modified gold surfaces as the biosensor platform in combination with various reporting molecules (Wang *et al.*, 1996; Li and Hu, 2004; Fu *et al.*, 2005).

Sensitivity analysis of the planar Si showed that the biosensor chip was unable to successfully detect the PCR-amplified DNA target even at 1 ng level (

Table 5-5). With both the cycles, there was no significant difference between the "Before" and "After" hybridization steps (Table 5-6) at any DNA concentration level. The low current CV outputs for planar Si biosensor chips (resulting from significantly lower surface area available for the electrochemical reaction) makes planar Si more susceptible to variations in the data from replicate to replicate (biological or technical).

176

Table 5-5. Integral charge (ΔQ , milli coulombs) values for PCR-amplified S. Enteritidis DNA with planar Si biosensor at various concentrations using cycle 1 of cyclic voltammogram.

-	DNA	A Hybridization Cond	ition
Concentration	Blank, $\Delta Q (mC)$	Before, ΔQ (mC)	After, $\Delta Q (mC)$
l ng	-0.197±0.13ª	0.132±0.13 ^a	-0.014±0.13 ^a
0.1 ng	-0.167±0.11 ^a	-0.037±0.11ª	-0.027±0.11 ^a
0.01 ng	0.094 ± 0.10^{a}	0.090±0.10 ^a	-0.021±0.10 ^a
1 pg	0.038±0.11 ^a	0.022±0.11 ^a	0.069±0.11 ^a

Different superscripts for means across the row indicate significantly different charge values (p < 0.05).

Table 5-6. Integral charge (ΔQ , milli coulombs) values for PCR-amplified S. Enteritidis DNA with planar Si biosensor at various concentrations using cycle 2 of cyclic voltammogram.

-	DNA	ition	
Concentration	Blank, ΔQ (mC)	Before, ΔQ (mC)	After, ΔQ (mC)
l ng	-0.041±0.12 ^a	0.174±0.12 ^a	-0.018±0.12 ^a
0.1 ng	-0.005±0.08 ^a	0.056 ± 0.08^{a}	0.011 ± 0.08^{a}
0.01 ng	0.012±0.05 ^a	0.051±0.05 ^a	-0.003±0.05ª
l pg	0.034±0.08 ^a	0.079±0.08 ^a	$0.004{\pm}0.08^{a}$

Different superscripts for means across the row indicate significantly different charge values (p < 0.05).

5.4.2 Sensitivity of the Biosensor Using DNA from Pure Culture

The DNA concentration in the overnight *Salmonella* pure culture was 113.85 μ g/ml with an A_{260/280} ratio of 2.34, indicative of very high quality DNA. This stock solution was appropriately diluted for sensitivity testing with NTS and planar Si biosensors.

5.4.2.1 Cyclic voltammograms

Figure 5-29 and Figure 5-30 show the CV curves for the NTS biosensor and planar Si chips, respectively, tested with different pure culture (extracted) *Salmonella* DNA concentrations obtained by plotting mean current values against the corresponding applied potential. As with CVs for PCR-amplified DNA, standard errors for the curves are not shown. The CVs obtained for pure culture DNA with NTS as well as with planar Si followed the same pattern as observed with CV output for PCR-amplified DNA.

The anodic current for the CV before DNA probe immobilization (Line 1) was the highest of all the samples tested with the NTS biosensor platform. The output current cycled between 10 μ A on the cathodic side to about -1 mA (slightly lower than that for PCR-amplified DNA) on the anodic side. The CV for the NTS biosensor chip after DNA probe immobilization (Line 9) was significantly lower (as determined statistically through delta Q analysis in Section 4.2.2) than the CV prior to probe immobilization with the current output cycling from 1 μ A to -1μ A. After the target DNA hybridization, anodic current increased again as observed previously, with the increase in magnitude of the anodic current being the highest for 0.01 ng/ μ l DNA. The other three concentrations also showed a change over the anodic current from the CV for the DNA probe.

When planar Si biosensor chips were tested, the anodic current for the CV before DNA probe immobilization (Line 1 – No DNA) was again lower than that obtained with NTS biosensor chip (Figure 5-30). The output current cycled between 25 μ A on the cathodic side to about -20 μ A on the anodic side. The CV for the planar Si biosensor chip after DNA probe immobilization (Line 9) and that after the target DNA hybridization were all in the same range. Based on Figure 5-29 and Figure 5-30, there appears to be a



Figure 5-29. Cyclic voltammograms for serially diluted (extracted) pure culture Salmonella Enteritidis DNA obtained with NTS-based DNA biosensor chip (sensitivity testing).





significant difference in the performance of the sensor chips (also to be confirmed by statistical analysis using interactive effects contrast for platform).

5.4.2.2 Analysis of Delta Q values

Delta Q values for CVs of pure culture S. Enteritidis DNA (cycle 1 and cycle 2, respectively) at various DNA concentrations using the NTS biosensor chip are presented in Table 5-7 and Table 5-8. Delta Q values for cycles 1 and 2 were analyzed separately as before. Results of ANOVA performed on the Δ Q values are shown in the tables. 'Blank' Δ Q values prior to DNA immobilization on the NTS biosensor chips varied more in cycle 1 than cycle 2 (Table 5-7 and Table 5-8). In both cycles, the Δ Q values for CVs corresponding to those 'After' DNA target hybridization increased in magnitude compared to that 'Before' target hybridization. For example, for cycle 1, the mean Δ Q values for CVs corresponding to 1 ng and 0.01 ng - 'Before' were -0.028 ± 0.81, and 0.008 ± 4.63 mC, while 'After' Were -75.700 ± 0.81, and -26.633 ± 4.63 mC, respectively. This trend was observed in Cycle 2 as well. The values of Δ Q corresponding to CVs 'Before' and 'After' DNA hybridization varied more than that of PCR-amplified DNA (Table 5-7).

The NTS biosensor chips could detect extracted pure culture *S*. Enteritidis DNA in the dynamic detection range of 1 ng to 0.01 ng for both cycles. Thus, the sensitivity for NTS biosensor chips with *Salmonella* DNA was 0.01 ng. This difference in the dynamic range of detection and sensitivity between PCR amplified and pure-culture DNA could be due to the non-uniform DNA product (in terms of strand length) hybridizing to the DNA probe immobilized on the surface. Since the presence of guanine and adenine moieties in double-stranded DNA increases the anodic current, possible hybridization of spatially

Table 5-7. Integral charge (ΔQ , milli coulombs) values for pure culture S. Enteritidis (extracted) DNA with NTS biosensor at various concentrations using cycle 1 of cyclic voltammogram.

	DNA	Hybridization Cond	ition
Concentration	Blank, ΔQ (mC)	Before, ΔQ (mC)	After, ΔQ (mC)
l ng	-30.633±0.81 ^b	-0.028±0.81 ^a	-75.700±0.81 ^c
0.1 ng	-66.733±0.66°	0.339±0.66 ^a	-10.113±0.66 ^b
0.01 ng	-29.500±4.63 ^b	0.008±4.63 ^a	-26.633±4.63 ^b
1 pg	-105.133±56.41 ^ª	-0.947±56.41ª	-25.877±56.41 ^a

Different superscripts for means across the row indicate significantly different charge values (p < 0.05).

Table 5-8. Integral charge (ΔQ , milli coulombs) values for pure culture S. Enteritidis (extracted) DNA with NTS biosensor at various concentrations using cycle 2 of cyclic voltammogram.

-	DNA Hybridization Condition		
Concentration	Blank, ΔQ (mC)	Before, ΔQ (mC)	After, ΔQ (mC)
1 ng	-45.133±0.99°	-0.030±0.99 ^a	-28.333±0.99 ^b
0.1 ng	-62.267±0.68 ^c	0.329±0.68 ^a	-9.630±0.68 ^b
0.01 ng	-24.333±4.16 ^b	0.019±4.16 ^a	-18.300±4.16 ^b
1 pg	-68.800±53.87ª	-0.918±53.87 ^a	-15.060±53.87 ^a

Different superscripts for means across the row indicate significantly different charge values (p < 0.05).

adjacent strands to each other (after hybridization of the small fragment of the *iel* gene to the capture probe) could lead to increased current output. Table 5-7 and Table 5-8 show no particular trend for the increase in ΔQ values for CVs corresponding to 'After' hybridization, possibly resulting from the random hybridization of *Salmonella* genomic

DNA to each other. The variability in ΔQ values is also much higher for pure culture *Salmonella* DNA as compared to PCR-amplified *Salmonella* DNA that are very uniform in size. Hence, the sensitivity for NTS with pure culture DNA was one order of magnitude lower than PCR-amplified DNA.

Sensitivity analysis of the planar Si showed that the biosensor chip was unable to successfully detect the pure culture DNA target even at 1 ng level (Table 5-9 and Table 5-10). With both the cycles, there was no significant difference between the "Before" and "After" hybridization steps (Table 5-9) at any DNA concentration level. However, a few instances were observed where the ΔQ values for 'Blank' were significantly different from that of 'After'. For example, ΔQ values for cycle 1 with 1 ng DNA concentration were -0.085±0.09, -0.088±0.09, and -0.414±0.09 mC, respectively, for 'Blank', 'Before' and 'After' states of DNA hybridization, wherein the 'Blank' was significantly different from the 'After' (p<0.05), but the mean difference between 'After' and 'Before' was non-significant (p>0.05). Again, the low current CV outputs for planar Si biosensor chips made planar Si more susceptible to variations in the data and unable to detect the DNA hybridization event at any of the levels tested.

5.4.2.3 Interactive effects of variables

Investigation of Single or Main effects using factorial ANOVA analyses provided some insight into possible interactive effects of variables on the output of the NTS and planar Si platforms. Four-way interaction of DNA hybridization event, DNA source, DNA concentration and the platform was shown to be highly significant (p<0.01).

Further investigation of the Single effect of platform showed NTS to have a highly significant effect on DNA hybridization (p<0.0001), as did the DNA source (PCR or

pure) (p<0.05). No interactive effects between DNA source and platform were found to be significant (p=0.70). Complete SAS data analysis output is provided in the Appendix C: Section C.2.

Table 5-9. Integral charge (ΔQ , milli coulombs) values for pure culture S. Enteritidis (extracted) DNA with planar Si biosensor at various concentrations using cycle 1 of cyclic voltammogram.

-	DNA Hybri		ition
Concentration	Blank, ∆Q (mC)	Before, ΔQ (mC)	After, $\Delta Q (mC)$
l ng	0.085±0.09ª	-0.088±0.09 ^{ab}	-0.414±0.09 ^b
0.1 ng	-0.307±0.16 ^a	0.080±0.16 ^a	-0.330±0.16ª
0.01 ng	-0.298±0.12ª	-0.081±0.12 ^a	-0.212±0.12 ^a
l pg	-0.113±0.11 ^a	-0.117±0.11 ^a	-0.502±0.11 ^a

Different superscripts for means across the row indicate significantly different charge values (p < 0.05).

Table 5-10. Integral charge (ΔQ , milli coulombs) values for pure culture S. Enteritidis (extracted) DNA with planar Si biosensor at various concentrations using cycle 2 of cyclic voltammogram.

	DNA Hybridization Condition		
Concentration	Blank, ΔQ (mC)	Before, ΔQ (mC)	After, ΔQ (mC)
l ng	0.073±0.05 ^a	-0.083±0.05 ^{ba}	-0.236±0.05 ^b
0.1 ng	-0.131±0.08 ^a	-0.056±0.08 ^a	-0.377±0.08ª
0.01 ng	-0.057±0.03 ^a	-0.014±0.03 ^a	-0.095±0.03 ^a
l pg	0.017 ± 0.04^{a}	-0.034 ± 0.04^{ba}	-0.170±0.04 ^b

Different superscripts for means across the row indicate significantly different charge values (p < 0.05).

5.5 OBJECTIVE 5

Determination of specificity of the nano-tubular silicon biosensor using mixed bacterial cultures.

5.5.1 Specificity Testing

In order to determine the specificity of the biosensor, DNA from *Salmonella* cultures was mixed with that of related bacteria (*Escherichia coli*) and tested with the NTS *Salmonella* biosensor. Figure 5-31 shows the gel electrophoresis image of PCR amplified DNA from an overnight *S*. Enteritidis mixed 1:1 with generic *E. coli* culture, as well as non-specific bacterial cultures (only *E. coli*). In the lane EC, no DNA bands were observed. Hence, there was no PCR amplification of the *E. coli* genome, indicative of the specificity of the PCR primers used. The thickness of the PCR-amplified '*Salmonella-E. coli* mix' DNA bands increased with the amount of culture inoculum used for PCR (1-5 μ l). The DNA bands in lanes S1-S5 were observed parallel to the 500 bp band in marker lane (M).

For specificity testing, extracted genomic *E. coli* DNA as well as the mixture of *Salmonella* and *E. coli* DNA was allowed to hybridize with the NTS biosensor. The signal generated was compared statistically against negative and positive control samples of *Salmonella* Enteritidis DNA to determine the specificity of the biosensor.

5.5.2 Cyclic Voltammograms

Figure 5-32 shows the CV curves for the NTS biosensor chips tested with genomic *E. coli* DNA at 1 ng/ μ l and 1 pg/ μ l concentrations obtained by plotting mean current values against the corresponding applied potential. For comparison, the CVs for 1 ng/ μ l



Figure 5-31. Gel electrophoresis of PCR-amplified Salmonella and extracted E. coli DNA. S1 to S5 – 1 to 5 µl Salmonella-E. coli (1:1) culture mix used for PCR. Key: M - Marker, C. – negative control, S – Salmonella-E. coli; EC – E. coli

and 1 pg/µl of *Salmonella* are included along with the CVs for the two *E. coli* DNA concentrations. The anodic current for the CV before DNA probe immobilization (Line 1) was the highest of all the samples tested with the NTS biosensor platform. The CV for the NTS biosensor chip after DNA probe immobilization (Line 6) was significantly lower (as with all previous experiments) than the CV prior to probe immobilization. After the *E. coli* non-target DNA hybridization at both levels were tested (Lines 4 and 5), anodic current did not increase, as it did with *Salmonella* DNA previously (Section 5.4.1.2 above and Figure 5-32), because there was no hybridization of a complementary target to the NTS biosensor chip. However, when a 1:1 mixture of 1ng/µl solution of *Salmonella* and *E. coli* DNA was tested, an increase in the magnitude of the anodic current from that of



Figure 5-32. Comparison of cyclic voltammograms for Salmonella Enteritidis (target) DNA and E. coli (non-target) DNA obtained with NTS-based DNA biosensor chip (specificity testing).

the DNA probe chip was observed (Figure 5-33). Thus, even in the presence of non-target DNA, the NTS biosensor was able to hybridize with complementary DNA strands and detect the hybridization event successfully.

5.5.2.1 Analysis of Delta Q values

Delta Q values for CVs of pure culture *Escherichia coli* DNA as well as the *E. coli*-S. Enteritidis mixture (cycle 1 and cycle 2, respectively) at DNA concentrations tested using the NTS biosensor chip are presented in Table 5-11 and Table 5-12. The values of ΔQ for cycles 1 and 2 were analyzed separately as before. Results of ANOVA performed on the ΔQ values are shown in the tables. When the genomic *E. coli* DNA was tested (both 1 ng/µl and 1 pg/µl), there was no increase in the ΔQ values for CVs corresponding to those 'After' DNA target hybridization as compared to that 'Before' target hybridization. For the Salmonella-E. coli DNA, in both cycles, the ΔQ values for CVs corresponding to those 'After' DNA target hybridization increased in magnitude compared to that 'Before' target hybridization. For example, for cycle 1, the mean ΔQ values for CVs were -0.456±1.25 mC 'Before' hybridization, and -43.467±1.25 mC 'After', respectively (p<0.05). This similar trend was observed in Cycle 2 as well. This change in ΔQ values for Salmonella-E. coli DNA in Cycle 1 and Cycle 2 was similar to that observed earlier with PCR-amplified (Section 5.4.1) and purified (Section 5.4.2) Salmonella DNA.

The NTS biosensor chips could detect extracted pure culture S. Enteritidis DNA even in the presence of non-target E. coli DNA at an equally high concentration in the sample. The biosensor was also highly specific to the target, both with the PCR amplification as well as biosensor detection.





Table 5-11. Integral charge (ΔQ , milli coulombs) values for *E. coli*, and *S.* Enteritidis-*E. coli* mixture (extracted) DNA with NTS biosensor using cycle 1 of cyclic voltammogram.

	DNA	A Hybridization Cond	ition
Concentration	Blank, ΔQ (mC)	Before, ΔQ (mC)	After, ΔQ (mC)
<i>E. coli</i> 1 ng	-102.667±13.92 ^b	-0.261±13.92 ^a	-0.083±13.92ª
<i>E. coli</i> 1 pg	-76.433±13.94 ^b	-0.048±13.94 ^a	-0.046±13.94ª
EC/SE mix 1 ng	-52.800±1.25 ^c	-0.456±1.25ª	-43.467±1.25 ^b

Different superscripts for means across the row indicate significantly different charge values (p < 0.05).

Table 5-12. Integral charge (ΔQ , milli coulombs) values for *E. coli*, and *S.* Enteritidis-*E. coli* mixture (extracted) DNA with NTS biosensor using cycle 2 of cyclic voltammogram.

	DNA Hybridization Condition		
Concentration	Blank, ΔQ (mC)	Before, ΔQ (mC)	After, ΔQ (mC)
<i>E. coli</i> 1 ng	-93.567±14.36 ^b	-0.240±14.36 ^a	-0.076±14.36 ^a
<i>E. coli</i> 1 pg	-49.833±8.00 ^b	-0.038±8.00 ^a	-0.048±8.00 ^a
EC/SE mix 1 ng	-35.600±1.74 ^c	-0.181±1.74 ^a	-23.733±1.74 ^b

Different superscripts for means across the row indicate significantly different charge values (p < 0.05).

Thus, the NTS biosensor could potentially be used with environmental samples that normally have a high load of background DNA, protein, and other organic matter that could interfere with the biosensor performance. However, this would require fabrication of the NTS sensor platform with highly consistent pore characteristics (diameter and thickness). Current results of the DNA-based NTS biosensor show high degree of variability in performance. These differences could be caused by variability in chip characteristics, source of DNA, and sample matrix being tested. For example, ΔQ values obtained with 1 ng of PCR-amplified and purified (extracted) *Salmonella* DNA (Objective 4) as well as that for 1 ng of *Salmonella-E. coli* DNA (Objective 5) were significantly different from each other (Table 5-13 and Table 5-14). The high variability in output data is a barrier that will need to be overcome for successful development of a commercial DNA-based NTS biosensor.

Table 5-13. Integral charge (ΔQ , milli coulombs) values for S. Enteritidis DNA from different sources with NTS biosensor (Cycle 1).

	DNA Hybridization Condition		
DNA Source	Blank, ΔQ (mC)	Before, $\Delta Q (mC)$	After, $\Delta Q (mC)$
PCR 1 ng	-173.333±3.72 ^e	-0.231±3.72 ^a	-45.767±3.72°
Extracted 1 ng	-30.633±0.81 ^b	-0.028±0.81 ^a	-75.700±0.81 ^d
EC/SE mix 1 ng	-52.800±1.25 ^{cd}	-0.456±1.25 ^a	-43.467±1.25°

Different superscripts for means indicate significantly different charge values (p < 0.05).

Table 5-14. Integral charge (ΔQ , milli coulombs) values for S. Enteritidis DNA from different sources with NTS biosensor (Cycle 2).

Blank, ΔO (mC)		
, ((=====)	Before, $\Delta Q (mC)$	After, $\Delta Q (mC)$
-148.000±2.70°	-0.202±2.70 ^a	-39.667±2.70 ^b
-45.133±0.99°	-0.030±0.99 ^a	-28.333±0.99 ^b
-35.600±1.74°	-0.181±1.74 ^a	-23.733±1.74 ^b
_	-148.000±2.70 ^c -45.133±0.99 ^c -35.600±1.74 ^c	-148.000 ± 2.70^{c} -0.202 ± 2.70^{a} -45.133 ± 0.99^{c} -0.030 ± 0.99^{a} -35.600 ± 1.74^{c} -0.181 ± 1.74^{a}

Different superscripts for means indicate significantly different charge values (p < 0.05).

CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION

A versatile silicon-based biosensor platform for pathogen detection was fabricated. Silicon (0.010hm-cm, p-type) was etched in an electrochemical cell containing hydrofluoric acid solution using anodizing conditions of 5 mA/cm² for 1 h to fabricate NTS. NTS chips were functionalized into a biosensor using biological sensing elements such as enzymes, antibodies, and DNA probes. A chemiluminescence-based enzyme assay that could detect 10^3 CFU was adapted to the biosensor system for detection of E. *coli* with a lower detection limit (sensitivity) of 10^2 CFU within 60 min. The NTS-based platform was also functionalized into an immuno-biosensor to successfully detect a pure culture of Salmonella Typhimurium within 10 min. Finally, a DNA-based NTS biosensor was developed using an electrochemical transducer for detection of Salmonella Enteritidis. The NTS DNA biosensor was able to detect S. Enteritidis DNA with a lower limit of detection of 1 pg/µl for PCR-amplified DNA and 10 pg/µl for pure cultureextracted DNA. The electrochemical detection process was completed within 60 min. In comparison, the planar Si DNA biosensor could not detect S. Enteritidis at 1 ng/ μ l level or lower tested. Hence, the NTS biosensor had better performance in terms of lower limit of detection for the target with both, the enzyme assay as well as the DNA-based detection assay. The versatility of the NTS platform for pathogen detection was successfully demonstrated using three different biological sensing elements and two detection methods.

CHAPTER 7: FUTURE RESEARCH

Future research activities should focus on:

- 1. Fabricating NTS platform with highly consistent pore characteristics.
- 2. Developing the NTS immunobiosensor for detection of viral particles in food samples, and antibodies or other small biological molecules of importance (for example, food allergens).
- 3. Investigating the mechanisms responsible for the intrinsic electrochemical properties of DNA that can be exploited in biosensing applications to improve lower limits of DNA-based detection.
- 4. Developing the NTS DNA biosensor at the nano-level to increase the sensitivity while exploiting the intrinsic electrochemical properties of DNA as was demonstrated in the current research at a macro level.
- Developing enzyme-based assays for detection of pathogens other than *E. coli* O157:H7 and *E. coli*/coliforms by identifying unique markers for targets of interest.
- 6. Developing a multi-array biosensor device with multiple biological sensing elements and transduction mechanisms to fabricate a self-validating detection device.
- Wireless transmission of data for the field ready biosensors for centralized data collection/analysis with potential application in areas like epidemiology or on-site testing.
APPENDICES

APPENDIX A: PROCEDURES

A.1 FRESH PRODUCE TESTING

Samples of lettuce (Romaine, Boston, green leaf, red leaf), sprouts (clover, alfalfa, bean, broccoli), green onions, parsley, spinach, tomatoes (cherry and grape), shredded carrots, cabbage, salads (spring mix, coleslaw, herb, garden), strawberries, raspberries, blackberries, cantaloupes, and apple cider were obtained from various local grocery shops that included three supermarkets, organic food stores and farmer's market. The produce samples were used for the assay without any treatment, such as washing, that would alter the natural microflora. All samples were processed as shown in Figure A-1.



Figure A-1. Experimental design for processing of produce samples

Eleven ml of apple cider was transferred into sterile test tubes, inoculated with 0.1 ml of serially diluted *E. coli* O157:H7 culture and used for the assay. Produce samples were weighed (11 gm each or whole fruit), placed in sterile 4 oz Whirl-Pak bags and followed by addition of serially diluted *E. coli* O157:H7 cultures (to differentiate from

natural E. coli contamination) at different contamination levels $(10^2-10^6$ colony forming units/g [CFU/g] of produce). Uninoculated produce samples from the same package were used as the control (or blank) to determine the natural E. coli contamination levels. The samples were stored for 45 min-1 h to permit attachment of the bacterial cells on the produce surface. Based on the sample size, 0.1 % peptone solution was added to obtain a 1:10 dilution. Strawberry samples were rubbed gently on the surface, whereas all other samples were pummeled in Stomacher[®] 80 (Seward Ltd., London, UK) at 30 rpm, to extract bacteria from the produce surface into the peptone. A tenth of the total sample volume was removed from the Whirl-Pak bag and used for the assay as described by Mathew and Alocilia (2002). For the uninoculated samples, a tenth of the total volume was removed separately into a test tube, heated in a boiling water bath for 10 min, cooled and used for the assay. The heating killed E. coli present in the sample and denatured any β-galactosidase enzyme produced by them. The difference in light emission, measured using the Femtomaster luminometer, between the heated and uninoculated control was used to determine the level of natural contamination from β -galactosidase producing organisms. Sensitivity of the assay was determined by comparing the light emission data collected at the third 10-min interval (established as ideal based on prior results) with E. coli and E. coli O157:H7 counts obtained from SMAC plates for all samples. All trials were done in triplicate.

A.2 S-4700II SCANNING ELECTRON MICROSCOPE OPERATION

<u>Startup</u>

Make sure that the vacuum is OK and the vacuum gauge readings are normal - IP1: 1×10^{-8} , IP2: 1×10^{-7} , IP3: 1×10^{-6} , Pe (S.C.): L - 1×10^{-3}

Loading the sample

Prior to loading the sample, ensure that the HV (high voltage) is OFF, SEM stage lock is released (gray), the stage is at home position (green) by clicking on the GOTO HOME button on Stage Control window, VALVE/GUN (gun isolation valve) is at the CLOSE position, and CHAMBER switch is at the S.E.C. (sample exchange chamber) position. Mount a sample on the sample holder. Use the height gauge to set the proper height of the sample for correct WD reading. Press the AIR button to vent the S.E.C. Once the S.E.C. is opened, mount the sample holder on to the exchange rod. Do not over tighten the sample holder. Close and hold the S.E.C. by hand, then press the EVAC button to pump down the S.E.C. When the green HIGH lamp of the S.E.C. VACUUM is on, and the yellow VALVE/EXCHANGE OPEN light flashes, the sample is ready for transfer into the sample chamber (S.C.). Open the S.E.C. isolation valve (MV1) and transfer the sample mounting process. Withdraw the sample exchange rod and close the S.E.C. isolation valve.

Viewing the sample

When the yellow VALVE/GUN AUTO light is flashing, set the VALVE/GUN switch to AUTO (OPEN), which links the operation of the isolation value to the high voltage. Select the desired accelerating voltage (15KV) and emission current (10 uA) in

the high voltage control window. Press the ON button to turn on the high voltage. If program requests a tip flashing (regenerating), see the next section. The SEM image should be viewable.

Tip flashing

Residue molecules in the UHV gun chamber will cover the surface of the field emission tip over time, reducing the emission current and the probe current stability. To revitalize the emission tip, a flashing procedure needs to be carried out on a regular basis. To flash the tip, the high voltage has to be OFF. Press the FLASHING button on the HV Control window. After flashing, the emission current undergoes a drift period for about 30-60 min and then remains stable for a number of hours.

Beam adjustment

For best resolution, alignment of the beam, the objective aperture, and the stigmators, is necessary.

Sample removal from the SEM

Turn off the high voltage. Put the VALVE/GUN switch back to CLOSE position. With Stage Control window active, click GO TO HOME button with stage lock released. Open the S.E.C. isolation valve (MV1), and use the sample exchange rod to remove the sample. Do NOT over tighten the thread on the sample exchange rod. Pull the rod all the way out and close the MV1 valve. Make sure the S.E.C. switch is at S.E.C. position. Vent the S.E.C. by pressing the AIR button, and remove the sample.

A.3 GEL ELECTROPHORESIS

Casting agarose gels using Embi Tec RunOne System gel trays

The gel casting stands and trays were cleaned before each use. The casting stand was placed on a level surface to ensure uniform gel thickness. The agarose gel trays were then placed in the casting stand. A 1.3 % agarose solution was prepared by adding 1.3 g of agarose (Sigma Chemicals) to 100 ml of deionized water, boiling the solution to completely dissolve the agarose, followed by cooling to 50°C. For each gel, 15 ml of the 1.3 % agarose solution was carefully poured into the gel tray yielding a gel 4.5 mm thick. Any air bubbles in the gel solution were carefully removed using a sterile pipette tip. The 10 μ l-volume comb was inserted into the gel solution, and the gel allowed to solidify for at least 30 minutes.

Running the gel using the RunOne Gel System

The agarose gel tray with cover was placed on the running platform of the RunOne Cell. The gel was oriented so that the wells were next to the Power Supply on the right side of the tank. The wells were flushed with 1X Tris-Borate EDTA (TBE) running buffer to remove any debris. 300 ml of the 1X TBE running buffer was poured into the RunOne tank to ensure that the agarose gel tray cover was fully submerged. The DNA samples were prepared for loading into the wells by premixing 5 μ l of the DNA with 5 μ l of 1X loading dye (see Appendix B). The samples were loaded into the wells with the 100 bp DNA marker (New England Biolabs, Inc., Beverly, MA) in the first lane and the DNA samples in the rest of the lanes. The tank lid was placed on the RunOne Cell. The 'VOLTAGE SELECT' button was pressed to choose the desired voltage output (75 V) and power turned ON to begin electrophoresis. DNA, being negatively charged, migrates from the cathode (-) to anode (+). The power supply was turned OFF when electrophoresis was finished (45 min).

Staining Gels with Ethidium Bromide

WARNING: Ethidium bromide (EtBr) is a known mutagen and suspected carcinogen. Always wear gloves and safety glasses when handling it. Follow appropriate hazardous materials disposal regulations.

Ten microliters of a 10 mg/ml stock solution of EtBr solution was added to 100 ml of TBE running buffer water in the staining container. The EtBr solution was allowed to mix for at least one minute for uniform dispersion. Each gel was placed in the staining container to stain for 15 minutes. After staining, the gel was removed carefully and placed in a destaining container (100 ml of TBE running buffer) to destain the gel for 10 minutes. The DNA was visualized using a short wave (254-314 nm) UV transilluminator in a UVT tray. Images of the gel were obtained using a Kodak Gel Imaging system.

APPENDIX B: REAGENTS/SOLUTIONS

B.1 <u>Reagents for Enzyme-Based and Antibody-Based Testing</u>

Dilution blanks:

Add 1.0 g of Peptone Digest (Bacto Peptone from Difco) to 1 L of distilled/deionized water and dispense slightly greater than 9.0 ml (9.05 or 9.1) into test tubes (that takes care of losses during autoclaving). Autoclave the test tubes at 121°C for 15 min.

Phosphate Buffer (0.02M, pH 7.4):

(Note: Tris-HCl buffer is usually used as carrier buffer for alkaline phosphatase systems)

Find out the molecular weight of Potassium phosphate (dibasic and monobasic)

Calculate grams of the di and mono basic potassium phosphate as follows:

Required Molarity * Mol. Wt. * volume needed, e.g. 0.02*136.1*1.6L = 4.352g in 1.6L

Guideline: Mix 4 volumes of the 0.02M K_2HPO_4 (dibasic) to 1 volume of KH_2PO_4 (monobasic). The best way to do it would be to take the above K_2HPO_4 solution, measure its pH and then add the KH_2PO_4 solution in 25-50 ml increments and measure pH until the final pH is adjusted to 7.4

Blocking solution

Recommendation – 1-3% BSA

Weigh out 1 g of Albumin powder (Sigma Chemicals). Add to 50 ml of phosphate buffer pH 7.4. This will yield a 2% blocking solution.

Wash solution

0.05-0.1% Tween-20 Solution: Weigh out 8.7 g of NaCl. Add to 900 ml of distilled water and dissolve. Add 20 ml of phosphate buffer. Mix well. Add 0.5 ml of Tween-20 solution. Make up volume to 1 L by adding about 80 ml of distilled water. Mix very well so that the Tween-20 is uniformly mixed into this wash solution.

Note: Literature is available where 0.1% Tween-20 solution was used to decrease background noise (so add 1 ml of Tween-20 instead of 0.5 ml in the above procedure).

B.2 <u>Reagents for DNA-based testing</u>

Hybridization Buffer

Place 100 ml of the hybridization buffer supplied with the detection system in a beaker containing a magnetic stir bar. Place the beaker on a heating stir plate and rapidly stir the buffer while heating to 42 deg. C. Quickly, add 4.38 g of NaCl and 5.0 g of blocking powder also (provided with the detection system) into the buffer. Continue to stir this mixture at 42 deg. C for 1 h. The buffer may now be aliquoted into sterile plastic tubes and stored at -20 deg. C. Prior to use, the buffer must be thawed and re-heated to 42 deg. C for at least 30 minutes.

<u>20X SSC</u>

Add 175.3 g NaCl and 88.2 g NaCitrate (trisodium salt) in distilled-deionized water to a final volume of 1.0 liter. Adjust the pH of the solution to 7.0 using HCl or NaOH. This solution can be stored at room temperature without sterilization.

20% SDS (sodium lauryl [dodecyl] sulfate)

Dissolve 100 g SDS in 400 ml of distilled-deionized water. The solution will be cloudy, but adjust the pH to 7.2 using HCl. Bring the final volume to 500 ml with distilled-deionized water. This solution can be stored at room temperature without sterilization. (If the solution remains cloudy or becomes cloudy in the future, warm it to 50-65 deg. C to dissolve the SDS before dispensing.)

Primary Wash Buffer

To 800 ml of distilled-deionized water, add 25 ml of 20X SSC, 20 ml of 20% SDS, and 360 g urea. Bring the final volume to 1000 ml with distilled-deionized water. This solution can be stored at room temperature without sterilization. Note: Stringency can be increased by using only 5 ml of 20X SSC instead of 25 ml. However, in our experience, this has not be found necessary with the IS6110 probe.

Secondary Wash Buffer

To 800 ml of distilled-deionized water, add 100 ml of 20X SSC. Bring the final volume to 1000 ml with distilled-deionized water. This solution can be stored at room temperature without sterilization.

Agarose Gel Loading Dye (6x Loading Dye)

For 250ml:

Add 0.63 g Bromophenol Blue, anhydrous to about 150 ml of water in a 500ml glass beaker, stir for 60min. Add 25 ml of 100% glycerol with a 60cc syringe, stir until thoroughly mixed, an additional 30min. Make up the volume to 250 ml with deionized water. Continue to stir for 30 min. Adjust to final volume of 250 ml. Aliquot 20 ml of dye into 50 ml conical tubes. Store at 4°C.

APPENDIX C: RAW DATA AND STATISTICAL ANALYSIS



C.1 RAW DATA: CYCLIC VOLTAMMETRY

Figure C-1. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 1 ng of PCR-amplified *Salmonella Enteritidis* DNA (n = 3).



Figure C-2. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 1 ng of PCR-amplified *Salmonella Enteritidis* DNA (n = 3).



Figure C-3. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 0.1 ng of PCR-amplified *Salmonella* Enteritidis DNA (n = 3).



Figure C-4. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 0.1 ng of PCR-amplified *Salmonella Enteritidis* DNA (n = 3).



Figure C-5. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 10 pg of PCR-amplified *Salmonella Enteritidis* DNA (n = 3).



Figure C-6. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 10 pg of PCR-amplified *Salmonella Enteritidis* DNA (n = 3).



Figure C-7. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 1 pg of PCR-amplified *Salmonella Enteritidis* DNA (n = 3).



Figure C-8. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 10 pg of PCR-amplified *Salmonella Enteritidis* DNA (n = 3).



Figure C-9. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 0.1 pg of PCR-amplified *Salmonella Enteritidis* DNA (n = 3).



Figure C-10. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 0.1 pg of PCR-amplified *Salmonella* Enteritidis DNA (n = 3).



Figure C-11. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 10 fg of PCR-amplified *Salmonella* Enteritidis DNA (n = 3).



Figure C-12. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 10 fg of PCR-amplified *Salmonella* Enteritidis DNA (n = 3).



Figure C-13. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 1 fg of PCR-amplified *Salmonella* Enteritidis DNA (n = 3).



Figure C-14. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 1 fg of PCR-amplified *Salmonella* Enteritidis DNA (n = 3).



Figure C-15. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with Planar Si biosensor chip for 1 ng of PCR-amplified *Salmonella* Enteritidis DNA (n = 3).



Figure C-16. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with Planar Si biosensor chip for 1 ng of PCR-amplified *Salmonella* Enteritidis DNA (n = 3).



Figure C-17. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with Planar Si biosensor chip for 0.1 ng of PCR-amplified *Salmonella* Enteritidis DNA (n = 3).



Figure C-18. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with Planar Si biosensor chip for 0.1 ng of PCR-amplified *Salmonella* Enteritidis DNA (n = 3).



Figure C-19. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with Planar Si biosensor chip for 10 pg of PCR-amplified *Salmonella* Enteritidis DNA (n = 3).



Figure C-20. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with Planar Si biosensor chip for 10 pg of PCR-amplified *Salmonella* Enteritidis DNA (n = 3).



Figure C-21. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with Planar Si biosensor chip for 1 pg of PCR-amplified *Salmonella* Enteritidis DNA (n = 3).



Figure C-22. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with Planar Si biosensor chip for 1 pg of PCR-amplified *Salmonella* Enteritidis DNA (n = 3).



Figure C-23. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 1 ng of DNA extracted from pure culture of *Salmonella* Enteritidis (n = 3).



Figure C-24. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 1 ng of DNA extracted from pure culture of *Salmonella* Enteritidis (n = 3).



Figure C-25. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 0.1 ng of DNA extracted from pure culture of *Salmonella* Enteritidis (n = 3).



Figure C-26. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 0.1 ng of DNA extracted from pure culture of *Salmonella* Enteritidis (n = 3).



Figure C-27. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 10 pg of DNA extracted from pure culture of *Salmonella* Enteritidis (n = 3).



Figure C-28. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 10 pg of DNA extracted from pure culture of *Salmonella* Enteritidis (n = 3).



Figure C-29. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 1 pg of DNA extracted from pure culture of *Salmonella* Enteritidis (n = 3).



Figure C-30. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 1 pg of DNA extracted from pure culture of *Salmonella* Enteritidis (n = 3).



Figure C-31. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with NTS biosensor for 1 ng mixture of S. Enteritidis and E. coli pure culture DNA (n = 3).



Figure C-32. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with NTS biosensor for 1 ng mixture of S. Enteritidis and E. coli pure culture DNA (n = 3).



Figure C-33. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 1 ng of DNA extracted from pure culture of *E. coli* (n = 3).



Figure C-34. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 1 ng of DNA extracted from pure culture of *E. coli* (n = 3).



Figure C-35. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 1 pg of DNA extracted from pure culture of *E. coli* (n = 3).



Figure C-36. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with NTS biosensor chip for 1 pg of DNA extracted from pure culture of *E. coli* (n = 3).



Figure C-37. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with Planar Si biosensor chip for 1 ng of DNA extracted from pure culture of S. Enteritidis (n = 3).



Figure C-38. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with Planar Si biosensor chip for 1 ng of DNA extracted from pure culture of S. Enteritidis (n = 3).



Figure C-39. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with Planar Si biosensor for 0.1 ng of DNA extracted from pure culture of S. Enteritidis (n = 3).



Figure C-40. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with Planar Si biosensor for 0.1 ng of DNA extracted from pure culture of S. Enteritidis (n = 3).



Figure C-41. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with Planar Si biosensor for 10 pg of DNA extracted from pure culture of S. Enteritidis (n = 3).



Figure C-42. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with Planar Si biosensor for 10 pg of DNA extracted from pure culture of S. Enteritidis (n = 3).



Figure C-43. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 1) obtained with Planar Si biosensor for 1 pg of DNA extracted from pure culture of S. Enteritidis (n = 3).



Figure C-44. Mean cyclic voltammograms (Cycle 2) obtained with Planar Si biosensor for 1 pg of DNA extracted from pure culture of S. Enteritidis (n = 3).

C.2 SAS STATISTICAL DATA ANALYSIS OUTPUT

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech rep=1 platform=NTSi pathogen=Ecoli DNA source=Pure Concentration=Ing

Means with the	leans with the same letter are not significantly different				
Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb		
А	-0.00008	3	After		
А					
А	-0.00026	3	Before		
В	-0.10267	3	Blank		

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech_rep=1 platform=NTSi pathogen=Ecoli DNA_source=Pure Concentration=1pg

Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb
А	-0.00005	3	After
А			
А	-0.00005	3	Before
В	-0.07643	3	Blank

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech rep=1 platform=NTSi pathogen=SEPEC DNA source=Pure Concentration=Ing

Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb
А	-0.000456	3	Before
В	-0.043467	3	After
С	-0.052800	3	Blank

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb
А	-0.000306	3	Before
В	-0.014467	3	After
С	-0.060767	3	Blank

Tech rep=1 platform=NTSi pathogen=SalEnt DNA source=PCR Concentration=0.1ng

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech_rep=1 platform=NTSi pathogen=SalEnt DNA_source=PCR Concentration=0.1pg

Aeans with the same letter are not significantly differen				
Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb	
А	-0.000576	3	Before	
А				
А	-0.005933	3	After	
В	-0.023600	3	Blank	

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech rep=1 platform=NTSi pathogen=SalEnt DNA source=PCR Concentration=10fg

Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb
А	-0.000076	3	After
А			
А	-0.000571	3	Before
В	-0.048400	3	Blank

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb
А	-0.000237	3	Before
В	-0.012633	3	After
С	-0.029867	3	Blank

Tech rep=1 platform=NTSi pathogen=SalEnt DNA source=PCR Concentration=10pg

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech rep=1 platform=NTSi pathogen=SalEnt DNA source=PCR Concentration=1fg

Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb
А	-0.000030	3	After
А			
А	-0.000461	3	Before

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech rep=1 platform=NTSi pathogen=SalEnt DNA source=PCR Concentration=1ng

Means with the same letter are not significantly different.				
Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb	
А	-0.000231	3	Before	
В	-0.045767	3	After	
С	-0.173333	3	Blank	

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb
А	-0.00018	3	Before
А			
А	-0.00777	3	After
А			
А	-0.07717	3	Blank

Tech_rep=1 platform=NTSi pathogen=SalEnt DNA_source=PCR Concentration=1pg

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech_rep=1 platform=NTSi pathogen=SalEnt DNA_source=Pure Concentration=0.1ng

Means with the same letter are not significantly different				
Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb	
A	0.0003390	3	Before	
В	-0.0101133	3	After	
С	-0.0667333	3	Blank	

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech_rep=1 platform=NTSi pathogen=SalEnt DNA_source=Pure Concentration=10pg

Means with the same letter are not significantly differer				
Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb	
А	0.000008	3	Before	
В	-0.026633	3	After	
В				
В	-0.029500	3	Blank	
Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb	
-------------------	-----------	---	---------	
А	-0.000028	3	Before	
В	-0.030633	3	Blank	
С	-0.075700	3	After	

Tech_rep=1 platform=NTSi pathogen=SalEnt DNA_source=Pure Concentration=Ing

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech_rep=1 platform=NTSi pathogen=SalEnt DNA_source=Pure Concentration=1pg

eans with the Tukey Grouping	same letter are i Mean	not signi	ficantly differer
A	-0.02588	3	After
А			
А	-0.09467	3	Before
А			
А	-0.10513	3	Blank

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech_rep=1 platform=Si pathogen=SalEnt DNA_source=PCR Concentration=0.1ng

Aeans with the	cans with the same letter are not significantly different			
Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb	
А	-0.0000273	3	After	
А				
А	-0.0000373	3	Before	
А				
А	-0.0001669	3	Blank	

Tech_rep=1 platform=Si pathogen=SalEnt DNA_source=PCR Concentration=10pg

Aeans with the	eans with the same letter are not significantly differen				
Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb		
А	0.00009380	3	Blank		
А					
А	0.00009000	3	Before		
А					
А	00002077	3	After		

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech_rep=1 platform=Si pathogen=SalEnt DNA_source=PCR Concentration=Ing

Means with the	Means with the same letter are not significantly different				
Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb		
А	0.0001324	3	Before		
А					
А	-0.0000145	3	After		
А					
А	-0.0001973	3	Blank		

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech rep=1 platform=Si pathogen=SalEnt DNA_source=PCR Concentration=1pg

Means with the	Means with the same letter are not significantly different				
Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb		
А	0.00006933	3	After		
А					
А	0.00003780	3	Blank		
А					
А	0.00002203	3	Before		

Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb
А	0.0000798	3	Before
А			
А	-0.0003072	3	Blank
А			
А	-0.0003300	3	After

Tech_rep=1 platform=Si pathogen=SalEnt DNA_source=Pure Concentration=0.1ng

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech rep=1 platform=Si pathogen=SalEnt DNA source=Pure Concentration=10pg

Means with the	Aeans with the same letter are not significantly differen				
Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb		
А	-0.0000812	3	Before		
А					
А	-0.0002120	3	After		
А					
А	-0.0002976	3	Blank		

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech_rep=1 platform=Si pathogen=SalEnt DNA_source=Pure Concentration=Ing

Tuk Grou	ey oing	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb
	Α	0.0000850	3	Blank
	A			
В	Α	-0.0000881	3	Before
В				
В		-0.0004143	3	After

leans with the same letter are not significantly differer			
Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb
А	-0.0001125	3	Blank
А			
А	-0.0001174	3	Before
А			
А	-0.0005023	3	After

Tech_rep=1 platform=Si pathogen=SalEnt DNA source=Pure Concentration=1pg

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech rep=2 platform=NTSi pathogen=Ecoli DNA source=Pure Concentration=Ing

Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb
А	-0.00008	3	After
А			
А	-0.00024	3	Before
В	-0.09357	3	Blank

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech_rep=2 platform=NTSi pathogen=Ecoli DNA_source=Pure Concentration=1pg

Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyt
А	-0.00004	3	Before
А			
А	-0.00005	3	After
А	-0.00005	3	A
В	-0.04983	3	Blank

Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyt
А	-0.000181	3	Before
В	-0.023733	3	After
С	-0.035600	3	Blank

Tech_rep=2 platform=NTSi pathogen=SEPEC DNA_source=Pure Concentration=Ing

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech rep=2 platform=NTSi pathogen=SalEnt DNA source=PCR Concentration=0.1ng

Means with the	same letter are no	ot signifi	cantly different.
Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb
А	-0.000249	3	Before
В	-0.013733	3	After
С	-0.056833	3	Blank

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech rep=2 platform=NTSi pathogen=SalEnt DNA_source=PCR Concentration=0.1pg

Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb
А	-0.000210	3	Before
А			
А	-0.004770	3	After

Tech_rep=2 platform=NTSi pathogen=SalEnt DNA_source=PCR Concentration=10fg

Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb
A	-0.000066	3	After
А			
А	-0.000349	3	Before
В	-0.049000	3	Blank

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech rep=2 platform=NTSi pathogen=SalEnt DNA source=PCR Concentration=10pg

Means with the	same letter are no	ot signifi	cantly different.
Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb
A	-0.000174	3	Before
А			
А	-0.009797	3	After
	_		
В	-0.025000	3	Blank

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech rep=2 platform=NTSi pathogen=SalEnt DNA source=PCR Concentration=1fg

Means with th	Means with the same letter are not significantly differ			
Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb	
А	-0.000040	3	After	
А				
Α	-0.000192	3	Before	
В	-0.014267	3	Blank	

Tukey	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb
A	-0.000202	3	Before
В	-0.039667	3	After
C	-0.148000	3	Blank

Tech_rep=2 platform=NTSi pathogen=SalEnt DNA_source=PCR Concentration=Ing

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech rep=2 platform=NTSi pathogen=SalEnt DNA source=PCR Concentration=1pg

Means with the	same letter are n	ot signifi	cantly different.
Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb
Α	-0.000153	3	Before
В	-0.006267	3	After
С	-0.051100	3	Blank

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech_rep=2 platform=NTSi pathogen=SalEnt DNA_source=Pure Concentration=0.1ng

Means with the same letter are not significantly differ			cantly different.
Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb
А	0.0003290	3	Before
В	-0.0096300	3	After
С	-0.0622667	3	Blank

Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb
А	0.000019	3	Before
В	-0.018300	3	After
В			
В	-0.024333	3	Blank

Tech_rep=2 platform=NTSi pathogen=SalEnt DNA_source=Pure Concentration=10pg

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech rep=2 platform=NTSi pathogen=SalEnt DNA source=Pure Concentration=Ing

Means with the	same letter are n	ot signifi	cantly different.
Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb
А	-0.000030	3	Before
В	-0.028333	3	Blank
С	-0.045133	3	After

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech_rep=2 platform=NTSi pathogen=SalEnt DNA_source=Pure Concentration=1pg

Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb
А	-0.01506	3	After
Α			
А	-0.06880	3	Blank
А			
A	-0.09183	3	Before

Means with the same letter are not significantly different.				
Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb	
А	0.00005627	3	Before	
А				
А	0.00001102	3	After	
А				
А	00000487	3	Blank	

Tech rep=2 platform=Si pathogen=SalEnt DNA source=PCR Concentration=0.1ng

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech rep=2 platform=Si pathogen=SalEnt DNA source=PCR Concentration=10pg

Means with the same letter are not significantly different.					
Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb		
А	0.00005073	3	Before		
А					
А	0.00001213	3	Blank		
А					
Α	00000320	3	After		

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech_rep=2 platform=Si pathogen=SalEnt DNA_source=PCR Concentration=Ing

Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb	
А	0.0001743	3	Before	
А				
А	-0.0000183	3	After	
А				
А	-0.0000411	3	Blank	

Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb	
А	0.00007866	3	Before	
А				
А	0.00003439	3	Blank	
А				
А	0.00000429	3	After	

Tech rep=2 platform=Si pathogen=SalEnt DNA source=PCR Concentration=1pg

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech rep=2 platform=Si pathogen=SalEnt DNA source=Pure Concentration=0.1ng

Means with the same letter are not significantly different.					
Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb		
А	-0.0000555	3	Before		
А					
А	-0.0001312	3	Blank		
А					
А	-0.0003773	3	After		

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech rep=2 platform=Si pathogen=SalEnt DNA source=Pure Concentration=10pg

Tukey Grouping	Mean	N	DNA_Hyb	
А	00001424	3	Before	
А				
А	00005730	3	Blank	
А				
А	00009533	3	After	

Tul Grou	Tukey Grouping Mean		N	DNA_Hyb	
	A	0.00007303	3	Blank	
	A				
В	A	00008284	3	Before	
В					
В		00023633	3	After	

Tech rep=2 platform=Si pathogen=SalEnt DNA source=Pure Concentration=Ing

The GLM Procedure: Tukey's Studentized Range (HSD) Test for DeltaQ

Tech rep=2 platform=Si pathogen=SalEnt DNA_source=Pure Concentration=1pg

Tu Grou	Tukey Brouping Mean		N	DNA_Hyb	
	A	0.00001679	3	Blank	
	A				
В	A	00003363	3	Before	
В					
В		00017043	3	After	

Type 3 Tests of Fixed Effects					
Effect	Num DF	Den DF	F Value	Pr > F	
DNA_Hyb	2	12	27.49	<.0001	
DNA_source	0				
DNA_Hyb*DNA_source	0				
Concentration	1	12	0.60	0.4526	
DNA_Hyb*Concentratio	2	12	0.59	0.5719	
DNA_sourc*Concentrat	0				
DNA_Hy*DNA_so*Concen	0				

The Mixed Procedure: Tech_rep=1 platform=NTSi pathogen=Ecoli

	Estimates							
Label	Estimate	Standard Error	DF	t Value	Pr > t			
before - after	-0.00009	0.01393	12	-0.01	0.9949			
before - blank	0.08940	0.01393	12	6.42	<.0001			
after - blank	0.08949	0.01393	12	6.42	<.0001			
before - after PCR	Non-est							
before - blank PCR	Non-est							
after - blank PCR	Non-est							
before - after pure	Non-est							
before - blank pure	Non-est							
after - blank pure	Non-est							

Type 3 Tests of Fixed Effects					
Effect	Num DF	Den DF	F Value	Pr > F	
DNA_Hyb	2	6	498.80	<.0001	
DNA_source	0				
DNA_Hyb*DNA_source	0				
Concentration	0				
DNA_Hyb*Concentratio	0				
DNA_sourc*Concentrat	0				
DNA_Hy*DNA_so*Concen	0				

The Mixed Procedure: Tech_rep=1 platform=NTSi pathogen=SEPEC

		Estimates			
Label	Estimate	Standard Error	DF	t Value	Pr > t
before - after	0.04301	0.001768	6	24.33	<.0001
before - blank	0.05234	0.001768	6	29.61	<.0001
after - blank	0.009333	0.001768	6	5.28	0.0019
before - after PCR	Non-est				
before - blank PCR	Non-est				
after - blank PCR	Non-est				
before - after pure	Non-est				
before - blank pure	Non-est				
after - blank pure	Non-est				

Type 3 Tests of Fixed Effects						
Effect	Num DF	Den DF	F Value	Pr > F		
DNA_Hyb	2	48	17.10	<.0001		
DNA_source	1	48	0.16	0.6882		
DNA_Hyb*DNA_source	2	48	3.25	0.0475		
Concentration	3	48	4.78	0.0054		
DNA_Hyb*Concentratio	6	48	2.29	0.0502		
DNA_sourc*Concentrat	3	48	3.99	0.0130		
DNA_Hy*DNA_so*Concen	6	48	2.74	0.0225		

The Mixed Procedure: Tech_rep=1 platform=NTSi pathogen=SalEnt

Estimates							
Label	Estimate	Standard Error	DF	t Value	Pr > t		
before - after	0.01546	0.01060	48	1.46	0.1514		
before - blank	0.05973	0.01060	48	5.63	<.0001		
after - blank	0.04427	0.01060	48	4.18	0.0001		
before - after PCR	0.01992	0.01499	48	1.33	0.1903		
before - blank PCR	0.08504	0.01499	48	5.67	<.0001		
after - blank PCR	0.06512	0.01499	48	4.34	<.0001		
before - after pure	0.01099	0.01499	48	0.73	0.4670		
before - blank pure	0.03441	0.01499	48	2.29	0.0262		
after - blank pure	0.02342	0.01499	48	1.56	0.1249		

Type 3 Tests of Fixed Effects						
Effect	Num DF	Den DF	F Value	Pr > F		
DNA_Hyb	2	48	4.66	0.0141		
DNA_source	1	48	15.13	0.0003		
DNA_Hyb*DNA_source	2	48	3.26	0.0469		
Concentration	3	48	0.29	0.8335		
DNA_Hyb*Concentratio	6	48	0.65	0.6884		
DNA_sourc*Concentrat	3	48	0.90	0.4473		
DNA_Hy*DNA_so*Concen	6	48	1.77	0.1250		

The Mixed Procedure: Tech_rep=1 platform=Si pathogen=SalEnt

	Estimates				
Label	Estimate	Standard Error	DF	t Value	Pr > [t]
before - after	0.000182	0.000060	48	3.04	0.0039
before - blank	0.000108	0.000060	48	1.81	0.0768
after - blank	-0.00007	0.000060	48	-1.23	0.2259
before - after PCR	0.000050	0.000085	48	0.59	0.5565
before - blank PCR	0.000110	0.000085	48	1.30	0.1998
after - blank PCR	0.000060	0.000085	48	0.71	0.4825
before - after pure	0.000313	0.000085	48	3.70	0.0006
before - blank pure	0.000106	0.000085	48	1.26	0.2146
after - blank pure	-0.00021	0.000085	48	-2.44	0.0183

Type 3 Tests of Fixed Effects						
Effect	Num DF	Den DF	F Value	Pr > F		
DNA_Hyb	2	12	25.30	<.0001		
DNA_source	0					
DNA_Hyb*DNA_source	0					
Concentration	1	12	2.38	0.1485		
DNA_Hyb*Concentratio	2	12	2.35	0.1379		
DNA_sourc*Concentrat	0					
DNA_Hy*DNA_so*Concen	0					

The Mixed Procedure: Tech_rep=2 platform=NTSi pathogen=Ecoli

Estimates								
Label	Estimate	Standard Error	DF	t Value	Pr > t			
before - after	-0.00008	0.01162	12	-0.01	0.9948			
before - blank	0.07156	0.01162	12	6.16	<.0001			
after - blank	0.07164	0.01162	12	6.16	<.0001			
before - after PCR	Non-est							
before - blank PCR	Non-est							
after - blank PCR	Non-est							
before - after pure	Non-est							
before - blank pure	Non-est							
after - blank pure	Non-est							

Type 3 Tests of Fixed Effects						
Effect	Num DF	Den DF	F Value	Pr > F		
DNA_Hyb	2	6	107.60	<.0001		
DNA_source	0					
DNA_Hyb*DNA_source	0					
Concentration	0					
DNA_Hyb*Concentratio	0					
DNA_sourc*Concentrat	0					
DNA_Hy*DNA_so*Concen	0					

The Mixed Procedure: Tech_rep=2 platform=NTSi pathogen=SEPEC

Estimates							
Label	Estimate	Standard Error	DF	t Value	$\Pr > t $		
before - after	0.02355	0.002458	6	9.58	<.0001		
before - blank	0.03542	0.002458	6	14.41	<.0001		
after - blank	0.01187	0.002458	6	4.83	0.0029		
before - after PCR	Non-est						
before - blank PCR	Non-est						
after - blank PCR	Non-est						
before - after pure	Non-est						
before - blank pure	Non-est						
after - blank pure	Non-est						

Type 3 Tests of Fixed Effects						
Effect	Num DF	Den DF	F Value	Pr > F		
DNA_Hyb	2	48	13.46	<.0001		
DNA_source	1	48	0.02	0.8972		
DNA_Hyb*DNA_source	2	48	3.06	0.0561		
Concentration	3	48	3.23	0.0304		
DNA_Hyb*Concentratio	6	48	2.29	0.0502		
DNA_sourc*Concentrat	3	48	4.10	0.0114		
DNA_Hy*DNA_so*Concen	6	48	2.21	0.0581		

The Mixed Procedure: Tech_rep=2 platform=NTSi pathogen=SalEnt

	Estimates								
Label	Estimate	Standard Error	DF	t Value	Pr > t				
before - after	0.008163	0.009580	48	0.85	0.3984				
before - blank	0.04655	0.009580	48	4.86	<.0001				
after - blank	0.03839	0.009580	48	4.01	0.0002				
before - after PCR	0.01717	0.01355	48	1.27	0.2111				
before - blank PCR	0.07004	0.01355	48	5.17	<.0001				
after - blank PCR	0.05287	0.01355	48	3.90	0.0003				
before - after pure	-0.00085	0.01355	48	-0.06	0.9505				
before - blank pure	0.02306	0.01355	48	1.70	0.0952				
after - blank pure	0.02390	0.01355	48	1.76	0.0840				

Type 3 Tests of Fixed Effects						
Effect	Num DF	Den DF	F Value	Pr > F		
DNA_Hyb	2	48	7.18	0.0019		
DNA_source	1	48	18.24	<.0001		
DNA_Hyb*DNA_source	2	48	3.58	0.0355		
Concentration	3	48	1.28	0.2924		
DNA_Hyb*Concentratio	6	48	0.41	0.8700		
DNA_sourc*Concentrat	3	48	0.95	0.4227		
DNA_Hy*DNA_so*Concen	6	48	1.09	0.3800		

The Mixed Procedure: Tech_rep=2 platform=Si pathogen=SalEnt

Estimates							
Label	Estimate	Standard Error	DF	t Value	Pr > t		
before - after	0.000132	0.000036	48	3.65	0.0006		
before - blank	0.000034	0.000036	48	0.94	0.3539		
after - blank	-0.00010	0.000036	48	-2.71	0.0093		
before - after PCR	0.000092	0.000051	48	1.78	0.0809		
before - blank PCR	0.000090	0.000051	48	1.75	0.0865		
after - blank PCR	-1.69E-6	0.000051	48	-0.03	0.9739		
before - after pure	0.000173	0.000051	48	3.38	0.0015		
before - blank pure	-0.00002	0.000051	48	-0.43	0.6717		
after - blankipure	-0.00020	0.000051	48	-3.80	0.0004		

Type 3 Tests of Fixed Effects						
Effect	Num DF	Den DF	F Value	Pr > F		
DNA_Hyb	2	12	27.49	<.0001		
DNA_source	0					
DNA_Hyb*DNA_source	0					
Concentration	1	12	0.60	0.4526		
DNA_Hyb*Concentratio	2	12	0.59	0.5719		
DNA_sourc*Concentrat	0					
DNA_Hy*DNA_so*Concen	0					
platform	0					
DNA_Hyb*platform	0					
DNA_source*platform	0					
DNA_Hy*DNA_so*platfo	0					
Concentrati*platform	0					
DNA_Hy*Concen*platfo	0					
DNA_so*Concen*platfo	0					
DNA_*DNA_*Conc*platf	0					

The Mixed Procedure: Tech_rep=1 pathogen=Ecoli

Estimates								
Label	Estimate	Standard Error	DF	t Value	Pr > t			
before - after NTSI	Non-est							
before - blank NTSI	Non-est							
after - blank NTSI	Non-est							
before - after SI	Non-est							
before - blank SI	Non-est							
after - blank SI	Non-est							

Type 3 Tests of Fixed Effects							
Effect	Num DF	Den DF	F Value	Pr > F			
DNA_Hyb	2	6	498.80	<.0001			
DNA_source	0						
DNA_Hyb*DNA_source	0						
Concentration	0						
DNA_Hyb*Concentratio	0						
DNA_sourc*Concentrat	0						
DNA_Hy*DNA_so*Concen	0						
platform	0						
DNA_Hyb*platform	0	1					
DNA_source*platform	0						
DNA_Hy*DNA_so*platfo	0						
Concentrati*platform	0						
DNA_Hy*Concen*platfo	0						
DNA_so*Concen*platfo	0						
DNA_*DNA_*Conc*platf	0						

The Mixed Procedure: Tech_rep=1 pathogen=SEPEC

Estimates								
Label	Estimate	Standard Error	DF	t Value	$\Pr > t $			
before - after NTSI	Non-est							
before - blank NTSI	Non-est							
after - blank NTSI	Non-est							
before - after SI	Non-est							
before - blank SI	Non-est							
after - blank SI	Non-est							

Type 3 Tests of Fixed Effects						
Effect	Num DF	Den DF	F Value	Pr > F		
DNA_Hyb	2	96	17.13	<.0001		
DNA_source	1	96	0.18	0.6713		
DNA_Hyb*DNA_source	2	96	3.26	0.0426		
Concentration	3	96	4.78	0.0038		
DNA_Hyb*Concentratio	6	96	2.29	0.0412		
DNA_sourc*Concentrat	3	96	4.00	0.0099		
DNA_Hy*DNA_so*Concen	6	96	2.76	0.0162		
platform	1	96	72.58	<.0001		
DNA_Hyb*platform	2	96	17.06	<.0001		
DNA_source*platform	1	96	0.15	0.7035		
DNA_Hy*DNA_so*platfo	2	96	3.24	0.0437		
Concentrati*platform	3	96	4.78	0.0038		
DNA_Hy*Concen*platfo	6	96	2.29	0.0412		
DNA_so*Concen*platfo	3	96	3.97	0.0103		
DNA_*DNA_*Conc*platf	6	96	2.73	0.0172		

The Mixed Procedure: Tech_rep=1 pathogen=SalEnt

Estimates								
Label	Estimate	Standard Error	DF	t Value	$\Pr > t $			
before - after NTSI	0.01546	0.007498	96	2.06	0.0420			
before - blank NTSI	0.05973	0.007498	96	7.97	<.0001			
after - blank NTSI	0.04427	0.007498	96	5.90	<.0001			
before - after SI	0.000182	0.007498	96	0.02	0.9807			
before - blank SI	0.000108	0.007498	96	0.01	0.9885			
after - blank SI	-0.00007	0.007498	96	-0.01	0.9922			

Type 3 Tests of Fixed Effects							
Effect	Num DF	Den DF	F Value	Pr > F			
DNA_Hyb	2	12	25.30	<.0001			
DNA_source	0						
DNA_Hyb*DNA_source	0						
Concentration	1	12	2.38	0.1485			
DNA_Hyb*Concentratio	2	12	2.35	0.1379			
DNA_sourc*Concentrat	0						
DNA_Hy*DNA_so*Concen	0						
platform	0						
DNA_Hyb*platform	0						
DNA_source*platform	0						
DNA_Hy*DNA_so*platfo	0						
Concentrati*platform	0						
DNA_Hy*Concen*platfo	0						
DNA_so*Concen*platfo	0						
DNA_*DNA_*Conc*platf	0						

The Mixed Procedure: Tech_rep=2 pathogen=Ecoli

Estimates								
Label	Estimate	Standard Error	DF	t Value	Pr > t			
before - after NTSI	Non-est							
before - blank NTSI	Non-est							
after - blank NTSI	Non-est							
before - after SI	Non-est							
before - blank SI	Non-est							
after - blank SI	Non-est							

Type 3 Tests of Fixed Effects						
Effect	Num DF	Den DF	F Value	Pr > F		
DNA_Hyb	2	6	107.60	<.0001		
DNA_source	0					
DNA_Hyb*DNA_source	0			1.		
Concentration	0					
DNA_Hyb*Concentratio	0					
DNA_sourc*Concentrat	0					
DNA_Hy*DNA_so*Concen	0					
platform	0					
DNA_Hyb*platform	0					
DNA_source*platform	0					
DNA_Hy*DNA_so*platfo	0					
Concentrati*platform	0					
DNA_Hy*Concen*platfo	0					
DNA_so*Concen*platfo	0					
DNA_*DNA_*Conc*platf	0					

The Mixed Procedure: Tech_rep=2 pathogen=SEPEC

Estimates								
Label	Estimate	Standard Error	DF	t Value	Pr > [t]			
before - after NTSI	Non-est							
before - blank NTSI	Non-est							
after - blank NTSI	Non-est							
before - after SI	Non-est							
before - blank SI	Non-est							
after - blank SI	Non-est							

Type 3 Tests of Fixed Effects						
Effect	Num DF	Den DF	F Value	Pr > F		
DNA_Hyb	2	96	13.46	<.0001		
DNA_source	1	96	0.02	0.8842		
DNA_Hyb*DNA_source	2	96	3.08	0.0506		
Concentration	3	96	3.23	0.0259		
DNA_Hyb*Concentratio	6	96	2.29	0.0412		
DNA_sourc*Concentrat	3	96	4.09	0.0088		
DNA_Hy*DNA_so*Concen	6	96	2.22	0.0478		
platform	1	96	57.82	<.0001		
DNA_Hyb*platform	2	96	13.47	<.0001		
DNA_source*platform	1	96	0.01	0.9097		
DNA_Hy*DNA_so*platfo	2	96	3.04	0.0523		
Concentrati*platform	3	96	3.24	0.0256		
DNA_Hy*Concen*platfo	6	96	2.29	0.0413		
DNA_so*Concen*platfo	3	96	4.10	0.0088		
DNA_*DNA_*Conc*platf	6	96	2.20	0.0492		

The Mixed Procedure: Tech_rep=2 pathogen=SalEnt

	Estimates								
Label	Estimate	Standard Error	DF	t Value	Pr >				
before - after NTSI	0.008163	0.006774	96	1.21	0.2312				
before - blank NTSI	0.04655	0.006774	96	6.87	<.0001				
after - blank NTSI	0.03839	0.006774	96	5.67	<.0001				
before - after SI	0.000132	0.006774	96	0.02	0.9844				
before - blank SI	0.000034	0.006774	96	0.01	0.9960				
after - blank SI	-0.00010	0.006774	96	-0.01	0.9884				

REFERENCES

Aabo, S., J. K. Andersen, and J. E. Olsen. 1995. Research note: Detection of *Salmonella* in minced meat by the polymerase chain reaction method. *Lett Appl Microbiol* 21: 180-182.

Abdel-Hamid, I., D. Ivnitski, P. Atanasov, and E. Wilkins. 1999a. Flow-through immunofiltration assay system for rapid detection of *E. coli* O157:H7. *Biosens Bioelectron* 14(3): 309-316.

_____. 1999b. Highly sensitive flow-injection immunoassay system for rapid detection of bacteria. *Anal Chim Acta* 399(1-2): 99-108.

Abel, A. P., M. G. Weller, G. L. Duveneck, M. Ehrat, and H. M. Widmer. 1996. Fiberoptic evanescent wave biosensor for the detection of oligonucleotides. *Anal Chem* 68(17): 2905-2912.

Aberl, F., S. Modrow, H. Wolf, S. Koch, and P. Woias. 1992. An ISFET-based FIA system for immunosensing. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical* 6(1-3): 183-191.

Adhya, S. 1996. The *lac* and *gal* operons today. In *Regulation of gene expression in Escherichia coli*, 181-194. E. C. C. Lin and A. S. Lynch, eds. Georgetown, TX: R. G. Landes Company Biomedical Publishers.

Akimoto, K., Y. Shinmen, M. Sumida, S. Asami, T. Amachi, H. Yoshizumi, Y. Saeki, S. Shimizu, and H. Yamada. 1990. Luminol chemiluminescence reaction catalyzed by a microbial peroxidase. *Analytical Biochemistry* 189(2): 182-185.

Alam, J., and J. L. Cook. 1990. Reporter genes: application to the study of mammalian gene transcription. *Anal. Biochem.* 188: 245-254.

Albareda-Sirvent, M., A. Merkoci, and S. Alegret. 2001a. Pesticide determination in tap water and juice samples using disposable amperometric biosensors made using thick-film technology. *Anal Chim Acta* 442(1): 35-44.

_____. 2001b. Thick-film biosensors for pesticides produced by screen-printing of graphite-epoxy composite and biocomposite pastes. *Sens. Actuator B-Chem.* 79(1): 48-57.

Allongue, P. 1997. Porous silicon formation mechanisms. In *Properties of porous silicon*, 3-10. L. Canham, ed. London, UK: NSPEC, The Institution of Electrical Engineers.

Almeida, P. F., and R. C. C. Almeida. 2000. A PCR protocol using *inl* gene as a target for specific detection of *Listeria monocytogenes*. Food Control 11(2): 97-101.

Amato, G., L. Boarino, S. Borini, and A. M. Rossi. 2000. Hybrid approach to porous silicon integrated waveguides. *Phys. Status Solidi A-Appl. Res.* 182(1): 425-430.

Amavisit, P., G. F. Browning, D. Lightfoot, S. Church, and G. A. Anderson. 2001. Rapid PCR detection of *Salmonella* in horse faecal samples. *Vet Microbiol* 79(1): 63-74.

Araj, G. F., and T. D. Chugh. 1987. Detection of *Salmonella* spp. in clinical specimens by capture enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. J. Clin. Microbiol. 25: 2150-2153.

Archer, M., M. Christophersen, and P. M. Fauchet. 2003. *Porous silicon electrical biosensors*. Quantum Confined Semiconductor Nanostructures, Dec 2-5 2002, Boston MA, United States, Materials Research Society. Vol. 737: 549-554.

Aspinall, S. T., M. A. Hindle, and D. N. Hutchinson. 1992. Improved isolation of salmonellae from feces using a semisolid Rappaport-Vassiliadis medium. *Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis.* 11: 936-939.

Aubert, D., D. Toubas, *et al.* 1997. Accelerated detection of DNA on membranes by automated enzyme-linked immunofiltration assay. *Analytical Biochemistry* 247(1): 25-29.

Avramescu, A., S. Andreescu, T. Noguer, C. Bala, D. Andreescu, and J. L. Marty. 2002. Biosensors designed for environmental and food quality control based on screen-printed graphite electrodes with different configurations. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry* 374(1): 25-32.

Babacan, S., P. Pivarnik, S. Letcher, and A. Rand. 2002. Piezoelectric flow injection analysis biosensor for the detection of *Salmonella* Typhimurium. *J Food Sci* 67(1): 314-320.

Babacan, S., P. Pivarnik, S. Letcher, and A. G. Rand. 2000. Evaluation of antibody immobilization methods for piezoelectric biosensor application. *Biosens Bioelectron* 15(11-12): 615-621.

Bae, Y. M., K. W. Park, B. K. Oh, W. H. Lee, and J. W. Choi. 2005. Immunosensor for detection of *Salmonella* Typhimurium based on imaging ellipsometry. *Colloid Surf. A-Physicochem. Eng. Asp.* 257-58: 19-23.

Baeumner, A.-J. 2003. Biosensors for environmental pollutants and food contaminants. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry* 377(3): 434-445.

Baeumner, A. J., R. N. Cohen, V. Miksic, and J. Min. 2003. RNA biosensor for the rapid detection of viable *Escherichia coli* in drinking water. *Biosens Bioelectron* 18(4): 405-413.

Baeumner, A. J., J. Pretz, and S. Fang. 2004. A universal nucleic acid sequence biosensor with nanomolar detection limits. *Anal Chem* 76(4): 888-894.

Baeyens, W. R. G., S. G. Schulman, A. C. Calokerinos, Y. Zhao, A. M. G. Campana, K. Nakashima, and D. De Keukeleire. 1998. Chemiluminescence-based detection: principles and analytical applications in flowing streams and in immunoassays. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis* 17(6-7): 941-953.

Balasubramanian, S., S. Panigrahi, C. M. Logue, M. Marchello, C. Doetkott, H. Gu, J. Sherwood, and L. Nolan. 2004. Spoilage identification of beef using an electronic nose system. *Transactions of the ASAE* 47(5): 1625-1633.

Balch, W. M., J. Vaughn, J. Navotny, D. T. Drapeau, R. Vaillancourt, J. Lapierre, and A. Ashe. 2000. Light scattering by viral suspensions. *Limnology and Oceanography* 45(2): 492-498.

Bao, L. L., L. Deng, L. H. Nie, S. Z. Yao, and W. Z. Wei. 1996. Determination of microorganisms with a quartz crystal microbalance sensor. *Anal Chim Acta* 319(1-2): 97-101.

Bataillard, P., F. Gardies, N. Jaffrezicrenault, C. Martelet, B. Colin, and B. Mandrand. 1988. Direct detection of immunospecies by capacitance measurements. *Analytical Chemistry* 60(21): 2374-2379.

Bauters, T. G., R. Peleman, M. Moerman, H. Vermeersch, D. De Looze, L. Noens, and H. J. Nelis. 1999. Membrane filtration test for rapid presumptive differentiation of four *Candida* species. *J Clin Microbiol* 37: 1498-1502.

Beale, E. G., E. A. Deeb, R. S. Handley, H. Akhavan Tafti, and A. P. Schaap. 1992. A rapid and simple chemiluminescent assay for *Escherichia coli* beta-galactosidase. *Biotechniques* 12(3): 320-332.

Bechor, O., D. R. Smulski, T. K. Van Dyk, R. A. LaRossa, and S. Belkin. 2002. Recombinant microorganisms as environmental biosensors: pollutants detection by *Escherichia coli* bearing *fabA* ':: *lux* fusions. *J Biotechnol* 94(1): 125-132.

Beck, S., and H. Koster. 1990. Applications of dioxetane chemiluminescent probes to molecular biology. *Anal Chem* 62: 2258-2270.

Bej, A. K., M. H. Mahbubani, J. L. DiCesare, and R. M. Atlas. 1991a. Polymerase chain reaction-gene probe detection of microorganisms by using filter-concentrated samples. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 57: 3529-3534.

Bej, A. K., S. C. McCarty, and R. M. Atlas. 1991b. Detection of coliform bacteria and *Escherichia coli* by multiplex polymerase chain reaction: comparison with defined

substrate and plating methods for water quality monitoring. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 57: 2429-2432.

Bej, A. K., R. J. Steffan, J. DiCesare, L. Haff, and R. M. Atlas. 1990. Detection of coliform bacteria in water by polymerase chain reaction and gene probes. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 56(2): 307-314.

Bellin, T., M. Pulz, A. Matussek, H. Hempen, and F. Gunzer. 2001. Rapid detection of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* by real-time PCR with fluorescent hybridization probes. *J Clin Microbiol* 39: 370-374.

Benedetti, S., S. Mannino, A. G. Sabatini, and G. L. Marcazzan. 2004. Electronic nose and neural network use for the classification of honey. *Apidologie* 35(4): 397-402.

Bengtsson, M., J. Drott, and T. Laurell. 2000a. Tailoring of porous silicon morphology in chip integrated bioreactors. *Phys. Status Solidi A-Appl. Res.* 182(1): 533-539.

Bengtsson, M., S. Ekstrom, J. Drott, A. Collins, E. Csoregi, G. Marko-Varga, and T. Laurell. 2000b. Applications of microstructured porous silicon as a biocatalytic surface. *Phys. Status Solidi A-Appl. Res.* 182(1): 495-504.

Bennett, A. R., D. Greenwood, C. Tennant, J. G. Banks, and R. P. Betts. 1998. Rapid and definitive detection of *Salmonella* in foods by PCR. *Lett Appl Microbiol* 26: 437-441.

Berggren, C., and G. Johansson. 1997. Capacitance measurements of antibody-antigen interactions in a flow system. *Analytical Chemistry* 69(18): 3651-3657.

Berggren, C., P. Stalhandske, J. Brundell, and G. Johansson. 1999. A feasibility study of a capacitive biosensor for direct detection of DNA hybridization. *Electroanalysis* 11(3): 156-160.

Berney, H., J. West, E. Haefele, J. Alderman, W. Lane, and J. K. Collins. 2000. A DNA diagnostic biosensor: development, characterisation and performance. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical* 68(1-3): 100-108.

Beuchat, L. R., W. E. Thomas, and C. A. Pettigrew. 2001. Comparison of chlorine and a prototype produce wash product for effectiveness in killing *Salmonella* and *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 on alfalfa seeds. J. Food Prot. 64(2): 152-158.

Bhatia, S. K., L. C. Shriver-Lake, K. J. Prior, J. H. Georger, J. M. Calvert, R. Bredehorst, and F. S. Ligler. 1989. Use of thiol-terminal silanes and heterobifunctional crosslinkers for immobilization of antibodies on silica surfaces. *Anal Biochem* 178: 408-413.

Bianchi, N., C. Rutigliano, M. Tomassetti, G. Feriotto, F. Zorzato, and R. Gambari. 1997. Biosensor technology and surface plasmon resonance for real-time detection of HIV-1 genomic sequences amplified by polymerase chain reaction. *Clin. Diagn. Virol.* 8(3): 199-208.

Biran, I., R. Babai, K. Levcov, J. Rishpon, and E. Z. Ron. 2000. Online and in situ monitoring of environmental pollutants: electrochemical biosensing of cadmium. *Environ. Microbiol.* 2(3): 285-290.

Bjarnason, B., N. Bousios, S. Eremin, and G. Johansson. 1997. Flow injection enzyme immunoassay of atrazine herbicide in water. *Analytica Chimica Acta* 347(1-2): 111-120.

Bjurling, P., G. A. Baxter, M. Caselunghe, C. Jonson, M. O'Connor, B. Persson, and C. T. Elliott. 2000. Biosensor assay of sulfadiazine and sulfamethazine residues in pork. *Analyst* 125(10): 1771-1774.

Blackburn, C. D., L. M. Curtis, L. Humpheson, and S. B. Petitt. 1994. Evaluation of the VITEK immunodiagnostic assay system (VIDAS) for the detection of *Salmonella* in foods. *Lett Appl Microbiol* 19: 32-36.

Blasco, R., M. J. Murphy, M. F. Sanders, and D. J. Squirrell. 1998. Specific assays for bacteria using phage mediated release of adenylate kinase. *J Appl Microbiol* 84(4): 661-666.

Blaser, M. J., and L. S. Newman. 1982. A review of human salmonellosis 1. Infective dose. *Rev. Infect. Dis.* 4: 1096-1106.

Bolton, E. K., G. S. Sayler, D. E. Nivens, J. M. Rochelle, S. Ripp, and M. L. Simpson. 2002. Integrated CMOS photodetectors and signal processing for very low-level chemical sensing with the bioluminescent bioreporter integrated circuit. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical* 85(1-2): 179-185.

Boltovets, P. M., V. R. Boyko, I. Y. Kostikov, N. S. Dyachenko, B. A. Snopok, and Y. M. Shirshov. 2002. Simple method for plant virus detection: effect of antibody immobilization technique. *J. Virol. Methods* 105(1): 141-146.

Bonnington, L. S., W. Henderson, and H. H. Petach. 1995. P(CH₂OH)₃-polyetheraminederived polymeric films for enzyme immobilization. *Enzyme Microb. Technol.* 17(8): 746-750.

Boom, R., C. J. A. Sol, M. M. M. Salimans, C. L. Jansen, P. M. E. Wertheim van Dillen, and J. van der Noordaa. 1990. Rapid and simple method for purification of nucleic acids. *J Clin Microbiol* 28: 495-503.

Botre, F., and F. Mazzei. 2000. Inhibition enzymic biosensors: an alternative to global toxicity bioassays for the rapid determination of phycotoxins. *Int. J. Environ. Pollut.* 13(1-6): 173-189.

Bouvrette, P., and J. H. T. Luong. 1995. Development of a flow-injection analysis (FIA) immunosensor for the detection of *Escherichia coli*. Int J Food Microbiol 27(2-3): 129-137.

Brayton, P. R., M. L. Tamplin, A. Huq, and R. R. Colwell. 1987. Enumeration of *Vibrio* cholerae O1 in Bangladesh waters by fluorescent antibody direct viable count. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 53(12): 2862-2865.

Brewster, J. D., A. G. Gehring, R. S. Mazenko, L. J. VanHouten, and C. J. Crawford. 1996. Immunoelectrochemical assays for bacteria: Use of epifluorescence microscopy and rapid-scan electrochemical techniques in development of an assay for *Salmonella*. *Analytical Chemistry* 68(23): 4153-4159.

Brewster, J. D., and R. S. Mazenko. 1998. Filtration capture and immunoelectrochemical detection for rapid assay of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *J Immunol Methods* 211(1-2): 1-8.

Brezmes, J., M. L. L. Fructuoso, E. Llobet, X. Vilanova, I. Recasens, J. Orts, G. Saiz, and X. Correig. 2005. Evaluation of an electronic nose to assess fruit ripeness. *IEEE Sens J* 5(1): 97-108.

Bronstein, I., B. Edwards, and J. C. Voyta. 1989a. 1,2-Dioxetanes - Novel chemiluminescent enzyme substrates - Applications to immunoassays. *Journal of Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence* 4(1): 99-111.

Bronstein, I., J. C. Voyta, G. H. G. Thorpe, L. J. Kricka, and G. Armstrong. 1989b. Chemiluminescent assay of alkaline phosphatase applied in an ultrasensitive enzymeimmunoassay of thyrotropin. *Clinical Chemistry* 35(7): 1441-1446.

Brooks, J. L., B. Mirhabibollahi, and R. G. Kroll. 1990. Sensitive enzyme-amplified electrical immunoassay for Protein A-bearing *Staphylococcus aureus* in foods. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 56(11): 3278-3284.

_____. 1992. Experimental enzyme-linked amperometric immunosensors for the detection of *Salmonellas* in foods. *J Appl Bacteriol* 73(3): 189-196.

Bruno, J. G., and J. L. Kiel. 1999. In vitro selection of DNA aptamers to anthrax spores with electrochemiluminescence detection. *Biosens Bioelectron* 14(5): 457-464.

Brussaard, C. P. D., A. A. M. Noordeloos, R. A. Sandaa, M. Heldal, and G. Bratbak. 2004. Discovery of a dsRNA virus infecting the marine photosynthetic protist *Micromonas pusilla*. *Virology* 319(2): 280-291.

Burestedt, E., S. Kjellstrom, J. Emneus, and G. Marko-Varga. 2000. Development of an off line noncompetitive flow immunoassay for the determination of interleukin-8 in cell samples. *Analytical Biochemistry* 279(1): 46-54.

Buzby, J., T. Roberts, J. Lin, and J. MacDonald. 1999. Bacterial foodborne disease: medical costs and productivity losses. *Report*, Economic Research Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture.

Cahn, T. M. 1993. Biosensors. London, UK: Chapman and Hall.

Cai, H., X. N. Cao, Y. Jiang, P. G. He, and Y. Z. Fang. 2003a. Carbon nanotubeenhanced electrochemical DNA biosensor for DNA hybridization detection. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry* 375(2): 287-293.

Cai, H., Y. Q. Wang, P. G. He, and Y. H. Fang. 2002. Electrochemical detection of DNA hybridization based on silver-enhanced gold nanoparticle label. *Anal Chim Acta* 469(2): 165-172.

Cai, H., Y. Xu, P. G. He, and Y. Z. Fang. 2004. Advances of the deoxyribonucleic acid immobilization on electrode surface for the electrochemical deoxyribonucleic acid biosensor designing. *Chin. J. Anal. Chem.* 32(6): 815-820.

Cai, H., Y. Xu, P.-G. He, and Y.-Z. Fang. 2003b. Indicator free DNA hybridization detection by impedance measurement based on the DNA-doped conducting polymer film formed on the carbon nanotube modified electrode. *Electroanalysis* 15(23-24): 1864-1870.

Caplenas, N. R., and M. S. Kanarek. 1984. Thermotolerant non-fecal source *Klebsiella pneumoniae*: validity of the fecal coliform test in recreational waters. *Am J Public Health* 74: 1273-1275.

Carli, K. T., C. B. Unal, V. Caner, and A. Eyigor. 2001. Detection of *Salmonella* in chicken feces by a combination of tetrathionate broth enrichment, capillary PCR and capillary gel electrophoresis. *J Clin Microbiol* 39: 1871-1876.

Carlson, S. A., L. F. Bolton, C. E. Briggs, H. S. Hurd, V. K. Sharma, P. J. Fedorka Cray, and B. D. Jones. 1999. Detection of multiresistant *Salmonella typhimurium* DT104 using multiplex and fluorogenic PCR. *Mol Cell Probes* 13(3): 213-222.

Carter, R. M., J. J. Mekalanos, M. B. Jacobs, G. J. Lubrano, and G. G. Guilbault. 1995. Quartz-crystal microbalance detection of *Vibrio cholerae* O139 serotype. *J Immunol Methods* 187(1): 121-125.

CDC. 2001. Salmonellosis. Available at:

http://www.cdc.gov/ncidod/dbmd/diseaseinfo/salmonellosis_g.htm. Accessed Sep. 02 2002.

. 2002a. Notice to Readers: Final 2001 Reports of Notifiable Diseases. *MMWR* 51(32): 710.

. 2002b. Preliminary FoodNet Data on the Incidence of Foodborne Illnesses - Selected Sites, United States, 2001. MMWR 51(15): 325-329.

Center for Food Safety & Applied Nutrition, U. S. F. D. A. 1992. Salmonella spp. In "Bad Bug Book". Available at: <u>http://www.cfsan.fda.gov/~mow/chap1.html</u>. Accessed March 21 2005.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 1996. Outbreak of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infections associated with drinking unpasteurized commercial apple Juice -- British Columbia, California, Colorado, and Washington, October 1996. *MMWR* 45(44): 975.

Chadwick, N., I. Bruce, M. Davies, B. van Gemen, R. Schukkink, K. Khan, R. Pounder, and A. Wakefield. 1998. A sensitive and robust method for measles RNA detection. J. of Virol. Meth. 70: 59-70.

Chan, S., P. M. Fauchet, Y. Li, L. J. Rothberg, and B. L. Miller. 2000. Porous silicon microcavities for biosensing applications. *Phys. Status Solidi A-Appl. Res.* 182(1): 541-546.

Chan, S., Y. Li, L. J. Rothberg, B. L. Miller, and P. M. Fauchet. 2001. Nanoscale silicon microcavities for biosensing. *Materials Science and Engineering C* 15(1-2): 277-282.

Chazalviel, J. N., A. Belaidi, M. Safi, F. Maroun, B. H. Erne, and F. Ozanam. 2000. In situ semiconductor surface characterisation: a comparative infrared study of Si, Ge and GaAs. *Electrochim. Acta* 45(20): 3205-3211.

Chen, J., and M. W. Griffiths. 1996. Salmonella detection in eggs using Lux(+) bacteriophages. Journal of Food Protection 59(9): 908-914.

Chen, S., A. Yee, M. Griffiths, K. Y. Wu, C.-N. Wang, K. Rahn, and S. A. De Grandis. 1997. A rapid, sensitive and automated method for detection of *Salmonella* species in foods using AG-9600 AmpliSensor Analyzer. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* 83: 314-321.

Chen, Z. Z., K. M. Wang, X. H. Yang, S. S. Huang, H. M. Huang, D. Li, and Q. Wang. 2003. Determination of hepatitis B surface antigen by surface plasmon resonance biosensor. *Acta Chim. Sin.* 61(1): 137-140.

Chiu, C. H., and J. T. Ou. 1996. Rapid identification of *Salmonella* serovars in feces by specific detection of virulence genes, *invA* and *spvC*, by an enrichment broth culture-multiplex PCR combination assay. *J Clin Microbiol* 34(10): 2619-2622.

Cho, Y. K., S. Kim, G. Lim, and S. Granick. 2001. A surface forces study of DNA hybridization. *Langmuir* 17(25): 7732-7734.

Choi, J.-W., C. H. Ahn, S. Bhansali, and H. T. Henderson. 2000. A new magnetic beadbased, filterless bio-separator with planar electromagnet surfaces for integrated biodetection systems. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical* 68(1-3): 34-39.

Choi, M. M. F. 2004. Progress in enzyme-based biosensors using optical transducers. *Microchim. Acta* 148(3-4): 107-132.

Clesceri, L. S., A. E. Greenberg, and A. D. Eaton, eds. 1998. *Standard methods for the examination of water and wastewater*. 20th ed. Washington, DC: American Public Health Association.

Cohen, N. D., L. J. Martin, B. Simpson, D. E. Wallis, and H. E. Neibergs. 1996. Comparison of polymerase chain reaction and microbiological culture for detection of salmonellae in equine feces and environmental samples. *Am J Vet Res* 57: 780-786.

Cohen, N. D., E. D. McGrudder, H. L. Neibergs, R. W. Bhele, D. E. Wallis, and B. M. Hargis. 1994. Detection of *Salmonella enteritidis* in feces from poultry using booster polymerase chain reaction and oligonucleotide primers specific for all number of the genus *Salmonella*. *Poultry Science* 73: 354–357.

Colwell, R. R., P. R. Brayton, D. J. Grimes, D. B. Roszak, S. A. Huq, and L. M. Palmer. 1985. Viable but non-culturable *Vibrio cholerae* and related pathogens in the environment - implications for release of genetically engineered microorganisms. *Biotechnology* 3(9): 817-820.

Como-Sabetti, K., S. Allaire, *et al.* 1997. Outbreaks of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infection associated with eating alfalfa sprouts — Michigan and Virginia, June–July 1997. *MMWR* 46(32): 741-744.

Connor, C. J., H. L. Luo, B. B. M. Gardener, and H. H. Wang. 2005. Development of a real-time PCR-based system targeting the 16S rRNA gene sequence for rapid detection of *Alicyclobacillus* spp. in juice products. *Int J Food Microbiol* 99(3): 229-235.

Cosnier, S. 1998. Fabrication of amperometric biosensors by entrapment of enzymes in functionalized polypyrrole films. *Can. J. Chem. Eng.* 76(6): 1000-1007.

Crist Jr., A. E., L. M. Johnson, and P. J. Burke. 1996. Evaluation of the Microbial Identification System for identification of clinically isolated yeasts. *J Clin Microbiol* 34(10): 2408-2410.

Cullis, A. G., L. T. Canham, and P. D. J. Calcott. 1997. The structural and luminescence properties of porous silicon. J. Appl. Phys. 82(3): 909-965.

Curiale, M. S., V. Gangar, and C. Gravens. 1997. VIDAS enzymelinked fluorescent immunoassay for detection of *Salmonella* in foods: collaborative study. *J AOAC Int* 80: 491-504.

Cush, R., J. M. Cronin, W. J. Stewart, C. H. Maule, J. Molloy, and N. J. Goddard. 1993. The resonant mirror - a novel optical biosensor for direct sensing of biomolecular interactions .1. Principle of operation and associated instrumentation. *Biosens Bioelectron* 8(7-8): 347-353.

Daly, P., T. Collier, and S. Doyle. 2002. PCR-ELISA detection of *Escherichia coli* in milk. *Lett Appl Microbiol* 34(3): 222-226.

Dancil, K.-P. S., D. P. Greiner, and M. J. Sailor. 1999. *Development of a porous silicon based biosensor*. Proceedings of the 1998 MRS Fall Meeting - Symposium F 'Microcrystalline and Nanocrystalline Semiconductors', Boston, MA, USA, Materials Research Society, Warrendale, PA, USA. Vol. 536: 557-562.

D'Aoust, J.-Y. 1997. Salmonella Species. In Food microbiology fundamentals and frontiers, 129-159. M. P. Doyle, L. R. Beuchat and T. J. Montville, eds. Washington D.C.: American Society of Microbiology Press.

Davis, M., C. Osaki, *et al.* 1993. Update: Multistate outbreak of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infections from hamburgers -- Western United States, 1992-1993. *MMWR* 42(14): 258-263.

De Medici, D., G. Pezzotti, C. Marfoglia, D. Caciolo, G. Foshi, and L. Orefice. 1998. Comparison between ICS-Vidas, MSRV and standard cultural method for *Salmonella* recovery in poultry meat. *International Journal for Food Microbiology* 45: 205-210.

De Roever, C. 1998. Microbiological safety evaluations and recommendations on fresh produce. *Food Control* 9(6): 321-347.

Del Pozo, M. V., C. Alonso, F. Pariente, and E. Lorenzo. 2005. Electrochemical DNA sensing using osmium complexes as hybridization indicators. *Biosens Bioelectron* 20(8): 1549-1558.

DeLong, E. F. 1993. Single-cell identification using fluorescently labeled, ribosomal RNA-specific probes. In *Handbook of Methods in Aquatic Microbial Ecology*, 285-294. P. F. Kemp, B. F. Sherr, E. B. Sherr and J. J. Cole, eds. Boca Raton, FL, USA: Lewis Publishers.

DeLouise, L. A., and B. L. Miller. 2005. Enzyme immobilization in porous silicon: Quantitative analysis of the kinetic parameters for glutathione-S-transferases. *Analytical Chemistry* 77(7): 1950-1956.

Delwiche, M., E. Cox, B. Goddeeris, C. Van Dorpe, J. De Baerdemaeker, E. Decuypere, and W. Sansen. 2000. A biosensor to detect penicillin residues in food. *Transactions of the ASAE* 43(1): 153-159.

Demarco, D. R., and D. V. Lim. 2002. Detection of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in 10- and 25-gram ground beef samples with an evanescent-wave biosensor with silica and polystyrene waveguides. *J Food Prot* 65(4): 596-602.

De-Medici, D., L. Croci, E. Delibato, S. Di-Pasquale, E. Filetici, and L. Toti. 2003. Evaluation of DNA extraction methods for use in combination with SYBR Green I realtime PCR to detect *Salmonella* enterica serotype enteritidis in poultry. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 69(6): 3456-3461.

Deshpande, A., S. F. Dsouza, and G. B. Nadkarni. 1986. Immobilization of microbialcells in gelatin using gamma-irradiation. *Indian J. Biochem. Biophys.* 23(6): 353-354.

Desilva, M. S., Y. Zhang, P. J. Hesketh, G. J. Maclay, S. M. Gendel, and J. R. Stetter. 1995. Impedance based sensing of the specific binding reaction between *Staphylococcus* Enterotoxin-B and its antibody on an ultra-thin platinum film. *Biosens Bioelectron* 10(8): 675-682.

Dezenclos, T., M. Asconcabrera, D. Ascon, J. M. Lebeault, and A. Pauss. 1994. Optimization of the indirect impedancemetry technique - a handy technique for microbial-growth measurement. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* 42(2-3): 232-238.

Dill, K., L. H. Stanker, and C. R. Young. 1999a. Detection of *Salmonella* in poultry using a silicon chip-based biosensor. *J Biochem Biophys Methods* 41(1): 61-67.

_____. 1999b. Detection of Salmonella in poultry using a silicon chip-based biosensor. J Biochem Biophys Methods 41(1): 61-67.

Ding, T., U. Bilitewski, R. D. Schmid, D. J. Korz, and E. A. Sanders. 1993. Control of microbial activity by flow injection analysis during high cell density cultivation of *E. coli. J Biotechnol* 27: 143-157.

Dodeigne, C., L. Thunus, and R. Lejeune. 2000. Chemiluminescence as a diagnostic tool. A review. *Talanta* 51(3): 415-439.

Doktycz, M. J., C. J. Sullivan, P. R. Hoyt, D. A. Pelletier, S. Wu, and D. P. Allison. 2003. AFM imaging of bacteria in liquid media immobilized on gelatin coated mica surfaces. *Ultramicroscopy* 97(1-4): 209-216.

Donnelly, C. W., and G. J. Baigent. 1986. Method for flow cytometric detection of *Listeria monocytogenes* in milk. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 52(4): 689-695.

Downes, F. P., and K. Ito, eds. 2001. Compendium of methods for the microbiological examination of foods. 4th ed. Washington, DC: American Public Health Association.
Dupont, J., D. Menard, C. Herve, F. Chevalier, B. Beliaeff, and B. Minier. 1996. Rapid estimation of *Escherichia coli* in live marine bivalve shellfish using automated conductance measurement. *J Appl Bacteriol* 80(1): 81-90.

Dutta, R., J. W. Gardner, and E. L. Hines. 2004. Classification of ear, nose, and throat bacteria using a neural-network-based electronic nose. *MRS Bull*. 29(10): 709-713.

Duverlie, G., L. Houbart, B. Visse, J. J. Chomel, J. C. Manuguerra, C. Hannoun, and J. Orfila. 1992. A nylon membrane enzyme-immunoassay for rapid diagnosis of influenza-A infection. *J Virol Methods* 40(1): 77-84.

Egholm, M., O. Buchard, *et al.* 1993. PNA hybridizes to complementary oligonucleotides obeying the Watson–Crick hydrogen bonding rules. *Nature* 365: 556-558.

Ehret, R., W. Baumann, M. Brischwein, A. Schwinde, K. Stegbauer, and B. Wolf. 1997. Monitoring of cellular behaviour by impedance measurements on interdigitated electrode structures. *Biosens Bioelectron* 12(1): 29-41.

Ercole, C., M. Del Gallo, L. Mosiello, S. Baccella, and A. Lepidi. 2003. *Escherichia coli* detection in vegetable food by a potentiometric biosensor. *Sens. Actuator B-Chem.* 91(1-3): 163-168.

Ercole, C., M. Del Gallo, M. Pantalone, S. Santucci, L. Mosiello, C. Laconi, and A. Lepidi. 2002. A biosensor for *Escherichia coli* based on a potentiometric alternating biosensing (PAB) transducer. *Sens. Actuator B-Chem.* 83(1-3): 48-52.

Esch, M. B., L. E. Locascio, M. J. Tarlov, and R. A. Durst. 2001. Detection of viable *Cryptosporidium parvum* using DNA-modified liposomes in a microfluidic chip. *Analytical Chemistry* 73: 2952-2958.

Eun, A. J. C., L. Q. Huang, F. T. Chew, S. F. Y. Li, and S. M. Wong. 2002. Detection of two orchid viruses using quartz crystal microbalance-based DNA biosensors. *Phytopathology* 92(6): 654-658.

Ewing, W. H. 1986. *Edwards and Ewing's identification of Enterobacteriaceae*. 4th ed. New York, NY: Elsevier.

Eyigor, A., and K. T. Carli. 2003. Rapid detection of *Salmonella* from poultry by realtime polymerase chain reaction with fluorescent hybridization probes. *Avian Dis* 41: 380-386.

Eyigor, A., K. T. Carli, and C. B. Unal. 2002. Implementation of real-time PCR to tetrathionate broth enrichment step of *Salmonella* detection in poultry. *Lett Appl Microbiol* 34: 37-41.

Farre, M., and D. Barcelo. 2003. Toxicity testing of wastewater and sewage sludge by biosensors, bioassays and chemical analysis. *Trends in Analytical Chemistry* 22(5): 299-310.

Farrell, J. J., L. J. Doyle, R. M. Addison, L. B. Reller, G. S. Hall, and G. W. Procop. 2005. Broad-range (Pan) *Salmonella* and *Salmonella* serotype Typhi-specific real-time PCR assays - Potential tools for the clinical microbiologist. *Am J Clin Pathol* 123(3): 339-345.

Feng, P. 1992. Commercial assay systems for detecting foodborne Salmonella - a review. Journal of Food Protection 55(11): 927-934.

Feng, P., and S. D. Weagant. 2002. Diarrheagenic *Escherichia coli* In Bacteriological Analytical Manual Online. US Food and Drug Administration/Center for Food Safety and Applied Nutrition. Available at: <u>http://www.cfsan.fda.gov/~ebam/bam-toc.html</u>. Accessed February 8 2005.

Feng, P., S. D. Weagant, and M. A. Grant. 2002. Enumeration of *Escherichia coli* and the Coliform Bacteria. US Food and Drug Administration/Center for Food Safety and Applied Nutrition. Available at: <u>http://www.cfsan.fda.gov/~ebam/bam-toc.html</u>. Accessed February 3 2005.

Feriotto, G., M. Borgatti, C. Mischiati, N. Bianchi, and R. Gambari. 2002. Biosensor technology and surface plasmon resonance for real-time detection of genetically modified roundup ready soybean gene sequences. J. Agric. Food Chem. 50(5): 955-962.

Fichera, M., S. Libertino, and G. D'Arrigo. 2003. *Porous - Si based bio reactors for glucose monitoring*. Bioengineered and Bioinspired Systems, May 19-21 2003, Maspalomas, Gran Canaria, Spain, The International Society for Optical Engineering. Vol. 5119: 149-155.

Flounders, A. W., D. L. Brandon, and A. H. Bates. 1995. Immobilization of thiabendazole-specific monoclonal antibodies to silicon substrates via aqueous silanization. *Appl Biochem Biotechnol* 50(3): 265-284.

Foley-Thomas, E. M., D. L. Whipple, L. E. Bermudez, and R. G. Barletta. 1995. Phage infection, transfection and transformation of *Mycobacterium avium* complex and *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis*. *Microbiol.-UK* 141: 1173-1181.

Food and Drug Administration. 2000. *Bacteriological Analytical Manual*. 8th ed. Arlington, VA: Association of Analytical Chemists.

Fratamico, P. M., L. K. Bagi, and T. Pepe. 2000. A multiplex polymerase chain reaction assay for rapid detection and identification of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in foods and bovine feces. *J Food Prot* 63(8): 1032-1037.

Fratamico, P. M., T. P. Strobaugh, M. B. Medina, and A. G. Gehring. 1998. Detection of *E. coli* O157:H7 using a surface-plasmon resonance biosensor. *Biotechnol Techn* 12(7): 571-576.

Frebort, I., L. Skoupa, and P. Pec. 2000. Amine oxidase-based flow biosensor for the assessment of fish freshness. *Food Control* 11(1): 13-18.

Fricker, E. J., and C. R. Fricker. 1994. Application of the polymerase chain reaction to the identification of *Escherichia coli* and coliforms in water. *Letters in Applied Microbiology* 19(1): 44-46.

Fu, Y. Z., R. Yuan, L. Xu, Y. Q. Chai, Y. Liu, D. P. Tang, and Y. Zhang. 2005. Electrochemical impedance behavior of DNA biosensor based on colloidal Ag and bilayer two-dimensional sol-gel as matrices. *J. Biochem. Biophys. Methods* 62(2): 163-174.

Gagnon, S. 2005. It's elemental - Silicon. Thomas Jefferson National Accelerator Facility - Office of Science Education. Available at: http://education.jlab.org/itselemental/ele014.html. Accessed June 21 2005.

Gao, Z. X., Y. J. Fang, J. Ren, B. Ning, H. Z. Zhu, and Y. H. He. 2004. Studies on biotinavidin indirect conjugated technology for a piezoelectric DNA sensor. *Int J Environ Anal Chem* 84(8): 599-606.

Garcia-Gonzalez, D. L., N. Barie, M. Rapp, and R. Aparicio. 2004. Analysis of virgin olive oil volatiles by a novel electronic nose based on a miniaturized SAW sensor array coupled with SPME enhanced headspace enrichment. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 52(25): 7475-7479.

Gau, J.-J., E. H. Lan, B. Dunn, C.-M. Ho, and J. C. S. Woo. 2001. A MEMS based amperometric detector for *E. coli* bacteria using self-assembled monolayers. *Biosens Bioelectron* 16(9-12): 745-755.

Gehring, A. G., C. G. Crawford, R. S. Mazenko, L. J. VanHouten, and J. D. Brewster. 1996. Enzyme-linked immunomagnetic electrochemical detection of *Salmonella* Typhimurium. *J Immunol Methods* 195(1-2): 15-25.

Gehring, A. G., D. L. Patterson, and S. I. Tu. 1998. Use of a light-addressable potentiometric sensor for the detection of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *Analytical Biochemistry* 258(2): 293-298.

Geng, T., M. T. Morgan, and A. K. Bhunia. 2004. Detection of low levels of *Listeria* monocytogenes cells by using a fiber-optic immunosensor. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 70(10): 6138-6146.

Gerard, M., A. Chaubey, and B. D. Malhotra. 2002. Application of conducting polymers to biosensors. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* 17(5): 345-359.

Gerischer, H., P. Allongue, and V. C. Kieling. 1993. The mechanism of the anodicoxidation of silicon in acidic fluoride solutions revisited. *Ber. Bunsen-Ges. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* 97(6): 753-756.

Gerischer, H., and M. Lubke. 1987. The electrochemical behavior of n-type silicon (111)surfaces in fluoride containing aqueous-electrolytes. *Ber. Bunsen-Ges. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* 91(4): 394-398.

_____. 1988. On the etching of silicon by oxidants in ammonium fluoride solutions - a mechanistic study. J. Electrochem. Soc. 135(11): 2782-2786.

Ghindilis, A. L., P. Atanasov, M. Wilkins, and E. Wilkins. 1998. Immunosensors: Electrochemical sensing and other engineering approaches. *Biosens Bioelectron* 13(1): 113-131.

Gibson, T. D., O. Prosser, J. N. Hulbert, R. W. Marshall, P. Corcoran, P. Lowery, E. A. Ruck-Keene, and S. Heron. 1997. Detection and simultaneous identification of microorganisms from headspace samples using an electronic nose. *Sens. Actuator B-Chem.* 44(1-3): 413-422.

Giese, J. 1995. Rapid microbiological testing kits and instruments. *Food Tech.* 49(7): 63-71.

Gillespie, P. G., and A. J. Hudspeth. 1991. Chemiluminescence detection of proteins from single cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 88(6): 2563-2567.

González, I., T. Garcia, A. Fernandez, B. Sanz, P. E. Hernandez, and R. Martin. 1999. Rapid enumeration of *Escherichia coli* in oysters by a quantitative PCR-ELISA. *J Appl Microbiol* 86: 231-236.

Gouws, P. A., M. Visser, and V. S. Brozel. 1998. A polymerase chain reaction procedure for the detection of *Salmonella* spp. within 24 hours. *Journal of Food Protection* 61(8): 1039-1042.

Graham, C. R., D. Leslie, and D. J. Squirrell. 1992. Gene probe assays on a fiberoptic evanescent wave biosensor. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics* 7(7): 487-493.

Gu, M. B., and S. H. Choi. 2001. Monitoring and classification of toxicity using recombinant bioluminescent bacteria. *Water Science and Technology* 43(2): 147-154.

Gunaratna, P. C., and G. S. Wilson. 1993. Noncompetitive flow-injection immunoassay for a hapten, alpha-(difluoromethyl)ornithine. *Analytical Chemistry* 65(9): 1152-1157.

Gunasekera, T. S., P. V. Attfield, and D. A. Veal. 2000. A flow cytometry method for rapid detection and enumeration of total bacteria in milk. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 66(3): 1228-1232.

Gustavsson, E., P. Bjurling, and A. Sternesjo. 2002. Biosensor analysis of penicillin G in milk based on the inhibition of carboxypeptidase activity. *Anal Chim Acta* 468(1): 153-159.

Haasnoot, W., E. Loomans, G. Cazemier, R. Dietrich, R. Verheijen, A. A. Bergwerff, and R. W. Stephany. 2002. Direct versus competitive biosensor immunoassays for the detection of (dihydro)streptomycin residues in milk. *Food Agri Immunol* 14(1): 15-27.

Haasnoot, W., and R. Verheijen. 2001. A direct (Non-Competitive) immunoassay for gentamicin residues with an optical biosensor. *Food Agri Immunol* 13(2): 131-134.

Haes, A. J., and R. P. Van Duyne. 2002. A nanoscale optical biosensor: sensitivity and selectivity of an approach based on the localized surface plasmon resonance spectroscopy of triangular silver nanoparticles. *J Am Chem Soc* 124(35): 10596-10604.

Halimaoui, A. 1997. Porous silicon formation by anodization. In *Properties of porous silicon*, 12-14. L. Canham, ed. London, UK: INSPEC, The Institution of Electrical Engineers.

Hanai, K., M. Satake, H. Nakanishi, and K. Venkatsewaran. 1997. Comparison of commercially available kits with standard methods for detection of *Salmonella* strains in foods. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 63: 775-778.

Hartley, H. A., and A. J. Baeumner. 2003. Biosensor for the specific detection of a single viable *B. anthracis* spore. *Anal Bioanal Chem* 376(3): 319-327.

He, F. J., and S. Q. Liu. 2004. Detection of *P. aeruginosa* using nano-structured electrode-separated piezoelectric DNA biosensor. *Talanta* 62(2): 271-277.

Hendriks, H. A., W. Kortlandt, and W. M. Verweij. 2000. Standardized comparison of processing capacity and efficiency of five new-generation immunoassay analyzers. *Clinical Chemistry* 46(1): 105-111.

Herman, L. 1997. Detection of viable and dead *Listeria monocytogenes* by PCR. Food Microbiology 14(2): 103-110.

Herne, T. M., and M. J. Tarlov. 1997. Characterization of DNA probes immobilized on gold surfaces. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 119(38): 8916-8920.

Hianik, T., V. Gajdos, R. Krivanek, T. Oretskaya, V. Metelev, E. Volkov, and P. Vadgama. 2001. Amperometric detection of DNA hybridization on a gold surface

depends on the orientation of oligonucleotide chains. *Bioelectrochemistry* 53(2): 199-204.

Hirmo, S., E. Artursson, G. Puu, T. Wadstrom, and B. Nilsson. 1998. Characterization of *Helicobacter pylori* interactions with sialylglycoconjugates using a resonant mirror biosensor. *Anal Biochem* 257(1): 63-66.

Hirschman, K. D., L. Tsybeskov, S. P. Duttagupta, and P. M. Fauchet. 1996. Siliconbased visible light-emitting devices integrated into microelectronic circuits. *Nature* 384(6607): 338-341.

Ho, J. A. A., and R. A. Durst. 2000. Development of a flow-injection liposome immunoanalysis system for fumonisin B1. *Anal Chim Acta* 414(1-2): 61-69.

_____. 2003. Detection of fumonisin B1: comparison of flow-injection liposome immunoanalysis with high-performance liquid chromatography. *Analytical Biochemistry* 312(1): 7-13.

Ho, J.-a. A., H.-W. Hsu, and M.-R. Huang. 2004. Liposome-based microcapillary immunosensor for detection of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *Analytical Biochemistry* 330(2): 342-349.

Hobson, N. S., I. Tothill, and A. P. F. Turner. 1996. Microbial Detection. *Biosens Bioelectron* 11(5): 455-477.

Hock, B. 1996. Advances in immunochemical detection of microorganisms. Ann Biol Clin (Paris) 54(6): 243-252.

Hofmann, O., G. Voirin, P. Niedermann, and A. Manz. 2002. Three-dimensional microfluidic confinement for efficient sample delivery to biosensor surfaces. application to immunoassays on planar optical waveguides. *Anal Chem* 74(20): 5243-5250.

Hong, Y., M. E. Berrang, T. Liu, C. L. Hofacre, S. Sanchez, L. Wang, and J. J. Maurer. 2003. Rapid detection of *Campylobacter coli*, *C. jejuni*, and *Salmonella enterica* on poultry carcasses by using PCR-enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 69(6): 3492-3499.

Horsburgh, A. M., D. P. Mardlin, N. L. Turner, R. Henkler, N. Strachan, L. A. Glover, G. I. Paton, and K. Killham. 2002. On-line microbial biosensing and fingerprinting of water pollutants. *Biosens Bioelectron* 17(6-7): 495-501.

Hu, W. G., H. G. Thompson, A. Z. Alvi, L. P. Nagata, M. R. Suresh, and R. E. Fulton. 2004. Development of immunofiltration assay by light addressable potentiometric sensor with genetically biotinylated recombinant antibody for rapid identification of *Venezuelan equine encephalitis virus*. J Immunol Methods 289(1-2): 27-35.

Huang, T. S., Y. Tzeng, Y. K. Liu, Y. K. Chen, K. R. Walker, R. Guntupalli, and C. Liu. 2004. Immobilization of antibodies and bacterial binding on nanodiamond and carbon nanotubes for biosensor applications. *Diam. Relat. Mat.* 13(4-8): 1098-1102.

Hübner, I., I. Steinmetz, U. Obst, D. Giebel, and D. Bitter-Suermann. 1992. Rapid determination of members of the family *Enterobacteriaceae* in drinking water by an immunological assay using a monoclonal antibody against enterobacterial common antigen. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 58: 3187-3191.

Husain, S., and F. Jafri. 1995. Covalent immobilization of invertase and horseradish peroxidase on Concanavalin A-Seralose via carbohydrate moieties. *Biochem. Mol. Biol. Int.* 36(3): 669-677.

Ilic, B., Y. Yang, and H. G. Craighead. 2004. Virus detection using nanoelectromechanical devices. *Applied Physics Letters* 85(13): 2604-2606.

Iqbal, S., J. Robinson, D. Deere, J. R. Saunders, C. Edwards, and J. Porter. 1997. Efficiency of the polymerase chain reaction amplification of the *uid* gene for detection of *Escherichia coli* in contaminated water. *Letters in Applied Microbiology* 24: 498-502.

Itoh, Y., Y. Sugita-Konishi, F. Kasuga, M. Iwaki, Y. Hara-Kuda, N. Saito, Y. Noguchi, H. Konuma, and S. Kumagai. 1998. Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 present in radish sprouts. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 64(4): 1532-1535.

Ivekovic, D., S. Milardovic, and B. S. Grabaric. 2004. Palladium hexacyanoferrate hydrogel as a novel and simple enzyme immobilization matrix for amperometric biosensors. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics* 20(4): 872-878.

Ivnitski, D., E. Wilkins, H. T. Tien, and A. Ottova. 2000. Electrochemical biosensor based on supported planar lipid bilayers for fast detection of pathogenic bacteria. *Electrochem Commun* 2(7): 457-460.

Jackson, E., M. Delwiche, J. Barak, A. Charkowski, and T. Suslow. 2004. Sensor components for PCR detection of *Salmonella* in alfalfa sprout irrigation water. *Transactions of the ASAE* 47(6): 2137-2144.

Jacobs, M. B., R. M. Carter, G. J. Lubrano, and G. G. Guilbault. 1995. A piezoelectric biosensor for *Listeria monocytogenes*. Am. Lab. 27(11): 26-28.

Jain, S. R., E. Borowska, R. Davidsson, M. Tudorache, E. Ponten, and J. Emneus. 2004. A chemiluminescence flow immunosensor based on a porous monolithic metacrylate and polyethylene composite disc modified with Protein G. *Biosens Bioelectron* 19(8): 795-803. Jain, V. K., and I. T. Magrath. 1991. A chemiluminescent assay for quantitation of betagalactosidase in the femtogram range: application to quantitation of beta-galactosidase in lacZ-transfected cells. *Analytical Biochemistry* 199(1): 119-124.

Janshoff, A., K.-P. S. Dancil, C. Steinem, D. P. Greiner, V. S.-Y. Lin, C. Gurtner, K. Motesharei, M. J. Sailor, and M. R. Ghadiri. 1998. Macroporous p-type silicon Fabry-Perot layers. Fabrication, characterization, and applications in biosensing. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 120(46): 12108-12116.

Jenkins, S. H., W. R. Heineman, and H. B. Halsall. 1988. Extending the detection limit of solid-phase electrochemical enzyme-immunoassay to the attomole level. *Analytical Biochemistry* 168(2): 292-299.

Jongerius-Gortemaker, B. G. M., R. L. J. Goverde, F. van Knapen, and A. A. Bergwerff. 2002. Surface plasmon resonance (BIACORE) detection of serum antibodies against *Salmonella* Enteritidis and *Salmonella* Typhimurium. *J Immunol Methods* 266(1-2): 33-44.

Jordan, C. E., A. G. Frutos, A. J. Thiel, and R. M. Corn. 1997. Surface plasmon resonance imaging measurements of DNA hybridization adsorption and streptavidin/DNA multilayer formation at chemically modified gold surfaces. *Anal. Chem.* 69(24): 4939-4947.

Jothikumar, N., X. Wang, and M.-W. Griffiths. 2003. Real-time multiplex SYBR green Ibased PCR assay for simultaneous detection of *Salmonella* serovars and *Listeria monocytogenes*. Journal of Food Protection 66(11): 2141-2145.

Ju, H. X., Y. K. Ye, J. H. Zhao, and Y. L. Zhu. 2003. Hybridization biosensor using di(2,2 '-bipyridine)osmium (III) as electrochemical indicator for detection of polymerase chain reaction product of hepatitis B virus DNA. *Analytical Biochemistry* 313(2): 255-261.

Juck, D., J. Ingram, M. Prévost, J. Coallier, and C. Greer. 1996. Nested PCR protocol for the rapid detection of *Escherichia coli* in potable water. *Can J Microbiol* 42: 862-866.

Jungblut, H., J. Jakubowicz, S. Schweizer, and H. J. Lewerenz. 2002. Mechanism of initial structure formation on highly doped n-Si (111). J. Electroanal. Chem. 527(1-2): 41-46.

Just, T., H. Burgwald, and M. K. Broe. 1998. Flow cytometric detection of EB (EBER snRNA) using peptide nucleic acid probes. *J Virol Methods* 73: 163-174.

Kai, E., K. Ikebukuro, S. Hoshina, H. Watanabe, and I. Karube. 2000. Detection of PCR products of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in human stool samples using surface plasmon resonance (SPR). *FEMS Immunology and Medical Microbiology* 29(4): 283-288.

Kara, P., B. Meric, A. Zeytinoglu, and M. Ozsoz. 2004. Electrochemical DNA biosensor for the detection and discrimination of herpes simplex Type I and Type II viruses from PCR amplified real samples. *Anal Chim Acta* 518(1-2): 69-76.

Karmali, M. A. 1989. Infection by verotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli*. Clin Microbiol Rev 2(1): 15-38.

Karube, I., and Y. Nomura. 2000. Enzyme sensors for environmental analysis. J. Mol. Catal. B-Enzym. 10(1-3): 177-181.

Kaspar, C. W., and C. Tartera. 1990. Methods for detecting microbial pathogens in food and water. *Methods Mircrobiol.* 22: 497-531.

Kerman, K., D. Ozkan, P. Kara, B. Meric, J. J. Gooding, and M. Ozsoz. 2002. Voltammetric determination of DNA hybridization using methylene blue and selfassembled alkanethiol monolayer on gold electrodes. *Anal Chim Acta* 462(1): 39-47.

Kfir, R., and B. Genthe. 1993. Advantages and disadvantages of the use of immunodetection techniques for the enumeration of microorganisms and toxins in water. *Water Science and Technology* 27: 243-252.

Kim, B. B., V. V. Pisarev, and A. M. Egorov. 1991. A comparative-study of peroxidases from horse radish and *Arthromyces ramosus* as labels in luminol-mediated chemiluminescent assays. *Analytical Biochemistry* 199(1): 1-6.

Kim, H. J., H. P. Bennetto, and M. A. Halablab. 1995. A novel liposome-based electrochemical biosensor for the detection of hemolytic microorganisms. *Biotechnol Techn* 9(6): 389-394.

Kim, N., I. S. Park, and D. K. Kim. 2004. Characteristics of a label-free piezoelectric immunosensor detecting *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Sens. Actuator B-Chem. 100(3): 432-438.

Kimball, J. W. 2003. The operon. Available at: <u>http://users.rcn.com/jkimball.ma.ultranet/BiologyPages/L/LacOperon.html</u>. Accessed 8 June 2003.

King, M. W. 2002. Control of gene expression. Available at: <u>http://www.indstate.edu/thcme/mwking/gene-regulation.html</u>. Accessed November 18 2002.

Kobayashi, M., K. B. Takashi, M. Saito, S. Kaji, M. Oomura, S. Iwabuchi, Y. Morita, Q. Hasan, and E. Tamiya. 2004. Electrochemical DNA quantification based on aggregation induced by Hoechst 33258. *Electrochem. Commun.* 6(4): 337-343.

Kohler, S., S. Belkin, and R. D. Schmid. 2000. Reporter gene bioassays in environmental analysis. *Fresenius J. Anal. Chem.* 366(6-7): 769-779.

Kolasinski, K. W. 2003. The mechanism of Si etching in fluoride solutions. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* 5(6): 1270-1278.

Koncki, R., A. Radomska, and S. Glab. 2000. Potentiometric determination of dialysate urea nitrogen. *Talanta* 52(1): 13-17.

Koronczi, I., J. Reichert, H.-J. Ache, C. Krause, T. Werner, and O. S. Wolfbeis. 2001. Submicron sensors for ion detection based on measurement of luminescence decay time. Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical 74(1-3): 47-53.

Kostrzynska, M., K. T. Leung, H. Lee, and J. T. Trevors. 2002. Green fluorescent protein-based biosensor for detecting SOS-inducing activity of genotoxic compounds. *J Microbiol Methods* 48(1): 43-51.

Kotlowski, R., A. Martin, A. Ablordey, K. Chemlal, P.-A. Fonteyne, and F. Portaels. 2004. One-tube cell lysis and DNA extraction procedure for PCR-based detection of *Mycobacterium ulcerans* in aquatic insects, molluscs and fish. *J Med Microbiol* 53(9): 927-933.

Koubova, V., E. Brynda, L. Karasova, J. Skvor, J. Homola, J. Dostalek, P. Tobiska, and J. Rosicky. 2001a. Detection of foodborne pathogens using surface plasmon resonance biosensors. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical* 74(1-3): 100-105.

. 2001b. Detection of foodborne pathogens using surface plasmon resonance biosensors. Sens. Actuator B-Chem. 74(1-3): 100-105.

Kozlov, A. V., A. N. Osipov, and Y. A. Vladimirov. 1990. Mechanism of luminoledependent chemiluminescence of human blood-serum in the presence of hydrogenperoxide. *Biofizika* 35(2): 347-349.

Kricka, L. J. 1991. Chemiluminescent and bioluminescent techniques. *Clinical Chemistry* 37(9): 1472-1481.

. 2003. Clinical applications of chemiluminescence. *Analytica Chimica Acta* 500(1-2): 279-286.

Kriz, K., L. Kraft, M. Krook, and D. Kriz. 2002. Amperometric determination of Llactate based on entrapment of lactate oxidase on a transducer surface with a semipermeable membrane using a SIRE technology based biosensor. Application: Tomato paste and baby food. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 50(12): 3419-3424. Kukanskis, K., J. Elkind, J. Melendez, T. Murphy, G. Miller, and H. Garner. 1999. Detection of DNA hybridization using the TISPR-1 surface plasmon resonance biosensor. *Anal. Biochem.* 274(1): 7-17.

Kuswandi, B., R. Andres, and R. Narayanaswamy. 2001. Optical fibre biosensors based on immobilised enzymes. *Analyst* 126(8): 1469-1491.

Lange, J., and C. Wittmann. 2002. Enzyme sensor array for the determination of biogenic amines in food samples. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry* 372(2): 276-283.

Laschi, S., and M. Mascini. 2002. Disposable electrochemical immunosensor for environmental applications. *Ann. Chim.* 92(4): 425-433.

Lathrop, A. A., Z. W. Jaradat, T. Haley, and A. K. Bhunia. 2003. Characterization and application of a *Listeria monocytogenes* reactive monoclonal antibody C11E9 in a resonant mirror biosensor. *J Immunol Methods* 281(1-2): 119-128.

Lee, H. Y., J. W. Park, H. S. Jung, J. M. Kim, and T. Kawai. 2004. Electrochemical assay of nonlabeled DNA chip and SNOM imaging by using streptavidin-biotin interaction. *J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol.* 4(7): 882-885.

Lee, J. A., and R. A. Denninger. 1999. A rapid method for detecting bacteria in drinking water. *J Rapid Methods Autom Microbiol* 7: 135-145.

Lee, J. S., Y.-K. Choi, M. Pio, J. Seo, and L. P. Lee. 2002. *Nanogap capacitors for label free DNA analysis*. BioMEMS and Bionanotechnology, San Francisco, CA, United States, Materials Research Society. Vol. 729: 185-190.

Lee, W. E., H. G. Thompson, J. G. Hall, and D. E. Bader. 2000. Rapid detection and identification of biological and chemical agents by immunoassay, gene probe assay and enzyme inhibition using a silicon-based biosensor. *Biosens Bioelectron* 14(10-11): 795-804.

Lee, Y. G., and K. S. Chang. 2005. Application of a flow type quartz crystal microbalance immunosensor for real time determination of cattle bovine ephemeral fever virus in liquid. *Talanta* 65(5): 1335-1342.

Leonard, P., S. Hearty, J. Quinn, and R. O'Kennedy. 2004. A generic approach for the detection of whole *Listeria monocytogenes* cells in contaminated samples using surface plasmon resonance. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics* 19(10): 1331-1335.

Li, J. H., and J. B. Hu. 2004. Functional gold nanoparticle-enhanced electrochemical determination of DNA hybridization and sequence-speciric analysis. *Acta Chim. Sin.* 62(20): 2081-2088.

Li, M. J., X. C. Tan, R. P. Liang, X. Y. Zou, and P. X. Cai. 2004. A tissue biosensor based on sol-gel immobilization technique. *Chin. J. Anal. Chem.* 32(10): 1291-1294.

Lim, D. V. 2003. Detection of microorganisms and toxins with evanescent wave fiberoptic biosensors. *Proc. IEEE* 91(6): 902-907.

Lin, H. C., and W. C. Tsai. 2003. Piezoelectric crystal immunosensor for the detection of staphylococcal enterotoxin B. *Biosens Bioelectron* 18(12): 1479-1483.

Lin, J. H., and H. X. Ju. 2005. Electrochemical and chemiluminescent immunosensors for tumor markers. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics* 20(8): 1461-1470.

Lin, J. H., F. Yan, and H. X. Ju. 2004a. Noncompetitive enzyme immunoassay for alphafetoprotein using flow injection chemiluminescence. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology* 117(2): 93-102.

_____. 2004b. Noncompetitive enzyme immunoassay for carcinoembryonic antigen by flow injection chemiluminescence. *Clinica Chimica Acta* 341(1-2): 109-115.

Lin, J. S., and H. Y. Tsen. 1999. Development and use of polymerase chain reaction for the specific detection of *Salmonella* Typhimurium in stool and food samples. *J Food Prot* 62: 1103-1110.

Lin, V. S., K. Motesharei, K. P. Dancil, M. J. Sailor, and M. R. Ghadiri. 1997. A porous silicon-based optical interferometric biosensor. *Science* 278(5339): 840-843.

Liu, R., T. A. Schmedake, Y. Y. Li, M. J. Sailor, and Y. Fainman. 2002. Novel porous silicon vapor sensor based on polarization interferometry. *Sens. Actuator B-Chem.* 87(1): 58-62.

Liu, X., W. Farmerie, S. Schuster, and W. Tan. 2000. Molecular beacons for DNA biosensors with micrometer to submicrometer dimensions. *Analytical Biochemistry* 283(1): 56-63.

Liu, X., and W. Tan. 1999. A fiber-optic evanescent wave DNA biosensor based on novel molecular beacons. *Anal Chem* 71(22): 5054-5059.

Liu, Y. C., J. M. Ye, and Y. B. Li. 2003. Rapid detection of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 inoculated in ground beef, chicken carcass, and lettuce samples with an immunomagnetic chemiluminescence fiber-optic biosensor. *Journal of Food Protection* 66(3): 512-517.

Lobnik, A., and M. Cajlakovic. 2001. Sol-gel based optical sensor for continuous determination of dissolved hydrogen peroxide. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical* 74(1-3): 194-199.

Loni, A., L. T. Canham, M. G. Berger, R. ArensFischer, H. Munder, H. Luth, H. F. Arrand, and T. M. Benson. 1996. Porous silicon multilayer optical waveguides. *Thin Solid Films* 276(1-2): 143-146.

Lui, L. H., A. Vikram, Y. Abu-Nada, A. C. Kushalappa, G. S. V. Raghavan, and K. Al-Mughrabi. 2005. Volatile metabolic profiling for discrimination of potato tubers inoculated with dry and soft rot pathogens. *Am. J. Potato Res.* 82(1): 1-8.

Luk, J. M., U. Kongmuang, R. S. W. Tsang, and A. A. Lindberg. 1997. An enzymelinked immunosorbent assay to detect PCR products of the rfbS gene from serogroup D salmonellae: a rapid screening prototype. *J Clin Microbiol* 35: 714-718.

Lukosz, W., D. Clerc, P. M. Nellen, C. Stamm, and P. Weiss. 1991. Output grating couplers on planar optical wave-guides as direct immunosensors. *Biosens Bioelectron* 6(3): 227-232.

Luppa, P. B., L. J. Sokoll, and D. W. Chan. 2001. Immunosensors - principles and applications to clinical chemistry. *Clinica Chimica Acta* 314(1-2): 1-26.

Lüth, H., M. Thust, A. Steffen, P. Kordos, and M. J. Schöening. 2000. Biochemical sensors with structured and porous silicon capacitors. *Materials Science and Engineering* B: Solid-State Materials for Advanced Technology 69(1): 104-108.

Maehashi, K., K. Matsumoto, K. Kerman, Y. Takamura, and E. Tamiya. 2004. Ultrasensitive detection of DNA hybridization using carbon nanotube field-effect transistors. Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. Part 2 - Lett. Express Lett. 43(12A): L1558-L1560.

Mahon, J., and A. J. Lax. 1993. A quantitative polymerase chain reaction method for the detection in avian faeces of salmonellas carrying the spvR gene. *Epidemiology and Infection* 111(3): 455-464.

Manafi, M. 2000. New developments in chromogenic and fluorogenic culture media. Int J Food Microbiol 60(2-3): 205-218.

Maragos, C. M. 2002. Novel assays and sensor platforms for the detection of aflatoxins. In *Mycotoxins and Food Safety*, 85-93. New York: Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publ.

Marin, M., D. G. de Viedma, M. J. Ruiz-Serrano, and E. Bouza. 2004. Rapid direct detection of multiple rifampin and isoniazid resistance mutations in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in respiratory samples by real-time PCR. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 48(11): 4293-4300.

Mariotti, E., M. Minunni, and M. Mascini. 2002. Surface plasmon resonance biosensor for genetically modified organisms detection. *Anal. Chim. Acta* 453(2): 165-172.

Marques, P., G. S. Nunes, T. C. R. dos Santos, S. Andreescu, and J. L. Marty. 2004. Comparative investigation between acetylcholinesterase obtained from commercial sources and genetically modified *Drosophila melanogaster* - Application in amperometric biosensors for methamidophos pesticide detection. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics* 20(4): 825-832.

Marquette, C. A., and L. J. Blum. 2000. Regenerable immunobiosensor for the chemiluminescent flow injection analysis of the herbicide 2,4-D. *Talanta* 51(2): 395-401.

Marsiglia, M. L., N. Ikuta, A. K. Fonseca, D. T. Schuch, I. Hotzel, L. S. Ozaki, E. K. Marques, and V. R. Lunge. 1997. Development of a combined selective enrichment method and polymerase chain reaction (PCR) assay for sensitive detection of *Salmonella* in food samples. *World Journal of Microbiology & Biotechnology* 13(6): 649-654.

Marti, M. P., R. Boque, O. Busto, and J. Guasch. 2005. Electronic noses in the quality control of alcoholic beverages. *Trac-Trends Anal. Chem.* 24(1): 57-66.

Martin-Palma, R. J., V. Torres-Costa, M. Arroyo-Hernandez, M. Manso, J. Perez-Rigueiro, and J. M. Martinez-Duart. 2004. Porous silicon multilayer stacks for optical biosensing applications. *Microelectronics Journal* 35(1): 45-48.

Mathew, F. P., and E. C. Alocilja. 2002. *Photon based sensing of pathogens in food*. Proceedings of 2002 IEEE Sensors conference, Orlando, Florida.

. 2004. Enzyme-based detection of *Escherichia coli*. Transactions of the ASAE 47(1): 357-362.

McGown, L. B., M. J. Joseph, J. B. Pitner, G. P. Vonk, and C. P. Linn. 1995. The nucleic-acid ligand - a new tool for molecular recognition. *Analytical Chemistry* 67(21): A663-A668.

McKillip, J. L., and M. Drake. 2000. Molecular beacon polymerase chain reaction detection of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in milk. *Journal of Food Protection* 63(7): 855-859.

McKillip, J. L., L. A. Jaykus, and M. Drake. 1999. Nucleic acid persistence in heat-killed *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 from contaminated skim milk. *Journal of Food Protection* 62(8): 839-844.

Mead, P. S., L. Slutsker, V. Dietz, L. F. McCaig, J. S. Bresee, C. Shapiro, P. M. Griffin, and R. V. Tauxe. 1999. Food-related illness and death in the United States. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 5(5): 607-625.

Medina, M. B. 2003. Detection of staphylococcal enterotoxin B (SEB) with surface plasmon resonance biosensor. *J Rapid Methods Autom Microbiol* 11(3): 225-243.

Melo, J. S., and S. F. Dsouza. 1992. Immobilization of invertase through its carbohydrate moiety on Ocimum Basilicum seed. *Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol.* 32: 159-170.

Meng, J. H., S. H. Zhao, M. P. Doyle, and S. Kresovich. 1996. Polymerase chain-reaction for detecting *E. coli* 0157:H7. *Int J Food Microbiol* 32(1-2): 103-113.

Merenyi, G., J. Lind, and T. E. Eriksen. 1990. Luminol chemiluminescence - Chemistry, excitation, emitter. *Journal of Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence* 5(1): 53-56.

Meric, B., K. Kerman, D. Ozkan, P. Kara, S. Erensoy, U. S. Akarca, M. Mascini, and M. Ozsoz. 2002. Electrochemical DNA biosensor for the detection of TT and Hepatitis B virus from PCR amplified real samples by using methylene blue. *Talanta* 56(5): 837-846.

Milner, K. R., A. P. Brown, D. W. E. Allsopp, and W. B. Betts. 1998. Dielectrophoretic classification of bacteria using differential impedance measurements. *Electron Lett* 34(1): 66-68.

Mir, M., and I. Katakis. 2005. Towards a fast-responding, label-free electrochemical DNA biosensor. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry* 381(5): 1033-1035.

Mirhabibollahi, B., J. L. Brooks, and R. G. Kroll. 1990. A semi-homogeneous amperometric immunosensor for Protein A-bearing *Staphylococcus aureus* in foods. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* 34(2): 242-247.

Mitsubayashi, K., Y. Kubotera, K. Yano, Y. Hashimoto, T. Kon, S. Nakakura, Y. Nishi, and H. Endo. 2004. Trimethylamine biosensor with flavin-containing monooxygenase type 3 (FMO3) for fish-freshness analysis. *Sens. Actuator B-Chem.* 103(1-2): 463-467.

Mittelmann, A. S., E. Z. Ron, and J. Rishpon. 2002. Amperometric quantification of total coliforms and specific detection of *Escherichia coli*. *Analytical Chemistry* 74(4): 903-907.

Mo, X. T., Y. P. Zhou, H. Lei, and L. Deng. 2002. Microbalance-DNA probe method for the detection of specific bacteria in water. *Enzyme Microb Technol* 30(5): 583-589.

Morais, S., M. A. GonzalezMartinez, A. Abad, A. Montoya, A. Maquieira, and R. Puchades. 1997. A comparative study by the enzyme-linked immunofiltration assay of solid phases used in the development of flow immunosensors. *J Immunol Methods* 208(1): 75-83.

Moreno-Bondi, M. C., J. P. Alarie, and T. Vo-Dinh. 2003. Multi-analyte analysis system using an antibody-based biochip. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry* 375(1): 120-124.

Muhammad-Tahir, Z., and E. C. Alocilja. 2003a. A conductimetric biosensor for biosecurity. *Biosens Bioelectron* 18(5-6): 813-819.

. 2003b. Fabrication of a disposable biosensor for *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 detection. *IEEE Sens J* 3(4): 345-351.

Muhammad-Tahir, Z., E. C. Alocilja, and D. L. Grooms. 2005a. Polyaniline synthesis and its biosensor application. *Biosens Bioelectron* 20(8): 1690-1695.

_____. 2005b. Rapid detection of *Bovine Viral Diarrhea Virus* as surrogate of bioterrorism agents. *IEEE Sens J* 5(4): 757-762.

Muruyama, A., and M. Sunamura. 2000. Simultaneous direct counting of total and specific microbial cells in seawater, using a deep-sea microbe as target. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 66: 2211-2215.

Naftel, S. J., I. Coulthard, D. T. Jiang, T. K. Sham, B. W. Yates, and K. H. Tan. 2000. The role of oxygen in the photoluminescence of porous silicon: Some recent observations. *Phys. Status Solidi A-Appl. Res.* 182(1): 373-378.

Nagai, H., Y. Murakami, K. Yokoyama, and E. Tamiya. 2001. High-throughput PCR in silicon based microchamber array. *Biosens Bioelectron* 16(9-12): 1015-1019.

Nakamura, N., A. Shigematsu, and T. Matsunaga. 1991. Electrochemical detection of viable bacteria in urine and antibiotic selection. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics* 6(7): 575-580.

Nandakumar, R., M. P. Nandakumar, and B. Mattiasson. 2000. Quantification of nisin in flow-injection immunoassay systems. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics* 15(5-6): 241-247.

Napier, M. E., C. R. Loomis, M. F. Sistare, J. Kim, A. E. Eckhardt, and H. H. Thorp. 1997. Probing biomolecule recognition with electron transfer: Electrochemical sensors for DNA hybridization. *Bioconjugate Chemistry* 8(6): 906-913.

Narang, U., G. P. Anderson, F. S. Ligler, and J. Burans. 1997. Fiber optic-based biosensor for ricin. *Biosens Bioelectron* 12(9-10): 937-945.

Narimatsu, H., T. Kobayashi, S. Seko, K. Mikami, S. Okuma, Y. Gotou, and S. Kimoto. 2001. A rapid screening method for the detection of VTEC and *Salmonella* from swab specimens of flayed carcasses by multiplex PCR. *Jpn J Food Microbiol* 18(1): 21-25.

Nashat, A. H., M. Moronne, and M. Ferrari. 1998. Detection of functional groups and antibodies on microfabricated surfaces by confocal microscopy. *Biotechnol Bioeng* 60(2): 137-146.

Nataro, J. P., and J. B. Kaper. 1998. Diarrheagenic *Escherichia coli*. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 11(1): 142-201.

Neill, M. A., P. I. Tarr, D. N. Taylor, and A. F. Trofa. 1994. *Escherichia coli*. In *Foodborne Disease Handbook*, 169-213. Y. H. Hui, J. R. Gorham, K. D. Murell and D. O. Cliver, eds. New York, NY: Marcel Decker, Inc.

Nelson, N. C., and D. L. Kacian. 1990. Chemiluminescent DNA probes - a comparison of the acridinium ester and dioxetane detection systems and their use in clinical diagnostic assays. *Clinica Chimica Acta* 194(1): 73-90.

Nelson, W. H. 1985. Instrumental Methods for Rapid Microbiological Analysis. Deerfield Beach, FL, USA: VCH Publishers. 219 pp.

Neufeld, N. 1984. Procedures for the bacteriological examination of seawater and shellfish. In *Laboratory Procedures for the Examination of Seawater and Shellfish*. A. E. Greenberg and D. A. Hunt, eds. Washington, DC: American Public Health Association.

Nguyen, N. T., P. Le Rendu, V. H. Tran, V. Parkhutik, and R. Fenollosa Esteve. 2000. Electrical and optical properties of conducting polymer/porous silicon structures. *Journal* of Porous Materials 7: 393-396.

Nicolini, C., V. Erokhin, P. Facci, S. Guerzoni, A. Ross, and P. Paschkevitsch. 1997. Quartz balance DNA sensor. *Biosens Bioelectron* 12(7): 613-618.

Niculescu, M., C. Nistor, I. Frebort, P. Pec, B. Mattiasson, and E. Csoregi. 2000. Redox hydrogel-based amperometric bienzyme electrodes for fish freshness monitoring. *Analytical Chemistry* 72(7): 1591-1597.

Nielsen, P. E., M. Egholm, and O. Buchard. 1994. Peptide nucleic acids (PNA). A DNA mimick with a peptide backbone. *Bioconjug Chem* 5(1): 3-7.

Nistor, C., A. Osvik, R. Davidsson, A. Rose, U. Wollenberger, D. Pfeiffer, J. Emneus, and L. Fiksdal. 2002. Detection of *Escherichia coli* in water by culture-based amperometric and luminometric methods. *Water Science and Technology* 45(4-5): 191-199.

Nogva, H. K., S. M. Dromtorp, H. Nissen, and K. Rudi. 2003. Ethidium monoazide for DNA-based differentiation of viable and dead bacteria by 5 '-nuclease PCR. *Biotechniques* 34(4): 804-+.

Norton, D. M. 2002. Polymerase chain reaction-based methods for detection of Listeria monocytogenes: Toward real-time screening for food and environmental samples. *J* AOAC Int 85(2): 505-515.

Obst, U., I. Hübner, M. Wecker, and D. Bitter-Suermann. 1989. Immunological method using monoclonal antibodies to detect *Enterobacteriaceae* in drinking water. *Aqua* 38: 136-142.

Okahata, Y., Y. Matsunobu, K. Ijiro, M. Mukae, A. Murakami, and K. Makino. 1992. Hybridization of nucleic acids immobilized on a quartz crystal microbalance. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 114(21): 8299-8300.

Olsen, E. V., S. T. Pathirana, A. M. Samoylov, J. M. Barbaree, B. A. Chin, W. C. Neely, and V. Vodyanoy. 2003. Specific and selective biosensor for *Salmonella* and its detection in the environment. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* 53(2): 273-285.

Owicki, J. C., L. J. Bousse, D. G. Hafeman, G. L. Kirk, J. D. Olson, H. G. Wada, and J. W. Parce. 1994. The light-addressable potentiometric sensor - principles and biological applications. *Annu Rev Biophys Biomol Struct* 23: 87-113.

Paffard, S. M., R. J. Miles, C. R. Clark, and R. G. Price. 1996. A rapid and sensitive enzyme linked immunofilter assay (ELIFA) for whole bacterial cells. *J Immunol Methods* 192(1-2): 133-136.

Palecek, E. 1996. From polarography of DNA to microanalysis with nucleic acidmodified electrodes. *Electroanalysis* 8(1): 7-14.

Palmqvist, E., C. B. Kriz, M. Khayyami, B. Danielsson, P. O. Larsson, K. Mosbach, and D. Kriz. 1994. Development of a simple detector for microbial-metabolism, based on a polypyrrole DC resistometric device. *Biosens Bioelectron* 9(8): 551-556.

Pandey, P. C., and A. P. Mishra. 2004. Novel potentiornetric sensing of creatinine. Sens. Actuator B-Chem. 99(2-3): 230-235.

Park, I. S., W. Y. Kim, and N. Kim. 2000. Operational characteristics of an antibodyimmobilized QCM system detecting *Salmonella* spp. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics* 15(3-4): 167-172.

Park, S., and R.-A. Durst. 2000. Immunoliposome sandwich assay for the detection of Escherichia coli O157:H7. *Analytical Biochemistry* 280(1): 151-158.

Penders, J., C. Vink, C. Driessen, N. London, C. Thijs, and E. E. Stobberingh. 2005. Quantification of Bifidobacterium spp., Escherichia coli and Clostridium difficile in faecal samples of breast-fed and formula-fed infants by real-time PCR. *Fems Microbiology Letters* 243(1): 141-147.

Perez, F. G., M. Mascini, I. E. Tothill, and A. P. F. Turner. 1998. Immunomagnetic separation with mediated flow injection analysis amperometric detection of viable *Escherichia coli* O157. *Analytical Chemistry* 70(11): 2380-2386.

Pierce Chemical Company. 2001. Microplate Reader - Microplate Counter application note. Available at: <u>http://www.piercenet.com/files/packardapp2.pdf</u>. Accessed 09/18/2003 2003.

Pollema, C. H., J. Ruzicka, G. D. Christian, and A. Lernmark. 1992. Sequential injection immunoassay utilizing immunomagnetic beads. *Analytical Chemistry* 64(13): 1356-1361.

Prescott, A. M., and C. R. Fricker. 1999. Use of PNA oligonucleotides for the in situ detection of *Escherichia coli* in water. *Mol Cell Probes* 13: 261-268.

Prosser, J. I. 1994. Molecular Marker Systems for Detection of Genetically-Engineered Microorganisms in the Environment. *Microbiol.-UK* 140: 5-17.

Prosser, J. I., K. Killham, L. A. Glover, and E. A. S. Rattray. 1996. Luminescence-based systems for detection of bacteria in the environment. *Crit Rev Biotechnol* 16(2): 157-183.

Prusak-Sochaczewski, E., J. H. T. Luong, and G. G. Guilbault. 1990. Development of a piezoelectric immunosensor for the detection of *Salmonella* Typhimurium. *Enzyme Microb Technol* 12(3): 173-177.

Radi, R., H. Rubbo, L. Thomson, and E. Prodanov. 1990. Luminol chemiluminescence using xanthine and hypoxanthine as xanthine-oxidase substrates. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 8(2): 121-126.

Radke, S. M., and E. C. Alocilja. 2005. A high density microelectrode array biosensor for detection of *E. coli* O157:H7. *Biosens Bioelectron* 20(8): 1662-1667.

Ramanathan, S., W. P. Shi, B. P. Rosen, and S. Daunert. 1998. Bacteria-based chemiluminescence sensing system using beta-galactosidase under the control of the ArsR regulatory protein of the ars operon. *Anal Chim Acta* 369(3): 189-195.

Ramanaviciene, A., and A. Ramanavicius. 2004. Pulsed amperometric detection of DNA with an ssDNA/polypyrrole-modified electrode. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry* 379(2): 287-293.

Ramsay, G., and A. P. F. Turner. 1988. Development of a electrochemical method for the rapid determination of microbial concentration and evidence for the reaction mechanism. *Anal Chim Acta* 215: 61-69.

Rantakokko-Jalava, K., and J. Jalava. 2001. Development of conventional and real-time PCR assays for detection of *Legionella* DNA in respiratory specimens. *J Clin Microbiol* 39: 2904-2910.

Rasooly, A. 2001. Surface plasmon resonance analysis of staphylococcal enterotoxin B in food. *Journal of Food Protection* 64(1): 37-43.

Raynolds, D. T., and C. R. Fricker. 1999. Application of laser scanning for the rapid and automated detection of bacteria in water samples. *J Appl Microbiol* 86: 785-795.

Rekha, K., M. S. Thakur, and N. G. Karanth. 2000. Biosensors for the detection of organophosphorous pesticides. *Crit Rev Biotechnol* 20(3): 213-235.

Richardson, K. J., M. H. Stewart, and R. L. Wolfe. 1991. Application of gene probe technology to the water industry. *J AWWA* 83: 71-81.

Rijpens, N., L. Herman, F. Vereecken, G. Jannes, J. D. Smedt, and L. D. Zutter. 1999. Rapid detection of stressed *Salmonella* spp. in dairy and egg products using immunomagnetic separation and PCR. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* 46: 37-44.

Rishpon, J., and D. Ivnitski. 1997. An amperometric enzyme-channeling immunosensor. *Biosens Bioelectron* 12(3): 195-204.

Robinson, J. W. 1987. Undergraduate Instrumental Analysis. 4th ed. New York, NY: Marcel Decker, Inc. 640 pp.

Rodrigues, U. M., and R. G. Kroll. 1990. Rapid detection of *Salmonellas* in raw meats using a fluorescent antibody-microcolony technique. *J Appl Bacteriol* 68: 213-223.

Rodríguez, M. I., and E. C. Alocilja. 2005. Embedded DNA-Polypyrrole Biosensor for rapid detection of *Escherichia coli*. *IEEE Sensors* Under Review.

Rompre, A., P. Servais, J. Baudart, M.-R. de-Roubin, and P. Laurent. 2002. Detection and enumeration of coliforms in drinking water: Current methods and emerging approaches. *J Microbiol Methods* 49(1): 31-54.

Rongen, H. A. H., R. M. W. Hoetelmans, A. Bult, and W. P. Vanbennekom. 1994. Chemiluminescence and immunoassays. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis* 12(4): 433-462.

Rossi, T. M., and M. Warner. 1985. Bacterial identification using fluorescense spectroscopy. In *Instrumental Methods for Rapid Microbiological Analysis*, 1-50. W. H. Nelson, ed. Deerfield Beach, FL, USA: VCH Publishers.

Rowe-Taitt, C.-A., J.-W. Hazzard, K.-E. Hoffman, J.-J. Cras, J.-P. Golden, and F.-S. Ligler. 2000. Simultaneous detection of six biohazardous agents using a planar waveguide array biosensor. *Biosens Bioelectron* 15(11-12): 579-589.

Ruan, C., H. Wang, and Y. Li. 2002a. A bienzyme electrochemical biosensor coupled with immunomagnetic separation for rapid detection of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in food samples. *Transactions of the ASAE* 45(1): 249-255.

Ruan, C. M., L. J. Yang, and Y. B. Li. 2002b. Immunobiosensor chips for detection of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 using electrochemical impedance spectroscopy. *Analytical Chemistry* 74(18): 4814-4820.

Ruan, C. M., K. F. Zeng, O. K. Varghese, and C. A. Grimes. 2004. A staphylococcal enterotoxin B magnetoelastic immunosensor. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics* 20(3): 585-591.

Rucker, V. C., K. L. Havenstrite, and A. E. Herr. 2005. Antibody microarrays for native toxin detection. *Analytical Biochemistry* 339(2): 262-270.

Rudi, K., K. Naterstad, S. M. Dromtorp, and H. Holo. 2005. Detection of viable and dead *Listeria monocytogenes* on Gouda-like cheeses by real-time PCR. *Lett Appl Microbiol* 40(4): 301-306.

Rymer, J. C., R. Sabatier, *et al.* 1999. A new approach for clinical biological assay comparison and standardization: Application of principal component analysis to a multicenter study of twenty-one carcinoembryonic antigen immunoassay kits. *Clinical Chemistry* 45(6): 869-881.

Safi, M., J. N. Chazalviel, M. Cherkaoui, A. Belaidi, and O. Gorochov. 2002. Etching of n-type silicon in (HF plus oxidant) solutions: in situ characterisation of surface chemistry. *Electrochim. Acta* 47(16): 2573-2581.

Sarhan, H. R., and H. A. Foster. 1991. A rapid fluorogenic method for the detection of *Escherichia coli* by the production of bglucuronidase. *J Appl Bacteriol* 70: 394-400.

SAS Online Doc. 2000. SAS Online Doc.[®], Version 8. SAS Institute Inc. Available at: <u>http://v8doc.sas.com/sashtml/</u>. Accessed June 29 2005.

Satjapipat, M., R. Sanedrin, and F. M. Zhou. 2001. Selective desorption of alkanethiols in mixed self-assembled monolayers for subsequent oligonucleotide attachment and DNA hybridization. *Langmuir* 17(24): 7637-7644.

Savage, M. D., G. Mattson, S. Desai, G. W. Nielander, S. Morgensen, and E. J. Conklin. 1994. Avidin-Biotin Chemistry: A Handbook. Rockford, IL: Pierce Chemical Company. 467 pp.

Schaap, A. P., R. DeSilva, H. Akhavan, and R. S. Handley. 1991. Chemical and enzymatic triggering of 1,2-dioxetanes: Structural effects on chemiluminescence efficiency. In *Bioluminescence and chemiluminescence current status*, 103-106. P. E. Stanley and L. J. Cricka, eds. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons.

Schalch, B., and A. Stolle. 2000. Use of the EiaFoss analyser. Rapid detection of *E. coli* O157 from raw meat. *Fleischwirtschaft* 80(6): 94-96.

Schaller, E., J. O. Bosset, and F. Escher. 1998. 'Electronic noses' and their application to food. *Food Sci. Technol.-Lebensm.-Wiss. Technol.* 31(4): 305-316.

Scheu, P. M., K. Berghof, and U. Stahl. 1998. Detection of pathogenic and spoilage micro-organisms in food with the polymerase chain reaction. *Food microbiology* 15(1): 13-31.

Schneider, B. H., J. G. Edwards, and N. F. Hartman. 1997. Hartman interferometer: versatile integrated optic sensor for label-free, real-time quantification of nucleic acids, proteins, and pathogens. *Clin Chem* 43(9): 1757-1763.

Schöning, M. J., A. Kurowski, M. Thust, P. Kordos, J. W. Schultze, and H. Lüth. 2000. Capacitive microsensors for biochemical sensing based on porous silicon technology. *Sensors and Actuators, B: Chemical* 64(1 Jun): 59-64.

Schulze, H., E. Scherbaum, M. Anastassiades, S. Vorlova, R. D. Schmid, and T. T. Bachmann. 2002a. Development, validation, and application of an acetylcholinesterasebiosensor test for the direct detection of insecticide residues in infant food. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics* 17(11-12): 1095-1105.

Schulze, H., R. D. Schmid, and T. T. Bachmann. 2002b. Rapid detection of neurotoxic insecticides in food using disposable acetylcholinesterase-biosensors and simple solvent extraction. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry* 372(2): 268-272.

Scotter, S., M. Aldridge, and K. Capps. 2000. Validation of a method for the detection of *E. coli* O157:H7 in foods. *Food Control* 11: 85-95.

Selvanayagam, Z. E., P. Neuzil, P. Gopalakrishnakone, U. Sridhar, M. Singh, and L. C. Ho. 2002. An ISFET-based immunosensor for the detection of beta-Bungarotoxin. *Biosens Bioelectron* 17(9): 821-826.

Seo, K. H., R. E. Brackett, and J. F. Frank. 1998. Rapid detection of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 using immunomagnetic flow cytometry in ground beef, apple juice, and milk. *Int J Food Microbiol* 44(1-2): 115-123.

Seo, K. H., I. E. Valentin-Bon, R. E. Brackett, and P. S. Holt. 2004. Rapid, specific detection of *Salmonella* Enteritidis in pooled eggs by real-time PCR. *Journal of Food Protection* 67(5): 864-869.

Sergeyeva, T. A., N. V. Lavrik, S. A. Piletsky, A. E. Rachkov, and A. V. El'Skaya. 1996. Polyaniline label-based conductometric sensor for IgG detection. *Sensors and Actuators* B: Chemical 34: 283-288.

Sergeyeva, T. A., N. V. Lavrik, A. E. Rachkov, Z. I. Kazantseva, and A. V. El'skaya. 1998. An approach to conductometric immunosensor based on phthalocyanine thin film. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* 13(3-4): 359-369. Setzu, S., P. Ferrand, and R. Romestain. 2000. Optical properties of multilayered porous silicon. *Materials Science and Engineering B* 69-70: 34-42.

Shah, J., S. Chemburu, E. Wilkins, and I. Abdel-Hamid. 2003. Rapid amperometric immunoassay for *Escherichia coli* based on graphite coated nylon membranes. *Electroanalysis* 15(23-24): 1809-1814.

Shah, J., and E. Wilkins. 2003. Electrochemical biosensors for detection of biological warfare agents. *Electroanalysis* 15(3): 157-167.

Shao, C. Y., C. J. Howe, A. J. Porter, and L. A. Glover. 2002. Novel cyanobacterial biosensor for detection of herbicides. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 68(10): 5026-5033.

Sharpe, A. N. 1994. Developments in rapid methods for detection of agents of foodborne disease. *Food Res Int* 27: 237-243.

Shen, Z. X., J. J. Thomas, C. Averbuj, K. M. Broo, M. Engelhard, J. E. Crowell, M. G. Finn, and G. Siuzdak. 2001. Porous silicon as a versatile platform for laser desorption/ionization mass spectrometry. *Anal. Chem.* 73(3): 612-619.

Shi, Q. C., T. Z. Peng, and J. Y. Cheng. 2005. A cholesterol biosensor based on cholesterol oxidase immobilized in a sol-gel on a platinum-decorated carbon nanotubes modified electrode. *Chin. J. Anal. Chem.* 33(3): 329-332.

Shimasaki, M., Y. Show, M. Iwase, T. Izumi, T. Ichinohe, S. Nozaki, and H. Morisaki. 1996. Correlation between light emission and dangling bonds in porous silicon. *Applied Surface Science* 92: 617-620.

Shippy, S., and R. Burns. 2002. Cyclic voltammetry: An example of voltaic methods. Available at: <u>http://www.chem.uic.edu/chem421/cv.PDF</u>. Accessed June 14 2005.

Shriver-Lake, L. C., B. Donner, R. Edelstein, K. Breslin, S. K. Bhatia, and F. S. Ligler. 1997. Antibody immobilization using heterobifunctional crosslinkers. *Biosens Bioelectron* 12(11): 1101-1106.

Shu, I. T., M. Golden, P. Andreotti, and P. Irwin. 2002. The use of time-resolved fluoroimmunoassay to simultaneously detect *Escherichia coli* O157:H7, *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium and *Salmonella enterica* serovar Enteritidis in foods. J Rapid Methods Autom Microbiol 10(1): 37-48.

Shvetsova, T., J. Mwesigwa, A. Labady, S. Kelly, D. Thomas, K. Lewis, and A. G. Volkov. 2002. Soybean electrophysiology: effects of acid rain. *Plant Sci.* 162(5): 723-731.

Silin, V., and A. Plant. 1997. Biotechnological applications of surface plasmon resonance. *Trends Biotechnol.* 15(9): 353-359.

Silley, P., and S. Forsythe. 1996. Impedance microbiology - A rapid change for microbiologists. *J Appl Bacteriol* 80(3): 233-243.

Simpkins, S. A., A. B. Chan, J. Hays, B. Popping, and N. Cook. 2000. An RNA transcription-based amplification technique (NASBA) for the detection of viable *Salmonella* Enterica. *Lett Appl Microbiol* 30(1): 75-79.

Skof, A., M. Poljak, and A. Krbavcic. 2004. Real-time polymerase chain reaction for detection of *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in pharmaceutical products for topical use. *J Rapid Methods Autom Microbiol* 12(3): 169-183.

Skuridin, S. G., Y. M. Yevdokimov, V. S. Efimov, J. M. Hall, and A. P. F. Turner. 1996. A new approach for creating double-stranded DNA biosensors. *Biosens Bioelectron* 11(9): 903-911.

Slavik, R., J. Homola, and E. Brynda. 2002. A miniature fiber optic surface plasmon resonance sensor for fast detection of Staphylococcal enterotoxin B. *Biosens Bioelectron* 17(6-7): 591-595.

Soumet, C., G. Ermel, P. Fach, and P. Colin. 1994. Evaluation of different DNA extraction procedures for the detection of *Salmonella* from chicken products by polymerase chain reaction. *Lett Appl Microbiol* 19: 294-298.

Souteyrand, E., J. P. Cloarec, J. R. Martin, C. Wilson, I. Lawrence, S. Mikkelsen, and M. F. Lawrence. 1997. Direct detection of the hybridization of synthetic homo-oligomer DNA sequences by field effect. *Journal of Physical Chemistry B* 101(15): 2980-2985.

Sperveslage, J., E. Stackebrandt, F. W. Lembke, and C. Koch. 1996. Detection of bacterial-contamination, including bacillus spores, in dry growth media and in milk by identification of their 16S RDNA by polymerase chain-reaction. *J Microbiol Methods* 26(3): 219-224.

Splinter, A., J. Sturmann, and W. Benecke. 2001. Novel porous silicon formation technology using internal current generation. *Materials Science and Engineering: C* 15(1-2): 109-112.

Sportsman, J. R., and G. S. Wilson. 1980. Chromatographic properties of silicaimmobilized antibodies. *Anal. Chem.* 52(13): 2013-2018.

Steel, A. B., R. L. Levicky, T. M. Herne, and M. J. Tarlov. 2000. Immobilization of nucleic acids at solid surfaces: Effect of oligonucleotide length on layer assembly. *Biophys. J.* 79(2): 975-981.

Stender, H., C. Kurtzman, *et al.* 2001a. Identification of *Brettanomyces* (Dekkera bruxellensis) from wine by fluorescence in situ hybridization using peptide nucleic acid probes. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 67: 938-941.

Stender, H., K. Lund, K. H. Petersen, O. F. Rasmussen, and S. E. Godtfredsen. 1999. Fluorescence in situ hybridization assay using peptide nucleic acid probes for differentiation between tuberculous and nontuberculous mycobacterium species in smears of mycobacterium cultures. *J Clin Microbiol* 37: 2760-2765.

Stender, H., K. Oliveira, S. Rigby, F. Bargoot, and J. Coull. 2001b. Rapid detection, identification, and enumeration of *Escherichia coli* by fluorescence in situ hybridization using an array scanner. *J Microbiol Methods* 45(1): 31-39.

Stewart, M. P., and J. M. Buriak. 2000. Chemical and biological applications of porous silicon technology. *Advanced Materials* 12(12): 859-869.

Stone, G. G., R. D. Oberst, M. P. Hays, S. McVey, J. C. Galland, R. C. III, S. M. Kelly, and M. M. Chengappa. 1995. Detection of *Salmonella* Typhimurium from rectal swabs of experimentally infected beagles by short cultivation and PCR-hybridization. *J Clin Microbiol* 33: 1292-1295.

Stone, G. G., R. D. Oberst, M. P. Hays, S. McVey, and M. M. Chengappa. 1994. Detection of *Salmonella* serovars from clinical samples by enrichment broth cultivation– PCR procedure. *J Clin Microbiol* 32: 1742-1749.

Strachan, G., S. Preston, H. Maciel, A. J. R. Porter, and G. I. Paton. 2001. Use of bacterial biosensors to interpret the toxicity and mixture toxicity of herbicides in freshwater. *Water Research* 35(14): 3490-3495.

Stryer, L. 1988. Biochemistry. 3rd ed. New York, NY: W.H. Freeman. 1089 pp.

Su, X. L., and Y. Li. 2005. Surface plasmon resonance and quartz crystal microbalance immunosensors for detection of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *Trans. ASAE* 48(1): 405-413.

Su, X. L., and Y. B. Li. 2004. A self-assembled monolayer-based piezoelectric immunosensor for rapid detection of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *Biosens Bioelectron* 19(6): 563-574.

Sung Hoon, R., P. In Seon, K. Namsoo, and K. Woo Yeon. 2001. Hybridization of *Salmonella* spp.-specific nucleic acids immobilized on a quartz crystal microbalance. *Food Science and Biotechnology* 10(6): 663-667.

Svitel, J., O. Curilla, and J. Tkac. 1998. Microbial cell-based biosensor for sensing glucose, sucrose or lactose. *Biotechnol. Appl. Biochem.* 27: 153-158.

Swaminathan, B., and P. Feng. 1994. Rapid detection of food-borne pathogenic bacteria. *Annu Rev Microbiol* 48: 401-426.

Swenson, F. J. 1993. Development and evaluation of optical sensors for the detection of bacteria. *Sens. Actuator B-Chem.* 11(1-3): 315-321.

Swerdlow, D. L., B. A. Woodruff, et al. 1992. A waterborne outbreak in Missouri of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 associated with bloody diarrhea and death. *Ann Intern Med* 117: 812-819.

Swinger, R. R., and J. D. Tucker. 1996. Fluorescence in situ hybridization: a brief review. *Environ Mol Mutagen* 27: 245-254.

Szuhai, K., E. Sandhaus, *et al.* 2001. A novel strategy for human papillomavirus detection and genotyping with SybrGreen and molecular beacon polymerase chain reaction. *American Journal of Pathology* 159(5): 1651-1660.

Tan, E. S., D. C. Slaughter, and J. F. Thompson. 2005. Freeze damage detection in oranges using gas sensors. *Postharvest Biol. Technol.* 35(2): 177-182.

Taneja, K. L., E. A. Chavez, J. Coull, and P. M. Lansdorp. 2001. Multicolor fluorescence in situ hybridization with peptide nucleic acid probes for enumeration of specific chromosomes in human cells. *Genes, Chromosomes Cancer* 30(1): 57-63.

Thisted, M., T. Just, K.-J. Pluzek, K. H. Petersen, J.-J. Hyldig-Nielsen, and S. E. Godtfredsen. 1996. Detection of immunoglobulin kappa light chain mRNA in paraffin sections by in situ hybridization using peptide nucleic acid probes. *Cell Vis* 3: 358-363.

Thorpe, G. H. G., I. Bronstein, L. J. Kricka, B. Edwards, and J. C. Voyta. 1989. Chemiluminescent enzyme-immunoassay of alpha-fetoprotein based on an adamantyl dioxetane phenyl phosphate substrate. *Clinical Chemistry* 35(12): 2319-2321.

Thorpe, G. H. G., L. J. Kricka, E. Gillespie, S. Moseley, R. Amess, N. Baggett, and T. P. Whitehead. 1985. Enhancement of the horseradish peroxidase-catalyzed chemiluminescent oxidation of cyclic diacyl hydrazides by 6-hydroxybenzothiazoles. *Analytical Biochemistry* 145(1): 96-100.

Thust, M., M. J. Schoening, S. Frohnhoff, R. Arens-Fischer, P. Kordos, and H. Lueth. 1996. Porous silicon as a substrate material for potentiometric biosensors. *Measurement Science & Technology* 7(1): 26-29.

Thust, M., M. J. Schoening, P. Schroth, U. Malkoc, C. I. Dicker, A. Steffen, P. Kordos, and H. Lueth. 1999. Enzyme immobilisation on planar and porous silicon substrates for biosensor applications. *Journal of Molecular Catalysis B: Enzymatic* 7(1-4): 77-83.

Tietjen, M., and D. Y. C. Fung. 1995. Salmonellae and food safety. Crit Rev Microbiol 21(1): 53-83.

Tims, T. B., and D. V. Lim. 2003. Confirmation of viable *E. coli* O157:H7 by enrichment and PCR after rapid biosensor detection. *J Microbiol Methods* 55(1): 141-147.

Timur, S., and A. Telefoncu. 2004. Acetylcholinesterase (AChE) electrodes based on gelatin and chitosan matrices for the pesticide detection. *Artif. Cells Blood Substit. Biotechnol.* 32(3): 427-442.

Tinsley-Bown, A. M., L. T. Canham, et al. 2000. Tuning the pore size and surface chemistry of porous silicon for immunoassays. *Phys. Status Solidi A-Appl. Res.* 182(1): 547-553.

Tombelli, S., M. Mascini, C. Sacco, and A. P. F. Turner. 2000. A DNA piezoelectric biosensor assay coupled with a polymerase chain reaction for bacterial toxicity determination in environmental samples. *Anal Chim Acta* 418(1): 1-9.

Tottorello, M. L., and K. F. Reineke. 2000. Direct enumeration of *Escherichia coli* and enteric bacteria in water, beverages and sprouts by 16S rRNA in situ hybridization. *Food Microbiology* 17: 305-313.

Trevanich, S., T. Miyamoto, Y. Harada, K. Honjoh, and S. Hatano. 2000a. Rapid detection of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* O6 in water by using monoclonal antibody and a photon-counting television camera. *J Food Prot* 63(4): 534-538.

Trevanich, S., T. Miyamoto, Y. Harada, K.-I. Honjoh, and S. Hatano. 2000b. Rapid detection of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* O6 in water by using monoclonal antibody and a photon-counting television camera. *Journal of Food Protection* 63(4): 534-538.

Trihaas, J., and P. V. Nielsen. 2005. Electronic nose technology in quality assessment: Monitoring the ripening process of Danish blue cheese. *J Food Sci* 70(1): E44-E49.

Trummer, N., N. Adanyi, M. Varadi, and I. Szendro. 2001. Modification of the surface of integrated optical wave-guide sensors for immunosensor applications. *Fresenius' Journal of Analytical Chemistry* 371(1): 21-24.

Tryland, I., and L. Fiksdal. 1998a. Enzyme characteristics of β -D-galactosidase- and β -D-glucuronidase- positive bacteria and their interference in rapid methods for detection of waterborne coliforms and *Escherichia coli*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 64(3): 1018-1023.

_____. 1998b. Enzyme characteristics of beta-D-galactosidase- and beta-D-glucuronidase-positive bacteria and their interference in rapid method for detection of waterborne coliforms and *Escherichia coli*. Appl Environ Microbiol 64(3): 1018-1023.

Tsai, W. C., and I. C. Lin. 2005. Development of a piezoelectric immunosensor for the detection of alpha-fetoprotein. *Sens. Actuator B-Chem.* 106(1): 455-460.

Tsai, Y. L., C. J. Palmer, and L. R. Sangermano. 1993. Detection of *Escherichia coli* in sewage and sludge by polymerase chain reaction. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 59: 353-357.

Tsenkova, R., S. Atanassova, S. Kawano, and K. Toyoda. 2001. Somatic cell count determination in cow's milk by near-infrared spectroscopy: A new diagnostic tool. *Journal Of Animal Science* 79: 2550-2557.

Tsukamoto, T., and M. Kanki. 1999. Detection of O157 and H7 antigen genes of *Escherichia coli* by PCR. Jpn J Food Microbiol 16(3): 197-200.

Tu, S. I., J. Uknalis, M. Gore, and P. Irwin. 2002. The capture of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 for Light addressable Potentiometric Sensor (LAPS) using two different types of magnetic beads. *J Rapid Methods Autom Microbiol* 10(3): 185-195.

Tu, S. I., J. Uknalis, P. Irwin, and L. S. L. Yu. 2000. The use of streptavidin coated magnetic beads for detecting pathogenic bacteria by light addressable potentiometric sensor (LAPS). *J Rapid Methods Autom Microbiol* 8(2): 95-109.

Tuchili, L. M., H. Kodama, R. N. Sharma, I. Takatori, G. S. Pandey, S. Kabilika, M. Mukamoto, S. Tsuji, and T. Baba. 1996. Detection of *Salmonella* DNA in chicken embryos and environmental samples by polymerase chain reaction. *J. Vet. Med. Sci.* 58: 881-884.

Turpin, P. E., K. A. Maycroft, J. Bedford, C. L. Rowlands, and E. M. H. Wellington. 1993. A Rapid Luminescent-Phage Based Mpn Method for the Enumeration of *Salmonella* Typhimurium in Environmental-Samples. *Lett Appl Microbiol* 16(1): 24-27.

Uchida, K., M. Shinohara, S. Shimada, Y. Segawa, R. Doi, A. Gotoh, and R. Hondo. 2005. Rapid and sensitive detection of mumps virus RNA directly from clinical samples by real-time PCR. *J Med Virol* 75(3): 470-474.

Upperman, S. D., B. E. S. Young, and E. M. Presente. 1999. *Rapid enumeration of microorganisms in purified water*. Annual Meeting of the American Society of Microbiology, Washington, D.C. Abstract. O14.

Uyttendaele, M., S. van Boxstael, and J. Debevere. 1999. PCR assay for detection of the *E. coli* O157:H7 eae-gene and effect of the sample preparation method on PCR detection of heat-killed *E. coli* O157:H7 in ground beef. *Int J Food Microbiol* 52(1): 85-89.

Valdivieso-Garcia, A., A. Desruisseau, E. Riche, S. Fukuda, and H. Tatsumi. 2003. Evaluation of a 24-hour bioluminescent enzyme immunoassay for the rapid detection of *Salmonella* in chicken carcass rinses. *Journal of Food Protection* 66(11): 1996-2004. Van Poucke, S. O., and H. J. Nelis. 1995. Development of a sensitive chemiluminometric assay for the detection of beta-galactosidase in permeabilized coliform bacteria and comparison with fluorometry and colorimetry. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 61(12): 4505-4509.

_____. 1997. Limitations of highly sensitive enzymatic presence-absence tests for detection of waterborne coliforms and *Escherichia coli*. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol*. 63(2): 771-774.

_____. 2000a. A 210-min solid phase cytometry test for the enumeration of *Escherichia* coli in drinking water. J Appl Microbiol 89: 390-396.

. 2000b. Rapid detection of fluorescent and chemiluminescent total coliforms and *Escherichia coli* on membrane filters. *J Microbiol Methods* 42: 233-244.

Van-Poucke, S. O., and H. J. Nelis. 1995. Development of a sensitive chemiluminometric assay for the detection of beta-galactosidase in permeabilized coliform bacteria and comparison with fluorometry and colorimetry. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 61(12): 4505-4509.

Vaughan, R. D., R. M. Carter, C. K. O'Sullivan, and G. G. Guilbault. 2003. A quartz crystal microbalance (QCM) sensor for the detection of *Bacillus cereus*. *Analytical Letters* 36(4): 731-747.

Vázsonyi, É., Z. Vértesy, A. Tóth, and J. Szlufcik. 2003. Anisotropic etching of silicon in a two-component alkaline solution. J. Micromech. Microeng. 13(1): 165-169.

Venkateswaran, K., A. Murakoshi, and M. Satake. 1996. Comparison of commercially available kits with standard methods for detection of coliforms and *Escherichia coli* in foods. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 62: 2236-2243.

Vernozy-Rozand, C., C. Mazuy, S. Ray-Gueniot, S. Boutrand-Loei, A. Meyrand, and Y. Richard. 1997. Detection of *Escherichia coli* O157 in French food samples using an immunomagnetic separation method and the VIDAS^(TM) *E. coli* O157. *Lett Appl Microbiol* 25(6): 442-446.

Vidon, D. J. M., P. Andre, D. Baaj, C. Gryczka, and P. Philipp. 1994. Luminol-enhanced chemiluminescence by *Listeria monocytogenes*: a test for rapid assessment of antimicrobial agents. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 120(3): 225-230.

Vidon, D. J. M., S. Donze, C. Muller, A. Entzmann, and P. Andre. 2001. A simple chemiluminescence-based method for rapid enumeration of *Listeria* spp. microcolonies. *J* Appl Microbiol 90(6): 988-993.

Vikholm, I. 2005. Self-assembly of antibody fragments and polymers onto gold for immunosensing. *Sens. Actuator B-Chem.* 106(1): 311-316.

Wada, T., S. Maeda, A. Tamaru, S. Imai, A. Hase, and K. Kobayashi. 2004. Dual-probe assay for rapid detection of drug-resistant *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* by real-time PCR. *J Clin Microbiol* 42(11): 5277-5285.

Walker, R. L., H. Kinde, R. J. Anderson, and A. E. Brown. 2001. Comparison of VIDAS enzyme-linked fluorescent immunoassay using Moore swab sampling and conventional culture method for *Salmonella* detection in bulk tank milk and in-line milk filters in California dairies. *Int J Food Microbiol* 67(1-2): 123-129.

Wallenfels, K., and R. Weil. 1972. Beta-Galactosidase. In *The enzymes*, 617-663. P. D. Boyer, ed. New York, NY: Academic Publisher.

Wang, J. 1999. Towards genoelectronics: Electrochemical biosensing of DNA hybridization. *Chem.-Eur. J.* 5(6): 1681-1685.

. 2000. Analytical Electrochemistry. 2nd ed. New York, NY: Wiley-VCH.

Wang, J., X. H. Cai, B. M. Tian, and H. Shiraishi. 1996. Microfabricated thick-film electrochemical sensor for nucleic acid determination. *Analyst* 121(7): 965-969.

Wang, J., X. H. Cai, J. Y. Wang, C. Jonsson, and E. Palecek. 1995. Trace measurements of RNA by potentiometric stripping analysis at carbon-paste electrodes. *Analytical Chemistry* 67(22): 4065-4070.

Wang, J., G. Rivas, *et al.* 1997. DNA electrochemical biosensors for environmental monitoring: a review. *Anal Chim Acta* 347(1-2): 1-8.

Wang, Q. L., G. X. Lu, and B. J. Yang. 2004a. Hydrogen peroxide biosensor based on direct electrochemistry of hemoglobin immobilized on carbon paste electrode by a silica sol-gel film. *Sens. Actuator B-Chem.* 99(1): 50-57.

Wang, R. H., S. Tombelli, M. Minunni, M. M. Spiriti, and M. Mascini. 2004b. Immobilisation of DNA probes for the development of SPR-based sensing. *Biosens Bioelectron* 20(5): 967-974.

Wang, S. J., and D. B. Yeh. 2002. Designing of polymerase chain reaction primers for the detection of *Salmonella* Enteritidis in foods and faecal samples. *Lett Appl Microbiol* 34(6): 422-427.

Watts, H. J., C. R. Lowe, and D. V. Pollard Knight. 1994. Optical biosensor for monitoring microbial cells. *Anal Chem* 66(15): 2465-2470.

Watts, H. J., D. Yeung, and H. Parkes. 1995. Real-time detection and quantification of DNA hybridization by an optical biosensor. *Anal Chem* 67(23): 4283-4289.

Weeks, B. L., J. Camarero, A. Noy, A. E. Miller, L. Stanker, and J. J. De Yoreo. 2003. A microcantilever-based pathogen detector. *Scanning* 25(6): 297-299.

Wei, F., B. Sun, Y. Guo, and X. S. Zhao. 2003. Monitoring DNA hybridization on alkyl modified silicon surface through capacitance measurement. *Biosens Bioelectron* 18(9): 1157-1163.

Weitz, H. J., J. M. Ritchie, D. A. Bailey, A. M. Horsburgh, K. Killham, and L. A. Glover. 2001. Construction of a modified mini-Tn5 luxCDABE transposon for the development of bacterial biosensors for ecotoxicity testing. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* 197(2): 159-165.

Whiley, D. M., P. J. Buda, J. Bayliss, L. Cover, J. Bates, and T. P. Sloots. 2004. A new confirmatory *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* real-time PCR assay targeting the porA pseudogene. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases* 23(9): 705-710.

Widjojoatmodjo, M. N., A. C. Fluit, R. Torensma, G. P. H. T. Verdonk, and J. Verhoef. 1992. The magnetic immunopolymerase chain reaction assay for direct detection of salmonellae in fecal samples. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* 30: 3195-3199.

Wittwer, C. T., M. G. Herrmann, A. A. Moss, and R. P. Rasmussen. 1997. Continuous fluorescence monitoring of rapid cycle DNA amplification. *Biotechniques* 22: 130-138.

Wolf, B., M. Kraus, M. Brischwein, R. Ehret, W. Baumann, and M. Lehmann. 1998. Biofunctional hybrid structures - cell-silicon hybrids for applications in biomedicine and bioinformatics. *Bioelectrochem. Bioenerg.* 46(2): 215-225.

Wolfbeis, O. S., I. Oehme, N. Papkovskaya, and I. Klimant. 2000. Sol-gel based glucose biosensors employing optical oxygen transducers, and a method for compensating for variable oxygen background. *Biosensors & Bioelectronics* 15(1-2): 69-76.

Wong, E. L. S., and J. J. Gooding. 2005. Electrochemical transduction of DNA hybridization by long-range electron transfer. *Aust. J. Chem.* 58(4): 280-287.

Wyatt, G. M. 1995. Antibody-based detection of microbiological analytes in food: Aspects of development. *Food Agri Immunol* 7(1): 55-65.

Wyatt, G. M., H. A. Lee, S. Dionysiou, M. R. A. Morgan, D. J. Stokely, A. H. Al-Hajji, J. Richards, A. J. Sillis, and P. H. Jones. 1996. Comparison of a microtitration plate ELISA with a standard cultural procedure for the detection of *Salmonella* spp. in chicken. *Journal of Food Protection* 59(3): 238-243.

Xu, J. Z., Y. Zhang, G. X. Li, and J. H. Zhu. 2004. An electrochemical biosensor constructed by nanosized silver particles doped sol-gel film. *Mater. Sci. Eng. C-Biomimetic Supramol. Syst.* 24(6-8): 833-836.

Xu, Y., H. B. Halsall, and W. R. Heineman. 1989. Solid-phase electrochemical enzymeimmunoassay with attomole detection limit by flow-injection analysis. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis* 7(12): 1301-1311.

Yamaguchi, K., Y. Yonemura, H. Okabe, Y. Takahama, S. Nagai, H. Yamaguchi, and K. Hira. 2003. Detection of anti-human T-lymphotropic virus type I antibody in whole blood by a novel counting immunoassay. *Clinical Chemistry* 49(2): 275-280.

Yan, F., A. Erdem, B. Meric, K. Kerman, M. Ozsoz, and O. A. Sadik. 2001. Electrochemical DNA biosensor for the detection of specific gene related to *Microcystis* species. *Electrochem Commun* 3(5): 224-228.

Yang, L. J., C. M. Ruan, and Y. B. Li. 2001. Rapid detection of *Salmonella* Typhimurium in food samples using a bienzyme electrochemical biosensor with flow injection. *J Rapid Methods Autom Microbiol* 9(4): 229-240.

Yang, M. S., H. C. M. Yau, and H. L. Chan. 1998. Adsorption kinetics and ligandbinding properties of thiol-modified double-stranded DNA on a gold surface. *Langmuir* 14(21): 6121-6129.

Ye, J., Y. Liu, and Y. Li. 2002. A chemiluminescence fiber-optic biosensor coupled with immunomagnetic separation for rapid detection of *E. coli* O157:H7. *Transactions of the* ASAE 45(2): 473-478.

Ye, J. M., S. V. Letcher, and A. G. Rand. 1997. Piezoelectric biosensor for detection of *Salmonella* Typhimurium. *J. Food Sci.* 62(5): 1067.

Ye, Y. K., J. H. Zhao, F. Yan, Y. L. Zhu, and H. X. Ju. 2003. Electrochemical behavior and detection of hepatitis B virus DNA PCR production at gold electrode. *Biosens Bioelectron* 18(12): 1501-1508.

Yokoigawa, K., K. Inoue, Y. Okubo, and H. Kawai. 1999. Primers for amplifying an alanine racemase gene fragment to detect *E. coli* strains in foods. *J Food Sci* 64: 571-575.

Younts, S., E. Alocilja, W. Osburn, S. Marquie, J. Gray, and D. Grooms. 2003. Experimental use of a gas sensor-based instrument for differentiation of *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 from non-O157:H7 *Escherichia coli* field isolates. *Journal of Food Protection* 66(8): 1455-1458.

Younts, S., E. C. Alocilja, W. N. Osburn, S. Marquie, and D. L. Grooms. 2002. Differentiation of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 from non-O157:H7 *E. coli* serotypes using a gas sensor-based, computer-controlled detection system. *Transactions of the ASAE* 45(5): 1681-1685. Yu, H., and J. G. Bruno. 1996. Immunomagnetic-electrochemiluminescent detection of *Escherichia coli* O157 and *Salmonella* Typhimurium in foods and environmental water samples. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 62(2): 587-592.

Zaitoun, M. A. 2005. Glucose biosensor based on entrapment of glucose oxidase and myoglobin in silica gel by the sol-gel method. *Spectr.-Int. J.* 19(2): 119-126.

Zhang, Z. X., and M. Q. Li. 2005. Electrostatic microcantilever array biosensor and its application in DNA detection. *Prog. Biochem. Biophys.* 32(4): 314-317.

Zhao, H. Q., L. Lin, J. R. Li, J. A. Tang, M. X. Duan, and L. Jiang. 2001. DNA biosensor with high sensitivity amplified by gold nanoparticles. *J. Nanopart. Res.* 3(4): 321-323.

Zheng, J. P., K. L. Jiao, W. P. Shen, W. A. Anderson, and H. S. Kwok. 1992. Highly sensitive photodetector using porous silicon. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 61(4): 459-461.

Zhou, A. H., and J. Muthuswamy. 2004. Acoustic biosensor for monitoring antibody immobilization and neurotransmitter GABA in real-time. *Sens. Actuator B-Chem.* 101(1-2): 8-19.

Zhou, X. D., L. J. Liu, M. Hu, L. L. Wang, and J. M. Hu. 2002. Detection of *Hepatitis B* virus by piezoelectric biosensor. *J Pharm Biomed Anal* 27(1-2): 341-345.

Zhou, Y., P. J. Laybourn, J. V. Magill, and R. M. De La Rue. 1991. An evanescent fluorescence biosensor using ion-exchanged buried waveguides and the enhancement of peak fluorescence. *Biosens Bioelectron* 6(7): 595-607.

